Using colour exhibited by venous leg ulcers to develop a range of hues that represent the clinical manifestations of erythema and wet necrotic tissue.

Submitted by

William George McGuiness RN Diploma of Teaching (Nursing) Bachelor of Education (Nursing) Master of Nursing Studies

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Department of Human Physiology Faculty of Medicine

Flinders University Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 Australia

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my late father who passed away as the thesis was being written. The standards he set and his undying love provided me with the commitment and resourcefulness required to undertake the study and complete the thesis. The pride he derived from my achievements will remain with me always.

Acknowledgments

Whilst this thesis has one author listed on the title page it is a culmination of work that has involved the support of several other people.

I would like to publicly thank my supervisors, Associate Professor Tim Neild, Professor Sandra Dunn and Dr Merrill Jones for their mentorship, perseverance and encouragement as the ideas that initiated this project were transformed into a thesis.

I would like to further thank Dr Michael Bailey whose statistical support was much appreciated during the design of this project and the analysis of the findings.

To my wife Wendy McGuiness and daughter Christine McGuiness I would like to acknowledge the support they have provided. If I needed encouragement, time to work, or relief from my family duties Wendy and Christine were able to accommodate my needs without complaint. This thesis is as much a testament to their patience as it is to the research undertaken.

Finally, I would like to thank the patients and clinicians who agreed to participate in this study; the project would not have been possible without their willingness to provide time and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
LIST OF FIGURES	X
SUMMARY	XII
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	XIV
1. CHAPTER ONE: BACKGROUND	1
1.1. Chronic Venous Insufficiency (CVI) defined	2
 1.2. The prevalence of the condition	
1.4. The effect on the patient and their society 1.4.1. The financial costs	
1.4.2. The impact of Quality of Life 1.5. Chapter summary	43 46
2. CHAPTER TWO: THE SIGNIFICANCE OF OBJECTIVE ASSESSMENT	48
2.1. Diagnosing the condition	49
 2.2. Identification and localisation of reflux. 2.2.1. Phlebography	

2.3. 2.3.1.	Quantifying the degree of reflux Ambulatory venous pressure	 55 55
2.3.2.	Plethysmography	57
2.4.	Assessment of venous microcirculation	61
2.5.	Assessment of clinical manifestations	63
2.5.1.	Classifying chronic venous insufficiency	64
2.3.2.		/ 1
2.6.	Assessment of venous leg ulcers	74
2.6.1.	Clinical history	74
2.6.2.	Measuring ulcer dimensions	75
2.0.3.		09
2.7.	Justification for the study undertaken	96
3. Cł	HAPTER THREE: LITERATURE REVIEW	100
3.1.	The importance of measurement in clinical assessment	101
32	Colour perception	103
3.2.1.	The different philosophical views of colour	103
3.2.2.	Colour representing \rightarrow Colour feeling	106
3.2.3.	Colour perception as a physiological process	110
3.2.4.	Colour perception as a psychological process	117
3.2.3.		122
3.3.	Measuring wound colour	125
3.3.1.	Selecting capture devices	126
3.3.2.	Standardising focal length	127
3.3.3. 334	Compensating for different wound types	120
3.3.5.	Selecting the colour space and associated algorithms	130
3.3.6.	Retention of a human observer	132
2.4	Conclusion	40.4
3.4.	Conclusion	134
		400
4. Cr	HAPTER FOUR: METHOD	130
4.1.	Ethical consideration	138
4.2.	Operational definitions	140
4.3.	Aim of the project	142
4.4.	Objectives	142
4.5.	Methods	143
4.5.1.	Phase 1: Capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers	144
4.5.2.	Phase 2: Establishing a colour range for erythema and wet necrotic tissue	172
4.5.3.	Phase 3: Developing a system to highlight areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue in a digital photograph of a venous legulaer	; 175
	toode in a digital photograph of a vendus leg dider	175
4.6.	Chapter summary	182
Б ()		104
J. U	TAFIER FIVE. REJULIJ	104

5.1.	Patient demographics	187
52	Phase 1: Reliability of the system	194
5.2	1 Pilot study	105
5.2.	2. Intra abconvor roliability	195
5.2.2	2. Inter observer reliability	210
5.2.3	3. Inter-odserver reliability	223
5.3.	Phase 2: Establishing the hue for erythema and wet necrotic tissue	241
5.3.7	1. Colour range identified	243
5.4.	Phase 3: Developing a system to highlight areas of erythema and wet neo	crotic
	tissue	245
5.4.1	1. Visual observations	247
5.4.2	2. Difference in surface area	249
5.4.3	3. Level of agreement between participating clinicians and areas selected by the	ne
	computer system	257
5.5.	Chapter summary	265
••••		
6. C	HAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	. 268
6.1.	Study limitations	270
6.1.1	1. Potential bias	270
6.1.2	2. Technological limits	271
6.1.3	3. Sample size	272
6.2.	Discussion of the findings	274
6.2.1	1. The reliability of the method to digitally record the colours exhibited by a ver	nous
•	leg ulcer	275
6.2.2	2. Colour range identified by clinicians to represent erythema and wet necrotic	tissue
		291
6.2.3	Consistency between the opinions of the clinician panel when selected area ervthema and wet necrotic tissue	s of 300
62/	1 The validity of areas selected as representing en/thema and wet pecrotic tis	000
0.2	the value of aleas selected as representing erythema and wet necrotic is by the computer system	306
		500
6.3.	Conclusion	318
6.3.1	1. The significance	320
6.3.2	2. The challenge	321
6.3.3	3. The project aim	322
6.3.4	4. The findings	323
63	5 Conclusions drawn	326
6.3.6	6. Recommendations for further research	329
REFE	RENCES	332
APPE	NDIX B: DATA COLLECTED AT THE TIME OF RECRUITMENT.	381
APPE	INDIX C: DATA COLLECTED ON SUBSEQUENT EPISODES	382
APPE	INDIA DI INSTRUCTIONS TO CLINICIANS FOR RECORDING A	
PHOT	OGRAPH	383
APPE	NDIX E: INVITATION TO EXPERT CLINICIANS	385

APPENDIX F: INSTRUCTIONS TO EXPERT CLINICIANS	387
APPENDIX G: VISUAL ANALOGUE SCALE DATA SHEET	. 388

vii

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 A SUMMARY OF YEAR, LOCATION AND PREVALENCE OF STUDIES	15
TABLE 2. RELATIONSHIP OF ANKLE BRACHIAL INDEX TO ARTERIAL STATUS	55
TABLE 3 VALUES OF AMBULATORY VENOUS PRESSURE AT P10	56
TABLE 4. C CLASSES OF THE CEAP CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM	65
TABLE 5. VENOUS CLINICAL SEVERITY SCORE	69
TABLE 6. VENOUS SEGMENTAL DISEASE SCORE	70
TABLE 4. TIME FRAMEWORK	94
TABLE 5. WOUND BED SCORE CRITERIA	95
TABLE 6. SPECTRAL COMPONENTS OF A WOUND	. 107
TABLE 7. COUNTRY OF ORIGIN FREQUENCY	188
TABLE 8. ASSOCIATED CO-MORBIDITIES	189
TABLE 9. FREQUENCY OF ULCER LOCATION	.190
TABLE 10. DURATIONS OF LEG ULCERS	. 191
TABLE 11 FREQUENCY OF PRODUCTS BEING USED AS PRIMARY DRESSING	192
TABLE 12 PEARSON CORRELATION OF THE PARTICIPANT'S AGE AND THE AGE () JE
THE LIL CER	193
TABLE 13, PEARSON CORRELATION OF THE PARTICIPANT'S AGE AND THE SIZE	OF
THE LIL CER	194
TABLE 14 DIFFERENCE IN HUE MEASUREMENTS FOR PILOT	108
TABLE 15. DIFFERENCE IN MEASUREMENTS OF SATURATION IN PILOT STUDY	199
TABLE 16. DELTERCIONE IN MERCIONALIMENTO OF OPPOPULATION INTEGET OF OD THE TABLE 16. DESTINATION AND TABLE TO THE TABLE TABLE TABLE TABLE TABLE TABLE TABLE TABLE TO THE TABLE TO THE TABLE TAB	
SOFTWARE	201
TABLE 17 RESIDUAL ERROR PATES AT SET DISTANCE FROM LIGHT SOURCE	201
TABLE 17. RESIDUAL ERROR RATES AT SET DISTANCE FROM LIGHT SOURCE	204
TABLE 10. RESIDUAL ERROR RATES AT SET DISTANCE FROM LIGHT SOURCE TABLE 10. DESIDUAL EDDOD DATES LISING THE IN CAMEDA ELASH LIGHT SOURCE	. 204 CE
TABLE 19. RESIDUAL ERROR RATES USING THE IN CAMERATEASH LIGHT SOUR	205
	. 203
	206
	.200 JT
TABLE 21. RESIDUAL ERROR RATES NOT CONTROLLING FOR EXTRAINEOUS LIGI	206
	200
	. 207
DEVELOPED EDAME TH CER-CAM 2	208
TARI E 24 I EVEL OF PARTICIPANT INVOLVEMENT IN THE PROJECT	200
TABLE 24. LEVEL OF FARMON AND VARIANCE OF COLOUR FOR EACH PHOTOGRAPHIC	. 207
SET	212
TARI E 26. ANOVA RESUITS FROM INTRA-ORSERVER RELIARII ITY TESTING	212
TABLE 20. ANOVA RECOULD FROM INTRA-ODGERVER RELIABLENT FEOTING	. 213
	217
TABLE 28 CHANGES TO ORIENTATION AND MAGNIFICATION ACROSS PATIENT'S	1 ST
AND 2 ND VISIT LISING IMAGES RECORDED BY ONE CLINICIAN	221
TABLE 20 ANOVA RESULTS FOR MAGNIFICATION ACROSS PARTICIDANT VISITS	221
TABLE 29. ANOVA RESOLTSTOR MACHINE FOR ALL PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN AT FACE	 _
VISIT	226
TARI E 31 ANOVA RESULTS FROM INTER-ORSERVER RELIARII ITY TESTING	220
TABLE 31. ANOVA RESOLTST ROW INTER-ODSERVER RELIABLETT TESTING	221
TABLE 32. CONNELATION COLLITION OF THE MALLEOL DETWICEN THE INITIAL A	
SUBSECIJENT PHOTOGRAPHS	225
TABLE 34 CORRELATION COEFFICIENT RETWEEN ORIENTATION MEASUREMENT	. 235 TS
RECORDED ACROSS CLINICIANIS	727
TABLE 35 CHANGES TO ORIENTATION RECORDED BY ALL THREE CLINICIANS	. 231
ACROSS PARTICIPANT VISITS	228
TABLE 36 ANOVA OF ORIENTATION BETWEEN THE THREE OF INICIANS OVER	. 230
DIFFERENT VISITS FOR THE SAME PARTICIPANT	230
TABLE 37 CHANGES TO MAGNIFICATION RECORDED BY ALL THREE CLINICIANS	. 237
	a 10
ACROSS PARTICIPANT VISUS	2 <u>4</u> 0

TABLE 38. ANOVA OF MAGNIFICATION BETWEEN THE THREE CLINICIANS OVER	
DIFFERENT VISITS FOR THE SAME PARTICIPANT	. 241
TABLE 39. DISTRIBUTION OF VARIABLES FOR CLINICIANS AGREEING TO	
PARTICIPATE	. 242
TABLE 40. DISTRIBUTION OF VARIABLES FOR CLINICIANS RESPONDING	. 243
TABLE 41. VARIANCE OF SURFACE AREA IDENTIFIED AS ERYTHEMA BY CLINICIA	١NS
AND THE COMPUTER SYSTEM	. 251
TABLE 42. VARIANCE OF AREAS SELECTED AS WET NECROTIC TISSUE	. 253
TABLE 43. ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR AREAS SELECTED AS ERYTHEMA	. 255
TABLE 44. ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR AREAS SELECTED AS WET NECROTIC	
TISSUE	. 256
TABLE 45. VAS SCORES RECORDED WHEN PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS WERE	
JUDGING AREAS OF ERYTHEMA	. 258
TABLE 46. VARIANCE BETWEEN THE OPINIONS OF PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS	
JUDGING AREAS OF ERYTHEMA SELECTED BY THE COMPUTER SYSTEM	. 261
TABLE 47. VAS SCORES RECORDED WHEN PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS WERE	
JUDGING AREAS OF WET NECROTIC TISSUE	. 262
TABLE 48. VARIANCE BETWEEN THE OPINIONS OF PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS	
JUDGING AREAS OF WET NECROTIC TISSUE SELECTED BY THE COMPUTER	२
SYSTEM	. 264

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. SIGNS EXHIBITED BY CHRONIC VENOUS INSUFFICIENCY: OEDEMA,	20
DRY SKIN, HEMOSIDERINE DEPOSITS AND ULCERATION.	29
FIGURE 2: REPRESENTATION OF PROCESSES OF AETIOLOGY FOR CHRONIC	•
	39
FIGURE 3. ALTERNATIVE MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUES FOR LENGTH AND WIDTH	1 80
FIGURE 4. DIMENSIONS MEASURED FOR AN ELLIPTICAL SHAPE	80
FIGURE 5. GRAPH PAPER COUNTING TECHNIQUE	80
FIGURE 6. SPECTRAL REFLECTANCE CURVE DERIVED FROM A PHOTOGRAPH OF A LEG ULCER	107
FIGURE 7. XYZ GRAPH DEVELOPED BY THE INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON	
ILLUMINATION IN 1931	109
FIGURE 8. HSB COLOUR SPACE	110
FIGURE 9. BRAIN AREAS IDENTIFIED AS BEING INVOLVED IN COLOUR PERCEPTION	ON
	115
FIGURE 10. MONDRIAN DISPLAY USED BY VAN ES ET AL.	119
FIGURE 11. CONCAVE CARD USED AND THE INVERSE IMAGE BY BLOJ ET AL.	120
FIGURE 12, ULCER-CAM	146
FIGURE 13. CONTROLLING ORIENTATION OF THE LEG	146
FIGURE 14, DAYLIGHT LIGHT SOURCE SET AT 30 ⁰ TO THE CAMERA	150
FIGURE 15, COLOUR REFERENCE EXAMPLE AND THE REFERENCE IN SITU	150
EIGLIDE 16. ADELAIDE SKIN COLOLID MEASUDEMENT DOOCDAM INTEDEACE FOR	150 C
	152
	155
FIGURE 17. SELECTION OF AREA TO BE ANALTSED AND THE COLOUR SUMMART	i
	150
	155
FIGURE 18. REFLECTIONS FROM THE GLOSS SURFACE OF THE FRAME	150
FIGURE 19. ULGER-GAM Z	156
FIGURE 20. BLUE BACKGROUND USED IN ULCER-CAM 1 AND 2	156
FIGURE 21. SELECTION OF PIXELS USING THE MAGIC WAND	179
FIGURE 22. BORDER PLACED AROUND DIFFERENT TISSUE TYPES	179
FIGURE 23. AGE DISTRIBUTION OF THE PATIENT SAMPLE	187
FIGURE 24. ABPI DISTRIBUTION	189
FIGURE 25. DISTRIBUTION OF ULCER SIZE ON THE INITIAL VISIT	191
FIGURE 26. CORRELATION BETWEEN THE PARTICIPANT'S AGE AND THE AGE	
OF THE ULCER	193
FIGURE 27. CORRELATION BETWEEN THE PARTICIPANT'S AGE AND THE SIZE	
OF THEIR ULCER	194
FIGURE 28. THREE SEQUENTIAL PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN DURING ONE EPISODE	
USING ULCER-CAM	196
FIGURE 29. THREE SEQUENTIAL PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN OVER TWO EPISODES	
USING ULCER-CAM	196
FIGURE 30. TWO SEQUENTIAL PHOTOGRAPHS WITH IMAGE 2 OVERLAYED ON	
IMAGE 1	197
FIGURE 31. METHOD USED FOR TESTING THE EFFECT OF ILLUMINATION AND	
DIFFERENT DISTANCES FROM THE COLOUR REFERENCE	203
FIGURE 32. AN EXAMPLE OF THREE SEQUENTIAL PHOTOGRAPHS AND THE	
RESULTANT OVERLAYING OF ALL THREE IMAGES. NOTE THE	
COLOURED DOT OVER THE INTERNAL MALLEOLUS.	215
FIGURE 33. EXAMPLES OF CHANGES TO ORIENTATION AND MAGNIFICATION	
ACROSS PARTICIPANT VISITS WITH PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN BY	
ONE CLINICIAN	219
FIGURE 34 THREE DIMENSIONAL SCATTER PLOTS OF HUES RECORDED BY	/
THREE DIFFERENT CLINICIANS	228
FIGURE 35. EXAMPLE OF IMAGES TAKEN BY THREE DIFFERENT CLINICIANS	0
AT THE SAME EPISODE	233
	255

FIGURE 36. CORRELATIONS OF ORIENTATION MEASUREMENTS ACROSS ALL THREE CLINICIANS	236
FIGURE 37. HUE AND SATURATION RANGE REPRESENTING ERYTHEMA	230 244
	244
EACH TISSUE TYPE	245
FIGURE 40. COMPARISON OF AREAS SELECTED BY CLINICIANS AND THE COMPUTER SYSTEM FOR IMAGE THREE	248
FIGURE 41. IMAGE WITH THE HIGHEST VARIATION OF AREAS SELECTED AS ERYTHEMA	250
FIGURE 42. IMAGE WITH THE HIGHEST VARIATION OF AREAS SELECTED AS WE NECROTIC TISSUE	T 254
FIGURE 43. IMAGE YIELDING THE LOWEST LEVEL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS AND THE COMPUTER SYSTEM FOR ERYTHEMA	260
FIGURE 44. IMAGE YIELDING THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS AND THE COMPUTER SYSTEM FOR	200
ERYTHEMA FIGURE 45. IMAGE WITH THE MOST DIVIDED OPINION BETWEEN JUDGING	260
FIGURE 46. IMAGE WITH THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF CONSENSUS BETWEEN	260
FIGURE 47. IMAGE YIELDING THE LOWEST LEVEL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTICIPATING CUNICIANS FOR WET NECROTIC TISSUE	260
FIGURE 48. IMAGE YIELDING THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS FOR WET NECROTIC TISSUE	263
FIGURE 49. IMAGE YIELDING THE MOST DIVIDED OPINION BETWEEN PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS JUDGING WET NECROTIC TISSUE	205
SELECTED BY THE COMPUTER SYSTEM FIGURE 50. IMAGE YIELDING THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF CONSENSUS BETWEEN	263
PARTICIPATING CLINICIANS FOR WET NECROTIC TISSUE FIGURE 51. EXAMPLE OF THE ULCER-CAM 2 FRAME PROVIDING SUFFICIENT	263
REFLECTION RESULTING FROM OEDEMATOUS SKIN	286
FIGURE 52. SILFICUETTE WOOND IMAGE STSTEM FIGURE 53. THE RANGE IDENTIFIED BY EXPERIENCED CLINICIANS TO	209
FIGURE 54. COMPARISON OF RED COLOURS FOUND BY THIS STUDY WITH	292
THAT FOUND BY SHAI ET AL. FIGURE 55. VISUAL COMPARISON BETWEEN THE RANGE IDENTIFIED AS WET NECROTIC TISSUE AND THE COLOUR USED TO DEPICT THIS	295
TISSUE IN AN EXAMPLE OF EDUCATIONAL MATERIAL FIGURE 56. COMPARISON OF YELLOW COLOURS FOUND BY THIS STUDY WITH THAT FOUND BY SHALET AL.	295 296
FIGURE 57. EXAMPLE OF SIMILARITY BETWEEN CLINICIANS WHEN SELECTING N NECROTIC TISSUE	WET 301
FIGURE 58. EXAMPLE OF SIMILARITY BETWEEN CLINICIANS WHEN SELECTING ERYTHEMA	303
FIGURE 59. EXAMPLE OF PHOTOGRAPHS SENT TO CLINICIANS DURING PHASE TWO AND THREE	311

SUMMARY

This project sought to develop a system that facilitated the visual inspection of venous leg ulcers by establishing a selection of reliable parameters. The project had three principal aims: to develop a reliable method for capturing the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer; to establish a colour range that experienced clinicians believed represented wet necrotic tissue and erythema; and to develop software that highlighted the two manifestations in digital photographs.

The project method was divided into three phases. The first phase examined images taken from twenty-two patients over forty-seven episodes of care. During each episode three sequential images were captured using a frame to control for orientation, magnification and lighting resulting in a bank of 141 images. The reliability of the system to accurately capture colour was then determined by examining the amount of colour variation recorded across the set of three images taken at each episode. The second phase asked eight experienced clinicians to examine a set of twenty photographs taken from the bank established in phase one. On each photograph the clinicians were asked to identify areas of wet necrotic tissue or erythema and outline the areas with a colour pen supplied for each manifestation. A colour range was then constructed to represent each manifestation by measuring the range, mean and standard deviation of pixels that were located within the outlined areas. The third phase developed a computerised system that used the colour range established in phase two to highlight areas of a digital image that represented either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. The validity of the highlighted areas was then tested by asking experienced clinicians to identify their level of agreement with the areas selected by the computer system.

Analysis of the results from phase one indicated that the system used to record images at each episode of care provided a reliable method for maintaining consistent orientation, magnification and replication of colour. Results from phase two yielded a two distinct colour representation of erythema and wet necrotic tissue. Erythema ranged from 360^o to 378^o of hue with a mean of 369.21^o, and wet necrotic tissue ranged from 367^o to 390^o of hue with a mean of 387.73^o. Results from phase three indicated that whilst clearly delineated areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue were visible, the validity of the representations was varied. 50 per cent of experienced clinicians agreed with the areas selected as erythema and 60 per cent agreed with the areas selected by the computer system as wet necrotic tissue.

The system developed during this study for recording images of venous leg ulcers provides a reliable method for further research into the visual progression of this disease. However, the colour range identified as being representative of erythema or wet necrotic tissue and the computer system developed to highlight such areas in a digital image, requires further investigation before it is applicable to the clinical setting. The findings do however provide further insights into the varied nature of expert opinion when judging the colour of venous leg ulceration.

xiii

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Except where reference is made in the text of the thesis, this thesis contains no material published elsewhere or extracted in whole or in part from a thesis presented by me for another degree or diploma.

No other person's work has been used without due acknowledgment in the main text of the thesis.

This thesis has not been submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any other tertiary institution.

Appreciation is extended to Dr Tim Neild, Professor Sandra Dunn and Dr Merrill Jones who provided valuable assistance and encouragement in the preparation of this thesis.

Appreciation is also extended to the patients and nurses who consented to be involved in this study.

William McGuiness 6th December 2008

1. Chapter One: Background

Chronic Venous Insufficiency (CVI) and the resulting clinical manifestations of varicose veins and venous ulceration pose a significant health problem. The condition is associated with long-term, high cost care, with a frequent incidence of recurrence and a number of negative patient outcomes¹⁻⁹.

Knowledge of clinical manifestations and associated venous pressure dates back several centuries. Hippocrates, when discussing the treatment of ulcers stated:

"In the case of an ulcer, it is not expedient to stand; more especially if the ulcer be situated in the leg; but neither, also, is it proper to sit or walk. But quiet and rest are particularly expedient." ¹⁰

Whilst the existence of CVI has been known for some time, the underlying aetiology and predisposing risk factors are yet to be accurately identified.^{5, 11-}¹⁷ Some argue that because CVI doesn't threaten life or limb, research in this area is given a low priority.¹⁸ The result has been an underestimation of the extent of the health problem and an absence of evidence based management protocols.¹⁻⁹

As the average age of the world population increases and the incidence of obesity in all age groups continue to rise, it is estimated that the personal and societal burden of this disease will be high. Armed with such forecasts researchers and clinicians have been exploring methods for accurately estimating the extent of the disease, determining the aetiology and risk factors, and testing management strategies.

The following is a review of relevant research in the area and is presented as a foundation for subsequent chapters and as background for the study undertaken. The review will examine contemporary definitions of CVI; estimates of the prevalence of the condition; theories of the underlying aetiology; and the impact of CVI and its manifestations on both the health care sector and patients suffering from the condition.

1.1. Chronic Venous Insufficiency (CVI) defined

The International Classification of Disease, version 10 (produced by the World Health Organisation) lists disease states related to venous insufficiency as *ICD No.187.2 Venous insufficiency (chronic) (peripheral)*. Despite this listing, there is currently no agreed definition for CVI. Ruckley et al.¹⁸ stated that the term 'chronic venous insufficiency' was used indiscriminately in the literature leading to confusion for clinicians and the introduction of methodological flaws for researchers. Whilst the majority of authors use the term 'chronic venous insufficiency', other terms such as 'chronic venous disorders', 'venous incompetence', 'chronic venous disease' and 'chronic venous disorders of the leg' are used interchangeably.^{3, 5, 12-15, 19-30} The definitions cited for each often use aspects from other definitions cited for one of the other terms.

Attempts to define CVI usually make reference to the clinical manifestations of the disease; the underlying pathophysiology; associated risk factors; or a combination of each. Initial references to clinical manifestations were confined to the most obvious signs: varicose veins and venous ulceration.²⁰ More recent definitions expanded the list to include the various skin and subcutaneous changes associated with CVI. The definition used by Carpentier et al.¹² in a project aimed at determining the prevalence of CVI in France is an example:

"Chronic venous disorders include several signs and symptoms assumed to be related to venous dysfunction in the lower limbs. Clinical manifestations include varicose veins of any type; vein related skin trophic changes, ranging from pigmented dermatitis to lipodermatosclerosis, white atrophy, and leg ulcers; pitting ankle oedema; and symptoms attributed to venous dysfunction, such as aching, pain, congestion, skin irritation, and muscle cramps, heaviness, tension, feelings of swelling and itching." (p. 650)

It is generally agreed that patients may suffer from some or all of the above signs and symptoms and that there is a hierarchy of severity. Heaviness of the legs, itchiness and telangiectasias (small superficial vein dilations – spider veins) are often cited as early signs of the condition, with trunk varicose veins (tortuous varicose veins of the great and small saphenous veins) and venous ulceration often described as signs of advanced venous disease ^{3, 12, 19, 20, 22, 24, 26, 27, 29}

Others have expanded on the 'venous dysfunction' described by Carpentier et al.¹² to incorporate an underlying aetiology in the definition. An example is provided by Schmid-Schonbein et al.³⁰ who state that:

"The clinical hallmark of chronic venous insufficiency is distal venous hypertension, which follows the development of valvular incompetence, reflux, and/or the venous obstruction." (p. 27)

Cesarone et al.²² defined valvular incompetence as:

"The presence of duplex venous reflux less than three seconds with compression-release (patient standing) at the major junctions (i.e., the saphenofemoral junction) and/or at varicose segments or perforating veins (any vein considered as a perforating vein at any level) or at the main venous (saphenous) trunks." (p. 120)

In 1995, the American Venous Forum presented the CEAP classification system. This classified patients according to their: clinical signs (C); aetiology (E); anatomic distribution (A); and pathophysiology (P).^{3, 27, 31-33} Clinical signs were divided into seven classes (C_0 to C_6) with 0 being no signs and 6 being the most severe (see Table 4). Aetiology was divided into: congenital (E_c); primary (E_p); or secondary (E_s). Anatomical distribution was divided into: superficial (A_s); deep (A_d); or perforator (A_p); alone or in combination. Pathophysiology was divided into: reflux (P_r); or obstruction (P_o), alone or in combination.

Valvular incompetence is thought by a number of authors to be associated with identified risk factors including the development of a deep vein thrombosis, age, obesity, occupation and pregnancies.^{9, 12-14, 19, 25-27, 34-38} Whilst the evidence for these assertions will be discussed later in this chapter, the inclusion of risk factors into a definition of CVI has been considered. In 1997 an ad hoc meeting of the American Venous Forum, including representatives from the Cardiovascular Disease Educational and Research Trust, the European Society of Vascular Surgery, the International Angiology Scientific Activity Congress Organisation, the International Union of Angiology and the Union Internationale de Phlebologie laid the foundation for the formulation of a consensus document regarding CVI.³ This was subsequently reviewed in 1998 and 1999 and provided the following definition:

"Chronic venous insufficiency of the leg (CVI) is characterised by symptoms or signs produced by venous hypertension as a result of structural or functional abnormalities of veins. Symptoms may include heaviness, leg tiredness, cramps, itching, sensation of being, swelling, the restless leg syndrome, dilation or prominence of superficial veins, and skin changes. Signs may include telangiectasia, reticular or varicose veins, oedema, and skin changes such as pigmentation, lipodermatosclerosis, eczema, and ulceration. The most frequent causes of CVI are primary abnormalities of the venous wall and the valves and secondary changes due to previous venous thrombosis that can lead to reflux, obstruction, or both." (p. 1)

In 2008 The American Venous Forum convened a VIEN-TERM meeting that finalised some 3 years of work to reach a consensus on the terminology used for reporting the management of chronic venous disorders (CVD)³⁹. Participants of the meeting concluded that chronic venous insufficiency was

"A term reserved for advanced CVD, which is applied to functional abnormalities of the venous system producing edema, skin changes, or venous ulceration." (p499)

The above definitions incorporate the critical elements of clinical manifestations, aetiology and contributing factors such as deep vein thrombosis. However, they do not incorporate recent research findings arising from molecular studies and quality of life surveys in this area. For example, it is now believed that the resulting skin and vascular changes evident in CVD are associated with an inflammatory process. There is also some evidence that, contra to popular opinion, patients with CVD suffer from leg pain. Equally, quality of life research has demonstrated that patients with CVD, in particular leg ulceration, endure a number of physical handicaps, poor self-esteem and social isolation.

Therefore, the above definition could be modified to include these findings.

For the purposes of this thesis, CVI will be defined as:

Chronic venous insufficiency of the leg (CVI) is characterised by symptoms or signs of advanced chronic venous disease produced by venous hypertension as a result of structural or functional abnormalities of veins. Symptoms may include pain, heaviness, leg tiredness, cramps, itching, sensation of being, swelling, the restless leg syndrome, dilation or prominence of superficial veins, and skin changes. Signs may include oedema, and skin changes such as pigmentation, lipodermatosclerosis, eczema, and ulceration. The most frequent causes of CVI are primary abnormalities of the venous wall and the valves arising from changes in the inflammatory cascade, and secondary changes due to previous venous thrombosis that can lead to reflux, obstruction, or both. The condition is often accompanied by a lowered quality of life exacerbated by the physical manifestations of exudate and odour leading to social isolation and loneliness.

1.2. The prevalence of the condition

Reporting the prevalence of CVD, associated manifestations and patient factors must be done with some caution. Whilst the majority of authors agreed that CVD and the associated clinical manifestations is a common and significant health problem, attempts to quantify the prevalence of this condition have proven difficult. The absence of an agreed definition and established diagnostic criteria has prevented aggregation of data across populations surveyed.^{4, 6, 19, 20, 40}

An example is the prevalence data for venous ulceration. The terms 'gravitational ulcer', 'hydro-static ulcer' and 'status ulcer' have all been used to describe venous ulcers⁴¹ and must be considered when searching for relevant literature. Once such studies are obtained, the reader is often forced to sift through data to exclude other aetiologies such as arterial and pressure ulcers that have been included in the findings to determine venous ulcer prevalence.

Similar problems are encountered when methods for diagnosing CVI are examined. Prior to the introduction of duplex scanning (an ultrasound that enables examination of the blood flow within arteries and veins, usually of the legs) researchers were forced to rely on clinical examination and clinical history as an indicator of CVI. Whilst a number of investigators included symptoms such as tired legs, itchiness and restless leg syndrome, the majority of studies relied on the presence of varicose veins and/or venous ulcers to identify patients suffering from CVI. The reliance on clinical manifestations to determine the prevalence of CVI introduces a degree of subjectivity which some authors argue results in an underestimation of the prevalence of the condition.⁴

Such methodological approaches prevent aggregation across studies necessitating the need to report a range (often large) of frequencies in preference to an established prevalence of CVI and associated manifestations. It further limits comparison of patient variables such as age, gender, occupation and pregnancies across the study groups; which in turn prevents the identification of associated risk factors that contribute to the development of CVI.

The following summarises the findings to date, in order to highlight what is often an underestimated community health problem, whilst being cognisant of the methodological problems described above.

1.2.1. Overall prevalence

Within the studies identified, prevalence was usually reported as either *point prevalence* (the number of people, who currently had chronic venous insufficiency or its clinical manifestations that developed prior to the study period) and *period prevalence* (the number of cases that were present at the

start of the study, plus the number of new cases developed during the study period) ⁴².

The majority of prevalence studies, reported *point* prevalence findings. An example is a study undertaken by Moffatt et al.⁹ when examining the prevalence of leg ulceration is in a London population. Health professionals were asked to identify patients they were currently treating at that time for chronic venous leg ulceration in the Wandsworth community.

The time period used for period prevalence varied from 2 months to 16 years. The Framingham study⁴³ is a commonly cited *period* prevalence study with subjects were examined over a 16 year period. Subjects found to be free of varicose veins in 1966 undertook bi-annual examinations until 1988 in an effort to determine the number of people who develop varicose veins over that period.

In an effort to establish overall trends, a number of authors have aggregated findings from various prevalence studies. This has provided estimates for chronic venous insufficiency, varicose veins and venous ulceration. The variation of findings reported in the literature necessitates a large range for each.

It is estimated that chronic venous insufficiency affects between 10 to 40% of the general population²¹. The prevalence of varicose veins, in various forms (telangiectasias, reticular, or trunk) has been estimated at < 1%, up to 60.5%

of the population. When confined to validated population studies the range is reduced to between 25 to 32% of the population^{6, 27}. Venous ulceration prevalence has been estimated to affect 0.06% to 1.97% of the population. When the figures for both open ulcers and healed ulcers are considered the prevalence increases, 1.3% to $3.6\%^{40}$. The figure differs between countries, gender, age and occupation^{4-6, 20, 21, 27, 40}.

1.2.2. Prevalence across geographic locations and associated life style

Table one provides a summary of the geographic locations in which prevalence studies have been conducted. The majority of studies have examined populations from industrialised countries, with an emphasis on Caucasian populations. The populations varied from 4000 to 1.6 million and included total populations and cross-sectional studies⁴⁰. Although any conclusions drawn are limited by the methodological problems highlighted earlier, it would appear that the prevalence rate in industrialised, or developed countries is higher than in developing countries^{27, 40}. This in turn suggests that chronic venous insufficiency is in part influenced by environment and/or life style.

This assertion is best illustrated by a study undertaken by Baeglehole et al.⁴⁴ in which the prevalence of New Zealand Maoris were compared with Polynesian subjects living on atolls in the Cook islands. Although of similar race, subjects living on the atoll of Pupuka had a lower prevalence than those living in Rarotonga, who in turn had a lower prevalence than those living in New Zealand (see table one).

The argument is further strengthened when the prevalence of varicose veins amongst people who have moved from developing countries to developed countries is examined. For example prevalence of varicose veins amongst black and white Americans is equal⁴. Studies examining populations in Africa report a very low prevalence (<1.0%) for varicose veins. When subjects from Africa immigrate to the United States the prevalence of this condition increases to that of their adopted population ^{45, 46}.

The trend also emerges for immigrants moving from Asia to the United Kingdom. In a recent study, Sam et al.⁴⁷ examined the prevalence of chronic venous disease amongst a group of men that had been born on the Indian subcontinent and immigrated to the United Kingdom. They found that 50% of subjects had clinical evidence of lower leg venous disease with 8% having skin changes associated with chronic venous insufficiency. These findings contrast with earlier studies conducted in India (see table 1), in which the prevalence of varicose veins was between 6.8% and 25.08%⁴⁸. Sam et al. concluded that their findings were similar to those of predominantly white populations.

Country	Year	Sample	Prevalence of CVI VV or
	and		VU
Australia-Perth ²	1989	Patients referred from health professionals including general	VU: 0.62%
		practitioners, medical specialists, nursing	

		homes, and silver chain (district) nurses,	
		or by self referral. Aged 20 to 99 years.	
Brazil - SanPaulo	1985	Patients attending the university health	VV: 37.9% Men
		centre in Botcuatu	50.9% Women
			VU: 2.3% Men
			5.5% Women
Cook Islands44	1975	Convenience sample of Polynesian	VV:
		subjects living on the Rarotonga and	Rarotonga
		Pupuka atoll islands.	16% Men
			15% Women
			Pupuka
			2% Men
			4% Women
France – National ¹²	1988-	Cross-sectional sample of the general	CVI: 30.1% Men
	1992	population from four locations in France.	50.5%Women
Greece - Rural ²⁹	1997	Convenience Sample of patients	CVI: 18.25%
		attending primary health care providers in	4.91% Men
		rural Greece	15.3% Women
			VV: 7.5%
			1.9% Men
			5.67% Women
Hong Kong_	2003	Retrospective review of nursing records	VU: 128/1000
Kowloon district ⁴⁹		of older people receiving community	
		nursing services in the Kowloon East	
		district	
India- Madras and	1972	Sample of male Indian rail sweepers	VV: 6.8% North
Ajmer			25.08% South
Ireland-National ⁷	1984	National random Sample of households	VU: 1.5% of adult
		derived from the 1984 quarterly	population
		consumer survey carried out by the	
		economic and social research Institute	

		and An Foras Taluntais	
Israel – Jerusalem ⁵⁰	1969-	A survey of residents in a community	VV: 10% Men
	1971	neighbourhood of Western Jerusalem	29% Women
		aged 20 or over.	
Italy- National ²³	2003	Cross sectional, non random Sample of	Not reported
		women and men, selected by means of	
		advertising in television, newspapers,	
		and leaflets supported by press agencies.	
		Respondents were aged 18 to 89 years	
Italy- San	1994	Sample of residence of eight different	CVI: 0.86%
Valentino ²²		villages in central Italy aged 8 to 94	Of those
		years.	VV: 7.0%
			VU: 0.48%
New Guinea- Low	1972	Population enrolled in the mission	VV: 5.1% Men
Land, Ramu ⁵¹		medical services database of villages on	0.1% Women
		the Ramu flood plain	
New Zealand-North	1997-	Convenience sample of patients referred	VU: 39 per 100,000
Auckland and	1998	by health professionals and self referral	
central Auckland ⁴²		via a toll-free number	
Portugal - National ⁵²	1996	An epidemiological survey of consecutive	CVI: 20% Men
		attendances to the Portuguese national	40% Women
		health service	VU: 3.2%Men
			3.9% Women
Portugual – Unit B2	2001	Case identification by health	VU: 1.30/1000 Men
of Sub-Regiao		professionals of patients suffering from	1.46/1000
Saude, Lisbon ⁵²		chronic leg ulcer from the third to the 17th	Women
		of December 2001	
Saudi Arabia ¹⁴	2001	Patients attending 16 primary health care	CVI 45.6%
		centres randomly selected from the	10-20% Men
		district in three major cities of the	25-40% Women
		Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.	
Scotland -	1995-	An age stratified cross-sectional random	CVI: 9.4% Men
Edinburgh ^{18, 24}	1996	sample of men and women, aged 18 to	6.6% Women

		64 years, derived from computerised	Of those
		registers of 12 general practices	VV : 39.7% Men
		geographically and socio-economically	32.2%Women
		evenly distributed across Edinburgh.	
Scotland – Lothian	1981	Convenience Sample of patients	VU: 1.48/1000
and Forth Valley ⁵³		identified by general practitioners, district	
		and occupational nurses, and wardens of	
		old people's homes.	
Spain - National ¹⁶	2002	An intentional sample of patients older	VU: 0.09%
		than 14 years, being managed by primary	Of those
		health care professionals, hospital health	32.8% Men
		care professionals, and residential care	67.8% Women
		professionals, throughout Spain.	
Sweden-	1988	Patients identified by district nurses,	VU: 1.8%
Skaraborg ⁵⁴		general practitioners, outpatients	
		department, long-term hospitals, and	
		private long-term care facilities.	
United Kingdom -	1988-	Retrospective cohort study of data	VU: 1.69%
National ⁸	1996	obtained from the General Practice	0.76% Men
		Research Database derived from 1562	1.42% Women
		GP practices throughout the UK.	
		Participants were aged between 65 and	
		95 years of age.	
United Kingdom	2004	Case ascertainment by health	VU: 0.45/1000
London ⁹		professionals used to identify patients	
		suffering from chronic leg ulcer within the	
		Borough of Wandsworth.	
United Kingdom –	1986	All patients with limb ulceration identified	VU:1.8%
Middlesex health		by general practitioners and district	
district ³⁴		nurses in the health district.	
USA - Framingham ⁴³	1966-	Longitudinal data collected via a bi-	VV: 39/1000 Men
	1988	annual examination from subjects who	52/1000 Women

		were free of varicose veins in 1966	
USA – Olmsted	1966-	Patients with a first lifetime diagnosis of	CVI: 76.1/100,000 person
County, Minnesota55	1990	venous stasis syndrome and venous	years
		ulcers were identified using the data	VU: 18.0/100,000person
		resources of the Rochester	years
		Epidemiological project	
USA – Tecumseh,	1959-	Data derived from a longitudinal study of	VV: 12.9% Men
Michigan ⁵⁶	1960	the total community of the city of	25.9%Women
	1962-	Tecumseh.	VU: 0.1%Men
	1965		0.3%Women
	1967-		
	1969		

Table 1 A summary of year, location and prevalence of studies examining chronic venous insufficiency. (CVI = chronic venous insufficiency, V V = varicose veins, VU = venous ulcer) Several possible reasons for a higher prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency in developed countries have been cited in the literature⁵. Dietary habits, percentage of obesity levels and type of occupation have been examined in an effort to determine any associations between life style and the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency.

Cleave⁵⁷ initially proposed that a relationship existed between diet, specifically insufficient dietary fibre ('western diet') and the prevalence of varicose veins. He asserted that insufficient fibre led to constipation, which in turn increased intra-abdominal pressures. Burkitt et al.^{45, 46} supported this position citing the propensity of people from developing countries to developed similar prevalence rates of those of their adopted country. The Edinburgh study (see table one) demonstrated an opposing view. Fowkes et al.²⁵ recorded subjects' effort to open their bowels, their dietary fibre intake and transit times of faecal material within their bowel. Whilst they found an increased prevalence of trunk varices in men reporting that they had strained when opening their bowels, the findings did not demonstrate any significant association between fibre intake, faecal transit time, and venous reflux.

In keeping with the influence of dietary habits on chronic venous insufficiency additional studies have examined associations between basal metabolic index and the prevalence of the disease. A number of authors argue that obesity is associated with chronic venous insufficiency^{4, 5, 12, 26, 45, 50, 58}. Danielsson et al.⁵⁸, using a convenience sample, attending a Hawaiian hospital, investigated the impact being overweight had on the severity of chronic venous insufficiency. Subjects were classified as overweight (BMI>25 kg/m²) or obese (BMI>30 kg/m²) and examined for clinical signs of chronic venous insufficiency and the degree of venous reflux. They concluded that overweight patients were more likely to have skin changes and ulceration than patients with a body mass index of less than 25 kg/m². This was regardless of the amount of venous reflux present.

It would appear that the relationship between obesity and chronic venous insufficiency affects women, more so than men. Siedell et al.⁵⁹ undertook a retrospective cohort study to examine the influence that being overweight had on chronic illness amongst patients attending four general practices in the Netherlands. They found that moderately overweight women were more likely to have varicose veins than normal weight women, and that obese women were three times more likely to have varicose veins. The same

relationship was not found for male subjects in the study. Abramson et al. examined a community in Western Jerusalem (see table one), in an effort to identify factors associated with chronic venous insufficiency. They found that the prevalence of varicose veins was 1.4 times higher amongst women than men, and attributed this finding to the number of women in the study that were classified as overweight.

Further investigations have focused on the impact of physical activity and occupation on the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency. Principally, the relationship between long periods of standing and the prevalence and severity of the disease has been examined^{36, 43, 60-66}. The findings are varied, some authors finding a positive correlation between periods of standing and chronic venous insufficiency, while others have not found significant associations.

Large population studies have demonstrated an association between standing and the prevalence of varicose veins. Tuchsen et al.⁶⁶ followed 1.6 million Danish workers for a period of three year after their first hospital admission due to varicose veins of the lower extremities. They concluded that working in a standing position was associated with subsequent hospitalisation for varicose veins. Abramson et al.⁵⁰, mentioned above (see table one) also found that prolonged standing contributed to the development of varicose veins, as did the Framingham and Edinburgh studies (see table one).

In contrast the study undertaken by Maffei et al⁶⁷ in Brazil (see table one) found that working posture was not correlated with the incidence of varicose vein is or venous ulceration. Likewise, Scott et al.⁶³ who performed a multivariate analysis of patients with venous ulcers and a control group in the Boston area, found no significant association between occupation and periods of standing on the prevalence of venous ulceration.

1.2.3. The influence of age and gender on prevalence

The majority of studies report a linear relationship between the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency and $age^{2, 5, 12, 20, 22, 43, 46, 50, 56, 68, 69}$. Generally, the older the subjects, the higher the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency, varicose veins, and venous ulceration. For example, Brand et al.⁴³ (see table one) when examining the prevalence of varicose veins in the Framingham area found that for subjects less than 30 years old it was <1% for men and <10% for women. This increased to 57% for men and 77% for women once they were 70 years of age or older. Nelzen et al.⁵⁴ when determining the prevalence of venous leg ulcers in Skaraborg (see table one), reported a prevalence of 1.5% for subjects aged 60 to 79 and 3.2% to subjects aged 80 to 89.

Although the prevalence of clinical manifestations associated with chronic venous insufficiency increases with age, it seems that this condition gradually progresses from early life. School children of the same age (10-12 years) in eleven secondary schools of Bochum, Germany, were examined for the presence of varicose veins and venous reflux^{70, 71} using Doppler

ultrasonography. The subjects were examined on four separate occasions, 1982-1983 (10-12 years old),1986-1987(14-16 years old),1991(18-20 years old) and 2001-2002 (29-31years old). On initial assessment 2.9% of students were found to have reflux of the saphenous vein, and no signs of varicose veins. By aged 14 to 16 years, 12.3% showed saphenous reflux and 1.7% of the children had trunk varices. This figure increased to 19.8% for saphenous reflux and 3.3% for trunk varices by age 18 to 20 years. Although the same measures have not been published for the fourth assessment, Stocker et al. reported that the median venous refilling times for the subjects has increased over time from 24 seconds in the initial study to >45 seconds in the fourth examination.

When gender is examined the majority of authors describe a higher incidence of chronic venous insufficiency, varicose veins, and venous ulceration in women, even when standardised for age. For example, Abramson et al.⁵⁰ when examining the prevalence of varicose veins in a population in Western Jerusalem, found 10% of men affected, as opposed to 29% of women. Coon et al.⁵⁶ when examining the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency in the Tecumseh community (see table one) found the prevalence of varicose veins to be 12.9% for men and 25.9% for women. This study also found a prevalence of 0.1% for males and 0.3% of females for venous leg ulcers.

In contrast, the Edinburgh study (see table one) conducted by Evans et al.²⁴ found a higher prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency and varicose veins in male subjects. The prevalence of varicose veins was 39.7% in men, as

opposed to 32.2% in women. In Australia, Baker et al² (see table one) found the prevalence for venous leg ulcers to be the same for both male and females subjects. Therefore, while there seems that a higher prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency and the associated clinical manifestations exists amongst females, the evidence is not fully conclusive.

Some authors argue that the prevalence for women is artificially high^{3, 20}. The majority of studies have used self reporting, or reporting by health professional to determine the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency (see table one). It is argued that because women are often more concerned with conditions that affect their cosmetic appearance than men, they will seek medical help earlier and in larger numbers than men. Thus women will be over represented in the studies.

Others believe that the higher prevalence in women is related to pregnancy⁵. ^{6, 20, 27, 36, 40, 43, 72}. Whilst not being supported by all studies, there is general agreement that a relationship exists between pregnancy and the development of at least varicose veins. For example, the Edinburgh study (see table one) found a higher prevalence of reticular varices amongst parous women than childless women. Henry et al.⁷ reported that the prevalence of women with leg ulcers in Ireland increased with the number of pregnancies. Maffei et al.⁶⁷ also reported a higher frequency of both open ulcers and ulcers scars in Brazilian women with a higher number of pregnancies. In contrast, the West Jerusalem, and Tecumseh studies (see table one) were unable to demonstrate similar associations.

There is some reference in the literature to an association between the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency and the wearing of tight garments, particularly amongst women. Such assertions are not supported by the literature. Abramson et al⁵⁰ as part of the West Jerusalem study (see table one) asked women if they wore stockings, garters, corsets, or elastic belts. When compared with the prevalence of varicose veins or ulceration the researchers were unable to demonstrate an association between this data and the prevalence of varicose veins or venous ulceration.

In summary, whilst the evidence is inconclusive, it would appear that the prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency is between 10 to 40% of 'western' or 'developed' societies. Varicose veins are found in 25-32% of the same populations and venous ulceration in 0.06 to 1.97%. The prevalence is higher amongst the elderly, particular above the age of 70 years. Women have a higher prevalence than men, particularly women who have had one or more pregnancies.

In tandem with the prevalence studies, research has been conducted to understating the physiological and pathological processes that lead to chronic venous insufficiency. The following is summary of this work.

1.3. Chronic Venous Insufficiency (CVI) aetiology

1.3.1. Normal venous function

The veins of the leg are divided into the superficial and deep venous systems, connected by a series of perforating veins. The superficial system begins in the arterio-venous capillaries located in the cutaneous tissue of the leg and continues on to form a network of small veins, which in turn are joined to form larger veins known as 'truncal' veins. The latter are referred to as the small saphenous vein, which runs from the ankle to the popliteal vein, and the great saphenous vein, which runs from the ankle to the common femoral vein. The veins of the superficial system are located above the muscular fascial layer.⁷³⁻⁷⁵

The deep venous system, as the name implies, is located below the muscular fascial layer. It is comprised of intramuscular veins and larger axial veins that follow the major arteries of the leg. Intramuscular veins of the calf join to form the popliteal vein which continues as the femoral vein as it passes through the abductor canal at the knee. Intramuscular veins of the thigh join to form the profunda femoris, which in turn joins the femoral vein, to form the common femoral and eventually external iliac vein. The superficial and deep venous systems are connected by veins and are known as 'perforating veins' that pass through anatomical spaces in the muscle fascia.^{73, 74, 76} Both systems are in closest proximity at the ankle and veins in this area have the least amount of supportive connective tissue surrounding them.¹³
There has been some disagreement about the anatomical division between deep and superficial venous systems. Caggiati,⁷⁷ having studied the lower extremity hypodermis using a variety of techniques including dissection and ultrasonography, concluded that the saphenous vein could no longer be considered a truly superficial vein. He demonstrated that the saphenous vein ran deeply in the hypodermis and was covered by a 'fibroelastic sleeve' that in turn was connected to the muscle fascia. He further demonstrated that the adventitia of the saphenous vein was anchored to the fibroelastic sleeve, which may assist the vein to empty as the calf muscle is contracted.

In an effort to establish a common nomenclature for the veins of the lower leg, the International Interdisciplinary Committee was formed in 2001 to provide a consensus.⁷⁸ This was published in 2002 citing the anatomical structures that should be referred to as superficial, deep and perforator venous systems. This was revised in 2004 to expand the structures of the superficial venous system to include not only the greater and lesser saphenous vein, but the sapheno-femoral junction and the sapheno-popliteal junction as part of the superficial system.

Bicuspid valves are located throughout the deep and superficial veins and ensure the blood moves towards the heart by preventing blood returning to the lower extremities when the person is standing. The frequency of the valves increases from the proximal to the distal end of the leg in order to reduce the pressure in the distal veins, resulting from gravity. The bicuspid

valves are also found within the perforating veins ensuring that blood moves from the superficial to the deep venous system.⁷³

It was commonly believed that the bicuspid valves were forced closed by the flow of the blood reversing through the valve as the muscles of the leg relax. Lurie et al.,⁷⁹ using duplex ultrasound scanning, examined the time between flow and venous valve movements in the saphenous veins of twelve volunteers with no history of venous disease. They identified that all but one subject showed zero reverse flow prior to valve closure and concluded that reverse flow was not necessary for the closure of healthy venous valves. These findings lead White et al.¹³ to assert that the normal resting state of venous valves is the coapted position.

Valvular function is enhanced by the contraction of skeletal muscles within the leg, particularly the calf muscle. Contraction of the muscle forces blood from the superficial veins into the deep venous system and is known as the 'calf pump'. Immediately following contraction of the calf muscle the pressure within the deep venous system of the leg is 80 to 90 mmHg in the standing position. The pressure decreases to 15 to 30 mmHg following contraction of the calf muscle.^{19, 76, 80} Pressure in the deep veins is approximately three times higher than the pressure in the superficial system. The fall in pressure in the deep venous system immediately following muscle contraction is greater than the superficial pressure drop, forcing blood to flow from the superficial to the deep systems.^{74, 76}

1.3.2. Venous insufficiency

When venous outflow from the leg is impaired the patient is said to have 'venous insufficiency'. Reduced venous outflow results in an increased ambulatory pressure, often affecting the deep venous system first and in time the superficial venous system or vice versa. Although the extent and severity of the effects will vary, the ambulatory venous pressure often increases to levels in excess of 150 mmHg. This is known as a 'venous hypertension'.^{13, 76, 81} Studies have shown that the increase in pressure is often not significantly different in each leg.⁸²

Venous hypertension can be either primary or secondary. Primary venous hypertension results from valvular incompetence of the deep, perforator and/or superficial veins known as 'primary valvular incompetence'. Incompetent valves can no longer prevent blood from moving back into the distal areas of the leg. Blood is forced back into the venous capillaries when the calf muscle contracts, or drains into the distal area under the force of gravity when the muscle is relaxed. This is known as 'venous reflux'.

Secondary venous hypertension is also related to valvular incompetence. However, damage to the valves is as a result of an obstruction to the outflow of venous blood, usually associated with the development of deep vein thrombosis. The association between a deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and venous insufficiency has been identified in a number of studies.^{3, 75} For example, Scott et al.⁶³ found that 45 per cent of patients with CVI had a

history of DVT compared to 4 per cent in the control group. Damage created to the valves by a DVT and subsequent re-cannulisation results in the incompetence.

The effects of both primary and secondary venous hypertension are exacerbated by failure of the calf pump and obesity. Immobile patients, or patients with reduced activity, have reduced calf muscle action which in turn increases the hydrostatic pressure within the venous system. Equally, immobile patients are predisposed to the development of deep vein thrombosis and the subsequent valvular damage.^{3, 12, 27, 37, 41} Obesity increases pressure on the iliac veins, thus reducing venous outflow and increasing ambulatory pressures. Studies have also demonstrated that obesity is common amongst patients with CVI that develop skin changes associated with this condition.⁵⁸

Venous hypertension resulting from valvular incompetence and the associated venous reflux increases pressure within the microcirculation (capillaries of the venous and arterial systems) of the leg. When this increased pressure is exerted on a continual or chronic basis, alterations to the microcirculation result in a number of clinical manifestations.

1.3.3. Clinical manifestations and associated pathophysiology

Patients afflicted with CVI routinely manifest a number of signs and symptoms. They frequently complain of aching, throbbing, heaviness of the legs and at times stinging leg pain. Others report a restlessness of their leg

often called 'restless syndrome'. Pruritus or itchiness is often reported as the patient's skin is usually dry. Duque et al.⁸³ examined the prevalence of each symptom amongst 100 subjects suffering from CVI. Itchiness was the most common symptom identified by the subjects (66 per cent); leg fatigue (63 per cent); leg pain (62 per cent); cramps (53 per cent); muscle ache (48 per cent); and heaviness in the legs (47 per cent). Dry skin was present in 74 per cent of the subjects examined.

Signs observed in this patient cohort included the presence of varicose veins, varying degrees of leg and foot oedema, a darkening of the peri-malleolar skin, dry scaly skin of the leg and foot, lipodermatosclerosis and, in some patients, venous ulcers near the malleoli^{13, 75, 84, 85} (see Figure 1). Varicose veins can range from dilation of small superficial veins known as reticular varicose veins, to large dilations of sections of the saphenous veins known as truncal varicoses.

Oedema results from an increased permeability of the micro-vessels, allowing fluid to move from the intravascular to the interstitial spaces. Lipodermatosclerosis is fibrosis of the dermis and subcutaneous tissue.⁷³ The replacement of dermal and subcutaneous tissue with fibrin reduces the normal elasticity properties of the skin resulting in firm, rigid areas on the distal leg. Darkening of the peri-malleolar skin is a result of hemosiderin, or iron deposits left in situ when erythrocytes break down in the subcutaneous tissues.⁸⁶

Ulceration that occurs as a result of CVI is typically located in the gaiter area, shallow in depth, variable in extent, accompanied with moderate to heavy amounts of exudate, odour and pain. The ulcers are often large, slow to heal and have a high reoccurrence rate.^{1, 34, 37, 41, 49, 54, 73-75, 87-105} A review conducted by Persoon et al.⁹⁰ of leg ulcer studies revealed that the mean surface area of a venous leg ulcer was 6 cm² with between 18 per cent to 48 per cent of the patients surveyed having an ulcer of greater than 10 cm². The duration for the ulcers examined varied from one week to 63 years with 40 per cent of ulcers existing for more than one year and 10 per cent for more than five years. Only 21 per cent to 45 per cent of patients examined were experiencing an ulcer for the first time. Other studies have demonstrated that between 26 per cent to 69 per cent of patients suffer from recurring venous ulceration.^{1, 38, 106-108}



Figure 1. Signs exhibited by chronic venous insufficiency: Oedema, dry skin, hemosiderine deposits and ulceration.

Although an association has been demonstrated between valvular incompetence and the above signs and symptoms,^{2, 4, 5, 19, 21, 109, 110} the exact mechanism by which these changes occur is not fully understood.

Examinations of surgical specimens removed from patients with chronic venous disease, or via angioscopy, have revealed a number of common characteristics.¹¹¹ Bulging, stretching, tearing and perforation of the valve leaflets are often observed and, in some instances, complete destruction of the valve. The lesions are not found along the entire length of the vein but tend to 'skip' some areas resulting in areas of normal vein wall and valves.⁷³ Histopathological studies of varicose veins have revealed that the vein wall has increased collagen content and a disruption to the normal arrangement of smooth muscle cells and elastin.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁶ Surrounding the capilliaries are peri-capillary cuffs of fibrin that are believed to have developed from fibrinogen that escaped into the extracellular fluid as the permeability of the vein wall increases with an increase in venous pressure.⁹²

Thomas et al.¹¹⁷ observed that fewer leukocytes (24 per cent less) returned from venous circulation of patients with CVI. They concluded that the leukocytes were being sequestered in the micro-circulation due to venous hypertension. Further studies have identified that leukocytes are adhered to, and in some instances have migrated into the wall of affected veins.^{118, 119}

In addition, high levels of proteinases have been found in patients with varicose veins. Proteinases are used to break down tissue as part of the normal repair process. A study by Badier-Commander et al.¹²⁰ identified that matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their inhibitors (tissue inhibitors of MMPs, TIMPS) were found to be 3.6 (MMPs) and 2.1 (TIMPs) times higher in patients with varicose veins than in control patients.

A number of theories have been put forward to explain the above observations. The first was proposed by John Homans (cited by Pappas¹⁵) in 1917. He believed that the skin changes associated with CVI were related to venous stasis and hypoxia. This theory was expanded by Pratt (cited by Pappas¹⁵) who postulated that skin changes, in particular venous ulceration, were a result of nutrients and oxygen being shunted away from the dermal plexus thus leading to hypoxia.

Browse and Burnard^{121, 122} further supported the notion that cell hypoxia was the underlying aetiology when postulating the 'fibrin cuff' theory. They were the first to identify fibrin deposits in the extracellular matrix (mentioned above), and used the term 'fibrin cuffs' to describe the structure. They hypothesised that the increased venous pressure distended the local capillary bed, allowing fibrinogen to escape into the interstitial fluid. The resulting fibrin deposits formed cuffs that acted as a barrier to oxygen and nutrients, resulting in cell hypoxia and death.

The theories of hypoxia have not been supported in more recent research. Coleridge Smith^{123, 124} demonstrated that the oxygen levels of the skin and varicose veins of patients suffering from CVI is not decreased, but increased. It has also been demonstrated that complete cell layers offer little resistance to oxygen diffusion and therefore thinner fibrin layers are less likely to block oxygen diffusion.¹²⁵ In addition, Falanga and Eaglstein¹²⁶ observed that the fibrin cuffs did not completely surround the capillaries and that venous ulcers had healed despite the presence of fibrin cuffs on the ulcer edge.

Based on the work of Thomas et al.¹¹⁷ (see above), Coleridge Smith et al.^{123,} ¹²⁴ proposed an alternative theory suggesting that changes in capillary flow lead to a *trapping* of leukocytes. Trapped leukocytes in turn release oxygen free radicals and proteolytic enzymes which damage the capillary walls. This increases the wall permeability leading to further trapping of leukocytes. Claudy et al.^{127, 128} proposed that the capillary wall damage described by Coleridge Smith resulted from an increased elastase activity and the release of tumour necrosis factor alpha by the trapped leucocytes. These factors decreased fibrinolytic activity resulting in the fibrin cuff formation seen by Browse and Burnard.¹²⁹

Pascarella et al. ^{80, 111, 125, 130} built on this work when they went on to describe valvular incompetence and subsequent skin changes as a process of *inflammation*. A process they described as the activation of leukocytes resulting from an elevation of blood pressure, mechanical stretching of the venous wall, or an alteration to fluid shear stress within the vein.¹¹¹

Fluid shear stress refers to the sliding forces applied to the wall of the vein by blood passing over that wall. This is a normal physiological process that assists the transfer of nutrients and gases and is believed to promote the release of factors that reduce inflammation and the formation of free radicals,¹⁹ principally nitric oxide.¹¹ In patients suffering from CVI the force may be lower, have a turbulent flow, and flow in the reverse direction.¹³¹ Changes to fluid shear reduce the release of nitric oxide which in turn increases the release of factors that initiate inflammation.

Leukocyte activation is characterised by the release of many inflammatory molecules. A group of these molecules known as cytokines act to regulate the inflammatory reaction. The activity of two predominant inflammatory cytokines has been found to be higher in patients suffering from CVI. The first is tumour necrosis factor, which Claudy et al.¹²⁸ found to be present in the skin of patients suffering from CVI (see above). Tumour necrosis factor stimulates the expression of inflammatory adhesion molecules. These in turn result in leucocytes adhering to the vessel wall. Once adhered, the leucocytes release free oxygen radicals and proteolytic enzymes. Specific proteolytic enzymes known as matrix metalloproteinases had been shown to degrade extracellular matrix components leading to the vessel wall and skin changes seen in patients suffering from CVI.

The second cytokine is vascular endothelial growth factor, which is known to enhance vascular permeability and proliferation of the endothelium, plus the

expression of adhesion molecules. The activity of this cytokine is increased under changes in blood shear stress and during inflammation. High levels of vascular endothelial growth factor had been found in patients with CVI and associated skin changes.¹²⁸

The resulting inflammation and infiltration of leukocytes changes the structure of the bicuspid valve and the extracellular matrix, leading to valvular incompetence and skin changes.¹³² Takase et al.^{80, 118} created venous hypertension in rats by creating a femoral arterial-venous fistula. They observed the inflammatory process described above, with associated changes to the vein wall and bicuspid valves resulting from leukocyte infiltration and remodelling of extracellular matrix.

In addition to the various attempts to describe the underlying aetiology of CVI, a number of researchers have attempted to provide an explanation for the slow healing properties associated with venous ulceration. Falanga et al.^{126, 133} suggested that a possible explanation could be the *binding* actions of 'macromolecules' and fibrin that escape into the interstitial fluid as suggested by Browse and Burnard.¹²¹ They proposed that fibrin and other macromolecules that leak into the dermis trap growth factors and other stimulatory or homeostatic substances, rendering them unavailable for the maintenance of tissue integrity and the repair process.

Wound infections are cited as possible inhibitors of venous leg ulcer healing.^{134, 135} Schultz¹³⁵ has proposed that ulcers fail to heal because of the

presence of a biofilm. A biofilm is a colony of bacteria adhered to the surface of the wound, surrounded by a polysaccharide capsule. The structure makes them resistant to topical and systemic antibiotics. It is argued that the presence of these bacteria hinder ulcer healing by stimulating the release of inflammatory mediators. Seidman et al. ¹³⁶ and others¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ have examined the action of fibroblasts in chronic leg ulcers. They concluded that venous ulcer fibroblasts show similarities to senescent cells. Senescent cells are slow growing cells with altered morphology. It is argued that the functions of such fibroblast inhibit wound healing.

A number of researchers¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴³ have explored the peripheral nerve function of patients suffering from chronic venous ulceration. The findings suggest that patients suffer from a degree of peripheral neuropathy which increases with the severity of the disease. Padberg et al.¹⁴⁴ found that the most common site of sensory loss was just proximal to the medial malleolus, a common area for venous ulceration. Andron et al.¹⁴² measured the axon reflex vasodilation in the skin over the arms and feet of fifteen elderly patients with chronic venous ulcers. They found that the reduced axon reflex affected the feet, but not the arms of the subjects. Cheatle et al.¹⁴⁰ found that even when heated the vasodilation of patients with lipodermatosclerotic skin was significantly less than control patients. Shami et al.¹⁴³ suggested that the increased capillary pressure resulting from venous hypertension resulted in axon hypoxia and neuropathy.

1.3.4. Associated factors

In the previous section reference was made to the prevalence of CVI being influenced by a number of associated factors such as gender, age and lifestyle (see Section 2.1). Some research has been done to identify possible aetiologies that account for this association.

Prevalence studies have shown a familial aggregation of varicose veins and venous ulceration.^{6, 8, 11, 24, 29, 48, 54, 63, 67} This would suggest a possible genetic aetiology for CVI. A limited number of studies have been done in this area¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁵⁰ and, although possible genes have been suggested, specific genetic aetiologies have yet to be identified. Ng et al.,¹⁴⁸ after examining 2060 female twin pairs, identified that the FOXC2 gene was implicated in the development of varicose veins but suggested further research was needed to confirm this finding. Zamboni et al.¹⁴⁶ suggested that mutation of the hemochromatosis gene C282Y, leading to an iron overload in the tissues, significantly increased the risk of developing a leg ulcer when compared with a control group. However, once again they suggested further research was needed to confirm this finding.

It has been identified that the prevalence of CVI increases with age (see Section 2.1). Some authors suggest that this results from changes attributable to the ageing process. Caggiati et al.¹⁵¹ examined the varicosed legs of people < 30 years and > 60 years of age. They found that varicoses of the saphenous vein were more common in the older age group. The

younger group's varices were more common in the tributaries of the saphenous vein or veins not connected to the saphenous veins. They concluded that this was in part due to ageing. Wali et al.¹¹⁴ compared the microscopic structures of vein walls extracted from young trauma patients and patients with primary varicose veins. The younger trauma patients had no signs of varicose veins.

The prevalence figures also indicate a gender difference with females being affected more than males (see Section 2.1). Pregnancy and the resulting physiological changes has been suggested at the most likely cause of this difference. Significant increase in blood volume; increases in abdominal pressure due to weight gain and foetal growth; and the effects of relaxin have been cited as contributing to CVI.⁵ The latter is a hormone that has been shown to be a powerful vasodilator that puts pressure on the venous system.¹⁵²

The prevalence of CVI has also been associated with the patient's body mass index (BMI). Higher prevalence is seen in patients with high BMI, particularly in the overweight or obese category. This has been attributed to the increased intra-abdominal pressures created by obesity. Dannielsson et al. ⁵⁸ found that patients with a mean BMI of 50.2 kg/m² had a mean femoral venous pressure of 19.7 cm H₂O. This was significantly different from the control group (BMI 24.8 kg/m²) who had a mean femoral venous pressure of 7.5 cm H₂O. They went on to suggest that other factors such as lack of physical activity in overweight people may also contribute to the disease by restricting emptying of the venous system.

As mentioned previously, venous hypertension can occur as a result of obstruction to venous outflow. The most common form of obstruction is a deep vein thrombosis. The development of deep vein thrombosis has been linked to the formation of valvular incompetence and the development of leg ulceration.^{3, 17, 41, 55, 107, 153-157} A propensity for patients suffering from CVI to have underlying thrombophilia has been suggested by Bradbury¹⁵⁵. He supported this assertion by citing evidence that demonstrates the existence of chronic thrombin and fibrin formation long after the acute inflammatory phase of a deep vein thrombosis has passed. Prandoni et al.^{108, 158, 159} examined 355 patients with a confirmed deep vein thrombosis. Seventyeight patients (22 per cent) had one or more documented recurrence of a deep vein thrombosis. Based on these findings they asserted that one in three patients with a deep vein thrombosis will go on to develop postthrombotic syndrome. This syndrome is characterised by leg cramping, pruritius, leg oedema, pain during calf compression, and ulceration. This would account for the high prevalence of leg ulceration following a deep vein thrombosis. In addition, Kahn et al.³¹ identified that patients who had a history of deep vein thrombosis often had a significantly worse level of CVI and a poorer quality of life than patients without prior deep vein thrombosis.

Figure 2 provides a summary of the various aspects identified in the above research. It would appear that the underlying aetiology of CVI is probably one of an inflammatory nature followed by mechanical changes to the vein wall, bicuspid valves and surrounding subcutaneous tissues and skin. Any genetic

influence on this process has yet to be determined¹⁶⁰ as does the influence of predisposing factors such as age, gender and lifestyle.



Figure 2: Representation of processes of aetiology for skin changes and ulceration (Modified from Abbade et al.⁴¹)

1.4. The effect on the patient and their society

1.4.1. The financial costs

As with the previous sections, research exploring the impact of CVI on the patient and the community is often varied and inconclusive. Although venous ulcers affect a much smaller percentage of the population, the majority of studies have focused on this manifestation as it is associated with a marked degradation of the patient's quality of life, and a heavy imposition on health care budgets.^{31, 75, 90, 161-165}

It has been estimated that venous leg ulcers cost between \$775 million to \$1 billion a year in the United States of America (US).¹⁶⁶ This has increased annually with at least 150,000 new cases resulting in an additional \$500 million cost.¹⁶⁷ In the United Kingdom (UK) estimates range from £294 million to £949 million annually.^{168, 169} The estimates are based on direct costs only (medical and nursing staff and hospital admissions).

A number of studies have examined the actual costs per patient over time and per episode of care. Ragnarson Tennvall et al.¹⁷⁰ compared the costs of treating patients in the United Kingdom, with a cohort of patients in Sweden from 1993 to 1997. Costs were calculated from time of diagnosis until the ulcer was healed. The average cost of treating an initial ulcer varied between €814 to €1994 in the United Kingdom, and from €1332 to €2585 in Sweden. Average cost for preventing new ulcers during the ulcer-free period was €127 in Sweden and €45 in the United Kingdom.

Kumar et al.¹⁶⁸ examine the average annual cost per patient in New Mexico over a five-year cycle (1994–1998). Using Medicaid data they were able to demonstrate that over this period costs were reduced. The average total cost per patient of \$2757 in 1996, dropped to \$2617 in 1998. They concluded that these findings were a result of a change to Medicaid classifications rather than improvements in service.

A study undertaken by Olin et al.¹⁶⁶ demonstrated much higher figures when examining the costs of 78 patients in 1995. They reported an average total cost per patient of \$9685. The study separated hospital costs from outpatient costs revealing an average hospital cost per patient of \$2445, and an average outpatient cost per patient of \$5736. The outpatient cost per patient reduced from \$5736 during the 0 to 90 day period to \$5108 during the 181 to 270 day interval. The costs were not significantly related to ulcer size but, as expected, strongly related to the duration of follow-up.

Morrell et al.¹⁶⁹ examined the difference in costs between patients attending a hospital clinic and those being managed in their home by community nurses. The average cost per episode was £29.90 for patients attending the clinic and £10.60 for those being managed at home.

Within Australia, the cost of inpatient care was referred to by Grindlay et al.¹⁷¹ who estimated hospital costs for an average stay of 23.9 days to be approximately \$8734 per admission. Using extrapolated figures from research conducted in the United Kingdom and France, Baker et al.² identified Australia's national health expenditure on leg ulcers to be in the vicinity of A\$365 million to A\$431 million. Santamaria, Austin and Clayton in 2002¹⁷² estimated an increase in expenditure, placing national costs between A\$553 million to A\$654 million.

The majority of the above research has arisen because of concern about the increasing amount of resources being devoted to the treatment of leg ulcers and the resultant expenses incurred by national health departments. More recently, it has been recognised that the costs associated with this condition go beyond that incurred by the national health budgets.

When exploring the quality of life experienced by patients suffering from chronic leg ulcers, Phillips et al.¹⁷³ found that 67 per cent of participants stated that the presence of their leg ulcer impacted negatively on their financial situation. The main sources of expense identified were the cost of medical care, dressings and transportation. In over 30 per cent of cases, these expenses were estimated to be between \$101 and \$1000 per annum. A further 8 per cent of participants estimated out-of-pocket expenses to be greater than \$1000 per annum.

A study conducted by Smith and McGuiness¹⁷⁴ in Australia in 2006 identified that participants spent on average a total of \$114 per month on the treatment and management of their ulcer, resulting in a personal cost of \$1368 per annum. 60 per cent of the costs incurred were for primary dressing products, with secondary dressing products (bandages, tapes), medications and transport accounting for the reminder of the expenditure. As the average age of participants in this study was 73.4 years it could be assumed that the majority of participants in this study were financially supported by government pensions. Considering the average weekly income from aged pensions at the time of printing was \$206 (Australian Bureau of Statistics) the

researchers concluded that it was likely that approximately 14 per cent (\$28) of participants' total weekly income was being spent on the treatment and management of their leg ulcer.

1.4.2. The impact on Quality of Life

Personal costs go beyond the financial imposts. A number of studies have examined the impact of CVI on the patient's quality of life. Pain, social isolation, immobility, interference with sleep, and a lack of self-esteem feature as common problems encountered by this patient cohort.

Reviews undertaken by Persoon et al.⁹⁰ and Herber et al.¹⁷⁵ provide insights into the quality of life experienced by patients with chronic venous leg ulcers. An examination of qualitative studies revealed four themes: "pain, impaired mobility, sleep disturbance and problems related to wound characteristics" (p. 343). Pain was cited as the most negative aspect of living with a venous leg ulcer. Patients reported that the pain varied in intensity from irritating to intense, with the most intense pain being felt at night. Others reported that the weather and seasonal aspects influenced the intensity of their pain.

Limitations in mobility were linked to swollen legs, the bulk of wound dressings, exudate leakage, and the need to wear large shoes. Patients also reported that they had difficulties maintaining normal hygiene, because of the requirements to keep the bandages dry and the associated limited mobility.⁹⁰

Patients also reported social isolation because of the exudate from their ulcer. Wet shoes and stockings, and the accompanying odour, often interfered with normal social or family interactions. To cover and accommodate for their bandages, women often resorted to wearing slacks and larger shoes. They reported reduced feelings of femininity and a reluctance to mix socially.^{90, 175}

A lack of control over their ulcer and its management was a common feeling amongst this patient cohort. Whilst grateful for the support provided by health professionals, most patients felt that the practitioners did not always explain the treatments, listen attentively, or provide consistent messages and advice.^{90, 175} Associated with a lack of control was feelings of regret, depression and hopelessness.

Qualitative studies confirm similar results, with pain being the most often cited negative influence on the life of patients with chronic venous ulcers. Hyland et al.¹⁷⁶ found the majority of patients within their study had a degree of pain with 20 per cent having very painful ulcers and 4 per cent reporting excruciating pain. Similar findings were found by other researchers with pain during dressing change being frequently mentioned.^{161, 177-180}

Time off work was commonly explored by researchers. Although higher prevalence of ulceration is found in patients over the age of retirement significant correlations were found between time lost from work, unemployment and impost on financial resources, and having a venous

ulcer.^{162, 173, 177} Inability to work or retain employment was associated with feelings of anger, resentment and associated depression.

A number of studies demonstrated an association between social class and the duration and recurrence of leg ulcers.^{161, 162, 173, 177, 181} Many patients lived alone and had limited fiscal resources for purchasing care and the required nutrition to facilitate healing. Equally, they were unable to purchase preventative equipment such as compression hosiery, to reduce the risk of recurrence.

Dissatisfaction with health care workers was also evident in qualitative studies. Hareendran et al. ¹⁸¹ reported that 50 per cent of the patients surveyed in their research indicated a disappointment with treatment. Ruckley¹⁶² suggested that this was related to the number of different health professionals patients with venous leg ulcers encounter throughout the treatment. Because this condition threatens neither life nor limb, patients with venous leg ulcers are given less attention by busy professionals who 'shunt' them to other carers. The majority of their care is provided in the community by nurses and significant others.^{161, 182}

As expected, the quality of life reported by patients deteriorates with the severity of the condition.³¹ Surprisingly, improvements in the quality of life are not reported even when the ulcer has healed. When comparing the performance of four instruments measuring quality of life, Walters et al. ¹⁸³ reported that the 233 patients in the sample appeared to show an overall

deterioration of health status over time, and no improvement was associated with the leg ulcer healing.

1.5. Chapter summary

In summary, whilst the evidence is inconclusive, it would appear that the prevalence of CVI is found in 10 per cent to 40 per cent of 'western' or 'developed' societies. Varicose veins are found in 25 per cent to 32 per cent of the same populations and venous ulceration in 0.06 per cent to 1.97 per cent. The prevalence is higher amongst the elderly, particularly those above the age of 70 years. Women have a higher prevalence than men, particularly women who have had one or more pregnancies. The prevalence of CVI may be influenced by lifestyle practices; specifically those that increase the basal metabolic index of societal members, increase the periods of standing and reduce the amount of faecal fibre.

The aetiology of the condition appears to be a complex interconnection of several physiological and pathological processes. It would appear that the underlying aetiology of CVI is probably one of an inflammatory nature followed by mechanical changes to the vein wall, bicuspid valves, micro circulation and surrounding subcutaneous tissues and skin.

The cost of managing CVI for both the patient and the health care provider are high. Figures approaching the \$1 billion mark in the US and UK place a large impost on a national health care budget. Equally, patients who are often

elderly and who have a reduced income struggle to secure the personal fiscal resources required to manage their leg ulcer and prevent recurrence.

Whilst the evidence is inconclusive about the quality of life experienced by patients with CVI, the nature of documented clinical manifestations and social contexts that have been associated with this disease indicate that this patient cohort suffer a number of negative experiences. Excessive exudate, wearing bandages, accompanying odour and pain result in the sufferer becoming a social recluse. This is often accompanied by feelings of helplessness and loss of self worth, which are further heightened with the inability to maintain activities of daily living and gainful employment. It is obvious that the lives of people with venous leg ulceration would benefit from effective and timely treatments aimed at eliminating such manifestations and associated outcomes.

The majority of authors agree that early an accurate assessment of this condition and its associated manifestations is a critical component to more effective management of this condition into the future. The next chapter will examine the techniques and tools that are available to health care clinicians when assessing the patient with CVI with a view to highlighting the significance of the study undertaken.

2. Chapter Two: The significance of objective assessment

In Chapter One it was established that CVI can affect almost half of the Western population over the age of 60, and generate health care costs close to \$1 billion annually^{21, 27, 34, 41, 156}. It is therefore imperative that accurate and reliable methods for diagnosing the condition and determining ongoing progress are available to health care practitioners. Such techniques provide early recognition of the condition and assessment of ongoing progress. Accurate diagnostics and assessment tools also provide valuable data for the evaluation of interventions undertaken to correct the condition or manage its manifestations.

This chapter explores diagnostic and assessment techniques described within the literature as a foundation for the study undertaken. To help clarify the intent of each assessment the methods have been classified into three categories: diagnosing the condition; classifying clinical manifestations; and judging the progression of outcomes. The chapter describes both objective and subjective assessments. The former techniques measure changes to defined physiological parameters. The latter evaluate the clinical manifestations produced by the physiological changes.

The discussion will demonstrate that whilst clearly defined parameters are available for diagnosing the presence of CVI clinicians are often forced to rely on subjective assessments such as colour when judging the progression of

clinical manifestations. It is argued that as the management of these manifestations form the bulk of health care cost attributed to CVI, it is logical to explore methods of refining such assessment techniques. In particular the need to develop objective measures for determining the healing progression of venous leg ulcers is discussed. The benefits of colour as an assessment parameter for venous ulceration is presented and the need for research in this area described as justification for undertaking the project described in this thesis.

2.1. Diagnosing the condition

Diagnostic investigations for patients with suspected CVI are focused on three principal areas. The initial intent is to detect the presence of reflux and/or obstruction within the venous system and to exclude arterial disease. Once venous reflux has been confirmed the focus changes to identifying the specific location of the reflux and/or obstruction. Data from these investigations is often used to determine if surgical intervention will succeed over more conservative methods. The third focus is to quantify the degree of reflux and/or obstruction. This data is principally used for research examining the efficacy of certain treatments, with clinical applications being reserved for organisations where the equipment is readily available³.

In 2000 a consensus statement was published by Nicolaides et al.³ detailing investigations undertaken for CVI. As described in Chapter One, the document arose from a meeting held in 1997, with representatives from the

Cardiovascular Disease Educational and Research trust, the European Society of Vascular Surgery, the International Angiology Scientific Activity Congress Organisation, the International Union of Angiology and the Union Internationale de Phlebologie. The panel concluded that:

"Because the history and clinical examination will not always indicate the nature and extent of the underlying abnormality (anatomic extent, pathology, and cause), a number of diagnostic investigations have been developed." (p. 4)

The following is a summary of the investigations identified by this group and other authors.

2.2. Identification and localisation of reflux

2.2.1. Phlebography

Phlebography is an x-ray image of the leg veins following the injection of contrast dye. This investigation is seen as the 'gold standard' for diagnosing saphenous reflux, but more recently has been superseded by non-invasive tests such as duplex ultrasounds. The procedure can be performed as either an ascending or descending phlebography. In an ascending phlebography contrast medium is injected into a foot vein and directed into the deep veins by applying a tourniquet at the ankle. It is used to diagnose deep vein thrombosis and the resulting chronic obstruction.³

In a descending phlebography contrast medium is introduced into a cannula inserted into the femoral popliteal vein with a patient in a standing position.

The patient is asked to initiate a Valsalva manoeuvre which increases abdominal pressure resulting in closure of valves within the veins. During this procedure any reflux of contrast medium distal to the injection site is recorded on the x-ray. The level of reflux is then allocated one of five grades: grade 0 indicates no reflux; grade 1 indicates reflux in the superficial femoral vein, but not below the middle of the thigh; grade 2 indicates reflux of the superficial femoral vein down to the popliteal vein; grade 3 indicates reflux to a level just below the knee, indicating competent popliteal veins; and grade 4 indicates reflux of the femoral popliteal and calf veins to the level of the ankle.¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁷

2.2.2. Doppler ultrasound

Continuous wave Doppler ultrasound is used to detect reflux at the saphenofemoral and saphenopopliteal junction.³ For the former the patient is asked to stand facing the examiner. A 5 MHz to 10 MHz probe is used to locate the femoral vein by asking the patient to conduct repeated valsalva manoeuvres or by repeated compression of the calf by the examiner. Both activities increase blood flow to the heart by the femoral vein, thus increasing the signal detected by the ultrasound. Once a femoral vein has been located, the calf is compressed manually and the pressure suddenly released. The absence of a signal during the sudden release indicates that reflux is not present. A signal lasting > 0.5 seconds indicates the presence of reflux.^{188, 189}

To examine the saphenopopliteal junction the patient is asked to stand facing away from the examiner with their weight on the opposite leg and the knee slightly flexed. The popliteal vein is located using the same techniques described above. The calf muscle is compressed forcing blood through the popliteal vein, and is then suddenly released. As with the femoral vein, any signal following the sudden release indicates reflux (> 0.5 seconds)³.

This examination can only detect the presence of reflux, not localise the vessels affected. Duplex scanning is used to provide this additional information.

2.2.3. Duplex scanning

Duplex scanning uses ultrasound technology to diagnose a deep vein thrombosis, examine the shape of veins and the degree of reflux within veins. It is a combination of B-scan (picture) and Doppler (flow)³³. A 4 to 7 MHz multi-frequency transducer is used to examine different areas (femoral, small and long saphenous and popliteal veins) within the venous system of the leg. Examinations are usually made with a patient in a standing position to increase venous pressure, or in a 15° reverse Trendelenburg position using a valsalva manoeuvre to increase venous pressure.^{33, 190-192}

The cross-section provided by the scan enables identification of the contents such as aggregates of red cells, the movement of the venous valve, the lining of the vein wall, and the approximation of the anterior and posterior walls with compression.^{193, 194} Any obstruction to flow, irregularities of the vein wall, or failure to compress is indicative of a deep vein thrombosis.

With the addition of colour (colour duplex scanning) information about blood flow and reflux can be determined. In normal veins, blood flows towards the heart in a rhythmic motion that reflects changes in thoracic pressure with inspiration and expiration. This blood flow, known as 'cephalic flow' is indicated by a blue colour within the lumen of the vein. During a scan cephalic flow is increased by applying pressure distal to the probe (e.g. a pressure cuff around the calf). Once the pressure is released, any blood that moves towards the foot (reflux) is represented by the colour red. In normal veins the red colour, or reflux, will last until the valve closes (usually < 0.5 seconds).^{192, 195, 196} If red is seen within the lumen of the vein lasting longer than 0.5 seconds reflux is considered to be present.¹⁹⁷⁻²⁰¹ In the absence of reflux the lumen is black.³

2.2.4. Thermography

Thermography has been used to identify incompetent perforator veins. The patient's leg is first raised to an angle of 45° thus emptying the superficial veins and any obvious varices. Tourniquets are applied above the medial malleolus and below the knee and inflated to 80 mmHg. The leg is lowered and the area to be examined cooled by gently rubbing the skin with ice cubes until a uniformly dark colour is seen on the scanner. The patient then plantar flexes the foot for 60 seconds and the thermal image is examined for white circular areas of 0.5 to 2 cm in diameter. Known as 'hotspots' these areas of increased temperature suggest possible sites of incompetent perforator veins.^{202.} When compared with other investigations, thermography has been

found to have a sensitivity of 98 per cent when compared with phlebography and 91 per cent when compared with duplex scan.²⁰²⁻²⁰⁵

2.2.5. Ankle Brachial Index

Whilst confirmation of the disease using one or more of the above investigations is preferable, often in the clinical setting diagnosis of venous disease is based upon clinical presentation. However, prior to the implementation of treatment (principally compression) an ankle brachial index is calculated to exclude possible arterial disease that would be compromised by the application of compression²⁰⁶.

This is performed by recording the patient's blood pressure at the ankle and arm. With the patient in the supine position, the ankle blood pressure is measured by inflating a sphygmomanometer cuff around the patient's ankle and using a Doppler ultrasound (fitted with a vascular probe) to detect the post tibial pulse as the cuff has deflated. The blood pressure at the arm is taken using the same technique. The systolic blood pressure from the ankle (A) is then divided by the systolic blood pressure from the arm, or brachial plexus (B) providing an index from zero to one (ABI = A/B).²⁰⁷

Significance of the index achieved is provided in Table 2. However, patients with diabetes or advanced arterial calcification may provide readings higher than 1.0 (> 1.2) but actually have advanced arterial disease. To help eliminate false positives resulting from this condition, a toe/brachial index is

calculated using a similar technique as described above but substituting an ankle blood pressure for one recorded at the great toe.^{192, 208}

Index	Arterial status	
0.9 – 1.0	Normal	
0.75 – 0.9	Moderate disease	
0.5 – 0.75	Severe disease	
< 0.5	Limb threatening disease	

Table 2. Relationship of Ankle Brachial Index to arterial status ^{192, 208}

2.3. Quantifying the degree of reflux

2.3.1. Ambulatory venous pressure

For patients with CVI, measuring the ambulatory venous pressure enables the degree of venous hypertension to be assessed. The examination originates from observations made by Pollack in 1949 (cited by Nicolaides et al.³) when he discovered that venous pressure of the foot decreased when walking.

A needle is inserted into the vein on the dorsum of the foot and is connected to a pressure transducer, which in turn is connected to a potentiometric pen recorder or computer. The patient then supports him or herself in a standing position by holding onto a frame. Using a frame to support the patient prevents contraction of the calf muscle resulting in inaccurate pressure measurements. A baseline or resting venous pressure is then recorded. The patient is asked to plantar flex their foot ten times at a rate of one per second, and then remain still, while the time taken for the pressure to return to the baseline is measured in seconds. A pressure cuff is then inflated at the ankle to occlude superficial veins, and the above procedure is repeated. The procedure is repeated with the cuff position just below the knee, the lower thigh and upper thigh. The difference between the resting pressure (P₀) and the pressure recorded towards the end of the foot exercises (P₁₀) is calculated to give the ambulatory venous pressure (P₀ – P₁₀).³ Different ambulatory venous pressure shave been associated with differing underlying pathologies. Table 3 provides an example of the changes to P₁₀ ambulatory venous pressure associated with underlying valvular incompetence (see Table 3).

Type of limbs	No ankle cuff	Ankle cuff inflated
Normal	15–30mm Hg	15–30mm Hg
Primary varicose vein and competent perforators	25–40mm Hg	13–30mm Hg
Varicose veins and incompetent perforators	40–70mm Hg	25–60mm Hg
Deep venous valve incompetence and proximal occlusion	55–85mm Hg	50–80mm Hg
Proximal occlusion and competent popliteal valves	25–60mm Hg	10-60mm Hg

Table 3 Values of ambulatory venous pressure at P₁₀ (Adapted from Nicolaides et al.²⁰⁹)

Although this examination remains the standard for validation of non-invasive tests, the invasive nature of direct venous pressure recording prevents its use in clinical settings. To compensate, a number of non-invasive methods have been developed.

2.3.2. Plethysmography

Plethysmography is the measurement of changes in blood volume. For patients with CVI it is used to examine blood flow and volume changes of the leg in an effort to quantify the degree of venous reflux.

2.3.2.1. Water plethysmography

Water plethysmography measures volume changes of the foot during exercise. Measurements are made using a box filled with water to a level of 14 cm, containing a photoelectric float sensor connected to a strip chart recorder or computer. The volume of blood within the patient's foot is decreased by asking the patient to undertake a series of knee bends, performed at a rate of one every two seconds. Once the exercise stops, blood volume within the foot increases to the pre-exercise state. The refilling displaces water within the box thus providing a measure of foot volume.³

When compared to studies undertaken in control groups the readings obtained can be used to calculate the volume expelled from the foot (EV), the rate at which it is expelled (EVR), and the refilling flow rate (Q). Dividing the refilling flow rate by the rate at which it is expelled (Q/EVR) provides a ratio that can be used to discriminate patients with normal venous return from those with CVI. The normal ratio has been reported as 1.5 to 2.8.²¹⁰⁻²¹³

Determining the location of any venous reflux can be achieved by using a tourniquet, at the knee and just above the ankle, to compress the superficial venous system and then repeating the exercise. Deep venous disease will provide the same Q/EVR ratio when the superficial venous system is compressed whereas superficial venous disease will show a change in its ratio when compressed.³

2.3.2.2. Air plethysmography

Air plethysmography measures the venous volume of the leg by recording the amount of air displaced in a specially designed chamber as the venous system refills. A 35 cm polyurethane tubular air chamber is placed around the leg, inflated to 6 mm Hg and connected to a pressure transducer, which is in turn connected to a computer³.

The patient is placed in the supine position and the venous system is drained by elevating the leg to 45°. The patient is then asked to take their weight on the opposite leg. As blood drains back into the venous system it displaces air in the chamber surrounding the leg, increasing the pressures in the chamber, which is recorded by the pressure transducer and computer. Patients with venous incompetence have an increase in the volume of blood returning to the leg³.

The volume recorded is known as 'functional venous volume'. In normal limbs this volume is 80 mls to 150 mls and can increase up to 400 mls in limbs with CVI.²¹⁴ The refill time after leg elevation taken for the leg to reach
90 per cent of its filling capacity is also recorded. This is known as a 'venous filling index' and is a measure of the average filling rate of the veins expressed in milliseconds. In normal limbs this is < 2 milliseconds which may increase up to 30 milliseconds in limbs with severe venous reflux.²¹⁴

During the investigation the patient is also asked to plantar flex both feet (stand on tiptoes). The volume decrease during this activity is known as the 'expelled volume'. When the expelled volume (EV) is divided by the functional venous volume (VV) and multiplied by 100, the 'ejection fraction' (EF) of the calf muscle pump can be calculated: $EF = (EV/VV) \times 100$). A normal ejection fraction is > 60 per cent;, 30 per cent to 70 per cent in limbs with primary varicose veins and 10 per cent in limbs with the venous disease.²¹⁴

The remaining volume in the leg after the tiptoe exercises is also recorded. This is known as the 'residual volume' (RV) and, when divided by the functional venous volume and multiplied by 100, enables calculation of a residual volume fraction: $RVF = (RV/VV \times 100)$. In normal limbs, the residual volume fraction ranges from 5 per cent to 35 per cent; in limbs with primary varicose veins it ranges from 20 per cent to 70 per cent; and up to 100 per cent for sever venous disease.²¹⁴

The calculation of the functional venous volume, ejection fraction and residual volume fraction enables performance of both the vein valves and calf pump to be evaluated. However, as this investigation requires specialised

equipment and operators, it is often confined to vascular laboratories and research projects.

2.3.2.3. Photoplethysmography

Photoplethysmography uses a light source, placed on the leg to transmit light through the tissue of the skin. A light sensitive diode records the amount of light present in the area of skin being examined. The number of red blood cells in the skin affects the amount of light passing through the tissue.

The patient is placed in a sitting or standing position and a baseline measurement (the amount of red blood cells in the peripheral circulation at rest) is recorded.²¹⁵ The venous system is then emptied by either raising the leg or by plantar flex of the foot as described above. The time taken for the reading to return to the baseline measurement is recorded. This is known as the 'venous refilling time'. Refilling times shorter than normal (< 20 seconds in the sitting position or 18 seconds in the standing position) indicate venous reflux as the vein is not emptied as efficiently as veins with normal valves.²¹⁶⁻

An inflatable cuff can be placed at the ankle or below the knee to occlude superficial veins. If the refilling time returns to normal after the application of the cuff, the veins affected are likely to be superficial. If the refilling time does not return to normal then the affected veins are likely to be part of the deep or perforator systems.

Establishing initial reliability for this technique proved difficult. Obtaining an accurate calibration and returning the reading to the baseline were difficult to achieve consistently. Further refinements of the system (in the 1990s) has improved the reliability of this technique.²¹⁹⁻²²²

The ability of the above non-invasive investigations (photoplethysmography. air plethysmography and duplex ultrasonography) to accurately predict the severity of chronic venous disease has been examined. Using the Society for Vascular Surgery / International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery classification system (CEAP), lafrati et al.²²¹ found that these investigations were unable to differentiate between CVI with ulceration and without ulceration. They concluded that the above investigations were appropriate for large vessel disease but insufficient for assessing changes to microcirculation thought to result in skin ulceration (see Chapter One).

2.4. Assessment of venous microcirculation

A number of investigations had been undertaken to examine the pathophysiology of skin lesions and CVI. These were principally used for research with little evidence of clinical application within the literature. They included skin biopsies, laser Doppler fluxmetry, transcutaneous oxygen tension and investigation of the microlymphatics.³

Traditionally, skin biopsies have been used to exclude malignant lesions in patients with non-healing leg ulcers. When assessing microcirculation,

biopsies are used to examine structural changes in the capillaries, lymphatic, and dermal tissue (see Chapter One).

Laser Doppler fluxmetry uses a light source in the red to near infrared range to measure the number and velocity of cells moving within the area under examination. The technique examines changes to micro blood flow, in response to a stimulus, or over time. Findings are reported as a 'red cell flux'. Patients with lipodermatosclerosis resulting from CVI have been found to have an increased flux.²²³

Transcutaneous oxygen tension is measured using an electrode which is heated to 45°C to induce hyperaemia. This method measures surplus oxygen molecules available for diffusion to the skin surface from the capillaries under hyperaemia conditions.³ Patients with CVI exhibit a significant decrease in transcutaneous oxygen tension associated with changes to the blood capillaries (see Chapter One). The decrease in transcutaneous oxygen tension is linearly related to a reduction in capillary density.^{224, 225} The method is principally used in research investigating skin changes leading to ulceration.

Fluorescence microlymphography is used to examine the structure and function of the lymphatics of the skin. Fluorescein isothiocyanate is injected below the epidermis using a micro needle. The dye is cleared via the lymphatics within the area injected. The spread of the dye is visualised using an incident light fluorescence microscope.³ Structural changes to the micro

lymphatic system have been demonstrated in patients with skin areas of induration and hyper pigmentation using this technique.^{226, 227}

Lymphoscintigraphy is also used to examine the lymphatic system, principally in patients with lymphoedema. Radioactive plasma proteins are injected into the web space between the second and third toe, and a gamma-camera used track their progress. The time taken for radioactivity to become evident in the major lymphatic regional nodes is recorded, with fifteen minutes indicating rapid lymphatic transport and the absence of activity after an hour suggesting delayed transport.³ Patients with CVI have been shown to exhibit a delayed lymphatic transport using this technique.²²⁸ Once again this method is used principally for research with the limited clinical application.

Whilst the major application for techniques used to assess the microcirculation have been limited to research, assessment of clinical manifestations associated with CVI is principally performed in the clinical setting. Recording the patient's history, performing visual inspections, classifying the severity of varicose veins or skin changes, and assessing a patient's progress are common techniques used in the clinical environment.

2.5. Assessment of clinical manifestations

Problems associated with the absence of a clear definition for CVI were described in Chapter One. Similar problems plague the terminology used to describe the clinical manifestations of the condition. In an effort to provide consistency for the communication of a patient's status, and comparison of interventions, a number of efforts have been made to reach consensus on terminology. Equally, a number of researchers have attempted to devise methods for quantifying signs and symptoms of the condition. The following describes the outcomes of these activities.

2.5.1. Classifying chronic venous insufficiency

There have been a number of classification systems proposed, and to detail each is beyond the scope of this chapter. The following provides a summary of key systems consistently identified in the literature.

In 1978, Widmer proposed a classification system based mainly on clinical signs documented by photographs taken by over 4000 health employees.^{27, 229} The system provided two main categories: one for varicose veins; and one for CVI. Varicose veins were classified as telangietases, reticular veins or trunk varicoses.²³⁰ CVI was categorised into three grades based on the clinical signs presented. Patients were classified as: *Grade I* if dilated subcutaneous veins were present; *Grade II* if there were skin changes evident; and *Grade III* if the patient had a venous ulcer.

In 1988, Porter et al.^{230, 231} created a classification for CVI intended as a reporting standard for publications. It consisted of four classes:

Class 0 was asymptomatic.

Class 1 had mild signs and symptoms including mild to moderate ankle swelling and local or generalised dilation of subcutaneous veins.

Class 2 had moderate signs and symptoms including hyper pigmentation of the skin, moderate oedema, subcutaneous fibrosis, and prominent local or regional dilation of subcutaneous veins.

Class 3 had signs and symptoms of severe CVI, including ulceration and severe oedema. This class was usually associated with deep venous system disease and widespread loss of valvular function.

In 1995, the American Venous Forum presented the CEAP classification system. This classified patients according to their: clinical signs (C); aetiology (E); anatomic distribution (A); and pathophysiology (P).^{3, 27, 31-33} Clinical signs were divided into seven classes (C_0 to C_6) with 0 being no signs and 6 being the most severe (see Table 4). Aetiology was divided into: congenital (E_c); primary (E_p); or secondary (E_s). Anatomical distribution was divided into: superficial (A_s); deep (A_d); or perforator (A_p); alone or in combination. Pathophysiology was divided into: reflux (P_r); or obstruction (P_o), alone or in combination.

Class	Clinical indication
C ₀	No visible signs of venous disease
C ₁	Telangietases or reticular veins
C ₂	Varicose veins
C ₃	Oedema
C ₄	Skin changes, including pigmentation, venous eczema, and lipodermatosclerosis
C ₅	Skin changes as above, with healed ulceration
C ₆	Skin changes as above, with active ulceration

 Table 4. C classes of the CEAP classification system

 (Adapted from Nicolaides³)

The classification has received a number of criticisms.²³² The requirement for exhaustive investigations and detailed clinical examination makes it difficult to use in everyday practice. A lack of precision for the subcategories makes it difficult to use the classification system consistently. For example, classes $C_{4, 5, 6}$ are cumulative in that the criteria of the lower classes validate the higher class (e.g. oedema is present prior to ulcer formation). The same is not true for classes $C_{1, 2}$. If the patient has varicose veins will they also have telangietases or reticular clinical signs? The patient's venous history is also not included in the classification. A patient with varicose veins (C_2) who receives successful treatment would revert to class (C_0). Any epidemiological surveys examining the prevalence of venous leg ulcers based on this

Questions about the inter-rater reliability of the system have also been asked. Antignani et al.²³³ surveyed 3681 plebologists to compare terms used in everyday language with the seven classes used in the C category of the CEAP. Although the response rate was low (n = 206, 5.6 per cent) they demonstrated a wide variety of opinions about basic descriptions of conditions used in venous dysfunction. In addition, only 60 per cent of the physicians who responded actually used the CEAP classification in their practice.

In response, the CEAP classification system was revised in 2004 to incorporate more precise definitions.²³⁴ C₄ was divided into two subgroups: C_{4a} for pigmentation and eczema; and C_{4b} for lipodermatosclerosis or

atrophie blanche. In addition, a designation was added to identify if symptoms were present (_S) or absent (_A). For example, a patient with varicose veins, lipodermatosclerosis and reporting symptoms (e.g. pain, itchiness, heaviness) would be classified as $C_{2,4b,S}$. A new descriptor was added to the E, A and P classification to identify that no venous abnormality had been identified (_n). For example, E_n depicted no venous cause identified, A_n depicted no venous location identified, and P_n indicated that no venous pathophysiology had been identified.

Ekolf et al.²³⁴ further recommended that documentation of any of the CEAP classification system be followed by the date, for example $C_{2,4b,S}$, E_{p} , $A_{s,p}$ P_{r} (2007-08-01). In addition, a *level of testing* should be indicated: Level I (LI): office visit, with history and clinical examination, which may include use of a handheld Doppler scanner.

Level II (LII): non-invasive vascular laboratory testing, which includes duplex colour scanning, with some plethysmography method added as desired. Level III (LIII): invasive investigations or more complex imaging studies, including venous pressure measurements, computerised tomography, or magnetic resonance imagery.²³⁴

Thus, using this classification for a patient with the same clinical scenario described above, who had undergone duplex scanning, the documented classification would be $C_{2,4b,S}$, E_{p} , $A_{s,p}$ P_r (2007-08-01, LII).

Such changes addressed many of the criticisms concerning precise definitions. However, the patient's venous history is still not captured and the

obvious complexity increases the likelihood of it not being implemented by busy clinicians. Full implementation will probably have to wait until automated systems are developed that collect various parameters from the patient's assessment and investigations, then assigns the relevant CEAP classification.

In parallel with the development of the CEAP system Rutherford et al.²³⁵ developed the Venous Clinical Severity Score. Using the seven classes of the C classification they assigned a 0 to 3 grading scheme to certain clinical manifestations (see Table 5). This provided a severity score, which Rutherford et al.²³⁵ argue allowed practical assessments of changes in response to treatment or adverse events.

Attribute	Absent = 0	Mild = 1	Moderate = 2	Severe = 3
Pain	None	Occasional: not restricting activity or	Daily: moderate activity limitations,	Daily: severely limiting activities or
		requiring analgesics	occasional analgesics	requiring regular use of analgesics
Varicose veins	None	Few: scattered: branch varicose	Multiple: GS varicose veins can find	Extensive: thigh and calf or GS and
		veins	the calf or thigh	LS distribution
Venus oedema	None	Evening: ankle oedema only	Afternoon: oedema above ankle	Morning: oedema above the ankle
				requiring activity change and
				elevation
Skin pigmentation	None or focal, low intensity	Diffuse, but limited in the area and	Diffuse over most of gaiter	Wider distribution (above the lower
		old (brown)	distribution or recent pigmentation	1/3), and recent pigmentation
			(purple)	
Information	None	Mild cellulite: limited to marginal area	Moderate cellulite: involving most of	Entire lower leg and more
		around ulcer	the gaiter area	
No. of active ulcers	0	1	2	>2
Active ulceration	None	< 3 months	> 3 months, < 1 year	Not healed > 1 year
duration				
Active ulcers' size	None	< 2 cm diameter	2 cm to 6 cm diameter	> 6 cm diameter
Compressive therapy	Not used or not compliant	Intermittent use of stockings	Wears elastic stockings most days	For compliance: stockings plus
				elevation

Table 5. Venous Clinical Severity Score(Adapted from Rutherford

Rutherford et al.²³⁵ further added a Venous Segmental Disease Score, which was calculated by assigning venous segments with reflux or obstruction a numerical score (see Table 6). Disease segments of the venous system were identified using a duplex scanner. They recommended that the Venous Clinical Severity Score and Venous Segmental Disease Score both be used rather than one or the other.

Reflux	Obstruction		
1/2 Lesser saphenous			
1 Greater saphenous	1 Greater saphenous (only if thrombosed		
	from groin to below knee)		
1/2 Perforators, thigh			
1 Perforators, calf			
2 Calf veins, multiple	1 Calf veins, multiple		
2 Popliteal veins	2 Popliteal veins		
1 Superficial femoral vein	1 Superficial femoral vein		
1 Profunda femoris	1 Profunda femoris		
1 Common femoral vein and above	2 Common femoral		
	1 Iliac vein		
	1 IVC		
10 Maximum reflux score	10 Maximum obstruction score		

 Table 6. Venous Segmental Disease Score

 (Adapted from Rutherford²³⁵)

Once again, the clinical application of the system is limited by the complex nature of the classifications and the requirement for comprehensive investigations and detailed clinical assessments.

2.5.2. Measuring leg oedema

Whilst plethysmography enables a venous volume of the leg to be determined additional tests are required to determine the volume of fluid within the interstitial space, or oedema. These investigations are either direct or indirect measurements of leg volume; the former using water displacement or leg measurement techniques, and the latter using mathematical equations.

2.5.2.1. Direct methods

Water displacement volumetry uses a similar technique to that of water plethysmography. The patient places their leg in a water tank, equipped with two overflow tubes or a photoelectric float sensor connected to a strip chart recorder or computer. The water is heated to 29°C because the skin of the lower leg and ankle are approximately this value. The amount of water displacement when the patient places their leg in the tank indicates the volume of their leg. This can be compared to known figures from control groups or compared at subsequent clinical reviews to establish that oedema is reducing.²³⁶

Another direct method is to measure the leg circumference at the calf. An instrument known as the Leg-O-Meter^{237, 238} has been used to ensure consistent measurements across clinical visits. This instrument consists of a tape measure fixed to a stand which is in turn attached to a small board that the patient stands on. Having the tape fixed to a stand means the measurement of the patient's calf is always taken in the same location, facilitating comparison across clinical examinations.

Berard et al. ²³⁷⁻²³⁹ have undertaken a number of studies to examine the validity of the Leg-O-Meter. In 2002, they compared measurements taken with the Leg-O-Meter with the observations of experienced physicians. The Sample included 1521 patients and 243 physicians from France, Belgium, Italy, and Quebec. Clinical variation in oedema was assessed as: improved if that oedema was present at baseline and absent at final visit; unchanged, if that oedema was present at both visits; and worse, if oedema was absent at baseline and present at final visit. This assessment was compared with those made by the physicians and the researchers concluded that the Leg-O-Meter correlated with the physician's opinion in 84 per cent of cases. Although limited by the subjective opinion of the physicians, the results seem to indicate physicians perceive an increase in calf diameter as an increase in oedema.

2.5.2.2. Indirect methods

Indirect methods of measuring leg oedema use mathematical formulas. One method assumes that a swollen limb can be visualised as a cone that is reduced to its 'frustum' (a slice taken between the base and a plane parallel to the base).²³⁶ It requires a measurement from the lower and upper circumferences of the lower leg, and the distance between them.

Another method divides the leg into discs. The total volume is equal to the sum of the individual disc volumes. The circumference of the leg is measured every 3 cms and the volumes are added to come up with a total leg volume.²³⁶

Kaulesar et al.²³⁶ compared the truncated cone and disc methods with water displacement volumetry. They measured the lower leg volume of twenty healthy male amateur soccer players. The results indicated that there was considerable discrepancy between the truncated cone method and the results received by water displacement volumetry, but a high correlation (r = + 0.99) with the disc method. They concluded that the water displacement volumetry and disc model methods were interchangeable with the latter providing a technique that could be used in clinical settings more easily. Further research using patients with CVI was not identified.

Magnetic resonance imagery has also been explored as a potential tool for diagnosing leg oedema.^{240, 241} Haaverstad et al.^{240, 241} used an MRI to

investigate the oedema of twenty-eight patients following reconstructive surgery, or with chronic lymphoedema. They were able to illustrate different compartments of oedema within the different groups of patients (surgical and lymphoedema) and concluded that the magnetic resonance imagery may be a useful diagnostic tool for diagnosing oedema but requires further investigation.

2.6. Assessment of venous leg ulcers

Four principal themes are evident in the literature pertaining to the assessment of venous leg ulcers: clinical history; observation of the surrounding skin; examination of the ulcer bed; and the measurement of ulcer dimensions.

2.6.1. Clinical history

In conjunction with a normal medical examination, a number of authors recommend the collection of specific ulcer related data: the patient's age at the onset of ulceration; the number and duration of any previous leg ulceration; previous history of deep vein thrombosis; duration of the current ulcer; family history of venous ulceration and site of the current ulcer were frequently identified.^{84, 110, 178, 242-245} The proponents argue that the above data set provides the clinician with insights into the severity of the underlying CVI and the healing properties of the patient.^{84, 110, 178, 242-245}

2.6.2. Measuring ulcer dimensions

Measuring ulcer dimensions is recommended by a number of authors as it provides objective criteria for assessing ulcer healing outcomes.²⁴⁶⁻²⁵³ Traditionally three dimensions are assessed: linear measurements; area measurements; and volume measurements.

2.6.2.1. Linear measurements

Linear measurements are based on the assumption that a wound is a simple shape represented by two dimensions. Conjecture over the type of shape is evident within the literature. Commonly a rectangle is used, but some authors argue that a wound is circular or elliptical in shape. The former is measured using length and width, whereas the latter requires the measurement of wound diameter(s).^{248, 254}

Most clinicians measure a wound as if it is rectangle, recording the length and width of the wound. Length is measured by recording the distance of the longest section of the wound, and width by measuring the widest section of the wound, perpendicular to the length (see Figure 3).^{246, 250, 253, 255} A disposable ruler is used to measure the length and width to prevent contamination of the wound. Although a simple technique, it fails to accommodate for wound shape and suffers from poor inter-rater reliability as

the length and width axis varies from clinician to clinician. To help maintain a similar axis a 'clock face' has been suggested.²⁵⁶ The length measurement is always taken between the patient's head and feet and the width measurement between the left and right arm. Regardless of the wound's location the axis remains similar (see Figure 3).

If a circle is used as the basic shape (e.g. an arterial ulcer) the diameter of the wound is measured.²⁴⁸ The technique is similar to length and width, using a disposable ruler and taking two measurements of the diameter of the wound at right angles to each other providing length and width. If an ellipse is used as the basic wound shape, then the major and minor diameter are measured.²⁵⁷ The major diameter is the maximum diameter of the wound and the minor diameter is a measurement of the maximum diameter perpendicular to the major diameter (see Figure 4).

2.6.2.2. Surface area measurements

The area of an ulcer is calculated by multiplying two perpendicular linear measurements. The product is represented as square centimetres (cm²). If the rectangular shape is used, length is multiplied by width (e.g. 2.1 cm x 3.5 cm = 7.35 cm²). The surface area is often captured by tracing the wound onto a clear plastic sheet. The technique was pioneered by Lecomte du Noüy (cited by Copper²⁵⁸) in 1937 using cellophane sheets to build a library of sequential tracings in an effort to evaluate healing. Using this data, he

defined the 'index of cicatrisation' or scar tissue formation calling it a constant property of a wound.

Since then a number of commercial products have been made available to facilitate the tracing of wounds. They commonly contain two sheets of plastic; one which is placed against the wound and a second on which the tracing is recorded. The sheet against the wound is then discarded to prevent contamination and the sheet containing the tracing is placed in the patient's documentation or is used to calculate the surface area and is then discarded. Commercial tracing sheets generally have a 1 cm by 1 cm grid printed on the first sheet to facilitate calculation of the surface area (see Figure 5).

Bohannon and Pfaller²⁵⁹ termed this technique 'graph paper counting' as clinicians had to count the number of complete squares within the wound margin and estimate the remaining area covered by partial squares of the graph. They suggested that this was time consuming and subjective. An alternative and more accurate method was to cut out the tracing of a wound and weigh it to determine surface area. The heavier the cut out section of tracing, the larger the wound surface area. Unfortunately, gaining access to precision scales required for this technique has prevented its adoption in the clinical setting.

As with linear measurement, the ulcer surface area has a potential for inaccurate findings related to the underlying assumptions of wound shape and inter-rater reliability. For example, using the product of length x width

(rectangular shape) is said to overestimate the surface area of a circular wound by approximately 25 per cent.²⁴⁸

In an effort to improve the reliability of surface area measurements digital planimetry techniques have been introduced.^{3, 248, 259-262} Initially wound tracings were scanned to produce a digital image and computer algorithms used to calculate the surface area. As the technology has developed digital photographs have replaced the scanned images. Reliability of digital planimetry techniques have been established by comparing measurements made of latex moulds with the known surface area of the moulds.^{263, 264}

Until recently the technology required for digital planimetry was expensive and often too cumbersome for the clinical context. However, the recent introduction of portable devices such as Visitrak[®] has provided clinicians with robust and inexpensive technology utilising this technique. This system uses a tracing of the wound which is placed on a pressure sensitive tablet. The clinician then retraces the outline of the wound using a stylus. Based on the area outlined by the clinician the width, length and surface area is calculated and displayed on a liquid crystal display on the device. Studies comparing the accuracy of Visitrak[®] with previous validated digital planimetry systems have demonstrated high correlation and inter-rater reliability.²⁶⁵⁻²⁶⁷

Recent developments in robotic vision have provided some additional, non invasive tools for measuring wound diameters. The use of 'structure light' and computer image analysis has provided systems that can measure the area of a wound. Structure light uses parallel lines or dots of light to provide

reference points in a digital image. Light reflected from the base of an ulcer will distort the lines or dots of light. Computer algorithms are then used to detect this change and outline the area of distortion. The area outlined is then measured, giving the area of the wound.²⁶⁸ Proponents argue that such systems provide a detailed topographical map of the wound which enables more precise measurements of wound healing. The disadvantage of such system is that a darkened room and specialised equipment is required.²⁶⁹



Figure 3. Alternative measurement techniques for length and width



Figure 4. Dimensions measured for an elliptical shape



Figure 5. Graph paper counting technique

2.6.2.3. Depth and volume measurements

A common method for measuring the depth of a wound is to insert a sterile probe, tipped with cotton wool into the deepest part of the wound. The probe is pinched between thumb and finger level with the skin, the probe removed and the distance between the end of the probe and the thumb and finger measured using a ruler.²⁵⁶

This method is most successful for deep wounds, or wounds with a sinus track such as pressure ulcers. Measuring depth in shallow wounds such as venous leg ulcers is difficult to achieve using this method.²⁴⁸ Stereophotogrammetry has been suggested as an alternative for shallow wounds. A stereocamera connected to a computer was used by Bulstrode et al.²⁷⁰ to capture the dimensions of chronic venous leg ulcers. They compared the system with direct tracing and simple photography and concluded that Stereophotogrammetry was between five and ten times more accurate than the other methods. Although portable, the user sophistication and technology required to capture and analyse the image has prevented mainstream use.

A user-friendly and cost-effective method was suggested by Kundin^{271, 272} when he developed the *wound gauge*. This disposable device consisted of cardboard rulers arranged to represent the Cartesian coordinate system of X, Y and Z axes. The X and Y axes formed the horizontal crossarms of the device while the Z axis formed a sliding vertical ruler. The X axis was labelled N (North) and S (South). The Y axis was labelled E (East) and W (West). The

patient was placed in a position that enabled ready access to the wound, the vertical Z axis placed into the deepest section of the wound and the crossarms moved down the Z axis until they touched the skin. The following procedure was used to calculate the surface area:

1. N + S = value A 2. E + W = value B 3. Multiply (A x B) by .785

To calculate the wound volume the following procedure was recommended:

N + S = value A
 E + W = value B
 Depth reading of vertical axis = value C
 Multiply (A x B x C) by .327

Although no data was cited, Kundin^{271, 272} claimed that in clinical trials the instrument proved to be safe, and correlated well with standard methods of measurement such as planimetry or fluid measurements. Once again, this instrument would be hard to use in shallow wounds such as venous leg ulcers.

Johnson²⁷³ proposed a further simplification stating that wound volume could be calculated by multiplying the surface area by the maximum depth. He proposed several mathematical formulae that used the measurements of length, width and depth to calculate the surface area and wound volume. Johnson²⁷³ believed that as the formulae could be calculated using a handheld calculator they were suitable for clinical environments.

Two additional methods for measuring wound volume have been used; saline fills and casting. Filling a wound with sterile saline provides a safe method of calculating wound volume. However, it only provides volume not the surface area, and it is difficult to perform on shallow wounds or in wounds where the top of the wound cannot be positioned horizontally.

Casting of wounds to determine volume has been used since the 1960s. A variety of materials have been used, including those used for dental impressions,^{274, 275} silastic foam dressings,²⁷⁶ and foam elastomer.²⁷⁷ Once the materials solidified within the wound the mould was removed and placed in a graduated cylinder partly filled with water. The volume of the wound was determined by the amount of water displaced, similar to the leg oedema measurements described above. The introduction of a foreign body into a wound is not without hazard and wounds with several undermined areas would make removal of the mould difficult. Once again, this method is better suited to deep wounds rather than the shallow venous leg ulcer.

2.6.2.4. Wound measurements as a predictor of healing

Several authors argued that in order to accurately access the efficacy of various management methods a valid *rate of healing* needs to be calculated.^{192, 251, 278, 279} However, trying to calculate a healing rate requires a number of variables to be considered. For example, large deep wounds have a larger surface area and can create greater amounts of new tissue in a given time than superficial wounds. This creates a deceptively faster healing rate in larger or deeper wounds than superficial wounds, even if both wound types are contracting at the same linear rate (length and width).^{280, 281} Therefore, any models used to calculate healing rate should be independent

of the area and/or volume of a wound.²⁸¹ Equally, the rate of change of wound area progressively decreases as the residual wound area approaches total closure.²⁸² Thus, any models used to calculate healing rate also need to account for this progression curve.

Denouy (cited by Robson²⁸²) developed an equation that plotted a curve that he believed was a theoretical representation of wound healing. The equation included the percentage healed over time and made allowance for the reduction in healing towards the end of the healing cycle. Further development of this theory, including validation studies, was not evident in the literature.

The majority of methods cited since Denouy have returned to using linear measurements in preference to exponential curves of healing. Gillman^{278, 283} introduced the concept of using wound perimeter to account for distortions in healing rate that result from deep verses shallow wounds. The equation (d = $2^* (A_2 - A_1) / (P_1 + P_2)$) used the change in wound area (A), and the change in wound perimeter (P) between two consecutive visits. The wound area was calculated using the techniques described above. The wound perimeter was measured by tracing the wound using plastic sheets (see above) or a digital photograph which was then traced on screen and measured using appropriate software.

Gillman^{278, 283} argued that linear measurements provided a more reliable method for calculating healing rate and hence wound healing progress. He

asserted that area based parameters such as absolute change in area, or the percentage change in area (used by the majority of wound care studies) were biased by differences in wound size. As mentioned above, deeper wounds can demonstrate a much larger healing rate than superficial wounds. By measuring linear changes between sequential visits Gillman^{278, 283} believed that he eliminated this bias. As an example he cited two wounds; one with a surface area of 42.73 cm² (A) and another with a surface area of 8.90 cm² (B). At the next sequential visit the surface area for wound A was 21.817 cm² and wound B was 1.37 cm² – a reduction of 20.92 cm² and 7.53 cm² respectively. This would indicate that wound A has a greater healing rate. When using the linear parameters described in Gilman's formula each wound has advanced 0.96 cm, resulting in the same healing rate.

Using Gillman's equation, Margolis²⁸⁴ collected data from patients suffering from venous leg ulcers, diabetic ulcers and deep pressure ulcers. They reported a liner healing rate of 1.12 mm / week for venous leg ulcers, 0.64 mm / week for diabetic ulcers and 0.28 mm /week for pressure ulcers. Using these finding they were able to compare a new treatment for the pressure ulcer group (Warm-a-wound[®]) demonstrating a 0.84mm / week heal rate, three times faster than the controls.

Ramirez²⁸⁵ used linear measurements to examine the healing rate for acute surgical wounds created on volunteers. They calculated a mean healing rate of 7 mm / week, six to twenty-five times faster than that for chronic wounds cited in the above study. Gillman^{278, 283} argued that findings from both studies

demonstrate the validity of liner measurements (e.g. acute wounds heal faster than chronic) and therefore can be used to draw comparisons across patient populations and episodes of care.

Margolis²⁸⁴ and Gillman^{278, 283} both asserted that healing rate calculations could be used to predict *time to total healing*. Using the healing rates established for venous leg ulcer patients (see above), Margolis postulated that it was reasonable to expect that ulcers responding to treatment (principally compression) would reduce by a third in four weeks and be healed by week twelve.

Tallman et al.²⁶⁰ used Gilman's equation to examine the healing rate of venous ulcers in elderly patients. They found that Gilman's equation was 'inherently unstable' and devised a new method to calculate the rate of healing. Instead of using data from baseline visits only, as in Gilman's equation, Tallman et al.²⁶⁰ calculated the healing rate at each visit by averaging the healing rate for all previous visits. They called this method a 'mean-adjusted healing rate' and asserted that it provided a more reliable method of predicting final healing status. The study demonstrated a healing rate of approximately 0.7 cm to 0.9 cm per week when calculated from week to week as opposed to 0.2 cm to 0.4 cm per week when calculated from the baseline visit only (Gilman's equation). They concluded that this was a more accurate measurement of week by week progress and, upon further analysis, were of the opinion the new methods were able to accurately predict ulcer healing as early as the third week of observation. However, it is important to

recognise that this data was derived from fifteen patients only and subsequent studies were not evident in the literature.

Hokanson et al.²⁸⁶ proposed an alternative method using mathematical modelling and endpoint analysis to calculate wound closure estimates. Their method left the wound parameters in their raw form which was believed by the authors to be an advantage over Gillman's equation. Reliability of the method has been tested in large animal studies but not with human wounds. Once again, further studies using this method were not evident.

Despite the reservations postulated by Gilman^{278, 283} a number of researchers have continued to examine the use of area based measurements as a predictor of wound healing. Skene et al.²⁴⁵ attempted to develop a simple scoring system that predicted healing prognosis for venous leg ulcers. A series of parameters were examined with the results suggesting that ulcer area, duration of ulceration, age of the patient, and a history of deep vein thrombosis provided the best predictors for wound healing. Using regression analysis, a score was assigned to each parameter and summed to provide a 'prognostic index'. The index was then compared to the time required to heal by patients in the study. Patients with a prognostic index of 1 to 4 had a median time to heal of 40 days. Patients with an index of 4.5 to 5.5 had a median time to heal of 70 days, and patients with an index of \geq 6 had a median time to heal of 118 days. The authors concluded that these findings provided significant justification to incorporate the prognostic index into future studies comparing methods of treatment.

Robson et al.²⁸² examined the usefulness of wound healing trajectories in which the percentage of wound closures versus time of wound treatment was plotted on a graph. They believed the advantage of this method was that it takes into account data from patients who have not completed the entire course of the study and can thus be used across large patient populations. To test the theory they examined the wound healing trajectories of 160 diabetic neuropathic ulcers and found that the trajectory was almost identical in patients achieving complete healing. They concluded that this method provided more information about the entire continuum of the wound healing process and, once replicated across larger samples, may provide a reference against which interventions can be examined.

More recently Margolis et al.²⁰⁸ have revisited the use of wound parameters to predict healing rate. They used logistic regression analysis to analyse data from 20,793 patients with a venous leg ulcer. The study was built on work undertaken in 2000^{287} in which they demonstrated that *wound area* and *wound age* could be used to accurately predict patients who would do well using standard compression therapy. The findings supported this assertion. Using simple prognostic models the researchers concluded that a wound \leq 10 cm² and \leq 12 months old has a 29 per cent chance of not healing by the 24th week, whereas a wound > 10 cm² and > 12 months old had a 78 per cent chance of not healing. Given the size of the sample, it would seem logical that these findings can be generalised at least to patients with venous leg ulcers undergoing compression therapy.

2.6.3. Visual assessment of a venous leg ulcer

Visual assessment of the ulcer bed and the surrounding skin is consistently promoted within the literature describing the assessment of venous leg ulcers.

Recommendations for assessing the skin surrounding a venous ulcer rely heavily on visual examination. It is recommended that clinicians observe for hyper pigmentation, lipodermatosclerosis and eczema.^{84, 89, 100, 110, 178, 242-245, 288-290} Comparisons are drawn between the observations made and the presentation of a normal limb, or between the current presentation and previous presentations for that patient. It is assumed that the development of skin changes or an increase in their severity is indicative of increasing CVI or of inadequate treatment.^{61, 68}

Johnson²⁹¹ recommended the use of indices to help objectify assessment of hyper pigmentation and liposclerosis, ranging from 0 (absent) to 3 (severe). Content validity was assessed by seeking the opinion of nine experts selected from nurses, physicians, surgeons and dermatologists. However, further validation of the proposed indices was not evident in the literature.

Ulcer bed assessment, as with surrounding skin assessment, relies heavily on visual observation. The bed of the ulcer is observed for the type of tissue present (granular, necrotic) and the amount of exudate produced. The ulcer margins are observed for erythema (redness) and maceration (whiteness).²⁹²

The observations are predicated on a theory that wounds heal by passing through four stages of healing. The first stage is the *inflammatory stage* when tissue damage results in an inflamed response including increased vessel permeability, oedema of surrounding tissues and the presentation of erythema (redness) around the wound. The second stage, known as the *destructive stage*, refers to the removal of necrotic tissue via a phagocytic mechanism making room for the new tissue. The third stage, known as the *proliferative stage*, refers to the rebuilding of the collagen matrix (granular tissue), new blood vessels and filling the deficit created by the initial injury. The fourth and final stage, known as wound contraction, refers to the migration of epithelial cells over the granular bed and completion of the skin barrier.²⁹³⁻²⁹⁷ It is argued that observations of tissue type present in the ulcer bed and the status of the ulcer margins enable clinicians to determine if the ulcer is following the above healing trajectory.²⁹⁸

The subjective nature of the above assessment limits use of the observations to clinical episodes only. Attempts to use data derived from these observations to establish normal distributions of relevant manifestations, or to compare different interventions is limited by the subjective perception of the clinician collecting that data. Lorentzen et al.²⁹⁹ asked six specialists in wound management to independently assess 120 photographs of nonhealing chronic wounds. Participants were asked to diagnose hypergranulation, redness and infection. After examining the frequency with which respondents diagnosed each clinical manifestation (hypergranulation 2 per cent to 36 per cent, redness 15 per cent to 55 per cent, infection 48 per

cent to 85 per cent) they concluded that the reliability of the clinical diagnosis was low.

When describing how clinicians should undertake human wound assessment Cooper²⁵⁸ stated:

"Assessing the appearance of the wound, with an overall 'gestalt' is not now, nor ever, 'good enough'. Progression and regression in healing must be measured using theoretically sound, tested, technically practical ways, even if at first these measurements are less than perfect." (p. 553)

In an effort to standardise ulcer bed and margin assessments, a number of systems have been proposed. They include the use of colour, assigning the clinical manifestations a score, and the development of a wound bed preparation framework.

The use of colour as an assessment criterion when evaluating venous leg ulcers is abundant throughout the literature.^{96, 255, 258, 300-309} The III Colour Concept[®] first introduced by Marion Laboratories in 1988 is the most frequently cited. The system, built upon the Red-Yellow-Black classification schemes developed in 1983 by Hellgren (a Swedish dermatologist),³⁰⁹ asked clinicians to determine the predominant colour being displayed in the ulcer bed. Red represents granular tissue, yellow represents wet necrotic tissue or slough, and black indicates dry necrotic tissue or eschar.

Since its introduction in the US in 1998 by Cuzzell³⁰¹ the system has gained in popularity and can be found in articles pertaining to both acute and chronic wounds. Introduction of the system has been facilitated by manufacturers of dressing products, who have found it a particularly useful model for helping clinicians select wound care products. Clinicians are taught to select products that protect red wounds, clean yellow wounds and debride black wounds. Given the increasing number of products available on the market, a model that simplifies clinicians' choices is often readily accepted, hence the continued support for the Red-Yellow-Black system.

Despite the popularity of the Red-Yellow-Black system, investigation of its reliability has not been exhaustive. In 1998 Lorentzen et al.³¹⁰ undertook a study to examine inter-observer agreement of health care personnel using the Red-Yellow-Black system. Twenty-one participants were asked to rate 120 wound photographs. As with their previous study (see above) the inter-observer agreement was only rated as 'moderate'. In contrast, Buntinx et al.,³¹¹ when comparing different wound classification systems, found inter-observer agreement to be good when using a system with three colours; red, yellow and black. Equally, Vermeulen et al.³⁰⁹ found similar positive results. They presented eighteen photographs of red, yellow and black wounds to 63 nurses and 79 doctors. The responses were compared to an expert panel of two international and four local wound care experts. They also found moderate to good agreement on wound colour, which was similar for both nurses and doctors.

Whilst these results are encouraging it is important to remember that these are one-off assessments and provide little data about the reliability of this

method for episode to episode or ongoing assessments. Equally, correlations between these observations and the physiological processes being observed have yet to be determined.

In 1995, Johnson²⁹¹ modified the III Colour Concept[®] to include *pink* and assigned a score to each tissue type. Black (necrosis) = 1; yellow (exudate / yellow necrosis) = 2; red (revascularisation granulation tissue present) = 3; and pink (new tissue, reepithelialisation) = 4. The lower the score, the lower the wound status index. The system was tested using 156 community patients in Melbourne. Patients were assessed during an initial visit and then again four to five weeks later. They found that the wound status altered substantially over four weeks which was not reflected in the wound status index scores assigned by the clinicians. Johnson concluded that inter-rater reliability was therefore low for this method ($r_s = .49$).

A major criticism of the colour system is that it is predicated on the healing cycle of acute wounds. Shultz et al.³¹² argued that basing assessments of chronic wounds, such as venous leg ulcers, on the healing cycle of acute wounds fails to provide adequate assessment of the complex physiological processes identified in the chronic wound (see Chapter One). They argued that assessment for chronic wounds should use a *wound bed preparation* model. Wound bed preparation was defined as:

"the global management of the wound to accelerate endogenous healing or to facilitate the effectiveness of other therapeutic measures" (Falanga, cited by Schultz³¹³ p. 22) Four assessment parameters were identified as essential: tissue viability; infection and inflammation; moisture balance; and the edge of the wound. With financial support from Smith and Nephew Pty. Ltd. an international Wound Bed Advisory Board was established in 2003 that formulated the key assessment parameters into a TIME mnemonic³¹²⁻³¹⁵ (see Table 7). The system, with accompanying pictures, was published widely in a variety of marketing materials provided by Smith and Nephew. The framework was accepted by member countries of the World Healing Union in Paris in 2005. The system has yet to be validated by research.

Clinical observation	Proposed pathophysiol ogy	WBP clinical actions	Effect of WBP actions	Clinical outcomes
Tissue	Defective matrix and cell debris impair healing	Debridement	Restoration of wound base	Viable wound base
Infection	High bacterial counts or prolonged inflammation	Remove infected foci	Low bacterial count or controlled inflammation	Bacterial balance and reduced inflammation
Moisture	Desiccation slows epithelial cell migration	Apply moisture balancing dressings	Restored epithelial cell migration	Moisture balance
Edge	Non-migrating keratinocytes	Reassess and consider corrective therapies	Migrating keratinocytes	Advancing edge of wound

 Table 7. TIME framework

 (adapted frame Ochults³¹³)

(adapted from Schultz³¹³)

Ligresti et al.³¹⁶ recommended the addition of *healing time* as an additional assessment parameter. They argued that the TIME system failed to take into account the general condition of the patient and the influence such pathologies may have on the healing of the wound. They recommended the addition of a scoring system that correlates with the medical pathologies of
the patient, suggesting a TIME-H mnemonic with H representing the patient's health.

In 2006 Falanga et al.³¹⁷ combined colour and the wound bed characteristics described by the TIME system to develop a *Wound Bed Score*. Parameters assessed included: the edges of the wound; wound depth and exudate; oedema; peri-wound dermatitis; peri-wound callus; and fibrosis (see Table 8). Each parameter was assigned a score from 0 (worst) to 2 (best). A wound could be assigned a maximum score of 16 (highest possible) or 0 (worst possible).

Characteristic	0	1	2
Healing edges	None	25% to 75%	> 75%
Black eschar	> 25%	0% to 25%	None
Greatest wound depth / granular tissue	Severely depressed or raised when compared to peri-wound skin	Moderate	Flushed or almost even
Exudate amount	Severe	Moderate	None / mild
Oedema	Severe	Moderate	None / mild
Peri-wound dermatitis	Severe	Moderate	None or minimal
Peri-wound callus / fibrosis	Severe	Moderate	None or minimal
Pink wound bed	None	50% to 75%	> 75%

Table 8. Wound Bed Score criteria

(modified from Falanga et al.³¹⁷)

Falanga et al.³¹⁷ asserted that the higher the wound bed score, the shorter the healing time. To test their assumption observers (blinded to the patient) were asked to examine 177 venous ulcer photographs and assign a Wound Bed Score to each. The assigned score was compared to the healing

outcomes achieved by patients within a 24 week period. Using an independent sample *t*-test they found that patients who had healed within the 24 week period had a higher initial wound bed score (11.83) than those who did not heal (10.62). They concluded that outcomes appeared promising but would require further research.

2.7. Justification for the study undertaken

When reviewing assessment techniques available from clinicians it is obvious that the established validity for each is variable. When examining the underlying pathology a number of objective and validated methods including ultrasound duplex scanning, ambulatory venous pressure measurement, and air plethysmography are available. Equally, when describing some of the clinical manifestations of CVI similar objective assessment methods exist. These include volume displacement techniques used for measuring oedema, and the precise measurement of venous ulcer dimensions using stereocameras and planimetry. Although the latter rely heavily on consistent clinician to clinician recording of a wound tracing, the use of precision technology to quantify areas within the trace has at least increased the reliability of these techniques.

Methods for classifying the severity of CVI are less objective relying on expert consensus to promote consistency. These methods not only use material from expert opinion to establish content validity, but have also undergone inter-rater reliability testing to demonstrate their reliability. The

CEAP classification system and subsequent modifications provide an example of this approach. Similarly the development of the Venous Clinical Severity Score and Venous Segmental Disease Score.²³⁵

Visual examination of clinical manifestations of CVI offers the least objectivity. It is interesting that the manifestation of CVI responsible for a disproportionate amount of health care expenditure (venous ulceration^{1, 2, 21, 37, 41, 52, 68, 75, 92, 126, 288, 290, 318-320}) is assessed using a subjective approach. As the average age of the population increases and with it the prevalence of venous leg ulcers, it becomes essential to establish methods that enable accurate assessments of the status and progression of this manifestation. The selection of increasingly expensive wound care products, the allocation of community health care resources, and the establishment of management plans to ensure optimal quality of life will rely heavily on data collected from such assessments.

The assessment of colour provides a non-invasive low cost option to assess the progression of venous leg ulceration. It can be examined in a variety of clinical settings including community, aged care and acute care services and be taught to clinicians with differing qualifications and clinical backgrounds. However, the heavy reliance on colour as an indicator of tissue type and wound progression (Red-Yellow-Black or Red-Yellow-Black-Pink system) has been founded on material produced principally as a marketing tool to sell wound care products. Since its introduction little testing for reliability or validity has been undertaken. When examined, the intra-rater reliability of

established colour systems has been found to be variable.²⁹¹ The research is mostly centred on single assessments not assessments over time. Little research has been done to connect the subtle colour manifestations exhibited by venous leg ulcers with underlying physiological processes of wound healing.

Equally, limited focus has been given to techniques for accurately recording the colour exhibited by venous leg ulceration. Clinicians faced with an ever increasing array of digital technology have little evidenced based guidance for the selection of appropriate equipment and the establishment of photographic capture techniques.

What is needed is a program of research aimed at establishing reliable parameters and processes for the colour assessment of venous leg ulceration. The parameters should be indicative of underlying physiological changes and describe expected fluctuations throughout the healing cycle. The process should ensure reliable methods for capturing the colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers, be easily implemented in a variety of clinical settings and be robust enough to allow for the differences between clinicians.

The project described in this thesis attempts to contribute to the above endeavours by: establishing a reliable method for capturing colour displayed by venous leg ulceration;, developing a colour range that experts believe represent two clinical manifestations – erythema and wet necrotic tissue (slough); and producing a computer system that can highlight each

manifestation in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer. It builds on the popularity of colour as a tool for wound assessment, but attempts to introduce a degree of objectivity missing in the Red-Yellow-Black colour system by using image analysis technology. The selection of erythema and wet necrotic tissue has been derived from the pathological mechanism thought to impede the healing of venous leg ulcers; principally the processes of inflammation (see Chapter 1). The intent was to develop a venous ulcer assessment system that provided a non-invasive, objective measure that used colour to determine the amount of erythema and wet necrotic tissue being manifested within a venous ulcer. The long-term aim was to provide an assessment tool that when evaluated in subsequent studies could provide more objective indicators of both the current status of a venous leg ulcer and progression of that ulcer through the healing cycle.

Using colour analysis in an effort to assess wound healing is not unique. Chapter Three examines research currently undertaken in this area in order to provide a foundation for the method used in this project. It examines colour perception, image analysis techniques and the relationship of these concepts to the assessment of wound healing.

3. Chapter Three: Literature Review

In the previous chapter it was asserted that there is a growing need to establish objective and reliable assessment techniques for the review of venous leg ulceration. It was further asserted that such techniques should be readily available in clinical settings; be easily used by a variety of clinicians; and should build on the assessment techniques and experiences used by health care practitioners. To this end, it was suggested that attempts be made to objectify the visual interpretations made by clinicians when assessing venous leg ulcers, in particular the colour of the wound bed and surrounding skin.

To determine previous endeavours that had attempted to address the above challenge a review of relevant literature was undertaken. Comprised of a discursive analysis the review examined three discrete areas: the importance of visual assessment in clinical decision making; the perception of colour; and the measurement of wound colour. Literature was identified via a search of Medline[®]; Cinahl[®]; Cochrane database of systematic reviews[®]; manual extraction of relevant vendor research reports; and a Google[®] search of the worldwide web resources. Keywords used included 'colour', 'color', 'wound assessment', 'human perception', 'visual perception', 'colimetry', 'image analysis' and 'computer analysis'.

3.1. The importance of measurement in clinical assessment

Attempts to objectify the visual interpretation of clinical manifestations are not new. Hippocrates (cited by Warren³²¹) described the observation of the patient and the progression of their disease as the science of medicine. It is a science which over the intervening years has systematically attempted to objectify the observations of patients. Central to this work has been the tenet that observations are more scientific if measured.³²¹ An example is the assessment of cardiac function. Herophilus of Alexandria (cited by Warren³²¹) in 300 BC would count a patient's pulse using a water clock. Sanctorius (cited by Warren³²¹) in 1620 AD adapted Galileo's pendulum clock to produce a device called the pulsilogium. It was designed to facilitate counting the pulse and had a sweeping hand that moved over a clock face with marks every second for a period of fifteen seconds. In 1707 Sir John Flover (cited by Warren³²¹) adapted the work of Sanctorius and introduced the first pulse watch. The same configuration remains today in a nurse's fob watch. In 1816 Laennec (cited by Warren³²¹) described the first stethoscope and auscultation was added to the palpation of pulses described above. This was followed by the measurement of the heart's electrical impulses in 1878 by John Sanderson and Frederick Page (cited by Warren³²¹), finally arriving at the array of hemodynamic monitoring available to today's clinicians.

The assessment of a wound has not experienced a similar degree of measurement. Galen (129 AD, cited by Keast et al.³²²), a surgeon to the Roman gladiators, documented the importance of touch for the diagnosis and assessment of wounds and injuries. Unfortunately he identified pus as an

indicator of wound healing and went as far as introducing foreign bodies into a wound to stimulate the production of pus. The mystery of wound healing experienced by Galen continues to the present day and may account for the lack of an agreed framework for assessing wound healing.³²² Recognition of this lack of understanding of the healing mechanism was best expressed by a French military surgeon called Ambroise Paré (1510–1590, cited by Cohen³²³) when he said "I dressed the wound. God healed it." It was not until the 1970s that attempts were made to measure the characteristics of a wound.

Several elements are cited as necessary considerations when conducting a wound assessment. Identification of systemic diseases or conditions that either create or interfere with wound healing are mentioned frequently.³²⁴ Likewise the need to document physical characteristics of a wound including location, size, colour, wound bed tissue, surrounding skin and wound drainage.^{89, 110, 249, 250, 255, 288, 300, 304, 308, 324-331} Objective measures and predictive formulae are available for assessing the dimension changes within wounds^{256, 260, 265, 266, 278, 279, 283, 284} (see Chapter Two). However colour, a manifestation often used by clinicians^{89, 110, 249, 250, 255, 288, 300, 304, 308, 324-331} to assess wound status and progression, remains subjective. Therefore, this review will focus on attempts to objectify the colour manifested by wounds, and in particular venous leg ulcers. It examines colour perception, image analysis techniques and the relationship of these concepts to the assessment of wound healing.

3.2. Colour perception

The ability to classify objects by their colours is an integral part of the human and animal perception. Colour recognition facilitates the identification of food and water, potential threats and safe shelter. It helps determine spatial relationships between objects and their environment and assists in the detection of movement.

Despite the numerous advantages attributed to colour vision, the physiological and psychological mechanisms of colour perception are still not fully understood. It is beyond the scope of this thesis to provide a detailed account of the extensive research undertaken in this area, but a review of contemporary knowledge is necessary to substantiate the central argument; that the quantification of wound colour using computer technology may provide additional insights into the healing cycle not available to the naked eye.

Object light property, retinal physiology and post retinal psychophysiology research, as it pertains to colour vision, will be explored. The resultant theories of tristimulus reception; spectral opponent process; colour constancy; adaptation; and cortical colour interpretation will be discussed.

3.2.1. The different philosophical views of colour

The term 'colour' attracts multiple definitions and interpretations. In everyday language colour can describe the hues of objects, act as a racist taunt, or

describe a current emotional state, i.e. "feeling blue or seeing red". In the scientific arena the term 'colour' is no better defined.

MacAdam³³² states that the term 'colour' is used in "three distinctly different senses". The chemist uses colour as a generic description of dyes and pigments. The physicist views colour as the optical properties of objects. The psychologist defines colour as sensations of the human consciousness.

Byrne and Hilbert³³³ continue this notion of a separation between colour as a physical entity and colour as a psychological experience. They describe two types of colour experiences; 'colour representing' and 'colour feeling'. The first is derived from a theoretical framework that states objects have colour representing properties that can be specified without reference to colour perception (e.g. nm of light). The second, a colour feeling experience refers to the affect that we attribute to the colour experience. For example, a particular colour hue of a sunset may help recall a previous event like a holiday. This is often referred to as the 'phenomenology of colour vision'.³³⁴ Byrne and Hilbert³³³ assert that differing theories of colour perception can be classified as either 'colour representing \rightarrow colour feeling' or 'colour feeling \rightarrow colour representing'.

Land³³⁵ provides an example of a 'colour representing \rightarrow colour feeling' experience. He defines colour as a complex neural operation that differentiates the wavelength of light reflected from one surface with that reflected from the surrounding surfaces. He represented this complex

operation as a computer algorithm and coined the term 'retinex' to describe the processes between the retina and cerebral cortex. Central to Land's^{335,} ³³⁶ definition is the assertion that colour results from a 'mind-independent' process not influenced by memory or experience.

In contrast, Boghosian³³⁷ argued that colour does not result from the physical properties of an object. He argues that colour perception is a qualitative process that is very much 'mind dependent', or a 'colour feeling \rightarrow colour representing' experience. Central to this view is the assertion that objects are not coloured. Colour results from humans mistakenly projecting visual experiences onto objects. This philosophical stance is known by different names: eluminativsim; dispositionalism; or primitivism, and originates from an early Greek anatomist called Democritus.

Although proponents of the 'colour feeling \rightarrow colour representing' experiences pose some interesting philosophical questions, the view of 'colour representing \rightarrow colour feeling' experience (objects have physical colour properties) is predominant in contemporary science literature. The findings from such research have formed the basis for many technological innovations including the capture techniques made possible by film or digital cameras, and image analysis computer algorithms that replicate human visual perception. For this reason the remainder of this chapter focuses on literature drawn from proponents of the 'colour representing \rightarrow colour feeling' experience theories.

3.2.2. Colour representing \rightarrow Colour feeling

A keystone of the 'colour representing \rightarrow colour feeling' theory is that objects have properties that determine the colour of the object. Proponents believe that human colour perception is derived from a physiological process (response) that interprets the physical properties (stimuli) of objects. This view is often classified as 'Physicalism' or 'colour realism'.³³³

The object property, or stimuli most frequently cited, is the optical ability of objects to reflect incident light. As far back as Isaac Netwon there is documented evidence that daylight passed through a prism will reflect as a spectrum of colour. The physical difference between the hues of that spectrum is attributed to the radiated *wavelength* of the reflected light. The unit of length commonly used to specify the wavelength is the *nanometre*. Therefore, for the physicist the colour red is a wavelength of light ranging from 630–700 nanometres (nm), yellow is 560–590 nm and blue is 400–450 nm etc.

The wavelength of light reflected by an object is a combination of the incidental light reaching the object and the surface reflectance properties of the object. For example, an object can only reflect as much red as the red that is present in the light that reaches it. Equally, an object can only reflect as much red as the optical properties of the microphysical elements that make up its surface will allow. The intensity of the incidental light is called the 'spectral power distribution' (SPD) and the reflected light is known as the 'surface spectral reflectance' (SSR). The amount of light reaching the eye

(product of the SPD and the SSR) can be quantified using a spectrometer.³³² This instrument divides the amount of each spectral component in the reflected light by the amount of each spectral component of the incidental light and converts that figure to a ratio of between 0 and 1. Thus, colour of a surface can be objectified by specifying the amount of each spectral component reflected. For example, the colour characteristics of a wound may be described as the figures represented in Table 8.

Spectral region	Reflectance	
Violet	0.06	
Blue	0.12	
Green	0.17	
Yellow	0.11	
Orange	0.28	
Red	0.33	

Table 9. Spectral components of a wound

As different areas of the spectrum have a degree of overlap the above table presents a simplified view. To compensate for this the colour of a surface is quantified as a 'spectral reluctance curve'. This curve is used in industry to quantify a given colour and facilitate reproductions. Figure 6 illustrates the spectral reflectance curve obtained from one wound.



Figure 6. Spectral reflectance curve derived from a photograph of a leg ulcer

The wavelength reflected by an object determines what is called the *Hue* of the object. Hue is what is commonly referred to as the colour, e.g. the 'redness of the wound'. Physics research has revealed two other physical properties that influence the colour of an object; *brightness* and *saturation*. Brightness refers to the intensity (power or amplitude) of a given wavelength. Saturation refers to the purity of the colour or the amount of white light that has been added to a colour.³³⁸ Pure colours are referred to as monochromatic.

The quantification of the colour spectrum in the nineteenth century has allowed researchers to determine the boundaries of light and colour visible to humans. Studies measuring visible colour are known as 'Colorimetry' research. The aim of this area is to develop accurate methods that predict the perceived colour of given objects. A commonly cited method was initially described by Maxwell in 1860 (cited by MacAdam³³²). Participants were asked to look into an instrument that had a two-part field of view. In one field was a coloured light projected onto a neutral background. In the other field participants were allowed to adjust three primary colours (red, green and blue) until the colour matched that in the other field. The amount of each primary colour constituting the match was recorded.

As mentioned previously, the physical colour of an object's surface is a combination of both the illuminating and the reflected light. The International Commission on Illumination adopted a standard for illumination used for this type of research known as *CIE illuminant C*. The standard is used to produce a filter that when used with a tungsten lamp at a given temperature produces

light that is an approximation of average daylight. The composition of daylight used to determine the *CIE illuminant C* is derived from studies that examined the spectral power distribution of daylight in a number of locations around the world and in differing weather conditions.³³⁹

By repeating the above experiment over a large and representative number of participants, and at differing hues, brightness and saturation, colour scientists claim they can predict the various combinations of primary colours that will lead an observer to perceive a given colour. The primary values are referred to as the tristimulus values. The set of tristimulus values for spectral lights forms the CIE standard observer, again adopted by the International Commission on Illumination in 1931. By plotting these values on a three dimensional graph the limits of the colour spectrum that is visible to humans can be quantified. The area represented on the graph is called the 'colour space'.³³⁸ Figure 7 is a representation of this graph.



Figure 7. XYZ graph developed by the International Commission on Illumination in 1931 (Retrieved from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/CIE_1931_colour_space)

The colour space used by humans to perceive colour is a combination of hue, saturation and brightness, known as the HSB (also know as the HSI, hue-saturation-intensity and HSV hue-saturation-value) colour space. Figure 8 is a graphic representation of this colour space.





The wavelength determines the hue, brightness and saturation of the colour. Given conditions when the illumination complies with the CIE illumination standard, and access to the CIE observer standard, colour scientists would argue that they are able to predict the colour that would be perceived by an observer.

3.2.3. Colour perception as a physiological process

While the principles of light physics would appear to be well developed, the physiological processes that absorb and convert the light into information is still being explored.

Microscopic examination of the human retinal has revealed that there are two distinct classes of photo receptors. They are distinct both morphologically and physiologically. Their shape has given rise to their names – rods and cones. Based on early colour matching research (mentioned above) Helmholtz (1863) and later Hering (1872) (cited by DeValois³⁴⁰), postulated that the human eye needed three types of colour receptors. It was believed that three receptors were needed to differentiate the wavelength of each of the three primary colours.

Support for this assertion was not obtained until the 1960's when a number of studies demonstrated different spectral absorption for specific receptors. Marks et al.³⁴¹ were able to demonstrate that when a monochromatic light is passed through primate and human cone receptors (mounted on a microscope slide) the light wavelength that is absorbed by the cone will differ depending on the cone type. They described three cones types: the 'S' cones that absorbed short wavelengths 440–450 nm; the 'M' cones that absorbed long wavelengths 560–570 nm. The different absorption capabilities were attributed to three types of photopigments found within the cones. They also found that there were significantly more cones containing medium and long-wavelength pigments than short-wavelength pigments.

Helmholtz (1863) (cited by DeValois³⁴⁰) theorised that each cone type had an independent pathway to the cortex, where the colour perceived would be

related to the cone receptors that had been activated. DeValois et al.³⁴⁰ pointed out a number of flaws with this theory. They argued that while the person would be able to discriminate between spectral ranges (red, green and blue) he/she would not be able to differentiate colours within a spectral range such as the different hues of red. Secondly if each receptor was dedicated to a wavelength then it would be expected that visual acuity would be better in white light than in monochromatic light. If the person was in a red light only the red receptors would be activated producing a coarse retinal reception leading to reduced visual acuity. In white light (a combination of all wavelengths) all receptors would fire thus improving visual acuity. They argued that the opposite is true; visual acuity is decreased in white light because the cornea and lens of the human eye are not capable of focusing different wavelengths simultaneously. The result is a slight blurring of the image.

Based on animal research, primarily Macaque monkeys, DeValois et al.³⁴⁰ put forward the case that cone receptors serve to excite or inhibit ganglion cells in the retina. Recent neurological research has demonstrated that neurons depolarise on a continual basis regardless of the presence or absence of a stimuli. When stimulated the rate of depolarisation either increases (excitation) or decreases (inhibition). By examining the responses of Macaque monkey ganglion cells to various wavelengths they found that different ganglion cells (cells that give rise to the axons of the optic nerve) will excite or inhibit to different wavelengths. They categorised the responses into

two major groupings: the spectrally 'nonopponent cells'; and spectrally 'opponent cells'.

Spectrally nonopponent cells are so named because they respond to any incremental changes to a monochromatic light. Some of the cells have been found to excite when exposed to white light and inhibit when exposed to an absence of light (+Wh-Bl). Other cells have shown the reverse characteristics, inhibiting to white and exciting to black (-Wh+Bl).³⁴⁰ Spectrally opponent cells differ in that they excite to specific wavelengths and inhibit to others. DeValois et al.³⁴⁰ suggest that these cells can be further subdivided into four types: red excitatory, green inhibitory (+R-G); green excitatory, red inhibitory (-R+G); yellow excitatory, blue inhibitory (+Y-B); and blue excitatory and yellow inhibitory (-Y+B). They are called opponent cells because mixing one with the other would result in a cancellation of both hues.

Using this model the different cone pigments will excite some ganglion cells and inhibit others. Based on the wavelengths established for different areas of the spectrum, S-cones would excite the +B-Y cells and inhibit +Y-B cells. M-cones would excite the +G-R cells and the +Wh-BI cells and inhibit the +R-G and -Wh+BI cells. L-cones would excite +Y-B, +R-G and inhibit +G-R, +B-Y and -Wh+BI cells.³⁴²

It should be remembered that this research is based on Macaque monkeys and, although some behavioural studies indicate similarities between the

Macaque monkey and human colour perception, definitive research on the response of human ganglion has yet to be done. The same is true when research about neural pathways beyond the ganglion cells is examined.

Research pertaining to cortical neural pathways for colour perception is a compilation of animal (cat and Macaque monkey) and human studies. The latter is limited to case studies of people with pathologies that eliminate a section of the cortex or, more recently, studies that use functional magnetic resonance imagery (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET) or event related potentials (ERPs) to follow cerebral activity when subjects are exposed to given colour stimuli.

Studies examining primates (Macaque monkeys) have been able to demonstrate that neural pathways associated with changes to light wavelength start at the colour-opponent cells in the retina and reach regions of the primary visual cortex known as area V1.³⁴³ From here the pathway varies with colour information being relayed to areas V2 and V4, then to inferotemporal cortical regions.³⁴⁴ Figure 9 illustrates the anatomical location of these regions.



Figure 9. Brain areas identified as being involved in colour perception (Modified from http://defiant.ssc.uwo.ca/Jody_web/fMRI4Dummies/functional_brain_areas.htm)

Similar pathways have been found in human subjects. A number of studies have asked subjects to observe mondrian stimuli and examined the activity of the human brain using imaging technology (MRI or PET). Mondrian stimuli (named after the Dutch Neo-Plasticist artist Piet Mondrian) are multicoloured or monocoloured abstract scenes with no recognisable objects. They are used to minimise the influence of memory and learning on the perception of colour, and hence the brain areas stimulated. Findings from PET imaging indicate that V1, V2 and V4 are involved in the subject's perception of these abstract images.³⁴⁵

Recent work by Zeki and Marini³⁴⁶ included fauvist images in the examination. These images contain objects with colours not usually associated with them, e.g. green meat. In this study subjects were asked to examine both mondrain and fauvist images while their brain activity was mapped using magnetic resonance imagery. Based on the findings, Zeki and Marini ^{345, 346} proposed a three staged process for the interpretation of colour.

The first stage determined the wavelength of light from every point in the field of view. They argued that this is accomplished by wavelength selective cells in V1 and V2. The second stage was a comparison of the wavelength of light reflected from one surface with that reflected from surrounding surfaces. They believed that cells located in V4 were responsible for this process. The third stage is to 'invest objects with colours', a process that is yet to be assigned an anatomical area but Zeki and Marini ³⁴⁶believed this was beyond V4.

Additional studies using event related potentials have found similar cortical areas involved.³⁴⁷ Annllo-Vento et al.³⁴⁴ examined the cerebral activity associated with attention to colour. Subjects were asked to observe checker boards on a computer screen. One checker board was composed of red and grey squares on a grey background, the other blue and grey on a grey background. Subjects were asked to *attend* to one colour (red or blue) and asked to press a button if they detected a dimmer presentation of that colour. The brain activity was then measured using 32 scalp electrodes. The findings suggested that attention to colour:

"Involves successive stages of processing in progressively more anterior regions of the ventral pathways...early attention selection for color takes place in the dorsal occipital cortex....more pronounced selective processing of attended color stimuli in the region of the collateral sulcus." (p. 236).

Pathological evidence appears to lend further support to the above findings. Patients with V1 lesions are blind, supporting the assumption that this area forms the preliminary reception. People with lesions of the occipito-temporal cortex and V4 are found to be cerebral achromatopsia (inability to perceive the colour of objects). They report an ability to see shape but colour is restricted to greys.^{346, 348}

3.2.4. Colour perception as a psychological process

The psychology of colour is frequently reported in the popular press. Research exploring the ability of colour to influence mood, emotions and in some instances our health, form foundations for activities promoting colour selection as an effective commercial or personal tool. Although an interesting area of science, exploration of research pertaining to the psychology of colour is beyond the scope of this literature review. However, colour perception principles, specifically the concept of 'colour constancy' are significant to the argument being mounted.

Although not fully understood, 'colour constancy' refers to a subjective system of human visual perception.³⁴⁹⁻³⁵⁹ It was first described by Land³³⁶ as a system that helps ensure that the perceived colours of an object remained constant under varying illumination conditions;³⁶⁰ this is necessary to function within our environment. If colours changed with the amount of illumination then the ability to make decisions based on colour would be less certain. For example, if the illumination of an ulcer bed was adjusted so that the red normally displayed changed to a colour (i.e. pink) similar to the surrounding skin, the observer would be unable to determine where the ulcer started and

the skin finished. However, being able to accommodate for different illumination of the ulcer bed allows the observer to differentiate the colour from the surrounding skin.

Waltlington³⁶¹ described two features that he believed comprised colour constancy; 'spectral normalization' and 'spatial decomposition'. The former was the ability to correct for temporal changes in the spectral content of the area being viewed (e.g. an ulcer bed and surrounding skin going from light to a darker colour as the illumination decreases). The latter was the ability to ignore changes in illumination across the area being viewed (e.g. a memory that the ulcer bed was red and the change to dark red was due to an illumination change not a change in the colour of the ulcer bed).

Van Es et al.³⁶² demonstrated that colour constancy resulted from a comparative process where humans scan the colour of a scene, comparing colour changes of different surfaces to that of the area under focus, and then making cerebral adjustments to the colour of that area to compensate for illumination changes. Subjects were asked to observe a Mondrian display consisting of "a regular radial coloured checkerboard pattern with twelve wedges and six rings" (p. 143). The innermost ring was replaced with a circular disc (see Figure 10). The illumination of the checkerboard pattern could be altered independently to the grey border surrounding the image. The image was displayed on a computer monitor and subjects observed each image for one second.

Subjects were asked to determine if the colour of the central circle stayed the same (local colour judgements), or if the colour changed to indicate if the changes were consistent with illumination changes over the entire image (relational colour judgements). They found that colour constancy was more accurate when subjects used relational colour judgements than when they used local colour judgements. These findings supported the notion that colour constancy is achieved by comparing changes in the colour of an object in relation to the illumination of the surrounding scene.



Figure 10. Mondrian display used by Van Es et al.³⁶² p. 142

Bloj et al.³⁶³ were able to demonstrate that colour constancy was also related to an ability to perceive three dimensional objects. They constructed a "concaved card with trapezoidal sides which appeared rectangular" when viewed (p. 877). The left side of the card was painted magenta and the right side painted white. The card was viewed using a 'pseudoscope' which optically inverted the depths of the surfaces so the observer would either see the card as opening towards them, or away from them (see Figure 11). The illumination and the colour were not altered, only the optical view.



Figure 11. Concave card used and the inverse image by Bloj et al.³⁶³

When subjects observed the card with the opening facing them they described the right side as white in colour. When the image was inverted (opening away) subjects believed that the colour of the white section changed to a pale pink, although no other change (colour or illumination) had taken place. Bloj et al.³⁶³ concluded that colour perception was influenced by higher cerebral centres where in-built knowledge of light physics and three dimensional structures dictated the colour perceived.

The influence of higher cerebral centres has also been suggested by other researchers. Treisnman et al.^{364, 365} found that subjects given verbal descriptors such as "orange carrot or blue lake" made significantly more illusory preconceptions about the colour than subjects given feature descriptions such as "orange triangle or blue ellipse". They concluded that subjects able to draw on previously learnt shapes and colours (e.g. carrot) were more likely to form preconceptions about the colour the colour of an object.

The notion of memory influencing colour perception is also evident in developmental research. It has been established that accurate and stable

performance in naming different colours occurs between the ages of four and seven years.³⁶⁶ When examining a group of preschool children, Johnson³⁶⁷ found that only 38 per cent of children aged 2.6 years could correctly name four basic colours (red, yellow, green and blue). This increased to 50 per cent for 3-year-olds, 56 per cent for children aged 3.3 years, 72 per cent for 4-year-olds and 79 per cent for children aged 4.3 years.

A similar developmental difference was identified by Petzold and Sharp³⁶⁸ when they tested the hue discrimination and hue memory abilities of preschool children (3–6 years), preadolescent children (9–11 years) and young adults (22–30 years). Hue discrimination was tested by asking the subjects to identify a colour presented on a computer monitor. Hue memory was examined by asking subjects to match a colour that they had viewed previously from a range of similar hues presented five seconds after the initial viewing. They found little difference between the age groups when testing for hue discrimination, but hue memory was found to significantly improve with age.

Colour constancy has been found to be less than prefect by some researchers.^{349-351, 354} Surface texture has been found to influence colour constancy. Subjects exposed to dynamically changing colours surrounding a target often predict inaccurate hues.³⁵⁴ Equally, observation made under unusual illuminations such as sodium vapour lamps can result in a loss of colour constancy.³⁴⁹

From the information presented in this section it can be seen that although human colour perception has common physical and physiological mechanisms, the limited understanding of the psychological influences requires that this phenomenon be classified as *subjective*. In an effort to overcome the shortcomings of human colour perception the use of computer technology has been explored.

3.2.5. Using computers to perceive colour

Computers require mathematical formula known as algorithms to function. Using computer technology to perceive colour has required the development of a number of mathematical algorithms that replicate or improve on a human's ability to maintain colour constancy.

Whilst several algorithms are evident within the literature, they tend to fall into one of five methods: Grey world methods; Retinex methods; Gamut mapping methods; Colour by correlation methods; and Neural network methods.^{369, 370} Describing the complexity of each method is again beyond the scope of this review, but the underlying assumption of each method is outlined as a foundation for subsequent sections.

Grey world methods assume that the average light reflected from a surface is equal to a pre-specified value which is referred to as 'grey'.³⁶⁹ A camera using this algorithm assumes that the average light from a scene is equal to the camera's response to grey under the illumination for that scene. The

wavelengths being received by the camera sensors are then adjusted using the algorithm to account for the amount of illumination the algorithm predicts is present.

Retinex methods have been derived from the work of Land et al.,³³⁶ who developed an algorithm that made allowances for different levels of illumination. It is based on the assumption that small spatial (activities that involve visual processing) changes in the scene were related to changes in illumination, whereas large spatial changes originated from surface changes (changes in colour). The amount of change is calculated by examining the colour response of pixel adjacent to the pixel being examined.³³⁶

Gamut mapping methods were originally introduced by Forsyth³⁷¹ in 1990. These algorithms constrain the set of possible maps for a given scene under unknown illumination to an image of the scene under a known illumination.³⁶⁹ The colour range is restricted to a given gamut (range) of colour. This is best demonstrated by the difference that is often seen between an image on a computer monitor and the printed version. The gamut of colour available for the computer is different from the gamut of colour available for the printer. Thus the colours displayed on the monitor cannot be replicated by the printer or vice versa.

Colour by correlation methods use probability to determine the amount of illumination in a given scene. Initially the probability of seeing a particular colour under each expected illuminant is calculated. The resulting array of

probabilities (contingency table) is used to calculate the probability that each of the potential illuminants is the actual illuminant. The best estimate of the illuminant is then chosen and colours are adjusted accordingly.³⁶⁹ An example is when a picture is taken outdoors (in sunlight) using the indoor settings on a camera (tungsten lighting). The former uses a different 'probability array' than the latter. The colour balance in the resulting images appears out of balance with the actual image because the incorrect probability table was used.

Neural network methods use algorithms derived from artificial intelligence research. The system is 'trained' using a random selection of synthetic images generated from a database of different colours and illuminates. The colour histogram of a synthetic image is entered into the system together with the correct answer. Using this data the system 'learns' the influences of different illuminates^{369, 370} and can then make subsequent adjustments for images in similar conditions of illumination.

Data derived from the above algorithms not only improve the ability of the system to achieve colour constancy but also enable analysis of the image for aspects of interest. Such systems are used to recognise objects in the image.³⁶⁴ Security systems that capture the face of a person and then compare the captured face with faces contained in a database of 'persons of interest' is an example. Evaluation of such systems has revealed high reliability scores, in most instances outperforming human observers.³⁷²⁻³⁷⁵

Clinical applications for health care are also evident. For example, clinical neural network systems are increasingly common in the literature. Sammouda and Sammouda³⁷⁶ used a neural network system to analyse digital images of liver biopsies. They concluded that the results were promising for the development of a Computer Aided Diagnosis system aimed at detecting liver cancers. Usher et al.³⁷⁷ used a similar system to analyse digital retinal images. They were able to achieve 94.8 per cent sensitivity and concluded that the system could be used for screening of diabetic retinopathy. A number of studies have also explored the use of image analysis to diagnose mMelanoma and other skin lesions.³⁷⁸⁻³⁸¹ Findings suggest that such systems may assist in the recognition of malignant skin lesions. Most however, recommend that further research is required to capture the higher order pattern recognition used by experienced clinicians.³⁷⁸

Given the recent exploration of image analysis and object recognition algorithms, it is logical that the use of such systems for assessing wounds is being explored. The following provides a review of that work.

3.3. Measuring wound colour

Technological developments in the 1980s and a desire to move beyond the crude Red-Yellow-Green-Black colour measurement of wounds provided a catalyst for research into systematic wound colour measurements. Technology designed to measure an erythema index following radiation

treatment of the skin, or the application of an irritant (e.g. newly developed cosmetic), provided researchers with the first in a series of tools with which to measure wound colour – the spectrometer. Whilst reliable, the problem was that the spectrometer only measured colour over a very small area. In the 1990s advances in digital technology and computer image analysis derived principally from the measurement of skin lesion colour, specifically melanomas³⁸²⁻³⁹⁴ provided researchers with the possibilities of measuring colour over a large surface area and being able to digitally manipulate the image and store the data.

However, as attempts were made to apply computer analysis to the images of wounds, a number of confounding variables were discovered. Differing capture devices (cameras); light sources; unwanted reflections; and colours displayed by different types of wounds at different times in the healing cycle, were identified as variables that confounded the results. Once the image was captured, another group of confounding variables were identified including the algorithm used to measure the colour and the difference between computer colour perception and human colour perception. In an attempt to improve the reliability and validity of such systems, researchers have used a number of methods to help eliminate each confounding variable.

3.3.1. Selecting capture devices

The type of capture device has changed as available technology has improved. In earlier studies wound images were recorded using film. Gammal

and Popp³⁹⁵ used a 35 mm camera and ring flash to record wound images when examining the activity of collagenase in pressure ulcers. Each photograph was assessed by human observers in order to determine the amount of black, yellow or red tissue present. As computer technology became increasingly available, the devices used to capture wound images changed from film to the use of video cameras and frame grabbing cards. The latter enabled computers to capture an image from a video camera and digitise it for digital storage.

Herbin et al.³⁹⁶ used a colour video camera with binocular lenses, connected to a computer system to record photographs of blisters. Binocular lenses were used to simulate the normal binocular vision of humans. A similar system was used by Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ when attempting to measure the healing of a variety of wounds. Their aim was to develop a system for testing wound care products. The video camera and frame grabbing technology enabled digital image capture. More recent studies have captured wound images by using digital cameras. Shai et al.³⁹⁸ presented digital images of chronic wounds to an expert panel of three dermatologists in an effort to develop a colour range that depicted the 'cleanliness' of a wound. The images were captured using a Canon digital camera and transferred directly into the computer.

3.3.2. Standardising focal length

A number of attempts have been made to standardise the focal length (distance between the camera and the wound) when recording wound

images. Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ used a camera equipped with a pair of high energy light emitting diodes that provided two beams of light projected in front of the camera. The camera was moved away from, or towards the wound until the light beams converged on a single spot on the wound. This helped to ensure that the camera was the same distance from the wound when each image was captured. Other researchers have used tripods or camera mounting frames that ensure the cameras kept their distance from the patient's wound.^{268, 270, 380, 395, 400}

3.3.3. Compensating for different illumination

In an effort to control for different light sources, several researchers have used an in-shot reference. MAVIS (Measurement of Area and Volume Instrument), developed by Jones and Plassmann,⁴⁰¹ is an example. Although developed principally to measure wound volume, Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ attempted to use this system to segment an image into three tissue types: healthy skin, wound tissue and epithelial tissue. To control for the amount of light illuminating the wound Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ used a magnesium oxide chip placed in-shot to act as a white reference. Prior to colours of the wound being measured, the computer system would adjust each colour in the image to accommodate for the amount of light reaching the white in-shot reference and hence the remainder of the image. A similar system was used by Herbin et al.³⁹⁶ who attempted to develop a colour index of healing by studying blisters. A white disc was placed in-shot, in an effort to provide a colour frame of reference against which colours of the blister could be compared.

In more recent studies, the in-shot references have contained colours that the computer system uses to determine the amount of illumination present in the image. Shai et al.³⁹⁸ employed an in-shot reference strip that contained a yellow colour (representing the most unclean areas of a wound), a red colour (representing the ideal condition to be achieved), and a green and black colour. The latter colours acted as a reference for the computer to determine the amount of illumination that had been used to take the photograph.

Unwanted glare or reflection created by wound exudate or shiny oedematous skin, has been found to dilute the colour recorded in an image. Attempts to eliminate unwanted reflected light have been to either fix the camera angle or filter the light reaching the camera. Arqvist, Hellgren and Vincent⁴⁰² captured a wound image via a camera mounted at thirty degrees to the wound plane; the rationale being that any light reflected from the wound would pass outside of the camera lens. Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ used a similar technique to examine the different hues exhibited by infected wounds, but not only placed the camera at thirty degrees but employed the use of ring flash. The latter provided a light source from three hundred and sixty degrees thus reducing shadows and reflected glare. Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ took an alternative approach by using two polarised filters to reduce unwanted reflections. As with polarised sunglasses, the filters reduced the intensity of specularly reflected light reaching the camera sensors. This enabled a more accurate recording of the wound colour by reducing the influence of glare.

3.3.4. Compensating for different wound types

Different wound types have been found to exhibit different colours. The colours exhibited by Herbin et al.'s ³⁹⁶ study of blisters differed markedly from those exhibited by other wound types such as pressure ulcers or traumatic wounds.^{257, 299, 329, 403} When examining pilonidal excision wounds, Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ reported that the hues displayed fell between yellow and violet. Using the colour standards for printing (CMYK), Shai et al.³⁹⁸ identified that 'clean' chronic wounds displayed a cyan of 20; magenta of 94; yellow of 87; black of 12; or more red in colour. They found that 'unclean wounds' displayed a cyan of 0; magenta of 0; yellow of 70; black of 5; or more yellow in colour.

In order to control for wound type researchers turned to artificially created wounds. Herbin et al.'s ³⁹⁶ blisters were artificially created on the forearms of eight volunteers using heat. Hansen et al.⁴⁰⁴ examined pressure injuries artificially created on the backs of pigs in an attempt to use colour analysis to predict the severity of pressure related injury. By artificially creating wounds the researchers were able to control for wound size, shape, depth and location, all variables that influence the amount of light entering the wound and hence the colour reflected.

3.3.5. Selecting the colour space and associated algorithms

Once the image was captured researchers were faced with selecting the most appropriate method of measuring the colour. Three mathematical equations or 'colour spaces' were available. Red-Green-Blue (RGB), the
colour space used by computer monitors to replicate colour, the Cyan-Magenta-Yellow-Key (CMYK) colour space traditionally used by printers to reproduce colour in clothing or printed material, or the Hue-Saturation-Brightness (HSB) colour space said to be representative of human colour perception, described previously. Whilst CMYK colour space has not been used in wound colour research, both RGB and HSB have been tested.

When using the RGB colour space the majority of researchers concluded that these algorithms were not sensitive enough to detect subtle differences in wound colour. For example, when examining the ability of spectroscopy to differentiate between levels of erythema, Van der Valk and Snater⁴⁰⁵ concluded that it could not discriminate grades of erythema any better than the human eye. Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ concluded that the RGB level of measurement was unable to distinguish between the colour of a wound and the colour of skin, or the colour of a wound and the colour of connective tissue. Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ came to a similar conclusion when attempting to develop a system that would enhance data derived from comparative studies of wound management products. Unlike Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹, Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ used a three dimensional RGB histogram to analyse the colour. They found that simple RGB thresholds were not enough to identify a given tissue type. In particular the system was unable to determine the difference between the colour of granulation tissue, surrounding skin and newly formed epithelium.

To date studies that have used the HSB colour space have been limited, but they proffer more encouraging findings. Hansen et al.⁴⁰⁴ claimed that they developed a model that provided colour analysis closely representative of the "intuitive notions of human perception" (p. 85). They were able to use colour to differentiate the severity of a pressure injury. Injuries with a blue / grey appearance were more significant than injuries that rapidly assumed a reddish appearance, followed by a gradual reduction in the redness over a period of several hours. Their findings suggest that if the elapsed time was known, colour could be used to distinguish the severity of the pressure injury.

Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ used HSB to compare colours exhibited by non-infected and infected wounds. They identified that non-infected wounds exhibited a peak of red hue in the mid range of hues, which decreased as healing continued. Infected wounds, on the other hand, exhibited a distinct increase in the peak of red hue range. The red peak was reduced after antibiotic treatment indicating an association between the colour seen and the infected status of a wound. They concluded that the HSB system had advantages over the RGB method because the parameters of hue, saturation and intensity could be measured independently, and that this was beneficial when dealing with the complex colours displayed by healing wounds.

3.3.6. Retention of a human observer

The need to retain human colour perception in the image analysis process was recognised by a number of researchers. Human observers have been

used to either establish colour reference ranges for computerised systems, or to outline the wound within a digital image. Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ and Shadi et al.³⁹⁸ are examples of studies using expert knowledge to establish reference ranges. Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ used a clinician's knowledge of colours exhibited by secondary healing ulcers to establish a frame of reference for their system, whilst Shai et al.³⁹⁸ asked three 'senior dermatologists' to identify photographs that displayed the colour of an 'optimal' wound (red) and an 'unclean' wound (yellow).

Using clinicians to outline the wound helps to eliminate problems incurred by trying to automate the recognition of wound margins (see above). Arqvist, Hellgren and Vincent⁴⁰² used an 'operator' to map the base of an ulcer displayed in a digital colour photograph. Once the area of interest had been highlighted, the operator was then required to classify the ulcer by selecting one of sixteen wound classifications. Santamaria et al.^{172, 406} used a computer system (Alfred / Medseed Wound Imaging System) to measure the wound and record 'wound characteristics'. The latter included different wound tissue types such as eschar or wet necrotic tissue (slough). To measure the area of different wound tissue clinicians were required to outline the areas on the digital image. The system would then calculate the surface area occupied by the different tissue type.

Broadly speaking, a 'gold standard' for measuring colour represented in digital wound images is yet to be determined. The reliability of any one system has not been fully established. Studies have principally been based

on artificial wounds, using a variety of controls and colour measurement algorithms. Where systems have been tested on real wounds the degree of inbuilt controls are either hard to replicate, or unfit for the practicalities of the clinical setting (e.g. MAVIS). Whilst there is some evidence that systems using a hue, saturation and brightness colour space provide a representation closer to human perception, the majority of systems still require interpretations performed by human observers.

3.4. Conclusion

The human perception of colour is a complex process. From a physical perspective it involves the physics of light; the spectral capabilities of the object being observed; the amount of illumination; and the degree of contrast between objects and their surroundings. From a physiological perspective, the ability of a human to perceive reflected light via the retina of the eye, and engage in cerebral interpretative functions influences their colour perception. Equally, the ability of humans to recognise colours allowing for different lighting conditions (colour constancy) influences colours perceived. Combine the above influences with the influences of a person's psychological development and it is clear that colour perception is a very subjective process.

As the cost of health care grows clinicians will increasingly be required to demonstrate health outcomes achieved. Systems that provide an objective measure of wound colour may help establish parameters against which

clinicians can judge the progress of a wound through the healing cycle. To date attempts to develop such systems have been hindered by limited access to technology for image capture and interpretation; the strict controls needed to reduce the influence of lighting and focal length; and the absence of reliable and valid computer algorithms.

It would appear that the use of a hue, saturation and brightness colour space provides a closer representation of human colour perception, and a degree of flexibility required to examine the subtle hues displayed by a wound. Equally, systems that use an in-shot reference card enable image analysis to be performed under a number of different lighting scenarios. It would also seem that until more reliable algorithms are developed, systems will need to rely on 'experts' to provide a reference range of colour and to help any automated system differentiate the border of a wound.

If colour represents wound status and progress, as suggested by multiple authors (see Chapter Two), and the observations of clinicians are subjective and at times unreliable, then objective measurements of wound colour are required. Systems that reliably record digital images and interpret the colours displayed within the image currently offers the greatest potential for achieving this aim. Chapter Four describes the method used for this project aimed at addressing the above deficit by establishing the foundations of a system for objectifying the colours displayed by a chronic venous leg ulcer.

4. Chapter Four: Method

Predictions of an increased burden of chronic disease resulting from an ageing population have brought with them increasing demands to prevent chronic disease. Equally, the need to contain health care costs has seen health professionals being held accountable for expenses incurred while managing chronic diseases. In an effort to meet both demands the health care industry is increasingly turning to technology to help track patient progress and, more recently, to predict the prognosis and cure trajectories for health care clients.

In previous chapters it was demonstrated that CVI constitutes a major health problem that is present in 10 per cent to 40 per cent of 'western' or 'developed' societies.²¹ Chronic leg ulceration, affecting 0.06 per cent to 1.97 per cent of the population⁴⁰ is indicative of advanced venous disease and is instrumental in reducing the quality of life experienced by people with CVI..^{31, 183} Expenses incurred when managing venous leg ulceration are high for both the health care agencies and the sufferer.^{2, 171, 172}

To help reduce the burden of CVI a number of efforts have been made to reach consensus on a description of the disease; to diagnose the disease early; and to objectively measure progress of the diseased. Clinicians can currently diagnose the condition early (duplex and plethysmography); categorise the severity of the disease (CEAP); determine the amount of oedema (displacement or the Leg-o-metre); and measure the dimensions of

any ulceration (planimetry).^{18, 41, 190, 193-195, 197, 199, 200, 205, 206, 215, 221, 234, 235, 237, 248, 259, 261, 264-266, 407-409}

However, when it comes to assessing the healing status of venous leg ulcers clinicians are forced to rely on crude colour assessments (Red-Yellow-Black or Red-Yellow-Black-Pink) that use simplistic descriptions to link the colour exhibited to physiological processes.^{301, 306, 307, 309, 410} Marketing materials produced by suppliers of wound care products have seen the promotion of a *red* ulcer as a 'health ulcer'; a *yellow* ulcer as an 'infected ulcer'; a *black* ulcers as 'necrotic'; and a pink ulcer as 'newly healed'. Clinicians are encouraged to select products based on this assessment.

Efforts to use technological solutions for the above assessments have met with difficulties. Such systems have been plagued by problems of standardising colour measurement including controlling for different lighting sources, eliminating unwanted reflection and maintaining a constant orientation of the limb. Computer algorithms designed to measure colour have consistently been unable to differentiate the subtle colours exhibited by an ulcer from those of the ulcer edge or the different tissue types found within an ulcer (e.g. granular, wet necrotic).

The intent of this project was to develop a system that overcame the above problems in an effort to provide a clinical assessment tool that could quantify colours manifested by chronic venous leg ulcers.

This project used a descriptive correlation design to develop and test a system that could form the foundation for assessing the progress of venous leg ulcers. For the purposes of the study the project was conducted using three distinct phases. The first phase was to establish and test a system for capturing the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer. The second phase was to establish a colour range that resulted from an aggregation of expert opinion and could be used to identify either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. The third phase was to develop and test a system that would outline aggregations of pixels in digital images that fell within either of the colour ranges developed in phase two.

In line with a descriptive study, non-parametric sampling techniques were used for each phase to select either patient or clinician participants. Data was analysed using methods appropriate to this design and included descriptive, correlation and analysis of variance testing. National ethical guidelines were met during participant recruitment, collection and storage of data, and protection of confidential information.

The following chapter details the method used to develop the system and to test its reliability and validity.

4.1. Ethical consideration

Ethical consideration presented by this project was managed using a number of strategies. Permission was sought to conduct the research from the Flinders Clinical Research and Ethics Committee (approval no. 2001.037) and The Human Research and Ethics Committee of The Alfred Hospital (approval no.156/02).

Patient participants were recruited via an information leaflet and an expression of interest provided in the outpatient waiting area. This was to prevent direct recruitment by the researcher and possible coercion. Any patient wishing to be involved in the study was required to complete the expression of interest section and place it in the collection box provided in the waiting area. The researcher then contacted the person directly and arranged a time to discuss the project. During this discussion potential participants were provided with a plain language statement detailing the project and a consent form (see Appendix H). They were informed verbally that they could withdraw from the study at any time and were provided time to ask any questions. If they agreed to participate the consent form was signed and witnessed.

Expert panel members were invited to participate via a letter detailing the requirements of their involvement. This letter also contained an expression of interest for them to complete if willing to participate (see Appendix E) and a reply paid envelope. Completion of the expression of interest was seen as consent to participate. Clinicians in the leg ulcer clinic were invited to participate using the same method as that used for the expert panel.

All data collected was stored in accordance with the guidelines of the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia. All personal information collected during the study was kept confidential. Names and contact details of people who expressed interest in the study were stored in a password protected computer file. Participant numbers were assigned to each patient and clinician participant for all data collection sheets and electronic storage. No identifying data was used in the analysis or presentation of results.

During the study consent forms and received data were kept in a locked office. Following the study, consent forms will be stored for a period of fifteen years in a locked storage cabinet at the La Trobe University School of Nursing and Midwifery, Bundoora campus. Data collected will be archived at the same location in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council guidelines.

4.2. Operational definitions

The following operational definitions are presented to ensure clarity of concepts being used in the project.

Wet necrotic tissue refers to a visual manifestation presented when during cell death the cell membrane ruptures and the contents of the cell mixes with the surrounding serum giving a yellow appearance to the bed of an ulcer. It is also known as slough.

Erythema referes to a visual manifestation of the skin surrounding an ulcer that is a result of the infilitartion of erythrocytes into the interstitial compartment as part of an inflammatory process

Image capture refers to the technique of using digital technology to capture and store a photographic image.

A Pixel refers to 'picture elements' or dots that are displayed in a rectangular grid on a computer screen. Each is assigned a colour and, when aggregated, form an image.⁴¹¹

Clinical expertise has several meanings and is said to incorporate several aspects including patter recognition, intuition and cognition.⁴¹²⁻⁴¹⁸ For the purposes of this study clinical expertise is defined as the skills of "a clinician who manages patients with a venous leg ulcer on a weekly basis and is nominated by his / her peers to have expertise in this area of care".

A visit refers to participants attending the outpatient clinic from which data was collected.

An episode of care refers to the management required for one leg ulcer. A participant may have one visit with two episodes of care (i.e. both legs).

4.3. Aim of the project

To develop a system that enables clinicians to easily and objectively measure the different colour manifestations exhibited in the bed of a venous leg ulcer and the surrounding skin. The long-term intent is to establish a clinical tool that can differentiate chronic venous leg ulcers that are following a normal healing cycle from those that become 'trapped' in an inflammatory process.

4.4. Objectives

- To develop a reliable method for digitally recording the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer that:
 - could be used in various lighting conditions
 - ensures a consistent view of the leg over several episodes of care
 - controls for focal length/magnification
 - can be easily used in the clinical environment by clinicians.
- 2. Test the reliability of the above image capture system.
- Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represent erythema.
- **4.** Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents wet necrotic tissue, or slough.

- 5. Develop a system that uses image analysis software to identify pixels in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer, that fall within the above colour ranges.
- 6. Use the above image analysis to place an observable border around groups of pixels that meet the colour range criteria in an effort to highlight areas of erythema or wet necrotic tissue evident within the photograph.
- **7.** Test the validity of the above tissue identification system.

4.5. Methods

Due to a lack of previous knowledge and research regarding colours exhibited by chronic venous leg ulcers, and the association between those colours and the different tissue types comprising a venous leg ulcer, a descriptive-correlational framework was used to conduct the study. Descriptive-correlational methodology is known for its ability to collect a large amount of information about a suspected problem area efficiently and effectively. For this reason it is often utilised in situations where a knowledge base is beginning to be developed for a particular area.⁴¹⁹ Evidence from this type of study often directs further research into possible interventions to improve a situation.⁴¹⁹

This project was undertaken in three phases. The first phase was to establish and test a method for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers. The second phase was to determine a colour range that experienced clinicians believed represented either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. The third phase was to develop and test a system that highlighted areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue evident within a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer. The following provides a detailed description of each phase.

4.5.1. Phase 1: Capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers

The method for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers was designed to control for confounding variables identified in previous studies.^{268, 270, 380, 395-402} The intent was to develop a system that reduced unwanted reflections; ensured a consistent orientation and magnification of the leg during an episode of care and across episodes; and to adjust colours within a digital image that reflect the amount of illumination under which the image was captured.

4.5.1.1. Reducing reflections and maintaining a consistent magnification

To reduce unwanted reflections and maintain a consistent magnification and orientation of the leg, a 'capture frame' was developed. The frame, affectionately known as 'Ulcer-cam 2', was constructed from acrylic sheeting so that it could be easily wiped with a disinfectant between patients to prevent cross contamination. The frame consisted of a horizontal semi-circular base marked in 5⁰ increments (much like a protractor), and a vertical track marked in centimetres that held camera and lighting mounts (see Figure 12). The camera and lighting mounts could move up and down the

vertical track. The track could also move horizontally around the perimeter of the semi-circular base (see Figure 12).

The 5° increments in the base enabled the angle of a patient's foot to be recorded on an initial visit (degrees from 0°) and at subsequent visits. The patient's heel was placed at the apex of the protractor base and their leg rotated until a clear image of the ulcer was seen in the liquid crystal display of the camera. The lateral aspect of the patient's great toe was then aligned with the nearest degree increment and the number recorded (e.g. 80°). On subsequent visits the lateral aspect of the patient's great toe was placed against the degree increment recorded at the initial visit to ensure a similar orientation of the leg from episode to episode (see Figure 13).



Figure 12. Ulcer-cam



Figure 13. Controlling orientation of the leg

The camera was moved up or down the vertical track until a clear image of the ulcer was visible in the liquid crystal display. The track was then locked and the distance from the base of the frame to the tripod mount on the camera was measured using the ruler attached to the track (see Figure 13). This figure was recorded and used in conjunction with the foot angle (described above) at subsequent visits to establish a consistent orientation and degree of magnification. To eliminate colour or image biases resulting from different cameras, the same camera was used to capture all images. It was a Cannon PowerShot A50 digital camera. This was a 1.3-mega-pixel camera, providing a maximum resolution of 1280 x 960 pixels.

All images were captured at the above resolution and saved as a JPEG file. JPEG is an abbreviation for the Joint Photographic Experts Group who were initially formed in 1986 and issued the JPEG standard in 1992. The standard was approved in 1994 as ISO-10918-1. The compression method used is known as 'lossy compression' which results in some loss of visual process.⁴¹¹ Although cognisant of potential visual loss, the JPEG format was chosen as it was commonly used by digital cameras and image software, and met one of the project aims; developing a system that could be used in a variety of clinical settings.

4.5.1.2. Illumination

Illumination was provided by two incandescent lamps using daylight globes meeting the *CIE illuminant C* standard adopted by the International

Commission on Illumination.³³⁹ To help reduce unwanted reflections consideration was given to using methods previously implemented by other researchers;^{397, 399, 402} in particular setting the camera at 30⁰ to the wound surface. However, these methods were rejected because of a concern about potential image distortion. To compensate the lamps were mounted at 30⁰ to the camera (see Figure 14). This reduced any shadows and, because of the angle of the light source, reduced any direct reflections from exudate or shiny skin resulting from lipodermatosclerosis or oedema.

To prevent changes to the illumination resulting from minor fluctuations in the power to the lamps or additional illumination from the environment, it was decided that an 'in-shot' colour reference would be used similar to the technique used by previous researchers to account for different amounts of illumination.^{396, 398, 401}

The colour reference standard was comprised of cyan, yellow and magenta strips (from Pantone Colour Specifier 1.3U) and a pink and orange strip, all mounted on a green background (see Figure 15). The Pantone colours were used as the primary colour reference by the image analysis software selected for the project. The pink and orange strips were used as a secondary reference to determine if the image had been severely over or under illuminated. The green border provided a contrasting colour to the reference strips and human skin, facilitating easy identification of the reference within an image. When not in use the colour reference was stored in an envelope

that eliminated light. This was to prevent any fading of the reference as a result of continual exposure to light over the life of the project.



Figure 14. Daylight light source set at 30° to the camera



Figure 15. Colour reference example and the reference in situ

4.5.1.3. Colour measurement

The image analysis software chosen for the project was the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program developed by Dr Tim Neild in 1999. The software was originally designed to provide an objective measure of burn scars in paediatric patients. Traditionally burn scars are assessed using four parameters; pigmentation, pliability, height and vascularity. The Vancouver Scar Scale, or Burn Scar Index, is often used by clinicians when making such assessments.^{420, 421} The Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program was validated in a study comparing the assessments made by clinicians using the Vancouver Vascularity Score with colours recorded by the system.⁴²²

The Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program analysed the Pantone colours from the in-shot colour reference (see Figure 15) to determine the level of illumination under which the image was recorded. The hue value for each Pantone colour (cyan, yellow and magenta) formed part of the algorithm used by the software as a reference point for image analysis (see figure 16). The algorithm compared the known hue values of the in-shot reference with the recorded hues of the in-shot reference and calculated the difference in illumination under which the photograph was taken. The hue of each pixel in the image was then adjusted, or standardised to compensate for the recorded illumination difference by the computer algorithm. This provided a hue value for each pixel that would have been recorded if the photograph had been taken under standard illumination conditions (*CIE illuminant C* standard). This process eliminates the need to exclude extraneous light when taking the photograph.

Once the colours were adjusted an area of the digital photograph was selected for colour measurement. For the purposes of this phase the area being examined was confined to the ulcer bed. The area was selected by using the computer mouse to outline the ulcer bed. The software provided a tool for this purpose (see Figure 17). Once the area was defined, the software package measured the hue of each pixel within the border and provided a mean hue and saturation for the area selected (see Figure 17). The hue, saturation and brightness colour space was selected as it had provided the most consistent findings in previous wound colour research.^{399, 404}



Figure 16. Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program interface for standardising the colours of each pixel

Figure 17. Selection of area to be analysed and the colour summary provided by the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program

A residual error is also provided by the software. This figure represents the total difference between the standard and its true colours after the best possible correction has been applied. It alerts the user to images which effectively could not be corrected satisfactorily, usually due to adverse lighting conditions.

4.5.1.4. Modifications to the method for capturing the image and measuring the colours exhibited

Pilot testing

The system was piloted using two clinicians and two patients over ten episodes of care to capture and measure the colour images. The results are reported in Chapter Five and an article published in the Journal of Wound Care (see Appendix A).

During the pilot it was noticed that both patients found it difficult to stand in the frame and retain their balance for the required time. As the majority of patients with venous leg ulcers are in their sixth to ninth decade it was decided that the above finding would be common for the majority of patients and the frame would need to be changed. Examination of the images also indicated that the gloss finish on the frame produced some unwanted reflections (see Figure 18).

The frame was rebuilt to enable an image to be captured with the patient in a lying or horizontal position. The gloss surface was changed to a matt black

surface which retained the infection control properties of the previous frame but reduced unwanted reflections. Renamed 'Ulcer-cam2' the redesigned frame can be seen in Figure 19. The new frame retained the protractor base and camera track features of the initial version, thus enabling the orientation of the leg and degree of magnification to be recorded and reproduced as described above (see Section 4.4.1.1 "Reducing reflections and maintaining a consistent magnification").



Figure 18. Reflections from the gloss surface of the frame



Figure 19. Ulcer-cam 2



Figure 20. Blue background used in Ulcer-cam 1 and 2

During the pilot it was also noticed that the background provided unwanted distractions and hindered clear visual separation of the patient's leg (see Figure 18). Towards the end of the pilot a blue background was introduced to separate the patient's leg from other similar colours in the clinical background (see Figure 20). Blue provided a contrast to the reds and pinks of skin colour facilitating separation of the leg from other aspects in the photograph. Blue paper towels normally used to wrap surgical equipment for steam sterilisation were used to create the background for all images taken as part of the project. This provided a matt or non-reflective surface that could be discarded after the photographs had been captured for each patient. It is also readily available in the majority of health care settings thus meeting the clinical application aim of the project. This feature was incorporated into the main study.

The pilot also indicated that the residual error figures (generated by the software) were outside acceptable limits indicating that the amount of illumination was greater than the tolerances required for the image analysis. Thirty test images were taken moving the light source away from the leg a centimetre at a time to establish where the amount of illumination decreased to within the required parameters. It was found that the lights had to be placed 35 cm away from the leg before the residual error was consistently within acceptable limits. This however created an image with such poor illumination that it provided very little detail of the leg ulcer.

Following discussions with the software developer (Prof Tim Nield) it was thought that the daylight rated globes may be providing a light frequently outside of the algorithm parameters. A series of images were taken using the inbuilt flash on the camera which consistently yielded a residual error within acceptable parameters. It was felt that as the in-shot reference provided adjustment for illumination (converting colours to hues that would be seen if the image was taken in daylight) that the requirement for daylight rated lights was redundant. Images in the main study were therefore taken using the inbuilt flash on the camera. The light fittings were removed from the camera mount in Ulcer-cam 2.

4.5.1.5. Testing reliability of the system

Reliability refers to the ability of a system to measure a phenomenon in a consistent manner that can be reproduced in different contexts, by different observers.⁴²³ Although specific to the measure being examined, reliability is often tested by conducting trials that involve combinations of a sample of patients, a sample of clinicians and sample of time intervals.⁴²³ Findings from such trials are limited by the representative nature of the above samples, which in turn determines the clinical settings in which an instrument, or system can be reliably used to measure a phenomenon.

To examine the reliability and clinical applicability of the system being examined in this project, two types of analysis were used; intra-observer and inter-observer reliability testing. Intra-observer reliability testing examines the ability of an instrument (or system) to produce consistent measurements

when used by the same clinician over time.⁴²³ Inter-observer reliability testing examines the ability of an instrument (or system) to produce consistent measurements when used by different clinicians over time.⁴²³

In phase one, intra-observer (test-retest) reliability testing was examined using two forms of analysis. The first examined the ability of the system to capture colour reliably. The second examined the ability of the system to record a photograph of a venous leg ulcer with a consistent orientation and magnification. Inter-observer reliability was examined by repeating the same sets of analysis using photographs taken by different clinicians of the same patient.

4.5.1.6. Intra-observer reliability testing

Intra-observer reliability testing examined the reliability of the system to capture hue, orientation and magnification in a consistent manner when used by the same clinician.

Aim

- To examine the reliability of the system to produce consistent hue, orientation and magnification measurements within a set of three photographs taken at an episode of care for a patient by the same clinician.
- 2. To examine the reliability of the system to produce consistent hue, orientation and magnification measurements across photographic sets

taken at each episode of care for different patients by the same clinician.

Participants

For intra-observer reliability testing a convenience sample of participants was recruited from patients attending a venous leg ulcer outpatient clinic at a major metropolitan hospital. Convenience sampling is a non-probability sampling technique that is appropriate for descriptive studies. Following discussions with a biostatistician (see Acknowledgements) it was decided that as the project was a descriptive study a specific number of participants was not required. Whilst convenience sampling does not consider the degree of representativeness of a sample,⁴¹⁹ based on the mean number of patients treated annually over the last three years in the clinic (mean = 51.3) it was felt prudent to collect data from a minimum of twenty patients to help ensure the representative nature of the sample.

Inclusion criteria:

Patients were invited to participate if they had:

- a venous ulcer for more than six weeks
- an ankle brachial index (ABI) of greater than 0.8
- were being managed using a triple layer compression bandaging regime of zinc impregnanted bandage, undercast padding and short stretch compression bandage.
- could read and speak English

had Caucasian (white) skin colouring.

Exclusion criteria:

Patients were excluded if they had:

- a leg ulcer without a confirmed venous aetiology
- an ankle brachial index (ABI) of less than 0.8
- were being managed with a different dressing regime from that above
- unable to understand English
- had Non-Caucasian skin colouring.

The initial criteria were set to exclude arterial disease and ensure that the colours being measured were that of venous leg ulcers only. The decision to recruit from patients who were being managed with the same dressing regime was made to prevent possible influences that different dressing products may have had on the colour of the ulcer or the surrounding skin (e.g. iodine or silver). The latter was particularly important as the aim was to develop a system that would record the colour of erythema surrounding the ulcer. Equally, the decision to exclude dark skinned participants was made to prevent possible masking of erythema that can occur with this patient cohort.

Initially the researcher had some concern over the criteria to exclude non-English speaking patients as this may affect the representative nature of the sample. However, the criterion was required as there were insufficient funds for translation of the relevant information and consent sheets. A further review of patients attending the clinic over the past two years, who required an interpreter, revealed that this would potentially exclude less than 3% of the patients, a figure that was considered to be acceptable by the researcher.

Procedure

Once consented, a summary of demographic data was collected using the data sheet shown in Appendix B. Items such as gender; history of specific conditions (deep vein thrombosis, diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis), participant's age; age of the ulcer; size of the ulcer; and their body mass index were collected because of known associations with chronic venous disease.^{2, 3, 24, 54, 56, 58, 59, 63, 70, 71, 75} This data was used to assess the representative nature of the sample.

Once the demographic data was collected a set of three sequential photographs of the participant's ulcer were taken using the Ulcer-cam 2 frame. The photographs were taken one second apart to allow time for the shutter to reset. Three photographs were taken to provide a suitable range of images for analysis (when combined across several episodes of care) and limited the impost of capture time on the clinical procedures. For the purposes of intra-observer testing, the photographs were taken by the researcher to eliminate any variation resulting from techniques used by different clinicians.

The angle of the participant's foot, and the distance of the camera from the base of the frame were recorded using the initial data collection sheet (see

Appendix B) immediately prior to the photographs being taken. The type of dressing used was also recorded at this time to ensure that the patient met the inclusion criteria described above. An adhesive label was attached to the patient's medical record to alert clinic staff that the patient had been recruited to the study.

On subsequent visits the participant was placed in the Ulcer-cam 2 frame with their foot and the camera adjusted to the original setting recorded at the first visit. Three sequential photographs were then recorded. The angle of the participant's foot and the camera distance was again recorded, as was the size of the ulcer and the dressing used. The former was recorded to ensure that the settings had not been changed from the initial visit, the latter to ensure that the management of the participant remained within the required selection criteria (see above). Data was recorded using the data sheet in Appendix C.

At the completion of each clinic, the photographs were downloaded to the same computer and each file (photograph) labelled with the participant's number, the date and the clinician who had taken the photograph. The colours of each photograph were adjusted to compensate for difference in illumination, and the mean hue of the ulcer bed measured using the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program. The results were stored in a Microsoft Access[®] database in preparation for analysis.

Examination of differences of leg orientation and magnification in the photographs captured during a single episode of care was performed by overlaying images and quantifying the amount of difference. Using Adobe Photoshop[®] a copy of an image (2nd or 3rd) was pasted onto the initial image in a set with the opacity of the pasted image set to 50 per cent. The section of the patient's heel originally aligned with the apex of the protractor in the base of the Ulcer-cam 2 frame was used as the reference point for aligning the images.

Orientation was examined by digitally placing a small colour dot over the external or internal malleolus of the images being compared. The colour selected was blue to contrast with skin colours. When the images were overlaid the distance between the dots was measured in centimetres and the direction of the movement recorded using a clock face model (e.g. 1 o'clock, 2 o'clock etc). The frequency of any change in location of the malleoli was then examined using frequency distribution. Changes to orientation of the ulcer from visit to visit were also performed using the method described above.

Changes to magnification were examined by overlaying the photographs and measuring any area of difference between the ulcer sizes. This was mapped using transparent plastic sheets and quantified using planimetry provided by a device used to measure the surface area of wounds known as Visitrak[®] (see Chapter Three). This provided an amount of difference in magnification in cm².

As it was expected that the ulcer size would change between visits, using the above criteria to measure changes to magnification was not considered valid as it could lead to a type 2 error. A type 2 error occurs if a hypothesis is rejected when it is true.⁴²³ Using changes in ulcer dimensions to determine if the magnification of the photograph had changed may have provided a significant difference between episodes leading to rejection of the hypothesis, when in fact the magnification had not changed. To overcome this limitation the yellow strip of the in-shot colour references was used as the area of comparison between images taken at different episodes. The dimensions of the strip remained constant and therefore enabled an analysis of magnification.

Data analysis

A repeated measure design was used to examine the ability of the system to reliably capture colour, magnification and orientation of a venous leg ulcer. A repeated measure design traditionally refers to studies where the subjects participate in all conditions.⁴²³ For example, instead of using two groups to examine different dressing products, one group of patients would be used and each would be treated with all products. A repeated measure design is principally used when it is difficult to find enough participants for a study.⁴²³ However, this was not the case for the project as the incidence of chronic venous disease and ulceration are high enough to ensure adequate numbers from which to recruit. The design was chosen as it enabled the reliability of the system to be tested by taking a series of three photographs under the

same conditions including the same patient and clinician. The same measurements were again taken when the patient re-presented completing the repeated design format.

It was hypothesised that a system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

- 1. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician within an episode of care was not significantly different.
- 2. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician across episodes of care was not significantly different.
- 3. The variation of the orientation and magnification of the ulcer in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician within an episode of care was not significantly different.
- 4. The variation of the orientation and magnification of the ulcer in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician across episodes of care was not significantly different.

The difference in hue, magnification and orientation between each set of three sequential photographs was analysed using an analysis of variance
(ANOVA). An ANOVA enables the differences or variance between more than two groups to be examined. The test compares the amount of variance that could be expected (due to patient differences) to the total variance of the data collected. The difference between expected and total variance is used to provide a ratio known as an F-ratio.

If the variability within photographic sets (1st, 2nd or 3rd photograph) is similar to between groups variance across all photographs then the ratio will be around one. If the variability between groups of photographs were greater than the between groups variance across all three groups the F-ratio will be greater than one.⁴²³ In order to support the above hypotheses the F-ratio within each set of three photographs (taken at each episode) would not be statistically different from the F-ratio between photographic sets.

4.5.1.7. Inter-observer testing

Inter-observer testing examined the reliability of the system to capture hue, orientation and magnification when used by different clinicians.

Aim

- To examine the ability of the system to produce consistent hue, orientation and magnification when photographing venous leg ulcer measurements within a set of three photographs taken at an episode of care by different clinicians for the same patient.
- 2. To examine the ability of the system to record a photograph of a venous leg ulcer with consistent hue, orientation and magnification

when used by different clinicians across two different episodes of care for the same patient.

 To examine the ability of the system to record a photograph of a venous leg ulcer with consistent hue, orientation and magnification when used by different clinicians for different patients.

Participants

A convenience sample of three clinicians (one of which was the researcher) was taken from the nurses who regularly managed patients in a venous leg ulcer outpatient clinic at a major metropolitan hospital. Each nurse was qualified as a Division One nurse in the State of Victoria and had provided care for patients suffering from venous leg ulcers for a minimum of five years. It was felt that selecting these clinicians would decrease the impost on the patient participants as the nurses had established rapport with the patients and understood the procedures of the clinic. A convenience sample was justified by the descriptive nature of the project.

Procedure

Prior to the commencement of the project each clinician observed a ten minute demonstration of how to use the Ulcer-cam 2 frame and digital camera. In addition they were supplied with printed instructions for recording a set of photographs (see Appendix D).

As described above, participants had three sequential photographs of their leg ulcer taken at each visit. To examine inter-observer reliability this was increased to three times each visit giving a total of nine photographs; three sets of three sequential images. The initial set was taken by the researcher (as described in intra-observer testing), and the 2nd and 3rd set were taken by the other two clinicians (one each). To prevent unnecessary discomfort for the participant their leg was left inside the Ulcer-cam 2 frame during the entire photographic procedure. The disposable blue background was also left in situ. To ensure each clinician was responsible for setting the parameters for his / her set of photographs, the patient participants were instructed to move their leg prior to each set being taken and, at the completion of each set, the camera was returned to the base of the slide.

At the completion of each clinic the photographs were downloaded and stored as described above. Each clinician would then measure the colour of the ulcer base, using the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program from the photographs they had taken using the method described previously (see intra-observer testing).

Examination of variation in magnification and orientation was examined using the same procedure described in intra-observer reliability testing. In addition, changes to magnification and orientation were examined across visits. Data was examined for all three clinicians by comparing measurements taken at a participant's second visit with those recorded during their first visit.

Data Analysis

Analysis of the inter-observer data was conducted using correlation coefficients and the same procedures as those used for intra-observer testing but with the additional photographic sets and hue measurements from the other clinicians.

It was hypothesised that a system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

- A correlation coefficient of > 0.8 between the hue values recorded by three clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was achieved.
- The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographic sets taken by three different clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was not significantly different.
- 3. The variation of ulcer orientation or magnification within photographic sets taken by three different clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was not significantly different.

4. The variation of ulcer hue, orientation or magnification within photographs taken by three different clinicians across two visits for the same patient was not significantly different.

Degrees of hue recorded by two sets of clinicians for the same patient were initially examined using scatter plots to estimate the amount of correlation. A scatter plot provides a graphic representation of a numeric relationship between two variables.⁴²³ A correlation refers to relationships or association between two variables of interest.⁴²³ It implies that an increase in one variable is associated with an increase or decrease in another variable. An associated increase is known as a positive correlation, a decrease is known as a negative correlation.⁴²³ For the purposes of this study the degrees of hue measured by two different clinicians for the same patient were examined to see how closely they correlated.

To quantify the amount of correlation between a set of two clinicians a Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient was calculated. This measures the degree of an association by using the amount of shared variance (see above) between two variables. The correlation coefficient is a score between 0 and + 1 or - 1. Zero indicates no association where as + 1 or -1 indicates a perfect association. Generally a correlation coefficient of > 0.8 is considered a very high association.⁴²³ To support the above hypothesis a positive correlation of 0.8 or greater was required.

An ANOVA was also conducted to determine the amount of variation between the degrees of hue, and changes to magnification and orientation recorded for all three clinicians using the same technique as that used for intra-observer reliability testing. In order to support the above hypotheses, the F-ratio within each set of photographs taken by each clinician would not be statistically different from the F-ratio between photographic sets taken for that episode and across episodes.

4.5.2. Phase 2: Establishing a colour range for erythema and wet necrotic tissue

Phase two used a selection of the photographs taken in phase one to develop a range of colour that represented erythema or wet necrotic tissue (see operational definitions 4.2).

Aim

- 1. Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents erythema.
- 2. Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents wet necrotic tissue.

Design

A descriptive design was used to identify a range of colour that experienced clinicians believed represented erythema and wet necrotic tissue. Printed photographs of a venous leg ulcer were used as the medium from which clinicians were asked to highlight areas that they believed represented each tissue type.

Participants

To establish a colour range that represented erythema and wet necrotic tissue a panel of experienced clinicians was formed. The model had been used in the past by other researchers attempting to build a colour range for wound healing.^{397, 398} Potential clinicians were selected using the criteria described in the operational definition for expertise (see Section 4.3 Operational Definitions). Initially, the Australian Wound Management Association was asked to nominate clinicians that they deemed to have such expertise. The Association declined to provide this information citing possible contravention of privacy regulations as the reason.

The Association did advise that a national venous leg ulcer working group was being formed and the names of the committee members would be made public. Participating clinicians were recruited from this working group, plus additional clinicians known to the researcher that met the criteria. A total of ten clinicians (two doctors and eight nurses) were identified and invited to participate via a letter (see Appendix E). Each participant was a registered health care provider in Australia and was currently providing treatment for patients suffering from venous leg ulcers and had been providing this service for a minimum of five years.

Procedure

Once recruited, each expert received a series of twenty colour photographs (18 cm long by 13 cm wide) of venous leg ulcers. The photographs were selected from the researcher's library of venous leg ulcers that had the colour reference included in the image (n = 725). Photographs from the library were placed into one of four categories depicting the phases of wound healing (inflammatory, destructive, proliferative and healed). As the intent was to develop a colour range for erythema and wet necrotic tissue, a random selection of ten photographs from the inflammatory and ten from the destructive categories were used for the expert panel review. Colours in the selected photographs were adjusted to compensate for the illumination under which the image had been taken, using the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program. Each image was then printed using an Epson Stylus CX6500 and Kodak photo paper with a matt finish (A4, 165 g/m², 150 microns), two images to a page. A matt finish was selected to reduce reflections from the image surface.

Along with the package of twenty photographs participants were supplied with a blue and red 0.5 mm Uniball micro pen. Participants were instructed to select an environment with even lighting and outline areas of erythema or wet necrotic tissue in the image using the pen supplied (see Appendix F). Erythema was to be outlined using the red pen; wet necrotic tissue was to be outlined using the blue pen. Participants were then instructed to return all photographs to the researcher using the return paid envelope provided.

Data analysis

Once received, each photograph was digitised using an Epson Stylus CX6500 flatbed scanner. The Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program was then used to select the areas outlined by the expert panel and measure the mean hue and standard deviation of the selected region measured. The findings were then aggregated for each tissue type (erythema or wet necrotic tissue) across all images and all experts. This provided a mean hue and standard deviation that represented either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. To establish the colour range for each tissue type it was decided to use the mean hue plus one standard deviation either side of the mean. This excluded hues that may be considered 'outliners', or were encountered in a smaller number of patients. The intent was to establish a range that would be exhibited by the majority of venous leg ulcers manifesting inflammation or wet necrotic tissue.

4.5.3. Phase 3: Developing a system to highlight areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer

Phase three tested the validity of a system developed to highlight areas of wet necrotic tissue and erythema within a digital image of a venous leg ulcer. The long-term aim was to develop a system that could quantify the above manifestations proving data for research and clinical decision making.

Aim

- To develop a system that would highlight erythema and wet necrotic tissue in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer without input from a clinician.
- 2. To test the validity of the areas selected by the computer system.

Procedure

Development of the system

An image analysis technique was developed that highlighted areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer. The criteria used for the selection of areas within the image (pixels) were derived from the colour range obtained from phase two. Previous projects attempting to differentiate tissue types from a digital image have relied on a clinician to outline the areas of interest on a computer screen.^{172, 402, 406} Such approaches introduce inter-observer differences which may have confounded any findings. It was felt that by automating the selection of pixels the inter-observer bias could be reduced.

Adobe Photoshop[®] version 5.5 was used to select pixels that had a hue value that fell within one standard deviation from the mean hue established for either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. Three Adobe Photoshop[®] functions were used to select areas of erythema or wet necrotic tissue: the 'Info' window; the 'magic wand'; and the 'stroke' function. The 'Info' window

displays the hue, saturation and brightness of any pixel directly under the computer curser. As the user moves the curser around the image the levels for each parameter change in accordance with the colour of the pixel directly beneath the curser.

The 'magic wand' tool enables the user to select an area of an image that includes adjacent pixels of a similar colour.⁴¹¹ The colour of pixels selected is determined by a tolerance level that can be set prior to the procedure ('Info' window in Abode Photoshop[®]). The unit used for tolerance is degrees of hue. The 'magic wand' also enables the user to determine if the pixels selected are continuous with each other (touching) or separate. Some preliminary testing indicated that the continuous option needed to be selected to ensure that pixels fell within the colour range but were in a different location in the image (e.g. sections of the foot or leg not affected by the ulcer were not selected).

Once an area of an image was selected, the curser was then placed over the area and the right mouse button clicked. This provided a list of options including the 'stroke' function. This function enable the user to place a border around the area selected.⁴¹¹ The colour and width of the border was determined by the user when the option was selected.

To select an area of a digital venous leg ulcer photograph the following procedure was used:

- The tolerance for the 'magic wand' was set to the degrees of hue that represented one standard deviation either side of the mean hue for the tissue type being selected (erythema or wet necrotic tissue). The continuous function was also checked in this dialogue box to ensure selected pixels were linked.
- 2. The 'magic wand' was then slowly moved over the ulcer under review (peri-wound for inflammation or ulcer bed for wet necrotic tissue) until a pixel was identified (using the 'Info' window) that had a hue value matching the mean hue for the tissue type being selected. The left mouse button was then clicked and the software would select pixels that fell within one standard deviation of the mean hue and that were continuous (see Figure 21).

The 'stroke' function was then selected and the colour and width assigned for the border. The colour blue was used for erythema and yellow for wet necrotic tissue. Blue was used for erythema to differentiate it from surrounding skin. Yellow was visible when bordering wet necrotic tissue as the surrounding area was often red or pink. The software would then place a border around the pixels selected by the 'magic wand' (see Figure 22). The image was saved and given an alternative name to preserve the original. The process was repeated for all twenty photographs from the original set used in phase two. The resulting images were then printed (two to a page) using the same equipment and photographic paper used in phase two.



Figure 21. Selection of pixels using the magic wand



Figure 22. Border placed around different tissue types

Validation of the areas selected by the computer

Validation of the areas selected as either erythema or wet necrotic tissue was examined using two methods. The first compared any difference between areas originally selected by the clinicians in phase two with that selected by the computer. The second asked participating clinicians to indicate the level to which they agreed with the computer selection.

To examine differences between areas selected by the computer with that selected by the clinicians the overlay technique described in phase one was again used to record any areas of difference. The areas of difference were then measured using the grid and planimetry method described in phase one.

To examine the extent to which clinicians agreed with the areas selected by the computer the images were returned to the original expert panel. The sample was comprised of the clinicians recruited for phase two. As data from their original assessments were used to construct the colour ranges representing the two manifestations, it was felt that the original expert panel should be given the opportunity to validate the outcomes. Whilst it would have provided a higher level of confidence to use a different expert panel the number of clinicians with the required expertise was limited. Equally, the possibility of contamination from interactions with the original group was deemed to be high because of frequent interactions between this clinician cohort.

The clinicians were asked to indicate on a Visual Analogue Scale (see Appendix G) the extent to which they agreed with the areas highlighted by the computer software. A Visual Analogue Scale is an instrument that is used when the phenomena being measured ranges across a continuum but cannot easily be directly measured.⁴²⁴ Given the nature of 'expert opinion' it was felt that this instrument was the most appropriate. The normal conventions were followed with the Visual Analogue Scale set at 100 mm long with anchored text descriptors at each end;⁴²⁴ in this case 'strongly agree' or 'strongly disagree'. The respondents were also given the opportunity to make comments they felt relevant about the images. A reply paid envelope was supplied for them to return the data collection sheet and the set of photographs.

Data analysis

The analysis examined differences between areas selected by the clinicians and those selected by the computer system, and the degree to which clinicians agreed with the areas selected.

It was hypothesised that for a system to provide a valid selection of erythema or wet necrotic tissue in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer:

- The amount of difference between the areas selected by an expert panel and areas selected by computer software would not be statistically different.
- 2. An expert panel would strongly agree with the areas selected by the computer software for each tissue type (erythema and wet necrotic).

To test the first hypothesis, frequency distribution and mean area (cm²) was used to examine any differences between the area selected by the clinicians in phase two and the area selected by the computer system. A one way ANOVA was used to determine if there was any statistical difference in the areas of the image selected.

To test the second hypothesis, data from the visual analogue scale were analysed using descriptive statistics including frequency distribution, mean and standard deviation for each image, and the entire photographic set. A one way ANOVA was used to examine variance of opinion between experts for each image to determine the amount of any variation of agreement within the clinician group.

4.6. Chapter summary

This project used a descriptive correlation design to develop and test a system that could form the foundation for assessing the progress of venous leg ulcers. For the purposes of the study the project was conducted using three distinct phases. The first phase was to establish and test a system for capturing the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer. The second phase was to establish a colour range that resulted from an aggregation of expert opinion and could be used to identify either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. The third phase was to develop and test a system that would outline aggregations of pixels in digital images that fell within either of the colour ranges developed in phase two.

In line with a descriptive study, non-parametric sampling techniques were used for each phase to select either patient or clinician participants. Data was analysed using methods appropriate to this design and included descriptive, correlation and analysis of variance testing. National ethical guidelines were met during participant recruitment, collection and storage of data, and protection of confidential information.

Chapter Five presents the outcomes of the above analysis and provides a foundation for a discussion of the findings in Chapter Six.

5. Chapter Five: Results

The intent of this project was to develop a system that could overcome the above mentioned problems in an effort to provide a clinical assessment tool that could quantify colours manifested by chronic venous leg ulcers. This chapter reports the findings of the study with reference to the objectives of the study, principally:

- To develop a reliable method for digitally recording the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer that:
 - could be used in various lighting conditions
 - ensures a consistent view of the leg over several episodes of care
 - controls for focal length / magnification
 - can be easily used in the clinical environment by clinicians.
- 2. Test the reliability of the above image capture system
- **3.** Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents erythema.
- Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents wet necrotic tissue, or slough.
- 5. Develop a system that uses image analysis software to identify pixels in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer, that fall within the above colour ranges.

- 6. Use the above image analysis to place an observable border around groups of pixels that meet the colour range criteria in an effort to highlight areas of erythema or wet necrotic tissue evident within the photograph.
- 7. Test the validity of the above tissue identification system.

The chapter begins with a description of the demographic data of patients recruited into phase one of the study (see Chapter Four). Although the patient sample was small (n=25), the distribution of gender, age and country of origin of the participants is presented, as is descriptive data specific to the patient's ulcer including ulcer age, size and associated co-morbidities. The intent is to examine the representative nature of the sample prior to further analysis.

The ability of the 'Ulcer-cam 2" system to reliably capture hue, orientation and magnification is then reported. This section begins by describing a pilot undertaken to test the initial prototype. Changes made to the method prior to collection of the study data as a result of the pilot findings are detailed. This is followed by a review of hue, orientation and magnification measurements for each photographic set, and conclusions drawn about the intra-observer reliability of the 'Uulcer-cam 2' system (see Chapter Four). Comparisons are made within photographic sets recorded at an episode; across photographic sets recorded at different episodes; within photographic sets for individual patients; and across photographic sets for all patients. Findings are further explored by an analysis of variance in an effort to establish the statistical

significance of trends identified. A further comparison between photographic sets recorded by different clinicians is presented in an effort to examine interobserver reliability (see Chapter Four).

Descriptions of the hue and saturation range derived from phase two of the study are then reported. Variations between experienced clinicians recruited for the study is examined for consistency. The mean hue and colour range for both erythema and wet necrotic tissue resulting from aggregation of the findings from all participating clinicians is displayed.

The chapter concludes with an examination of the validity of the above colour range to represent erythema and wet necrotic tissue in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer. Comparisons are drawn between areas highlighted by the computer system and those selected by experienced clinicians. Trends evident in this analysis are then compared to results obtained from a questionnaire asking participating clinicians to document their level of agreement with areas selected by the computer.

Normally hue is reported using degrees of a colour circle that range from 0 degrees to 360 degrees. In this chapter the degrees presented for hue are in some instances greater than 360 degrees. This is because the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program treats hue as a linear measurement adding degrees onto 360 instead of reverting back to zero. Whilst these figures could be altered to represent the colour circle (e.g. 375 degrees becomes 15 degrees) doing so would render analysis of variance invalid. For example,

the variance between 360 degrees and 15 degrees would be marked, whereas the variance between 360 degrees and 375 degrees would be much less. Given the aim of the project, it was decided to retain the linear figures provided by the above software.

5.1. Patient demographics

Twenty-three participants were recruited for phase one of the study. Thirteen were females (56 per cent) and ten (44 per cent) were males. One participant was withdrawn from the study as her hip and knee flexion was insufficient to allow one leg to be positioned inside the capture frame (Ulcer-cam 2). This resulted in a total of twenty-two participants, twelve females (54 per cent) and the remaining ten males (45 per cent). The ages ranged from 50 years to 89 years with a mean age of 69.7 years (SD 10.06 years). An examination of age distribution demonstrated that the majority of patients recruited were 69.5 years of age or greater (see Figure 23).



Figure 23. Age distribution of the patient sample

The majority of participants (69.5 per cent) listed their country of origin as Australia. The remaining participants originated from a number of other countries (see Table 10).

Country of Origin	Frequency
Australia	16
Malaysia	1
Sweden	1
Sri Lanka	1
Greece	1
Turkey	1
Switzerland	1

Table 10. Country of origin frequency

At the time of recruitment the basal metabolic rate was calculated for each participant as this variable has been cited as a contributing factor to chronic venous disorders. The basal metabolic rate ranged from 23.42 kg / m^2 to 35.10 kg / m^2 with a mean of 28.72 kg / m^2 (SD 3.48 kg / m^2). Participants were also asked about co-morbidities that are known to be associated with venous leg ulceration, specifically deep vein thrombosis (DVT), rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes (see Chapter One). Nine participants reported that they had not suffered from any of the assigned co-morbidities (40.9 per cent). The remainder had suffered from one or more of the co-morbidities. Only one participant had suffered from all three (see Table 11).

Condition	Frequency
Nil	9
Diabetes	3
Rheumatoid arthritis	5
DVT	4
Diabetes, Rheumatoid arthritis and DVT	1

Table 11. Associated co-morbidities

At the time of recruitment an ankle brachial pressure index (ABPI) was taken for each participant. All participants were above the 0.8 mmHg established as a minimum threshold for the application of compression. The ABPI ranged from 0.9 mmHg to 1.4 mmHg with a mean of 1.08 mmHg (SD 0.13 mmHg) (see Figure 24).



Figure 24. ABPI distribution

5.1.1.1. Initial ulcer assessment findings

From the twenty-two participants recruited a total of twenty-five ulcers were reviewed. The location of the ulcer; the duration that the participant had suffered with the current leg ulcer; ulcer dimensions; and types of wound care products were examined.

Eight possible location options were used to record the location of the venous ulcers during data collection. They included: left and right medial; lateral; anterior; and posterior aspects of the lower leg. The medial aspect of the lower leg was the most common site with both the left and right medial areas recording the highest frequency (see Table 12). The remainder were located on the left or right lateral aspects. No ulcers were found on the anterior or posterior surfaces.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Per cent	Cumulative Per cent
Left lateral	2	8.0	8.0	8.0
Left medial	10	40.0	40.0	48.0
Right lateral	6	24.0	24.0	72.0
Right medial	7	28.0	28.0	100.0
Total	25	100.0	100.0	

Table 12. Frequency of ulcer location

The duration that the patient had been suffering with the current venous leg ulcer was recorded by subtracting the date that the ulcer was first diagnosed from the date that the participant was recruited into the study. On average participants reported that their ulcer had been diagnosed 36.1 months (SD 84.6) prior to being recruited into the study. One participant reported that the ulcer was first diagnosed in 1971 and had never completely healed (see Table 13).

Participant	Ulcer no	First diagnosed	Recruited	Days	Months	Years
1	1	1/1/2003	3/6/2003	64	2.1	0.2
1	2	1/1/2003	3/6/2003	64	2.1	0.2
2	1	11/1/2002	3/6/2003	125	4.2	0.3
3	1	2/17/2003	3/27/2003	38	1.3	0.1
4	1	3/1/2002	4/10/2003	405	13.5	1.1
5	1	5/1/2000	4/10/2003	1074	35.8	2.9
6	1	4/1/2002	4/10/2003	374	12.5	1.0
6	2	4/1/2002	4/10/2003	374	12.5	1.0
7	1	3/1/2003	5/1/2003	61	2.0	0.2
8	1	12/1/2002	5/1/2003	151	5.0	0.4
9	1	11/1/1971	5/29/2003	11532	384.4	31.6
10	1	4/1/2003	5/29/2003	58	1.9	0.2
11	1	2/1/2003	6/26/2003	145	4.8	0.4

11	2	2/1/2003	6/26/2003	145	4.8	0.4
12	1	11/1/1997	7/3/2003	2070	69.0	5.7
12	2	3/1/1986	7/3/2003	6333	211.1	17.4
13	1	3/1/2002	7/31/2003	517	17.2	1.4
14	1	6/1/2003	10/7/2003	128	4.3	0.4
15	1	5/1/2003	7/31/2003	91	3.0	0.2
16	1	6/1/1998	8/21/2003	1907	63.6	5.2
17	1	7/21/2003	8/21/2003	31	1.0	0.1
18	1	3/1/2003	9/4/2003	187	6.2	0.5
19	1	1/1/2001	9/4/2003	976	32.5	2.7
20	1	8/1/2003	9/18/2003	48	1.6	0.1
22	1	6/1/2004	10/23/2004	144	4.8	0.4

Table 13. Durations of leg ulcers

During the initial assessment the size of the venous leg ulcer was measured using the Visitrak[®] system (see Chapter Four). The area of ulceration varied from 0.4 cm² to 38.0 cm² with a mean of 6.88 cm² (SD 9.32 cm²). The ulcers were relatively small, with the majority of ulcers (77.3 per cent) assessed as being less than 10 cm² (see Figure 25).



Figure 25. Distribution of ulcer size on the initial visit

When the data pertaining to the types of primary dressing being used to treat the ulcer on the initial assessment were examined it was evident that the majority of ulcers were being treated with topical zinc oxide in the form of a gauze impregnated bandage. The next most frequently used dressing (n = 2) was a foam product often used to absorb excessive exudate (see Table 14).

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Per cent	Cumulative Per cent
Alginate	1	4.0	4.0	4.0
Foam	1	4.0	4.0	8.0
Zinc	22	88.0	88.0	96.0
Other	1	4.0	4.0	100.0
Total	25	100.0	100.0	

Table 14. Frequency of products being used as primary dressing

When the type of compression being used was examined it was found that all participants (n = 22) were being treated with short stretch compression bandaging.

5.1.1.2. Comparison of initial ulcer assessment findings with participant demographics

The literature reviewed in Chapter One indicated a number of associations between the demographics of patients suffering from venous leg ulcers and the severity of the condition. In particular, associations have been demonstrated between the patient's chronological age and the age of the ulcer, and / or the size of the ulcer.^{9, 11, 13, 15, 16, 34, 51, 73, 75, 82, 86, 118, 124, 131, 151, 161, 318, 425, 426}

To determine the extent to which this sample exhibited the above trend correlations were calculated for the above variables. Correlations between the chronological age of the participant and the duration they had suffered from the current ulcer were examined first. An initial scatter plot indicated very little correlation between these variables (see Figure 26). This was confirmed with a Pearson correlation coefficient test that yielded a value of 0.118 (see Table 15).



Figure 26. Correlation between the participant's age and the age of the ulcer

		Age	Ulcer age - Days
Age	Pearson Correlation	1	.118
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.601
	Ν	22	22
Ulcer age - Days	Pearson Correlation	.118	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.601	
	Ν	22	22

Table 15. Pearson correlation of the participant's age and the age of the ulcer

A similar lack of correlation was found between the participant's age and the size of the venous ulcer. A scatter plot (see Figure 27) and Pearson correlation coefficient yielding a figure of 0.171 (see Table 16) confirmed this assumption.



Figure 27. Correlation between the participant's age and the size of their ulcer

		Age	Ulcer size
Age	Pearson Correlation	1	.171
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.448
	Ν	22	22
Initial	Pearson Correlation	.171	1
visit	Sig. (2-tailed)	.448	
	Ν	22	22

Table 16. Pearson correlation of the participant's age and the size of the ulcer

5.2. Phase 1: Reliability of the system

The reliability of the system was determined by examining three variables: colour, orientation and magnification. Data for each variable was analysed within each episode of care and between episodes of care to determine the extent of any variation. The extent of variation between photographs taken by the same clinician and between photographs taken by different clinicians was also examined to determine intra-observational reliability (same clinician) and inter-observational reliability (different clinicians).

5.2.1. Pilot study

A pilot study was undertaken to test the practical application and initial reliability of the photographic technique and computer analysis system. Data was collected from a convenience sample of ten episodes of care provided to three patients attending a vascular outpatient department of a major metropolitan hospital. Two participants were male, one female with an age range of 48 years to 76 years (mean 64 years). The ulcers ranged in duration from one year to three years and were principally located on the left medial aspects of the lower leg. Ulcer size ranged from 1.5 cm to 8.7 cm in length and 1.5 cm to 4.6 cm in width. All ulcers in the study were comprised of primarily granular tissue with surrounding skin displaying various degrees of erythema. A summary of the findings can be found in an article published in the *Journal of Wound Care* (see Appendix A).

A total of seven ulcers were photographed, with one ulcer being photographed on two separate visits. To examine the reliability of the system an initial visual observation was made to judge colour, magnification and orientation. The mean hue was calculated and the variance examined. Colour saturation was examined in the same manner.

Visual examination of each set of images demonstrated that the frame (Ulcer-cam) maintained consistent light, and the angle of leg rotation for each photograph during each visit (see Figure 28) and over subsequent visits (see Figure 29).



Figure 28. Three sequential photographs taken during one episode using ulcer-cam



Figure 29. Three sequential photographs taken over two episodes using Ulcer-cam



Image 1

Image 2



Combined image

Figure 30. Two sequential photographs with image 2 overlayed on image 1 Note the unwanted reflection evident from leg oedema Overlaying of the images demonstrated small changes to the location of the leg between each photograph within a set that was indicative of small movement by the patient. Unwanted reflection was also present in three sets of photographs resulting from oedematous skin surrounding the ulcer (see Figure 30).

The colours exhibited by the ulcer bed were at the red end of the spectrum ranging from a hue of 341 degrees to 359 degrees with a mean hue of 350.3 degrees. Small differences in the ulcer bed colour were evident between the three photographs making up a set. The difference ranged from 2 degrees to 4 degrees of hue with a mean difference of 2.5 degrees of hue (see Table 1). The colour of surrounding skin showed a greater variation ranging from 292 degrees to 365 degrees of hue. The difference ranged from 1 degree to 15 degrees with a mean of 4.1 degrees (see Table 17).

Episode number	Ulcer bed	Surrounding skin
1	3	2
2	1	2
3	1	2
4	2	2
5	2	1
6	3	4
7	4	3
8	3	3
9	3	15
10	3	7
Mean	2.5	4.1

Table 17. Difference in hue measurements for pilot

Colour saturation of the ulcer bed demonstrated greater variation than colour hue. Saturation ranged from 44.9 per cent to 74.3 per cent with a mean of 59.1 per cent. The difference in saturation measurements within each set of three photographs ranged from 1 per cent to 6.8 per cent with a mean of 3.57 per cent (see Table 2). Colour saturation for the skin surrounding the ulcer ranged from 19.2 per cent to 41.4 per cent with a mean of 29 per cent. The difference in saturation measurements for each set of three photographs ranged from 1.3 per cent to 8.1 per cent with a mean of 3.24 per cent (see Table 18).

Episode number	Ulcer bed	Surrounding skin
1	4.4	1.3
2	6.9	1.9
3	1.9	1.7
4	1	2.3
5	2.2	3
6	2.3	2
7	5.6	2.6
8	1.5	2.6
9	6.8	8.1
10	3.1	6.9
Mean	3.5	3.2

Table 18. Difference in measurements of saturation in pilot study

Whilst on average the hue difference for the ulcer bed was equal to or less than 3 degrees of hue, one set of photographs demonstrated a difference of 4 degrees of hue. The inconsistent hue measurement within each photographic set suggests that the method of capture was not reliable. The reliability of the system was further questioned when colour measurements of the surrounding skin were examined. A mean of 4.1 degrees of difference (and in one instance the differences within a photographic set were as high as 15 degrees of hue) indicated an unacceptable amount of variation. The larger variation in saturation measurements across the three photographs in each set (mean range of 3.57 per cent) provided a similar further concern about the reliability of the system.

The original images were reviewed for possible explanations of the above variation. Visual examination of the image sets indicated that the position of the in-shot colour key varied between photographs within the same set. The key was handheld and therefore its position changed. In some instances the in-shot colour key was close enough to the light source to appear 'washed out'. It was felt that this may have resulted in a different colour balance being applied to the image prior to the colour being measured, resulting in different hue and saturation results.

This was further confirmed by a review of the 'residual error' (see Chapter Four) specifications supplied by the image analysis software. The software designer recommended that a residual error rate of greater than 100 indicated that the colour swatch had been overexposed to light and was not to be relied upon to balance the colours in the photograph. Examinations of the pilot data revealed the majority of error rates for each photograph exceeded the designr recommendation (see Table 19). The mean error rate was 1342.07 (SD 1327.12) and ranged from 20.2 to 4458 units.

Visit	Error photo 1	Error photo 2	Error photo 3
1	156.6	121.3	38.3
2	41.3	34.9	34.3
3	1693.3	1075.5	1640.8
4	1593.1	1018.4	1605.3
5	74.3	349.5	126.4
6	1151.5	1137.8	1525.8
7	193	24.1	20.2
8	2011.9	2316.7	1848.5
9	1049.4	2546.3	4137.5
10	4072.1	3416.5	4458

Table 19. Residual error readings indicated by photographic analysis software

To help reduce the amount of light reaching the colour reference a series of additional photographs were taken moving the reference progressively further from the light source. To reduce the error introduced by having the colour reference handheld, a weighted clamp (see Figure 31) was used and placed a set distance from the light source. The light source used was the daylight rated globes housed within the photographic frame. A photograph was taken and the hue, saturation and error rate were measured from the colour reference. The colour reference was then moved an additional 5 cm from the light source and the process repeated. A photograph was taken at 5 cm intervals from 10 cm to 30 cm. It was felt that a distance of less than 10 cm would have put the light source too close to a patient's leg and run the risk of burning a patient as the light shades became hot to the touch. Equally, a distance of further than 30 cm would have placed the colour key outside of the photographic frame base and would therefore be in shadow from a patient's leg when used in the clinical setting. To control for extraneous light

all other light sources were excluded by using blackout curtains to exclude daylight and by switching off any room lights.


Figure 31. Method used for testing the effect of illumination and different distances from the colour reference

Table 20 illustrates the error rate recorded at distances of 10 cm to 30 cm. Although outside the accepted parameters (less than 100) the trend indicated that the residual error rate was closer to an acceptable range the further the colour key was from the light source.

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	10 cm	852.5
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	15 cm	889.5
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	20 cm	305.5
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	25 cm	286.2
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	30 cm	160.2

Table 20. Residual error rates at set distance from light source

To test if the above correlation was consistent additional photographs were taken at a distance from 35 cm to 45 cm. The error rate increased and remained substantially outside the acceptable criteria (see Table 21).

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	35 cm	606.8
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	40 cm	374.9
Daylight globe	Controlled	Nil	45 cm	324.2

Table 21. Residual error rates at set distance from light source

Following further discussion with the software designer it was decided to repeat the test using the in camera flash as a light source instead of the daylight rated globes. The series of photographs demonstrated residual error rates closer to but still outside the acceptable criteria (see Table 22).

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Flash	Controlled	Nil	30 cm	133.6
Flash	Controlled	Nil	25 cm	123.5
Flash	Controlled	Nil	20 cm	100.1
Flash	Controlled	Nil	15 cm	111.5
Flash	Controlled	Nil	10 cm	123.6

Table 22. Residual error rates using the in camera flash light source

Discussion with the camera manufacturer revealed that the amount of light released when the camera flash is triggered was determined by the distance the camera was from the nearest object. An in camera beam of light is directed at objects in front of the camera. The amount of light reflected from those objects back to the camera is then recorded by an in camera sensor. The amount of flash light released is then determined by the amount of light reaching the in camera sensor. This is to ensure that objects are correctly exposed when taking photographs.

As the photographic technique had not included a background it was decided to insert a background into the rear of the frame used to photograph the ulcer. It was felt that this would provide the in camera sensor with a set distance and hence control the amount of flash released by the camera flash. Blue non-reflective background was selected to contrast with skin colour and prevent unwanted reflected light (see Chapter Four).

A series of photographs were taken using the technique described above. The residual error rates were all within the acceptable criteria (see Table 23).

205

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Flash	Controlled	Blue	30 cm	53.4
Flash	Controlled	Blue	25 cm	89.1
Flash	Controlled	Blue	20 cm	85.1
Flash	Controlled	Blue	15 cm	82.1
Flash	Controlled	Blue	10 cm	92.9

Table 23. Residual error rates using the in camera flash and background

As the methods used to control for extraneous light would prove impractical in the clinical setting it was decided to repeat the above series without control for extraneous light. The residual error rate for each photograph was again within the acceptable limits (see Table 24).

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.4
Flash	No control	Blue	25 cm	91.6
Flash	No control	Blue	20 cm	85.5
Flash	No control	Blue	15 cm	92.3
Flash	No control	Blue	10 cm	94.3

Table 24. Residual error rates not controlling for extraneous light source

It was further noted that the photographs taken using the flash at 30 cm from the light source had consistently lower residual errors than the remaining photographs. A further series of photographs at 30 cm was taken to examine if this trend was consistent. The residual error rate ranged from 52.1 to 63.4 with mean of 56.92 (SD 3.967031) (see Table 25).

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.3
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	56.3
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.2
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	55.1
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	61.4
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	63.4
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.3
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	52.1
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	55.7
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	62.4

Table 25. Residual error rates at 30 cm from light source

Based on these findings it was decided to use flash as the light source set at a standard distance of 30 cm, and a blue background for the main study. During the pilot it was also discovered that patients who were unsteady on their feet had trouble standing in the capture frame (see Chapter Four). It was further decided that the frame could be used when the patient was horizontal. The clear acrylic used on the frame was also changed to a matt black material to help reduce unwanted reflections (see Chapter Four).

A series of ten photographs were taken using the new frame (Ulcer-cam 2) and colour key to examine any variation in residual error. All recorded error rates were within the range depicted as acceptable by the software designer. The mean error was 56.3 (SD 3.27) with a range from 52.1 to 62.4 (see Table 26).

Light source	Extraneous light	Background	Distance	Residual Error
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	57.6
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.3
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	56.3
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.2
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	55.1
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	61.4
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	62.4
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	54.3
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	52.1
Flash	No control	Blue	30 cm	55.7

Table 26. Residual error rates at 30 cm from light source using re-developed frame, Ulcer-cam 2

Having established a photographic technique that met the intent of the study and produced residual error rates that were within the parameters established by the software designer, the main data collection for phase one of the study was commenced.

To examine the reliability of the system to consistently capture colour, magnification and orientation two groups of analyses were examined. The first examined the *intra-observer* reliability by analysing variation of colour, magnification and orientation in a set of three photographs taken by the researcher at each participant visit to the clinic. The second examined the *inter-observer* reliability by analysing the same variables across sets of photographs (three photographs in each) taken at each visit; the first taken by the researcher and the second and third sets taken by the same two nurse clinicians working at the clinic (see Chapter Four).

The twenty-two participants recruited for the study attended the clinic a total of forty-four visits resulting in fifty episodes of care (see Table 27). A set of

three photographs were taken by three clinicians during each episode of care resulting in a total of 450 digital photographs. The majority of the photographs were taken a single or double visit which may limited the value of the analysis when compared with images taken across the healing cycle of the ulcer. Data from each episode were used to analyse the intra and interreliability of the system.

Participant	No. of ulcers	No. of Visits	No. of Episodes	Comments
1	2	2	4	
2	1	1	1	
3	1	1	1	
4	2	2	2	Different ulcer each visit
5	1	1	1	
6	2	1	2	
7	1	2	2	
8	1	5	5	
9	1	3	3	
10	1	1	1	
11	2	3	4	2 ulcers first visit, 1 ulcer next 2 visits
12	2	3	5	2 ulcers x 2 visits, 1 ulcer x 1 visit
13	1	1	1	
14	1	1	1	
15	1	3	3	
16	1	1	1	
17	1	1	1	
18	1	2	2	
19	1	3	3	
20	1	3	3	
21	1	2	2	
22	1	2	2	
Total	27	44	50	

Table 27. Level of participant involvement in the project

5.2.2. Intra-observer reliability

Intra-observer reliability was tested by examining the variation of hue, orientation and magnification within sets of digital images recorded by the same clinician at each episode of care and across episodes of care.

The analysis was aimed at testing the following hypotheses.

It was hypothesised that a system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

- 1. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician within an episode of care was not significantly different.
- 2. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician across episodes of care was not significantly different.
- 3. The variation of the orientation and magnification of the ulcer in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician within an episode of care was not significantly different.
- 4. The variation of the orientation and magnification of the ulcer in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician across episodes of care was not significantly different.

5.2.2.1. Intra-observer reliability for colour measurement

To determine the amount of colour variation between three sequential photographs taken at each visit by the same clinician, the mean hue of each ulcer bed was measured using the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program (see Chapter Four). The variance between hues was then calculated.

As expected the mean hues of the ulcer beds were at the red end of the spectrum. The mean hues ranged from 348 degrees to 394 degrees with an overall mean of 367.47 degrees (SD 8.51 degrees). The variance of the hues within each photographic set ranged from 0.33 degrees to 3.00 degrees with a mean of 0.85 degrees (SD 0.57 degrees). Table 28 details the hues and variance for each set. HueA1 is the first photograph taken in the set, HueA2 the second and HueA3 the third.

Visit	HueA1	HueA2	HueA3	Variance
1	371	372	372	0.33
2	371	371	371	0.00
3	377	378	377	0.33
4	348	351	351	3.00
5	356	356	357	0.33
6	366	367	368	1.00
7	357	356	358	1.00
8	363	361	361	1.33
9	365	366	366	0.33
10	367	365	367	1.33
11	358	357	358	0.33
12	354	355	355	0.33
13	373	374	373	0.33

14	363	361	363	1.33
15	363	363	364	0.33
16	368	369	370	1.00
17	373	373	372	0.33
18	369	368	370	1.00
19	379	378	379	0.33
20	369	371	369	1.33
21	371	373	373	1.33
22	359	361	359	1.33
23	367	369	368	1.00
24	362	364	364	1.33
25	361	360	361	0.33
26	363	364	363	0.33
27	376	378	378	1.33
28	364	365	363	1.00
29	385	386	387	1.00
30	360	362	361	1.00
31	373	373	372	0.33
32	359	358	359	0.33
33	375	376	374	1.00
34	363	363	364	0.33
35	372	372	373	0.33
36	363	362	361	1.00
37	366	369	368	2.33
38	362	362	363	0.33
39	368	366	366	1.33
40	358	357	356	1.00
41	373	374	372	1.00
42	381	380	379	1.00
43	374	372	372	1.33
44	360	360	359	0.33
45	381	381	380	0.33
46	394	393	393	0.33
47	374	373	374	0.33
48	375	373	375	1.33
49	359	360	358	1.00
50	359	361	359	1.33

Table 28. Mean hues and variance of colour for each photographic set

To analyse the variation of colour measurement across the entire collection of photographs taken by the researcher an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was calculated. This yielded an F score of 0.01 (p = 0.98) indicating no significant difference between the hues recorded within each photographic set or across the entire set of photographs (see Table 29).

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	1.49	2	0.74	0.01	0.98	3.05
Within Groups	10791.9	14 7	73.41			
Total	10793.39	14 9				

Table 29. ANOVA results from intra-observer reliability testing

The absence of a statistically significant difference of colour hues within photographic sets or between photographic sets taken by the researcher enabled the null hypothesis to be rejected and the following hypothesis to be accepted.

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

- 1. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician within an episode of care was not significantly different.
- 2. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician across episodes of care was not significantly different.

Based on the acceptance of this hypothesis it was deemed that the system developed was able to reliably capture colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers when the image was taken by the same clinician.

5.2.2.2. Intra-observer reliability for magnification and orientation analysis

Image overlays were used to determine the reliability of the system to maintain a consistent magnification and orientation of the ulcer being photographed, when used by one clinician. The second and third images were digitally pasted over the first image with the opacity of the subsequent images set to 50 per cent using Adobe Photoshop[®]. The area of difference was then calculated in cm² and the variance of each photographic set analysed (see Chapter Four).

Examination of changes to orientation within the set of three sequential photographs taken by the researcher indicated no measurable difference. Figure 32 demonstrates the consistency with which the images were captured. This was constant for all images used in the intra-observer data set yielding no difference.

214





Figure 32. An example of three sequential photographs and the resultant overlaying of all three images. Note the coloured dot over the medial malleolus.

Examination of magnification changes over the three sequential photographs taken by the researcher again indicated no measurable difference (see Table 30). The absence of any measurable difference prevented further analysis.

Participant	Visit	Episode	Image1	Image2	Image3
1	1	1	4.00	4.00	4.00
1	1	2	3.00	3.00	3.00
1	2	3	2.00	2.00	2.00
1	2	4	6.60	6.60	6.60
2	1	5	5.30	5.30	5.30
3	1	6	4.10	4.10	4.10
4	1	7	0.40	0.40	0.40
4	2	8	0.10	0.10	0.10
5	1	9	4.10	4.10	4.10
6	1	10	13.50	13.50	13.50
6	1	11	4.10	4.10	4.10
7	1	12	18.00	18.00	18.00
7	2	13	0.10	0.10	0.10
8	1	14	10.00	10.00	10.00
8	2	15	11.30	11.30	11.30
8	3	16	6.60	6.60	6.60
8	4	17	9.20	9.20	9.20
8	5	18	4.00	4.00	4.00
9	1	19	1.30	1.30	1.30
9	2	20	0.80	0.80	0.80
9	3	21	1.10	1.10	1.10
10	1	22	0.90	0.90	0.90
11	1	23	1.20	1.20	1.20
11	1	24	3.00	3.00	3.00
11	2	25	1.50	1.50	1.50
11	3	26	0.70	0.70	0.70
12	1	27	2.50	2.50	2.50
12	1	28	7.80	7.80	7.80
12	2	29	3.80	3.80	3.80
12	2	30	7.80	7.80	7.80
12	3	31	6.40	6.40	6.40
13	1	32	23.00	23.00	23.00
14	1	33	38.00	38.00	38.00
15	1	34	0.70	0.70	0.70
15	2	35	0.80	0.80	0.80
15	3	36	0.40	0.40	0.40
16	1	37	7.10	7.10	7.10
17	1	38	0.60	0.60	0.60
18	1	39	0.50	0.50	0.50
18	2	40	0.30	0.30	0.30

19	1	41	1.50	1.50	1.50
19	2	42	0.40	0.40	0.40
19	3	43	0.80	0.80	0.80
20	1	44	14.30	14.30	14.30
20	2	45	14.30	14.30	14.30
20	3	46	15.60	15.60	15.60
21	1	47	2.20	2.20	2.20
21	2	48	2.20	2.20	2.20
22	1	49	2.25	2.25	2.25
22	2	50	2.00	2.00	2.00

Table 30. Ulcer size measured in cm² across all images used in the intra-observer analysis

Based on the absence of any measurable difference the null hypotheses were rejected and the following hypotheses accepted:

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

 The variation of the orientation and magnification of the ulcer in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician within an episode of care was not significantly different.

It was further expected that magnification and orientation of the image would not change for each participant visit. The above analysis was repeated comparing these variables across visits for the same participant. As not all participants had two or more visits to the clinic during the data collection period, all data pertaining to single visits were excluded. Participant 4 was also excluded because the two visits had been for two different ulcers. As a small number of participants (n = 3) had visited the clinic on more than two occasions it was decided to limit the analysis to the first and second visit only for consistency. This provided a sample of twelve participants photographed over fourteen episodes of care. As the above analysis had indicated little difference within episodes of care, the first photograph in the series was used to measure changes to orientation and magnification. As the ulcer size was expected to change over time the yellow strip of the in-shot colour reference was used to judge changes in magnification (see Chapter Four).

Initial visual assessment of the images taken of the same ulcer over time demonstrated changes to both orientation and magnification. Further examination revealed that the participant's heel had not always been placed on the apex of the base of the frame. As a result the foot had not been placed flat on the base of the frame resulting in a change to the angle of the foot and the degree of knee flexion changed resulting in the leg angle changing. In a small number of images the rotation of the leg had changed (see Figure 33).



Episode 1

Episode 2



Episode 1

Episode 2



Episode 1

Episode 2

Figure 33. Examples of changes to orientation and magnification across participant visits with photographs taken by one clinician

The findings supported the visual assessments with changes to the ulcer orientation ranging from 0.4 cm to 2 cm with a mean of 0.96 cm (SD: 0.51 cm). The direction of the change to orientation was variable with the most frequent (28.5 per cent, n = 4) being an adduction rotation of the leg moving the malleoli in a '6 o'clock' direction. Changes to magnification ranged from 0.14 cm² to 2.16 cm² with a mean of 0.44 cm² (SD: 0.70 cm²) (see Table 31).

		Orientation		Magnification		
Patient	Ulcer	cm	Clock face direction	Visit 1 (cm ²)	Visit 2 (cm ²)	Difference
1	1	1	8	4.62	2.7	1.93
1	2	1.5	1	5.76	3.6	2.16
7	1	2	6	4.90	4.76	0.14
8	1	0.4	6	4.76	4.76	0.00
9	1	0.4	2	4.76	4.16	0.60
11	1	0.5	6	4.48	4.48	0.00
12	1	1.5	7	3.60	3.6	0.00
12	2	1.2	11	3.60	3.6	0.00
15	1	1	4	4.62	4.62	0.00
18	1	0.8	3	3.60	4.08	0.43
19	1	0.8	5	4.62	4.34	0.28
20	1	1.5	5	4.48	4.76	0.28
21	1	0.4	2	4.90	4.76	0.14
22	1	0.5	6	4.90	4.76	0.14

 Table 31. Changes to orientation and magnification across patient's 1st and 2nd visit using images recorded by one clinician

Using the results obtained for magnification only an ANOVA was performed. Although the F score of 2.01 was not statistically significant (p = 0.16) it indicated a higher variation of magnification between visit than was achieved within a single visit (see Table 32). The single variable measured for orientation (difference in centimeters between the malleoli marks between visit one and two) prevented an ANOVA being calculated.

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	0.76	1	0.76	2.01	0.16	4.22
Within Groups	9.83	26	0.37			
Total	10.59	27				

Table 32. ANOVA results for magnification across participant visits

Based on the above findings the null hypothesis was rejected and the following hypothesis accepted:

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

1. The variation of the orientation and magnification of the ulcer in three sequential photographs taken by the same clinician across episodes of care was not significantly different.

Although not statistically significant, the greater variation in these parameters, particularly magnification, for photographic sets recorded across

participant visits (taken by the same clinician) indicated that the reliability of the system to achieve consistency across clinic visits could be improved.

5.2.3. Inter-observer reliability

Inter-observer reliability was examined by comparing measures for hue, orientation and magnification across three clinicians. The analysis tested the following hypotheses:

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

- A correlation coefficient of > 0.8 between the hue values recorded by three clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was achieved.
- 2. The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographic sets taken by three different clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was not significantly different.
- 3. The variation of ulcer hue, orientation or magnification within photographic sets taken by three different clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was not significantly different.

4. The variation of ulcer hue, orientation or magnification within photographic sets taken by three different clinicians across two visits for the same patient was not significantly different.

5.2.3.1. Inter-observer reliability for colour measurement

To examine the extent to which the above findings were replicated when the system was used by different clinicians the above analyses were repeated for the three photographic sets taken at each visit (one recorded by the researcher, the second and third set taken by the same two clinicians in the clinic).

The mean hues of the ulcer bed were again measured using the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program, and the variance calculated for each set. The hue measurements for each set were performed by the clinician taking the photographs as described in Chapter Four.

Once again the mean hues were located at the red end of the spectrum with a range of 350 degrees to 394 degrees of hue with an overall mean of 367.50 degrees (SD 8.45 degrees). The variance between colours recorded from all photographs taken at each visit ranged from 0.25 per cent to 1.44 per cent with a mean of 0.57 per cent (SD: 0.29 per cent). Table 33 details the findings across photographic sets taken at each visit. Hue A represents the initial set taken by the researcher (see above), Hue B and Hue C represent the hues recorded from photographs taken by the other two clinicians.

224

Visit	HueA1	HueA2	HueA3	HueB1	HueB2	HueB3	HueC1	HueC2	HueC3	Variance
1	371	372	372	372	372	371	371	372	372	0.25
2	371	371	371	371	372	371	371	370	371	0.25
3	377	378	377	378	378	377	377	378	378	0.28
4	348	351	351	350	351	351	351	350	351	1.03
5	356	356	357	356	357	357	357	356	357	0.28
6	366	367	368	367	367	368	366	368	368	0.69
7	357	356	358	356	356	358	357	358	357	0.75
8	363	361	361	361	361	361	360	361	361	0.61
9	365	366	366	365	365	366	365	366	365	0.28
10	367	365	367	367	366	367	366	365	367	0.75
11	358	357	358	358	357	357	357	357	358	0.28
12	354	355	355	354	354	355	355	355	355	0.25
13	373	374	373	374	374	373	373	373	373	0.25
14	363	361	363	363	363	363	363	361	360	1.44
15	363	363	364	363	364	364	364	364	364	0.25
16	368	369	370	368	369	368	368	368	370	0.75
17	373	373	372	373	372	372	373	372	372	0.28
18	369	368	370	369	369	370	369	370	370	0.50
19	379	378	379	379	379	379	379	377	379	0.50
20	369	371	369	369	370	369	369	369	369	0.50
21	371	373	373	371	372	373	373	373	373	0.78
22	359	361	359	360	361	360	361	361	360	0.69
23	367	369	368	369	369	368	369	369	370	0.75
24	362	364	364	363	364	364	364	364	363	0.53
25	361	360	361	361	361	361	360	360	361	0.25
26	363	364	363	363	363	363	363	364	364	0.25
27	376	378	378	377	378	378	376	376	378	0.94

28	364	365	363	365	365	364	364	365	364	0.50
29	385	386	387	385	386	386	386	386	387	0.50
30	360	362	361	362	362	361	360	361	361	0.61
31	373	373	372	373	373	373	373	372	372	0.25
32	359	358	359	359	359	359	359	358	358	0.25
33	375	376	374	374	376	374	375	375	374	0.69
34	363	363	364	363	363	363	363	364	364	0.25
35	372	372	373	372	372	372	372	371	373	0.36
36	363	362	361	363	363	363	363	362	363	0.53
37	366	369	368	366	366	368	366	367	367	1.25
38	362	362	363	362	362	362	363	362	363	0.25
39	368	366	366	367	366	366	368	368	366	0.94
40	358	357	356	357	357	356	358	356	356	0.69
41	373	374	372	373	373	372	374	374	372	0.75
42	381	380	379	381	380	380	381	379	379	0.75
43	374	372	372	374	374	372	374	372	373	1.00
44	360	360	359	360	360	360	360	358	359	0.53
45	381	381	380	381	381	379	381	380	380	0.53
46	394	393	393	394	394	393	394	394	393	0.28
47	374	373	374	374	374	374	372	373	373	0.53
48	375	373	375	375	375	375	374	373	373	0.94
49	359	360	358	359	360	360	360	360	359	0.53
50	359	361	359	359	358	359	360	361	359	1.03

Table 33. Mean hues and variance for all photographs taken at each visit

To analyse the variation of colour measurement across the entire collection of photographs taken an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was again calculated. This yielded an F score of 0.00 (p = 1) indicating no significant difference between the hues recorded within each photographic set or between the sets of photographs (see Table 34).

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	3.95	8	0.49	0.00	1	1.95
Within Groups	32114.54	441	72.82			
Total	32118.49	449				

Table 34. ANOVA results from inter-observer reliability testing

To further examine the variation of colours recorded by the three different clinicians a series of correlations were undertaken. Three dimensional scatter plots reviewed an obvious positive correlation between the hues recorded by all three clinicians (see Figure 34). Hue A, B and C represent colours recorded by the three clinicians and the number represents the image. For example, Hue A1 represents the colour recorded by the first clinician for the first image in the series of three.



Figure 34 Three dimensional scatter plots of hues recorded by three different clinicians

The degree of correlation was confirmed by calculating a Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient which yielded a coefficient of greater than 0.99 (see Table 35).

		Hue A1	Hue A2	Hue A3	Hue B1	Hue B2	Hue B3	Hue C1	Hue C2	Hue C3
Hue A1	Pearson Correlation	1	.987(**)	.989(**)	.996(**)	.993(**)	.992(**)	.994(**)	.988(**)	.988(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue A2	Pearson Correlation	.987(**)	1	.990(**)	.992(**)	.994(**)	.992(**)	.992(**)	.994(**)	.992(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue A3	Pearson Correlation	.989(**)	.990(**)	1	.992(**)	.992(**)	.997(**)	.990(**)	.990(**)	.995(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue B1	Pearson Correlation	.996(**)	.992(**)	.992(**)	1	.997(**)	.994(**)	.995(**)	.991(**)	.992(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue B2	Pearson Correlation	.993(**)	.994(**)	.992(**)	.997(**)	1	.995(**)	.995(**)	.991(**)	.993(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue B3	Pearson Correlation	.992(**)	.992(**)	.997(**)	.994(**)	.995(**)	1	.993(**)	.992(**)	.994(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue C1	Pearson Correlation	.994(**)	.992(**)	.990(**)	.995(**)	.995(**)	.993(**)	1	.993(**)	.991(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000	.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue C2	Pearson Correlation	.988(**)	.994(**)	.990(**)	.991(**)	.991(**)	.992(**)	.993(**)	1	.993(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
Hue C3	Pearson Correlation	.988(**)	.992(**)	.995(**)	.992(**)	.993(**)	.994(**)	.991(**)	.993(**)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed) Table 35. Correlation coefficient across all three clinicians

Based on the absence of a statistically significant difference of colour variation within sets of photographs and between photographic sets taken by different clinicians the null hypothesis was rejected and the following hypotheses were accepted.

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

- A correlation coefficient of > 0.8 between the hue values recorded by three clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was achieved.
- The variation of mean hue recorded in three sequential photographic sets taken by three different clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was not significantly different.

5.2.3.2. Inter-observer reliability – magnification and orientation

To determine the reliability of the system to maintain a consistent magnification and orientation when used by other clinicians the above analysis was repeated using images captured by all three clinicians in the clinic. The image sets were the same sets used to test the reliability of the system to capture ulcer colours (see above).

Initial visual assessment of the images indicated little difference between the orientation and magnification of images taken by the two clinicians and those taken by the researcher. This was confirmed when images were overlaid (see Figure 35).



Image taken by clinician 1

Image taken by clinician 2



Image taken by clinician 3 Overlay of images taken by clinicians

Figure 35. Example of images taken by three different clinicians at the same episode

The orientation and magnification difference between photographs taken by the three clinicians were measured using the techniques described previously (see Chapter Four). The findings further supported the visual assessments made. Small differences were found in the orientation of the photographs ranging from 0 cm to 0.3 cm with a mean of 0.02 cm (SD: 0.1 cm). The vast majority of image comparisons yielded no measureable difference (see Table 36).

Participant	Visit	Episode	C1I2	C1I3	C2I1	C2I2	C2I3	C3I3	C3I2	C3I3
1	1	1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
1	1	2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
1	2	3	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
1	2	4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
2	1	5	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
3	1	6	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
4	1	7	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
4	2	8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
5	1	9	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
6	1	10	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
6	1	11	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0
7	1	12	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
7	2	13	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
8	1	14	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
8	2	15	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2
8	3	16	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2
8	4	17	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
8	5	18	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
9	1	19	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
9	2	20	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
9	3	21	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
10	1	22	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
11	1	23	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
11	1	24	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
11	2	25	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
11	3	26	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

12	1	27	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
12	1	28	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1
12	2	29	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
12	2	30	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
12	3	31	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
13	1	32	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
14	1	33	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
15	1	34	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
15	2	35	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
15	3	36	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
16	1	37	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
17	1	38	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
18	1	39	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
18	2	40	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
19	1	41	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
19	2	42	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
19	3	43	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
20	1	44	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
20	2	45	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
20	3	46	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
21	1	47	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
21	2	48	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
22	1	49	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
22	2	50	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table 36. Difference in location of the malleoli between the initial and subsequent photographs

Examination of correlations between the orientations of images across all three clinicians confirmed the above findings. Figure 36 provides a visual representation of the correlation between clinicians (C1 to C3) and the images compared (I1 to I3).



Figure 36. Correlations of orientation measurements across all three clinicians

The number of measurements recording a zero difference (see Table 36 above) rendered any Pearson's product moment correlation coefficient analysis inaccurate (see Table 37). Reduced correlations can be seen between some orientation measurements, for example a coefficient of 0.20 between clinician 2 (image two (C2I2)) and clinician 3, (image two (C3I2)), but these are inaccurate for the reason described above.

		C1I2	C1I3	C2I2	C2I3	C3I2	C3I3
C1I2	Pearson Correlation	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)
	Sig. (2-tailed)						
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50
C1I3	Pearson Correlation	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)	.(a)
	Sig. (2-tailed)						
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50
C2I2	Pearson Correlation	.(a)	.(a)	1	1.000(**)	.203	.203
	Sig. (2-tailed)				.000	.157	.157
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50
C2I3	Pearson Correlation	.(a)	.(a)	1.000(**)	1	.203	.203
	Sig. (2-tailed)			.000		.157	.157
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50
C3I2	Pearson Correlation	.(a)	.(a)	.203	.203	1	1.000(**)
	Sig. (2-tailed)			.157	.157		.000
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50
C3I3	Pearson Correlation	.(a)	.(a)	.203	.203	1.000(**)	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)			.157	.157	.000	
	Ν	50	50	50	50	50	50

Correlations

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Cannot be computed because at least one of the variables is constant

Table 37. Correlation coefficient between orientation measurements recorded across clinicians

The findings for magnification demonstrated no measureable difference. The area measurements of each ulcer were the same as the area measured in the initial photograph. The absence of difference prevented further analysis leading to the rejection of the null hypothesis and acceptance of the following hypothesis.

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

1. The variation of ulcer orientation or magnification within photographic sets taken by three different clinicians for the same patient during the same episode of care was not significantly different.

Further examination of magnification and orientation changes of images, across visits and across the three clinicians were made. As the above analysis had demonstrated small differences within each photographic set across the three clinicians, it was expected that the findings would reflect the trends identified in the intra-observer reliability testing. This was supported with changes to orientation ranging from 0.5 cm to 1.6 cm with a mean of 0.98 cm (SD: 0.51 cm) (see Table 38).

		Orie	ntation				
		Clin	ician 1	Clinician	2	Clinician	3
Patient	Ulcer	cm clock face		cm	clock face	cm	clock face
1	1	1	8	1	8	1	8
1	2	1.5	1	1.6	1	1.5	1
7	1	2	6	2.2	6	2	6
8	1	0.4	6	0.4	6	0.4	6
9	1	0.4	2	0.6	2	0.4	2
11	1	0.5	6	0.5	6	0.5	6
12	1	1.5	7	1.5	7	1.5	7
12	2	1.2	11	1.4	11	1.2	11
15	1	1	4	1	4	1	4
18	1	0.8	3	0.8	3	0.8	3
19	1	0.8	5	0.8	5	0.8	5
20	1	1.5	5	1.5	5	1.5	5
21	1	0.4	2	0.4	2	0.4	2
22	1	0.5	6	0.5	6	0.5	6

Table 38. Changes to orientation recorded by all three clinicians across participant visits
An ANOVA performed across the findings for all clinicians supported a small but not statically significant difference with an F score of 0.04 (p = 0.9) (see Table 39).

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	0.023	2	0.01	0.042	0.95	3.23
Within Groups	10.78	39	0.27			
Total	10.80	41				

Table 39. ANOVA of orientation between the three clinicians over different visits for the same participant

As expected, changes to magnification demonstrated no difference to the trend identified in intra-observer testing as there were no differences within photographic sets across the three clinicians (see Table 40).

		Magnificatio	n							
		Clinician 1			Clinician 2			Clinician 3		
Participant	Ulcer	Visit 1 (cm²)	Visit 2 (cm ²)	Diff	Visit 1 (cm²)	Visit 2 (cm ²)	Diff	Visit 1 (cm²)	Visit 2 (cm ²)	Diff
1	1	4.62	2.7	1.93	4.62	2.7	1.93	4.62	2.7	1.93
1	2	5.76	3.6	2.16	5.76	3.6	2.16	5.76	3.6	2.16
7	1	4.90	4.76	0.14	4.90	4.76	0.14	4.90	4.76	0.14
8	1	4.76	4.76	0.00	4.76	4.76	0.00	4.76	4.76	0.00
9	1	4.76	4.16	0.60	4.76	4.16	0.60	4.76	4.16	0.60
11	1	4.48	4.48	0.00	4.48	4.48	0.00	4.48	4.48	0.00
12	1	3.60	3.6	0.00	3.60	3.6	0.00	3.60	3.6	0.00
12	2	3.60	3.6	0.00	3.60	3.6	0.00	3.60	3.6	0.00
15	1	4.62	4.62	0.00	4.62	4.62	0.00	4.62	4.62	0.00
18	1	3.60	4.08	0.43	3.60	4.08	0.43	3.60	4.08	0.43
19	1	4.62	4.34	0.28	4.62	4.34	0.28	4.62	4.34	0.28
20	1	4.48	4.76	0.28	4.48	4.76	0.28	4.48	4.76	0.28
21	1	4.90	4.76	0.14	4.90	4.76	0.14	4.90	4.76	0.14
22	1	4.90	4.76	0.14	4.90	4.76	0.14	4.90	4.76	0.14

Table 40. Changes to magnification recorded by all three clinicians across participant visits

This was confirmed with an ANOVA which provided similar findings to those in the intra-observer testing, with an F score of 1.20 (p = .31) indicating a small but not statistically significant variation (see Table 41).

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	2.28	5	0.45	1.20	0.31	2.33
Within Groups	29.51	78	0.37			
Total	31.79	83				

 Table 41. ANOVA of magnification between the three clinicians over different visits for the same participant

Based on these findings the null hypothesis was rejected and the following hypothesis accepted.

A system for capturing colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers would be reliable if:

1. The variation of ulcer hue, orientation or magnification within photographic sets taken by three different clinicians across two visits for the same patient was not significantly different.

5.3. Phase 2: Establishing the hue for erythema and wet necrotic tissue

Data collected from a group of clinicians experienced at assessing venous leg ulcers was used to establish a colour range that represented erythema and wet necrotic tissue. The method had been used previously by researchers attempting to build a colour range for wound healing.^{397, 398}

Clinicians were selected using the criteria described in the Operational Definitions (see Section 4.3) for expertise and recommendations from the Australian Wound Management Association (see Chapter Four).

A total of ten clinicians were invited to participate. They were drawn from different disciplines (two were doctors and eight were nurses); different geographic locations (one from NSW, four from Victoria, two from WA, one from Tasmania, one from Qld and one from SA); and different clinical settings (two from acute care, six from community care and two from aged care). From the ten invited clinicians, eight agreed to participate providing the following distributions (see Table 42).

Variable	Distribution
Discipline	Doctors (2)
	Nurses (6)
Location	Victoria (4)
	WA (1)
	Qld (1)
	Tasmania (1)
	South Australia (1)
Clinical setting	Community care (6)
	Aged care (2)

Table 42. Distribution of variables for clinicians agreeing to participate

Each participant was supplied with a series of twenty venous leg ulcer photographs and asked to outline areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue as described in Chapter Four. Responses were received from six clinicians providing a response rate of 75 per cent. Follow up reminder letters were sent to those participants who had not responded but these failed to generate any additional responses. Table 43 details the distribution of the above variables for the responses received.

Variable	Distribution
Discipline	Doctors (1)
	Nurses (5)
Location	Victoria (4)
	Tasmania (1)
	South Australia (1)
Clinical setting	Community care (4)
	Aged care (2)

Table 43. Distribution of variables for clinicians responding

5.3.1. Colour range identified

Responses from the six clinicians provided a total of 120 photographs with areas of either erythema, wet necrotic tissue or both identified. As clinicians were provided with a printed copy of each photograph on which to highlight the different tissue types the images were re-digitised using a flat-bed scanner. The resulting digital images were used to quantify the hue range evident in the areas outlined by the clinicians (see Chapter Four).

From the 120 photographs provided, a total of 193 highlighted areas were identified: 51.8 per cent (n = 100) representing erythema and 48.1 per cent (n = 93) representing wet necrotic tissue. Each area was selected using the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program and the mean hue and standard deviation calculated. The results from each image were then aggregated across all images to provide a hue range for erythema and wet necrotic tissue.

Results from the image areas highlighted by clinicians as representing erythema provided a range of 360 degrees to 378 degrees with a mean hue

of 9.21 degrees (SD: 3.51 degrees). Colour saturation ranged from 34 per cent to 78 per cent with a mean saturation of 51.01 per cent (SD: 8.84 per cent). Figure 37 illustrates the colour range identified for erythema.

Figure 37. Hue and saturation range representing erythema

Results from the image areas highlighted by clinicians as representing wet necrotic tissue provided a range of 367 degrees to 390 degrees with a mean hue of 18.73 degrees (SD: 6.04 degrees). Colour saturation ranged from 33 per cent to 74 per cent with a mean saturation of 56.89 per cent (SD: 8.27 per cent). Figure 38 illustrates the colour range identified for wet necrotic tissue.

Figure 38. Hue and saturation range representing wet necrotic tissue

For the purposes of phase three it was decided to use the mean hue plus one standard deviation either side of the mean. This excluded hues that could be considered 'outliers', or were encountered in a smaller number of patients. The intent was to establish a range that would be exhibited by the majority of venous leg ulcers manifesting inflammation or wet necrotic tissue. For erythema that hue range became 5.7 degrees to 12.7 degrees with a colour saturation of 42.2 per cent to 59.8 per cent. For wet necrotic tissue the hue range became 12.7 degrees to 24.7 degrees with a colour saturation of 48.6 per cent to 64.2 per cent. The resulting colour range for each tissue type is illustrated in Figure 39.

Erythema range

Wet necrotic tissue

Figure 39. Colour range selected for phase three to represent each tissue type

The above range was used as the criteria for developing phase three; a computer system that selected areas within a digital image that represented either erythema or wet necrotic tissue.

5.4. Phase 3: Developing a system to highlight areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue

The intent of phase three was to develop a method that could use the colour range obtained from phase two as a criterion for selecting pixels within digital images. The aim was to develop a system that would highlight erythema and wet necrotic tissue in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer without input from a clinician.

Adobe Photoshop[®] version 5.5 was used to select pixels that had a hue value that fell within one standard deviation from the mean hue established for either erythema or wet necrotic tissue (see Chapter Four). A digital border was then placed around the pixels selected; highlighting areas within the photograph deemed to represent erythema or wet necrotic tissue (see Chapter Four). This process resulted in nineteen out of the twenty images

having areas of erythema highlighted and fifteen out of the twenty images having areas of wet necrotic tissue highlighted.

Once areas of each image had been highlighted as either erythema or wet necrotic tissue the validity of the areas selected were analysed using three methods. The first was a visual examination between the areas selected by the participants and those selected by the computer system. The second was to measure the surface area of each manifestation in all images (participant and computer highlighted) and compare any variations. The third asked participating clinicians to estimate how much they agreed with areas selected by the computer system as either erythema or wet necrotic tissue. The first and second methods examined internal validity whilst the third examined external validity (see Chapter Four).

The analysis was aimed at testing the following hypotheses:

A system to provide a valid selection of erythema or wet necrotic tissue in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer:

 The amount of difference between the areas selected by an expert panel and areas selected by the computer system would not be statistically different. 2. An expert panel would strongly agree with the areas selected by the computer system for each tissue type (erythema and wet necrotic).

5.4.1. Visual observations

Visual observations indicated some variation between areas selected by the computer using the colour range established and areas selected by the clinicians. The greatest variation was noted when comparing areas of erythema. The visual comparison also highlighted variations between areas selected by clinicians for each image. Figure 40 provides an example of the visual variations evident between clinicians, and between clinicians and the computer.



²⁹ Clinician 1



²⁹ Clinician 3



Clinician 5





Clinician 4





Computer selection Figure 40. Comparison of areas selected by clinicians and the computer system for image three

5.4.2. Difference in surface area

To quantify variations in the areas highlighted by the clinicians and the computer system, the surface areas of both manifestations (erythema and wet necrotic tissue) were measured. Variance between the surface areas selected were calculated for each image. An ANOVA was used to determine the statistical significance of the difference between clinicians and between clinicians and the computer system.

Areas selected as erythema had the largest variation with a mean variance of 70.90 (SD: 70.52). Image 14 (see Figure 41) had the highest level of variance between clinicians, and between clinicians and the computer system with some participants identifying 35 cm² to 36 cm² of erythema with others believing that erythema was not present (see Table 44).



Clinician 1



Clinician 3



Clinician 5





Clinician 4



Clinician 6



Computer selection Figure 41. Image with the highest variation of areas selected as erythema

Image	Computer System	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant	Variance
1	26.7	25.2	27.5	26.6	32	0	25	110.86
2	8.4	13.6	17.5	18.3	18.2	15.5	16.8	12.47
3	6.3	24.6	20.6	16.3	0	19.5	13.4	74.34
4	30.8	32	31.4	35.1	0	33.6	24.7	150.33
5	8.3	22.6	22	17.6	0	26.7	21.1	88.71
6	6.9	0	16.3	13.9	13.7	13.3	14.9	33.59
7	5.4	5	5	7	6.1	7.6	0	6.16
8	1.1	23.3	15.5	25.7	24.1	28.7	0	141.11
9	8.7	8.9	8.9	8.7	8.9	8.9	8.7	0.01
10	13.2	9.7	9.4	19.1	0	10.3	12.3	32.77
11	6.8	16.2	14.1	13.5	0	16.2	0	52.45
12	0	3.1	15.9	2.9	0	19	0	65.48
13	8	18.4	17.4	17.4	0	17.7	17.4	49.89
14	24.6	0	0	35	0	36.7	0	308.71
15	16.6	28	3.7	0.9	0	8.9	0	111.84
16	5.2	10.1	8.3	16.4	0	11.5	0	36.71
17	12.6	30.5	28.7	32.2	30.3	29.4	31.7	47.07
18	0.5	0	14.7	5.7	0	5.7	11.7	34.78
19	10.4	0	6	18.2	0	7.3	0	46.31
20	9.6	5.7	5.7	5.5	0	0	0	14.51

Table 44. Variance of surface area identified as erythema by clinicians and the computer system

Areas selected as wet necrotic tissue had much less variation than erythema between clinicians and between clinicians and the computer system. The mean overall variance was 1.76 (SD: 4.57) with surface areas ranging from zero to 12.7 cm² being selected (see Table 45). Image 18 recorded the highest level of variance with areas between zero and 12.7 cm² being selected (see Figure 42).

Imago	Computer	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant 5	Participant	Varianco
maye	System	1	2	3	4	5	0	
1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00
2	0.7	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.9	0.5	0.04
3	0.4	0.5	1.5	2	1.9	1.3	0.6	0.45
4	0.15	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.01
5	6.1	7	7.6	6.4	6.4	6.6	6.6	0.24
6	1.2	0	2	2	3.4	2.1	0.1	1.46
7	0.1	1.5	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0	0.28
8	0.2	1.2	3.8	1.6	4.2	4.2	1.8	2.62
9	0.7	0.9	1	1	1.1	1.1	1	0.02
10	0.1	0	0	0	0	0.1	0	0.00
11	0.8	1.5	1.9	0.8	0.4	0.8	0.1	0.38
12	3.6	7.1	7.4	7.3	0	8.2	0	12.90
13	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.01
14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.00
15	0	0	0.2	0	0	0.2	0	0.01
16	0	0.2	0.2	0.1	0	0.4	0.2	0.02
17	0	0.2	0.4	0.1	0	0.4	0.3	0.03
18	6.8	5.2	5.2	5.7	0	12.7	1.3	16.88
19	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.7	0.2	0.04
20	0.1	0.1	0.1	0	0	0.1	0	0.00

Table 45. Variance of areas selected as wet necrotic tissue



Clinician 1

Clinician 2



Clinician 3





Clinician 6

Clinician 4



Clinician 5



Computer selection Figure 42. Image with the highest variation of areas selected as wet necrotic tissue An analysis of the above variations indicated a statistical significance between the areas selected as erythema by individual participants and between the participants and the computer system. The significance between participants was down to p = 0.02 and between the participants and the computer system p = 0.01 (see Table 46).

ANOVA	Between participants					
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	1499.29	5	299.85	2.79	0.02	2.29
Within Groups	12223.94	114	107.22			
Total	13723.23	119				

ANOVA	Between participants and the computer system							
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit		
Between Groups	1598.309	6	266.38	2.61	0.019	2.16		
Within Groups	13562.75	133	101.97					
Total	15161.06	139						

 Table 46. Analysis of variance for areas selected as erythema

Variations between the areas selected as wet necrotic tissue by individual participants and between participants and the computer system were not statistically significant (see Table 47).

ANOVA	Between participants					
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	24.13	5	4.82	0.87	0.49	2.29
Within Groups	627.05	114	5.50			
Total	651.18	119				

ANOVA	Between participants and the computer system							
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit		
Between Groups	25.17	6	4.19	0.79	0.57	2.16		
Within Groups	703.46	133	5.28					
Total	728.64	139						

Table 47. Analysis of variance for areas selected as wet necrotic tissue

Based on the above findings the following hypothesis was **rejected** and the null hypothesis accepted for the manifestation of **erythema only**.

For a system to provide a valid selection of erythema in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer:

1. The amount of difference between the areas selected by an expert panel and the areas selected by the computer system would not be statistically different.

The findings for the manifestation of wet necrotic tissue demonstrated no statistically significant difference between the areas selected by the computer system and those selected by participating clinicians. Based on these findings the following hypothesis was accepted and the null hypothesis rejected.

For a system to provide a valid selection of wet necrotic tissue in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer:

 The amount of difference between the areas selected by an expert panel and the areas selected by the computer system would not be statistically different.

5.4.3. Level of agreement between participating clinicians and areas selected by the computer system

To further examine validity images with areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue highlighted by the computer system were returned to the participating clinicians to judge their level of agreement. Participants were asked to indicate their level of agreement on a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree' (see Chapter Four).

5.4.3.1. Erythema

Overall results for the areas highlighted as erythema by the computer system indicated that the mean VAS for all images was 5.63 out of a possible 10, with 10 indicating strong agreement and zero indicating strong disagreement (see Table 48).

Image	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant	mean	SD	variance
1	3.1	8.1	6.9	7.1	9.6	6.96	2.42	5.84
2	1.8	6.8	7.7	8.2	9.5	6.80	2.97	8.82
3	0.7	2.0	8.4	1.2	9.9	4.44	4.34	18.87
4	6.4	7.6	7.7	7.1	9.3	7.61	1.07	1.15
5	1.1	1.1	7.7	3.5	3.0	3.27	2.72	7.39
6	9.3	3.1	6.1	5.4	9.8	6.73	2.79	7.76
7	0.9	7.5	9.6	9.3	9.8	7.43	3.75	14.04
8	8.4	2.6	2.1	1.2	0.6	3.00	3.14	9.85
9	1.1	9.6	1.0	2.3	2.0	3.20	3.65	13.29
10	3.2	9.1	3.6	5.6	9.4	6.17	2.95	8.72
11	0.7	9.1	2.6	2.9	2.9	3.63	3.17	10.07
13	0.9	8.9	7.6	3.4	2.1	4.59	3.52	12.40
14	0.9	2.3	7.3	7.4	7.7	5.10	3.26	10.66
15	0.7	5.9	8.5	5.6	9.6	6.06	3.45	11.91
16	1.1	8.1	10.0	5.9	9.3	6.86	3.60	12.93
17	8.6	8.9	5.9	5.6	3.1	6.43	2.40	5.75
18	9.1	4.3	4.6	3.1	5.7	5.34	2.29	5.23
19	1.2	8.1	1.4	5.9	9.6	5.26	3.83	14.65
20	8.6	8.4	8.9	5.7	9.1	8.13	1.38	1.90

Table 48. VAS scores recorded when participating clinicians were judging areas of erythema

The image receiving the lowest level of agreement amongst participating clinicians differed from that identified in the above section (see "Difference in surface area"). Image 8 had the lowest level of agreement with a mean score of 3.0 (SD: 3.14) out of a possible 10 (see Figure 43). Image 20 had the highest level of agreement with a mean score of 8.13 (SD: 1.38) out of a possible 10 (see Figure 44).

When variance between the opinions of participating clinicians judging erythema were examined, it was Image 3 (see Figure 45) that had the highest level of variation indicating the most divided opinion. Image 20 (see Figure 46) had the lowest level of variation indicating a degree of consensus between the opinion of the participating clinicians and the areas selected by the computer system (see Table 48 above).



Figure 43. Image yielding the lowest level of agreement between participating clinicians and the computer system for erythema

Figure 44. Image yielding the highest level of agreement between participating clinicians and the computer system for erythema



Figure 45. Image with the most divided opinion between judging clinicians for erythema

Figure 46. Image with the highest level of consensus between judging clinicians and highest agreement score

An analysis of variance between the opinions of clinicians judging areas of erythema selected by the computer system indicated no statistically significant difference (see Table 49) indicating a significant level of agreement between clinicians assessing the images.

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	39.87	4	9.96	1.39	0.24	2.47
Within Groups	642.77	90	7.14			
Total	682.64	94				

Table 49. Variance between the opinions of participating clinicians judging areas of erythema selected by the computer system

5.4.3.2. Wet necrotic tissue

When scores for the areas selected by the computer system as wet necrotic tissue were examined a slightly higher level of agreement between participating clinicians and the computer system was evident. The mean VAS score for all images was 6.27 (SD: 2.40) out of a possible 10 (see Table 50).

Image	Participant	Participant 2	Participant 3	Participant 4	Participant 5	mean	SD	variance
2	7.1	9.3	0.0	2.3	9.6	5.67	4.32	18.66
3	8.2	6.4	6.4	8.4	9.6	7.81	1.38	1.91
4	8.6	8.3	10.0	8.1	9.8	8.94	0.89	0.79
5	9.3	9.8	10.0	8.1	8.9	9.23	0.74	0.54
6	8.9	9.3	6.4	7.1	9.0	8.16	1.28	1.65
7	9.3	4.1	8.7	9.1	9.7	8.19	2.33	5.42
8	5.9	2.4	5.0	2.5	0.7	3.31	2.11	4.47
9	2.1	0.5	1.8	2.8	1.3	1.70	0.87	0.75
10	0.5	2.7	0.8	3.6	9.6	3.46	3.70	13.68
11	8.9	0.9	7.3	3.7	0.6	4.27	3.76	14.11

12	1.6	4.6	8.2	3.2	0.4	3.61	3.04	9.22
13	8.8	2.5	9.8	6.9	9.1	7.41	2.94	8.66
18	8.7	4.4	4.1	6.4	9.6	6.67	2.47	6.12
19	8.9	2.9	8.7	9.1	9.6	7.84	2.81	7.89
20	8.3	9.1	7.9	4.9	9.4	7.90	1.81	3.28

Table 50. VAS scores recorded when participating clinicians were judging areas of wet necrotic tissue

Image 9 (see Figure 47) had the lowest level of agreement with a mean score of 1.7 (SD: 0.87) out of a possible 10. Image 5 (see Figure 48) had the highest level of agreement with a score of 9.23 (SD: 0.74) out of a possible 10 (see Table 50 above).

When variance between the opinions of participating clinicians judging wet necrotic tissue was examined, it was Image 2 (see Figure 49) that demonstrated the highest level of variation and hence the most diverse opinions. Image 5 (see Figure 50) demonstrated the highest level of consensus with a variance of 0.74 (see Table 50 above)





Figure 47. Image yielding the lowest level of agreement between participating clinicians for wet necrotic tissue

Figure 48. Image yielding the highest level of agreement between participating clinicians for wet necrotic tissue





Figure 49. Image yielding the most divided opinion between participating clinicians judging wet necrotic tissue selected by the computer system

Figure 50. Image yielding the highest level of consensus between participating clinicians for wet necrotic tissue

An analysis of variance between the opinions of clinicians judging areas of wet necrotic tissue selected by the computer system indicated no statistically significant difference (see Table 51) indicating a significant level of agreement between clinicians assessing the images.

ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	42.68	4	10.67	0.99	0.41	2.50
Within Groups	751.17	70	10.73			
Total	793.85	74				

Table 51. Variance between the opinions of participating clinicians judging areas of wet necrotic tissue selected by the computer system

With a mean VAS score of 52 per cent to 62 per cent of agreement between areas identified by the computer systems and participating clinicians it was decided that the overall consensus was not high enough to indicate 'strong agreement'. Although there was no statistically significant difference between the levels of agreement between clinicians, the high level of variation for individual images led the researcher to believe that the participating clinicians did not consistently see the areas highlighted by the computer system to be a valid representation of the two manifestations.

Based on these findings it was decided to **reject** the following hypothesis and accept the null hypothesis.

For a system to provide a valid selection of erythema or wet necrotic tissue in a digital image of a venous leg ulcer: 1. An expert panel would strongly agree with the areas selected by the computer system for each tissue type (erythema and wet necrotic).

Based on these findings it was deemed that the areas selected by the computer system as representing erythema were not valid representations. Whilst the analysis for wet necrotic tissue was more favourable, with the absence of significant difference in surface area selected by the computer system and the clinicians, and a higher level of clinician agreement with areas selected by the computer system, the criteria established for the above hypothesis (strongly agree) was not met and then areas highlighted by the computer system as wet necrotic tissue were deemed to be invalid.

5.5. Chapter summary

The aim of this project was to enable clinicians to easily and objectively measure the different colour manifestations exhibited in the bed of a venous leg ulcer and the surrounding skin. To that end a three phase method was developed to:

- Establish a reliable method for digitally recording the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer.
- 2. Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represent erythema and wet necrotic tissue.

3. Validate a computer system that identifies pixels in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer that fall within the above colour ranges and highlights the identified area with a border.

The findings suggest that the aim of the first phase was met with small variations between the hues recorded for individual images. This trend was evident for images within a photographic set recorded at each episode, within photographic sets recorded over two or more visits for the same patient, and across all images collected for the study.

Equally the aim for phase two was met with the establishment of a colour range that represented colours of erythema and wet necrotic tissue within a digital image of a venous leg ulcer. The range developed incorporated the variables of both hue and saturation providing a comprehensive colour representation of the areas outlined by participating clinicians.

The findings for phase three indicate that using the above colour range as a criterion for selecting pixels as a representation of either erythema or wet necrotic tissue has limited validity. This is particularly true for erythema with a significant difference in surface area being selected by the computer system and participating clinicians. This was reinforced with participating clinicians only in partial agreement with areas identified by the computer system as erythema. For wet necrotic tissue the above colour range would appear to have a slightly higher level of validity as evidenced by the absence of any significant difference in the surface area selected by the computer system

and participating clinicians. The trend was reinforced with a higher level of participating clinicians agreeing with the areas selected by the computer system.

The findings indicate that the system developed for photographing venous leg ulcers (Ulcer-cam 2) can reliably record the hue, orientation and magnification of the wound. Further, the findings suggest that a group of experienced clinicians are prepared to identify areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue from a printed photograph and that the areas outlined can be converted to a range of colour indicative of each manifestation. The findings do not support the notion that the above colour range can be used as an algorithm for an image analysis system to select areas within a digital photograph to represent each tissue type.

The significance of the above findings will be addressed in the following chapter. Comparisons will be drawn between samples from other studies and the representative nature of the patient cohort recruited for this project. Possible rationales for the reliability of Ulcer-cam 2 will be explored along with the potentials of a system that captures colours of a venous leg ulcer in a reliable fashion. Equally, explanations for the limited validity of the colour range identified from experts to identify areas within a digital image that represent erythema and wet necrotic tissue will be discussed.

6. Chapter Six: Discussion and conclusion

The need to develop consistent approaches to the assessment of long-term or chronic wounds has never been higher. Institutional and personal financial costs associated with the management of this wound type are expensive, as is the impact of reduced productivity and quality of life on the sufferer and the society in which he or she lives.^{8, 75, 208, 247, 253, 318, 326, 327, 425} As populations throughout the world age, and the associated cost of health care continues to escalate, the burden created by patients suffering from chronic wounds is projected to increase.^{27, 55, 75, 107, 156, 165, 166, 168-170, 427}

In previous chapters it has been demonstrated that venous leg ulceration arising from CVI is a major contributor to the population of patients suffering from chronic wounds. Whilst the reported population prevalence of venous leg ulceration is 0.06 per cent to 1.97 per cent, the percentage of chronic wounds resulting from this wound type are often high. A recent study conducted in Germany by Coerper et al.⁴²⁸ found that out of 7051 lower leg ulcers surveyed, 1349 (20 per cent) were attributable to CVI. With annual cost estimates ranging from US\$775 million to US\$1 billion in the United states, and from £294 million to £949 million in the United Kingdom, health providers are keen to explore more efficient treatment options for this patient cohort.^{166, 168, 169}

Research aimed at identifying factors that contribute to the chronic nature of venous leg ulceration has identified a number of contributing variables.

These have included: an underlying ongoing inflammatory process; mechanical changes to the veins resulting in leukocyte entrapment; a higher predisposition in female patients; and lifestyle practices that lead to reduced mobility and / or obesity.^{4, 160, 290, 429} It has been postulated by the author and others that there is a need to develop a reliable suite of assessment techniques that collect data concerning the above variables and, more importantly, alert the clinician to the presence of developing chronicity early in the healing cycle.^{208, 232, 234, 255, 258, 262, 267, 278, 290, 317, 327, 329, 330, 400, 430-432}

This thesis has attempted to contribute to the above endeavour by developing and testing the reliability and validity of a method for recording and using digital colour photographs to identify two principle manifestations of inflammation; erythema and wet necrotic tissue. The following chapter discusses the findings of this project in an effort to determine the degree to which this aim was met.

In order to provide a foundation for the ensuing discussion the chapter beings with a description of the study limitations including sampling techniques, sample size and data collection methods. A comparison between samples from other studies and the representative nature of the patient cohort recruited for this project are then examined. The reliability of a developed system (Ulcer-cam 2) is explored, along with the potentials such a system offers wound care clinicians. The validity of the colour range identified from experts to identify areas within a digital image that represent erythema and wet necrotic tissue is discussed and possible explanations for the findings

presented. A summary of conclusions derived from the findings are stated and the chapter concludes with an exploration of further research options arising from the findings.

6.1. Study limitations

Whilst every effort has been made to reduce the number of limitations when conducting this study, as with any study a number of limitations still need to be considered when discussing the findings. These include: the sampling technique used to select the patient and clinician cohorts; the recruitment strategies used for both groups; the techniques used to digitise the images; and the level of controls implemented for data collection.

6.1.1. Potential bias

The use of a convenience sampling technique limits the application of the findings of this study to the general population of patients with venous leg ulceration. Using a convenience sample of patients to test the reliability of the Ulcer-cam 2 system may have introduced biases into the sample.^{332, 423} An example is the country of origin bias evident in the findings. A high percentage 69.5 per cent (n = 16) of patients recruited for the study were born in Australia. The hue range identified may therefore have a race bias. Colours displayed in the skin of Caucasian Australians may differ from that of non-Australian Caucasians, limiting the application of the findings to the latter cohort. The exclusion of patients with dark skin from the study introduces a

similar bias. Colour ranges of brown through black pigmented skin may have introduced a number of different hues that altered the hues found. Once again the application of the findings to this cohort is therefore limited.

Selecting a convenience sample of patients from the same clinical venue also reduces the ability to generalise the findings to the population of patients suffering from venous leg ulcers. The degree of inflammation and wet necrotic tissue exhibited by the patient cohort may different from other patient cohorts in different geographic catchment areas. For example, patients in more humid climates may demonstrate a great range of erythema or different hues of wet necrotic tissue related to higher moisture content in the air. Any conclusion drawn about the colour ranges established from the findings of this study to represent the above manifestations will need to be tempered by the limitations imposed by the geographic bias of the patient sample used.

The selection process used to choose the panel of experienced clinicians may have also introduced bias into the findings. Whilst measuring expertise is often subjective, relying on a professional organisation of peers to nominate potential participants may have prevented clinicians unknown to the organisation being nominated. For example, the absence of an allied health professional being nominated could be more a reflection of the organisational membership distribution, rather than a true representation of personnel with venous ulcer management expertise within Australia.

6.1.2. Technological limits

The findings are further limited by the technology used to digitise the image. The digital camera used to record images for the first phase of the study has inbuilt parameters specific to the manufacturer. Whilst the use of an in-shot reference was used to control for different lighting conditions, any attempts to replicate the findings using the Ulcer-cam2 system with other cameras would require additional reliability testing. Specific inbuilt manufacturer parameters in different cameras may influence the hues and saturations captured in ways that may not be completely compensated.

Equally, the techniques used to convert digital images to printed copies and return the printed copies to a digital image, are limited by parameters specific to the manufacturer of the technology used. For example, the flat bed scanner and printer used to print the images from which the colour range for wet necrotic tissue and erythema were derived are affected by the algorithms used by Epson Pty Ltd. The use of in-mage colour standards and subsequent computer correction attempts to minimize differences between different technologies, but it will seldom be com, pletely successful. Therefore the application of the findings from this study is limited to the technology used to capture and reproduce the digital images.

6.1.3. Sample size

The size of both the patient and clinician cohort are small. Whilst the patient sample number was determined using longitudinal data derived from the recruiting clinic, the number is still small (n = 23) and therefore limit the

application of the findings to the larger population of patients suffering from venous leg ulceration. Larger sample populations reduce the potential of bias being introduced and enhance the ability of the findings to be generalised to the broader population of patients with venous leg ulcers.^{332, 423}

Two samples of clinicians were recruited for the study. The clinicians collecting the digital images to test the reliability of Ulcer-cam 2 and the panel of experienced clinicians. The first sample was a convenience sample drawn from nurses working in the clinic from which the patients were recruited and only number three. The small sample may have reduced the amount of variation between clinicians. For example, the nurses who collected the digital images were closely involved with the project and therefore their understanding of the techniques used may have been more acute than for nurses from other clinical sites. The small sample size and the single site of recruitment limit the application of the findings to other clinician cohorts.

The size of the experienced clinician panel was also small. It is hard to be any more certain about the representative nature of the sample because of the absence of established registers for clinicians with venous leg ulcer assessment experience. However, a sample size of eight would appear to be small in comparison to a membership number of 4000 for the organisation asked to nominate clinicians with this type of expertise. Any attempts to claim that the colour range identified by the clinician sample in this study was representative of the greater population of clinicians assessing venous leg

ulcers would need to be tempered by concerns that the sample size was insufficient to be representative.

6.2. Discussion of the findings

The findings of this study are discussed with reference to the stated objectives:

- To develop a reliable method for digitally recording the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer that:
 - a. could be used in various lighting conditions
 - b. ensures a consistent view of the leg over several episodes of care
 - c. controls for focal length / magnification
 - d. can be easily used in the clinical environment by clinicians.
- 2. Test the reliability of the above image capture system
- Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents erythema.
- 4. Establish a range of colour that experienced clinicians believe represents wet necrotic tissue, or slough.
- 5. Develop a system that uses image analysis software to identify pixels in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer, that fall within the above colour ranges.
- 6. Use the above image analysis to place an observable border around groups of pixels that meet the colour range criteria in an effort to highlight areas of erythema or wet necrotic tissue evident within the photograph.
- 7. Test the validity of the above tissue identification system.
6.2.1. The reliability of the method to digitally record the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer

Given the limitations imposed by the small patient sample size it was felt prudent to begin the discussion by examining the degree to which the patient sample compares to the larger population of patients suffering from venous leg ulceration. This is followed by an examination of the ability of Ulcer-cam 2 and the image capture system developed to reliably record the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer.

6.2.1.1. Representative nature of the patient sample

Whilst a representative sample was not required to meet the aim of this descriptive study, a review of the patient sample against previous studies is presented to examine the degree to which the sample represents the wider population of patients suffering from venous leg ulceration. It is done to determine the level of confidence with which the findings could be extrapolated to the wider population.

The majority of studies examining the prevalence of CVI and the resulting manifestations report a higher prevalence in the older age cohorts.^{2, 5, 12, 20, 22, 43, 46, 50, 56, 68, 69} Nelzen et al.,⁵⁴ when determining the prevalence of venous leg ulcers in Skaraborg, reported a prevalence of 1.5 per cent for subjects aged 60 years to 79 years and 3.2 per cent for subjects aged 80 years to 89 years. Findings from this study are consistent with this trend with an age

range of 50 years to 89 years, and a mean age of 69.7 years (SD 10.06 years). The age distribution of the patient sample demonstrates a similar finding with the majority of the patients being older than 69.5 years and 50 per cent of the sample being 79.25 years or greater.

When considering the gender distribution of patients suffering from venous leg ulceration the majority of studies report a higher prevalence amongst females.^{5, 6, 20, 27, 36, 40, 43, 72} Whilst some studies have demonstrated equivalence between the sexes,^{24, 150} and others would argue that this is artificially high due to the propensity of women to seek medical help earlier,^{3, 20} the trend is consistent. The gender difference is said to equalise as the age of the patient increases.³ Although the limitation of sample size precludes any definitive conclusions, findings from this study support the female bias reported above with a slightly higher number of females (54 per cent, n = 12) than males (45 per cent, n = 10).

Previous studies have indicated a higher prevalence of venous ulceration in people residing in industrialised or developed countries.^{27, 40} It is argued that the lifestyle promulgated by these societies contributes to reduced exercise, obesity and resulting venous hypertension. Studies examining the prevalence of CVI and associated manifestations amongst people who have moved from developing countries to developed countries support this assertion.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷ Although limited by the sample size, a small number of participants in this study (18 per cent, n = 4) reported a country of origin that could be considered as 'developing' and therefore expected to have a lower prevalence of venous ulceration. The fact that they were currently suffering

from a venous ulcer may support the above assertion that an association exists between prevalence of the condition and country of residence rather than country of origin. However, the small number limits the confidence with which the conclusion is drawn.

Body Mass Index (BMI) has been associated with chronic venous disease and resulting ulceration in a number of previous studies.^{1, 4, 14, 21, 29, 36, 58, 59, 83, ^{106, 144, 201, 290} Danielsson et al.⁵⁸ concluded that overweight patients (BMI > 25 kg / m²) were more likely to have skin changes and ulceration than patients with a BMI of less than 25 kg / m². The findings from this study supports this trend with participants recording a BMI ranging from 23.42 kg / m² to 35.10 kg / m² with a mean of 28.72 kg / m² (SD 3.48 kg / m²). In fact the majority of patients (86 per cent) had a BMI of greater than the 25 kg /m² established by Danielsson et al.⁵⁸ as the threshold for developing venous ulceration.}

A number of associated underlying diseases have also been associated with venous ulceration, principally deep vein thrombosis (DVT), rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes.^{3, 75, 63} Scott et al.⁶³ found that 45per cent of patients with CVI had a history of DVT compared to 4 per cent in a control group. Although the occurrence of each of these co-morbidities was evident in the findings of this study a large percentage of participants (40.9 per cent, n = 9) reported an absence of any of the above. Only 22.7 per cent (n = 5) reported suffering from rheumatoid arthritis, 18 per cent (n = 4) reported a history of DVT and 13.6 per cent (n = 3) reported that they suffered from diabetes.

These findings are contrary to the above studies and may indicate that other factors such as obesity are a better predictor of venous ulceration for patients within Australia. Alternatively, the small sample size of this study may have been insufficient to manifest trends previous identified in larger population based studies.

A number of authors have argued that prevalence of co-morbidities such as diabetes in patients suffering from leg ulceration results in a 'mixed' underlying aetiology; a combination of both arterial and venous disease.^{4, 8, 9, 11, 15-17, 34, 52, 54, 76, 80, 84, 85, 92, 93, 97, 106, 109, 113, 123, 175, 179, 207, 225, 253, 260, 291, 299, 408, ⁴³³⁻⁴³⁶ This assertion was not supported by the findings of this study. The ankle brachial index (ABPI) recorded for patients recruited into this study ranged from 0.9 mmHg to 1.4 mmHg with a mean of 1.08 mmHg indicating that the majority, if not all participants, had limited arterial insufficiency. Although these findings do not exclude arterial disease they do indicate that advanced venous disease was the most likely underlying aetiology. As diabetes is the underlying aetiology most often associated with arterial insufficiency, the small number of participants reporting a history of diabetes in this study (13.6 per cent, n = 3) may account for this trend. Equally, the small sample size may have excluded patients of mixed aetiology resulting in the higher ABPI recordings.}

Predictable trends regarding the location, amount of surface area, and duration that the patient has suffered with an ulcer have been reported in previous research.^{259, 261, 262, 264, 269, 273, 290, 325, 327, 431, 436-438} The results from

this study support previously identified trends. For example, venous leg ulceration has been found to be principally located in the gaiter region (the medial and lateral aspects of the distal leg).^{2, 8, 242} Moffatt et al.,⁹ when examining 113 patients recruited from a defined geographic area of inner London, found that the majority of ulcers were located on the medial malleolus, of the inner aspect of the gaiter region. Similarly, all ulcers in this study were located in the gaiter region with the majority being located on the medial aspects of the leg. This area is where the venous vasculature is the most superficial and therefore prone to minor trauma which acts as a precursor to ulceration in patients suffering from CVI. This is the most probable explanation for the frequency for this area in the findings of this study.

Surface area dimensions identified in previous studies report a mean surface area of 6 cm² with 18 per cent to 48 per cent greater than 10 cm². ⁹⁰ The mean surface area for ulcers recorded in this study was 6.88 cm² with 22 per cent (n = 5) greater than 10 cm² demonstrating a similar trend to previous studies. When ulcer duration is examined similar parallels are evident. A review of leg ulcer studies by Persoon et al.⁹⁰ identified that the duration of ulceration ranged from one week to 63 years with 40 per cent of ulcers existing for more than one year and 10 per cent more than five years. Whilst the range of ulcer durations for participants in this study was not as large as that identified by Persoon et al.,⁹⁰ the identified range of one month to 31.6 years is indicative of the very long durations reported by patients suffering from venous leg ulceration. This is confirmed in this study with 22.7 per cent

(n = 5) of participants having suffered with the current venous leg ulcer for greater than five years; similar to the findings of Persoon et al.⁹⁰

The ulcer treatments used for the patients in this study reflect contemporary options cited in clinical guidelines literature. Topical zinc on venous leg ulcers has been found to enhance re-epithelialisation, decrease inflammation and reduce bacterial growth in both patients with a zinc deficiency and those without.⁴³⁹ The use of zinc bandages as the primary dressing is also in keeping with recommendations made by a multidisciplinary panel examining the treatment of venous leg ulcers based on a comprehensive literature review in 2006.¹⁹² This review recommended that dressings should be selected that maintain a continual moist wound healing environment. Zinc impregnated bandages meet this recommendation by providing a moist interface that does not dry out over time. It would therefore be logical to expect that the majority of patients with venous leg ulceration be treated with topical zinc. The findings from this study support this assertion.

Equally, the use of multi layer compression bandaging to treat all patients recruited to this study is in keeping with clinical guidelines for venous leg ulcer management. A review undertaken for the Cochrane Collaboration,⁴⁴⁰ examining research on compression for venous leg ulcers, concluded that venous leg ulcer healing was increased when compression is applied. The use of high compression systems comprised of three to four layers was found to provide better compression than low compression or single layer systems. The fact that all patients recruited for this study were treated with short

stretch multi layer compression bandaging is in keeping with these guidelines.

Whilst the above findings suggest similarities between the patients recruited for this study and other studies, the results obtained by correlating the participant's age with ulcer severity failed to support this assertion. Previous studies have demonstrated a linear association between the patient's age and the duration and / or size of their venous leg ulcer.^{9, 11, 13, 15, 16, 34, 51, 73, 75,} ^{82, 86, 118, 124, 131, 151, 161, 318, 425, 426} For example, Moffatt et al.^{9, 104, 161} found that as the patient's chronological age increased the duration that they suffered from a given ulcer and the surface area of that ulcer also increased. Findings from this study did not support this association. No significant correlation was demonstrated between the participant's age and the duration of their ulcer or the surface area of the ulcer. The most likely explanation is that the size of the sample was insufficient to demonstrate this association. Equally, it may suggest that for patient populations within the region sampled (Melbourne Australia) such associations are not evident. Difference between the Australian context and that of the regions within Europe, where the majority of previous population studies have been conducted, may be contributing to a decreased association between age and ulcer severity. Additional research would be required to explore the difference in findings in order to support the above assertion.

Overall, the patients recruited to this study provided some similarities to patients recruited to previous studies. The age distribution, associated BMI,

underlying venous disease, and ulcer characteristics such as location, duration and surface area are in keeping with findings from previous studies. Equally, the presence of underlying autoimmune disease, DVT and diabetes in the patients recruited for this study is consistent with previously identified co-morbidities of venous leg ulceration. The treatments being used to treat the participant's ulcer, principally topical zinc and multi layer low stretch compression, is consistent with recommended clinical guidelines. The absence of correlations between the patient's age and the duration and surface area of their ulceration could be attributed to the predominance of Australian born participants which differs from other studies, but is most likely a result of the smaller sample size and the resulting absence of adequate representation.

6.2.1.2. Reliability of Ulcer-cam 2 and the associated capture method to record a consistent digital image of a venous leg ulcer

For the purposes of this study the reliability of the system examined three aspects; the hues, the magnification and the orientation. It was felt that for the system to be reliable each aspect should be recorded in a consistent manner within a single episode of care with a single clinician and across episodes of care with different clinicians. It was further expected that the system could be easily used in the clinical setting with minimal need for specialised equipment.

The development of reliable systems for capturing the colour of skin changes is not unique to this project. As early as the 1980s systems designed to measure an erythemal index following radiation treatments was available.^{335, 393, 441} Equally, reliable systems for capturing the colour displayed by skin lesions, principally melanomas, have been available since that time.³⁸²⁻³⁹⁴ However, as researchers have sought to transfer these developments to the capture of visual manifestations of wounds they have been plagued with a number of confounding variables.

As described in Chapter Three, these variables included: differing capture devices (cameras); different light sources; unwanted reflections; and colours displayed by different types of wounds at different times in the healing cycle. To help control for such variables researchers have implemented a number of interventions or controls. These have included increasing the sophistication of the camera used,³⁹⁶⁻³⁹⁸ using mechanisms for fixing the distance between the camera and the wound;^{268, 270, 380, 395, 400} the use of inshot references to control for different lighting conditions,^{396, 398, 401} and using camera angles that reduce unwanted reflections.^{397, 399, 402} Findings generated by using the Ulcer-cam 2 frame, digital camera and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program reinforce the use of the above techniques and provide an alternative method for reliably recording wound images.

Using a digital camera and an in-shot reference as part of the system developed for the study enabled a consistent representation of the hues

displayed by the venous leg ulcers photographed to be recorded. The hue consistency achieved was demonstrated within an episode and across episodes, and across different clinicians using the system. For example, hues recorded in each set of digital images captured during an episode of care achieved a difference that was not statistically significant (F (2,147) = 0.01, p = 0.98). Equally, the variation between hues captured by different clinicians during the same episode of care was not statistically different (F (8,441) = 0.006, p = 1). The ability of the system to capture venous leg ulcer hues in a reliable fashion across different images and across different clinicians supports the notion that standardising the capture device (camera) and including an in-shot reference provides suitable controls for recording the colour of a wound when using digital technology.

Incorporating the Ulcer-cam 2 frame into the capture system enabled the distance between the camera and the wound surface to be fixed, as recommended by previous studies.^{397, 399, 402} Just as previous researchers have been able to provide a consistent magnification when photographing other wound types, this project was able to capture images of venous leg ulcers that did not significantly vary in magnification. In fact any variations were too small to measure using the tools implemented in this project.

Similar outcomes were found with regards to the orientation of the wound within the photograph. Orientation within an episode of care did not differ significantly between images or between clinicians. Whilst the variation of orientation was higher when examined across different episodes of care it

was still not statistically significant (F (1,26) = 2.01, p = 0.16). Both findings are similar to those achieved by other methods described in the literature.^{397,} ^{399, 402} For example, Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ were able to demonstrate similar magnification and orientation outcomes when recording wound images using their MAVIS[®] system

Using the Ulcer-cam 2 frame also enabled sufficient lighting to be achieved using the existing flash unit provided on the camera without creating unwanted reflections. The frame enabled the camera to be stationed at 30 degrees to the wound plane as recommended by Arqvist, Hellgren and Vincent⁴⁰² to prevent unwanted reflections from wound exudate or shiny skin resulting from tension associated with oedema. An example can be seen in Figure 51 where an obviously oedematous leg was photographed. The image is evenly illuminated and the unwanted reflections from tight skin over the oedematous areas seen in previous studies are not evident in this photograph.



Image taken by clinician 1

Image taken by clinician 2



Image taken by clinician 3

Figure 51. Example of the Ulcer-cam 2 frame providing sufficient illumination while controlling for unwanted reflection resulting from oedematous skin

Whilst the reliability of the system developed for this study to record hue, magnification and orientation is similar to that achieved by other studies the method developed would appear to be easier to implement in the clinical setting. Common to the studies cited above^{397, 399, 402} is the need for sophisticated equipment to capture and analyse the image. Whilst the Ulcercam 2 frame and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program is needed to replicate the reliability provided by the system used in this study, the degree of sophistication is less than that used in previous studies.

For example, in order for Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ to achieve a consistent magnification they fitted a pair of high energy light emitting diodes to project light in front of the camera. To standardise for distance between the camera and wound the user was required to move the camera towards the wound until the two lights converged. The Ulcer-cam 2 frame achieved the same magnification consistencies without the need for specialised equipment such high energy light emitting diodes. In addition, the frame provided the added benefit of a consistent orientation of the leg and ulcer as well as a consistent magnification.

Equally, the Ulcer-cam 2 frame enabled even illumination of both the ulcer and leg using the standard in-built flash available on most digital cameras. The results were obtained without the need for a ring flash as suggested by Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ or polarising filters as recommended by Mekkes and Westerhof.³⁹⁷

The level of sophistication used in the Ulcer-cam 2 and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program is less than that of other studies. For example, MAVIS[®] (Measurement of Area and Volume Instrument), developed by Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ required a dedicated room with sophisticated equipment costing several thousand English pounds. Likewise the system used by Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ used a sophisticated video capture device and a computer equipped with frame grabbing technology. Such systems are often beyond the capacity of many health care providers.

The continued development of digital technologies has given rise to a number of new portable innovations in the area of wound image capture. Since the data was collected for this study a number of new products have become available. For example, Silhouette (see Figure 54) is system that uses an infrared scanning device attached to a portable digital assistant (Palm Pilot[®]) to generate a three dimensional image of a wound. Whilst reliability testing is still to be completed on this system the degree of sophistication is clearly evident. Predicted item costs of approximately A\$6000 plus additional costs for the required software and computing system, will probably mean that such a system is again not readily available to clinicians.



Figure 52. Silhouette wound image system (Retrieved from <u>http://gadgets.boingboing.net/2007/09/04/silhouette-mobile-po.html on 28/05/2008</u>)

Whilst similar criticism could be levelled at the Ulcer-cam 2 and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program used for this project the level of required sophisticated equipment is less. The Ulcer-cam 2 frame could be produced with limited tooling or be commercially developed for a modest cost in comparison with the above systems. Equally the computer technology required to operate the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program is minimal as it could be run on most desktop or laptop computers. Therefore it could be argued that the system developed for this project would achieve a higher degree of penetration into clinical settings because of low set-up costs and level of equipment sophistication.

The above assertion is further supported by the reliability of the system to achieve consistent results between different clinicians. Although limited by the small number of clinicians (n = 3) recruited, the findings demonstrated that the variations of hues (F (8,441) = 0.006, p = 1.95), orientation and magnification (F (2,39) = 0.04, p = 0.95) of the image recorded between clinicians was not significantly different. The limited variation suggests that the level of sophistication used in this system is consistently and easily

managed by clinicians when capturing a venous leg ulcer photograph. Further research is needed to determine if this trend continues with larger populations of clinicians.

Equally, studies examining clinician's opinions regarding the 'ease of use' when implementing the Ulcer-cam 2 and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program system is required to support the above assertion. Clinician perception of the utility of the Ulcer-cam 2 and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program were not examined as part of the project. With hindsight this may have provided further insights into the application of the system in the clinical setting.

Overall, the findings suggest that objectives one and two were met by the system developed for this study. Despite a lower level of sophistication than methods used by other researchers, the system has demonstrated a reliable alternative for capturing the hue, magnification and orientation of venous leg ulcer photographs. The reliability was demonstrated during an episode of care and across episodes of care. It was also evident across different clinicians using the system. The lower level of sophisticated equipment needed for the Ulcer-cam 2 and the Adelaide Skin Colour Measurement Program may ensure that the system becomes more readily available in the clinical setting than other systems. Further research is needed to support this assumption.

6.2.2. Colour range identified by clinicians to represent erythema and wet necrotic tissue

The intent of this phase was to go further than previous studies by providing a finer measurement of the hues that experienced clinicians believed represented two visual manifestations common to inflammation; erythema and wet necrotic tissue. Until this study was undertaken the colour used to describe each manifestation was generally limited to two major categories of the colour spectrum, principally red and yellow.^{298, 301, 306, 307, 309, 310, 325, 410} Where attempts have been made to measure more subtle hues the studies have used varied wound types principally created in animals such as pigs or rabbits.^{257, 299, 329, 403, 404, 442}

The findings from this study provide insights into these previously unexplored areas. The data are derived from the human assessment of venous leg ulceration of human subjects, all of which have not previously been explored. The colour range identified provides new insights into the subtle hues being used by experienced clinicians when assessing this wound type, again not previously available. In addition, the variation of responses from the participating clinicians questions the often promoted 'subjective' nature of clinical assessment and raises questions about the nature of using an expert opinion to arrive at representative colour ranges.

6.2.2.1. The colours identified

Examination of the hues identified by the panel of experienced clinicians for erythema reveals hues that could be typically linked to the descriptions of this manifestation in the literature. Erythema is indicative of infection or inflammation and is often described as a deep red colour.^{96, 255, 258, 300-309} The depth of a colour is determined by the saturation of the colour at a given hue and brightness level.⁴⁴³ The saturation range identified for erythema was 34 per cent to 78 per cent (see Figure 55). This range provides for varied representations of erythema from the lighter red associated with beginning inflammation or the outer area of inflammation, to the intense reds associated with advanced inflammation.

Figure 53. The range identified by experienced clinicians to represent erythema

Although parallels were evident between the colour range identified as erythema and written descriptions of the manifestation, it was felt that further comparisons were required to determine the accuracy of the range identified.

Erythema is most frequently quantified by researchers examining the effects of ultraviolet radiation on the skin or testing topical products for allergic inflammatory responses. The majority of such studies measure light reflected from the skin using a reflectance spectrophotometer or reflectance colorimeter.⁴⁴⁴⁻⁴⁵⁴ This technology emits light (either Red-Green for the

former or white for the latter) and then measures the amount of light that is reflected by the skin. The amount of reflected light is then measured and converted to an 'erythema index'. The erythema index is based on the assumption that erythema is due to vasodilatation which in turn increases the amount of erythrocytes and haemoglobin in an area. Haemoglobin absorbs green light and reflects red light. By subtracting the amount of reflected green light from the amount of reflected red light the index can be calculated.⁴⁵⁵

In an effort to compare the colour range identified as erythema from the findings of this study with other studies, an erythema index was first calculated. This was achieved by converting the HIS findings recorded in this study to RGB using Adobe Photoshop[®] and then subtracting the red values from the green values. This method has been used in the past as a cost-effective method of calculating an erythema score.⁴⁵⁵

Using the minimum and maximum values an erythema index (EI = green-red) of -86 to -138 was calculated. This is lower than the findings of other researchers. Sertao and Sparavigna⁴⁵⁵ used the above method to calculate an erythema index for 348 Caucasian patients distributed across Italy. The level of visible erythema was first classified into four grades: 0 = absent; 1= slight; 2 = moderate; 3 = intense; and then the erythema index for each calculated. They found that the erythema index for each level was: level 0 = 41 (\pm 10); level 1 = 51 (\pm 16); level 2 = 54 (\pm 23); and level 3 = 49 (\pm 18). Each level is higher than that established for this project. Even the lowest

erythema index of 31 is higher than the minimum erythema index of -86 identified as erythema by the panel of experienced clinicians.

A similar trend is evident when the erythema index established for this study is compared with results from induced erythema studies. Werner et al.⁴⁵⁶ examined the erythema indexes of volunteers who were given first degree burns to their calves. They found an average erythema index of 19 (\pm 2) which is still higher than the index calculated from the findings of this study.

When the findings are compared to studies that have used colour parameters to measure erythema in preference to an erythema index, a similar outcome is evident. Shai et al.³⁹⁸ found that 'clean' wounds displayed a cyan of 20, magenta of 94, yellow of 87, and black of 12. It could be expected that erythema would display similar hues to that of a clean wound. When the mean hue and saturation of the range identified for erythema is converted to a CMYK colour range it yields a C = 0, M = 55, Y = 46 and K = 0. This constitutes a less saturated red than the findings from the Shai et al.³⁹⁸ study (see Figure 56).

Clean wound colour range from the Shai et al.³⁹⁸ study

Mean hue range from this study converted to CMYK colour for erythema

Figure 54. Comparison of red colours found by this study with that found by Shai et al.³⁹⁸

Similar findings are evident for the colour range identified for wet necrotic tissue; principally a less than expected saturation. The literature describes a yellow colour as representative of wet necrotic tissue, or slough. Examination of the visual range identified (see Figure 57) reflects more of a red / brown hue than a traditional yellow. When compared with educational material prepared to assist the decision making of clinicians the colour is quite different (see Figure 57).

Example of a wound diagram



Figure 55. Visual comparison between the range identified as wet necrotic tissue and the colour used to depict this tissue in an example of educational material (Retrieved from http://www.lhsc.on.ca/wound/assessment.htm)

Once again when the mean range is compared to colours identified by other studies a reduced saturation is found. Shai et al.³⁹⁸ found that 'unclean wounds' displayed a cyan of 0, magenta of 0, yellow of 70, and black of 5. If we assume that an unclean wound will display large amounts of wet necrotic tissue then the colour range should be similar to the range identified for this study. When the mean hue and saturation of the range identified for wet

necrotic tissue is converted to a CMYK colour range it yields a C = 0, M = 50, Y = 58 and K = 0. This is again different from the figures found by Shai et al.³⁹⁸ and produces a similar but less saturated colour (see Figure 58).

Unclean wound colour range from the Shai et al.³⁹⁸ study

Mean hue range from this study converted to CMYK colour

Figure 56. Comparison of yellow colours found by this study with that found by Shai et al.³⁹⁸

A number of explanations could account for the lower than expected saturations for both erythema and wet necrotic tissue. The underlying pathophysiology of venous ulceration, the technique used to quantify the colours highlighted by the panel or the colour space used could all provide alternative explanations.

As mentioned previously research studies quantifying wound colours have not focused on venous leg ulceration. The underlying physiology of chronic venous disease, specifically the accompanying hyper pigmentation and skin degradation,^{84, 89, 100, 110, 178, 242-245, 288-290} may contribute to the lower colour saturations. The darker pigmentation of the peri-malleolar skin resulting from hemosiderine, or iron deposits left in situ when erythrocytes break down in the subcutaneous tissues⁸⁶ may darken the colours exhibited, particularly erythema of the surrounding skin. The often dehydrated nature of the skin surrounding a venous leg ulcer may also decrease the amount of erythrocytes reaching the superficial layers. When accompanied with the underlying venous hypertension the reduced amount of erythrocytes and haemoglobin reaching the superficial tissues surrounding the ulcer would reduce the colour saturation of the hue resulting from the inflamed response.

The less saturated hues for wet necrotic tissue may be associated with the amount of accompanying exudate. The chronic nature of venous ulceration often results in long-term areas of wet necrotic tissue, leg oedema and high volumes of exudate.^{41, 308, 316, 317} The ulcer beds are usually 'wet' with the surrounding skin dry and scaly. The high volumes of exudate would ensure that the wet necrotic tissue is hydrated. Hydrated wet necrotic tissue would appear to have lower colour saturation than dry tissue as the exudate would reflect light. Other wounds containing necrotic tissue such as pressure injuries, arterial ulceration, or the infected or non-clean wounds described by Shai et al.³⁹⁸ may not have the accompanying level of exudate and therefore the saturation of the tissue may appear greater.

The varied colour production algorithms used to collect data for this project may have also resulted in less than expected colour saturation for erythema and wet necrotic tissue. As digital imagery has become 'mainstream' a number of algorithms have been developed to analyse these images. Whilst the Red-Green-Blue (RGB) colour space has been used as the foundation for such algorithms the findings to date have not been reliable. Van der Valk and Snater⁴⁰⁵ were not able to discriminate grades of erythema any better than the human eye using the RGB colour space. Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ concluded that the RGB level of measurement was unable to distinguish

between the colour of a wound and the colour of skin, or the colour of a wound and the colour of connective tissue. Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ found that simple RGB thresholds were not enough to identify a given tissue type. In particular the system was unable to determine the difference between the colour of granulation tissue, surrounding skin and newly formed epithelium.

The Cyan-Magenta-Yellow –Black (CMYK) colour space has received little attention in wound colour research however the findings indicate a potential reliability. As described earlier, Shai et al.³⁹⁸ were able to use the CMYK colour space to identify clean from dirty wounds. As described in Chapter Three, the use of the Hue-Saturation-Brightness (HSB) has provided more promising results. Hansen et al.⁴⁰⁴ were able to use colour to differentiate the severity of a pressure injury. Injuries with a blue / grey appearance were more significant than injuries that rapidly assumed a reddish appearance, followed by a gradual reduction in the redness over a period of several hours. Boardman et al.³⁹⁹ used HSB to compare colours exhibited by non-infected and infected wounds. They identified that non-infected wounds exhibited a peak of red hue in the mid range of hues, which decreased as healing continued. Infected wounds, on the other hand, exhibited a distinct increase in the peak of red hue range.

Findings from this study were derived from images that were produced using all three colour algorithms. This mixture of colour representations may have introduced variables that led to the lower than expected saturations for each manifestation. The process of capture, transfer and printing may have

degraded or altered the colours originally exhibited by the ulcer resulting in the final hue range identified by the experienced panel of clinicians. For example, images were collected using digital technology that represents colour using an RGB algorithm. The hue estimates identified by clinicians to represent erythema or wet necrotic tissue were collected via printed images using a CMYK colour algorithm. When making the assessments, participating clinicians used human colour perception represented by the HSB colour algorithm. The images were then converted back to a digital image using a scanner that uses RGB to represent colour. Once digitised the hues were calculated by measuring the colours exhibited in the highlighted areas using HSB colour parameters. The resulting alteration to colours captured in the original images may have rendered the colour range identified by the clinician panel as invalid. Thus, when clinicians were asked to review the areas identified by the computer they only partially agreed with the selections.

Given the paucity of research examining the colour of erythema or wet necrotic tissue of venous leg ulceration it is hard to draw firm conclusions. The erythema and wet necrotic tissue indices identified developed from the results of this study may result from the colour space used to represent and measure each manifestation, or may represent the hue bias evident in venous leg ulceration. Further research is required to support either assertion.

6.2.3. Consistency between the opinions of the clinician panel when selected areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue

The subjective nature of clinical decision making is often cited in the literature.^{299, 376, 413, 415, 457, 458} The findings from this study provide support for this assertion only when the clinicians in this study were judging wet necrotic tissue. This was demonstrated by the absence of any significant difference between the areas identified by clinicians as wet necrotic tissue, and supported by visible similarities (see Figure 59).





Clinician 1

Clinician 2





Clinician 3

Clinician 4





Clinician 5 Figure 57. Example of similarity between clinicians when selecting wet necrotic tissue

However, when the areas selected as erythema were examined a number of differences were evident. The areas identified as representing erythema by each clinician were significantly different, and visual examinations demonstrated differences (see Figure 60).



Clinician 5 Figure 58. Example of similarity between clinicians when selecting erythema

The absence of significant variations between clinicians identifying wet necrotic tissue may be related to the ease of delineating this manifestation. When located adjacent to the pink / red hues exhibited by normal Caucasian skin the contrast would be high. The subtle hues of red exhibited by erythema may prove harder to delineate when contrasting with surrounding skin as the contrast in colours is low.

This finding is supported by other researchers. For example, Jones and Plassmann⁴⁰¹ when using the RGB colour space, concluded that the level of measurement provided by MAVIS[®] was unable to distinguish between the colour of a wound and the colour of skin, or the colour of a wound. Mekkes and Westerhof³⁹⁷ found that simple RGB thresholds were not enough to identify a given tissue type. In particular, the system was unable to determine the difference between the colour of granulation tissue, surrounding skin and newly formed epithelium.

The subtle hue variation of erythema is obviously harder to differentiate from the surrounding skin or the granular tissue of an ulcer bed. This in turn increases the subjective nature of the assessments being made by the clinician leading to a greater variation in the areas selected within the digital images. On the other hand the contrast between the colour of wet necrotic tissue and skin or granular tissue facilitates identification of the tissue type and recognition of the border. This in turn reduces the subjectivity and improved consensus between observers.

Although not significant there still were variations in the areas selected for wet necrotic tissue as well as erythema. If we accept the notion put forward by Byrne and Hilbert³³³ (see Chapter Three) that colour perception is a separation of physical entity (colour representing) and psychological experience (colour feeling) then any criteria derived from the opinion of clinicians will by its nature be varied. Whilst it could be argued that the display of colours generated by the physical entity (e.g. light reflection and light reception) should be similar across patients and clinicians, the introduction of a psychological process in the perception of colour introduces variation.

Each clinician would have brought their 'experience package' to the assessment. This would have included variables that could not be controlled. Previous experiences with colour, previous experiences with leg ulceration, current fatigue levels and ambient lighting in which the assessment was made, are examples of variables that would influence the areas selected by the clinicians.

Differing levels of agreement between clinicians have been found in other studies. Lorentzen et al.³¹⁰ found only 'moderate' agreement between clinicians using the Red-Yellow-Black system of wound colour assessment when judging 120 wound photographs. Vermeulen et al.³⁰⁹ found 'moderate' to 'good' levels of agreement for a sample of doctors and nurses using the same system to judge photographs of wounds. Johnson²⁹¹ found low

intrarater reliability of clinicians using wound colour as a criterion for assigning a wound status index score.

The problem faced by the type of research is the absence of a 'gold standard' for assessing erythema or wet necrotic tissue. Clinician and contextual differences makes judging the accuracy of the assessment difficult. Further research using a larger sample size of clinicians is required to help reduce the influences that these confounding variables have on the development of clinician derived indexes such as the erythema and wet necrotic tissue hue ranges generated by this project.

6.2.4. The validity of areas selected as representing erythema and wet necrotic tissue by the computer system

The third phase of this project was to help remove the degree of subjectivity described in the previous section by having the computer system select areas that represented the manifestations of erythema and wet necrotic tissue. The differences between areas selected by clinicians and those selected by the computer system would suggest that this aim was only partially met. This assertion is further supported by the moderate level of agreement indicated by clinicians when asked to judge the areas selected by the computer system for both manifestations.

6.2.4.1. Computer system Vs clinician

When comparisons were made between the areas selected by the computer system as erythema with those selected by the clinicians the difference was significant indicating that the initial criteria developed for the computer system selection were an inaccurate representation of the hue range displayed by this manifestation. Either clinicians participating in the study failed to provide a sufficient range of hues in the areas traced on the images, or the criteria used for the algorithm (mean hue plus or minus one standard deviation) provided an insufficient tolerance required to represent this manifestation.

Attempts were made to increase the correlation between areas selected by clinicians and the computer system by increasing the criteria from one to two standard deviations from the mean hue. When the modified algorithm was used the entire leg was often selected including unaffected skin. Thus, one standard deviation produced an insufficient area whilst two standard deviations failed to discriminate between unaffected skin and areas of erythema.

The above trend was not evident when the areas selected by the computer system as wet necrotic tissue were compared with those selected by the clinicians. The difference was not statistically significant suggesting that the hue criteria being used to select this manifestation were more accurate than with erythema.

The findings provide further support for the assertion made in the previous section; principally the reduced contrast between the hues of erythema, granular tissue and normal skin make it difficult for clinicians to differentiate erythema in a digital image. This is supported by the variations of areas selected by different clinicians when asked to outline this manifestation (see Chapter Five). Collapsing the different hues to a mean hue and one standard deviation provided an insufficient range to select all pixels displaying the hues deemed by *some* clinicians as representing erythema. Increasing the criteria to two standard deviations only increased the range to such an extent that the computer system was unable to differentiate the different tissue types.

The absence of significant difference for wet necrotic tissue adds further support to the above assertion. The contrast between the yellow of this manifestation and the red of the ulcer bed or surrounding skin has assisted the clinicians to select wet necrotic tissue in a digital image. This has in turn provided a more discrete hue range which when converted into criteria for the computer system has resulted in areas being selected that more closely represent those selected by the clinicians. Although more research is needed to confirm this assumption, the results comparing computer system selections with those of clinicians indicate that using 18.73 degrees of hue plus or minus a standard deviation or 6.04 degrees is a valid criterion for selecting wet necrotic tissue in a digital image.

6.2.4.2. Clinician perception

Clinician perception of the accuracy with which the computer system was able to select areas of erythema and wet necrotic tissue was evaluated using a visual analogue scale to examine the level of agreement (see Chapter Four). Given the findings achieved when comparing the difference between areas selected by the computer system and those selected by the clinicians (see above), it was expected that the level of agreement would vary. It was further expected that the level of agreement would be higher for areas selected by the computer system as wet necrotic tissue than for areas identified as erythema. The findings support this assertion with a higher level of agreement achieved for wet necrotic tissue (6.27 degrees out of 10) than for erythema (5.63 degrees out of 10).

What was not expected however was the moderate level of agreement achieved when clinicians were asked to judge the accuracy with which the computer system had selected areas of wet necrotic tissue. The absence of a significant difference between the areas of wet necrotic tissue selected by the clinicians and those selected by the computer system during the second phase would suggest that the level of agreement during the survey should have been higher (remembering also that the images judged by the clinicians in phase three were the original images used in phase two (see Figure 61)). Asking clinicians to judge the same series of photographs containing highlighted areas of wet necrotic tissue that were not significantly different from the areas originally highlighted by themselves should have resulted in a

high level of agreement. Whilst higher than erythema, it could be argued that just over 60 per cent is not indicative of a high level of agreement.


Phase 2





Figure 59. Example of photographs sent to clinicians during phase two and three

The findings suggest that even when criteria derived from the judgement of clinicians is used to develop an automated identification system; and that system selects areas similar to that of the clinician, he / she will only agree with the area selected 60 per cent of the time. A number of explanations for this outcome are possible with the most likely being either a different reproduction of the original photographs for phase three a change to the clinician's observation of the photographs as a result of changes to visual perception; or as a reflection of the clinician's desire to retain some clinical decision making autonomy.

6.2.4.3. Photographic reproduction

Although the photographs for phase three were reproduced using the same printer as that used for phase two, minor variations in the colours produced may have resulted in the clinicians observing areas of wet necrotic tissue not seen in the earlier phase. As suggested previously the capture, printing, recapture and measurement techniques used for this study (see Chapter Four) may not have accurately reflected the original manifestations presented in the ulcer. The same could be true for photographs replicated in different phases. Additional controls that measured the colours reproduced on each set of photographs would have helped reduce the possible confounding influence of this variable and would need to be included in any future studies.

6.2.4.4. Changes to visual perception

As described in Chapter Three the perception of colour is influenced by a number of variables both physical and psychological. It is possible that the presentation technique used for phase three influenced the visual perception of the clinicians judging the accuracy with which the computer system had selected each manifestation.

In particular, the influence of bordered areas within the photographs used in phase three may have influenced the observations made by the clinicians. The inclusion of borders in an image has been shown to play an important part in visual perception. Using a concaved card Bloj et al.³⁶³ were able to demonstrate that the inclusion of a border enabled subjects to differentiate areas of illumination in an effort to determine depth. By using borders, Kingdom and Moulden⁴⁵⁹ were able to isolate cerebral areas responding to different areas of illumination. Van Es et al.³⁶² demonstrated that border recognition enable humans to maintain colour constancy by comparing areas of interest with surrounding regions and making cerebral changes to compensate for different levels of illumination. Albert⁴⁶⁰ and Zhaoping⁴⁶¹ describe how a border normally belongs to one of the two regions adjacent to the border. They demonstrated that humans use surface perceptions to assign ownership to a border. When borders were hard to define the subjects alternated ownership over time.

The use of borders to delineate areas as either erythema or wet necrotic tissue may have therefore influenced the perception of the observer. It may have encouraged them to pay closer attention to areas immediately adjacent

to the border. Equally, it may have changed their perception of the level of illumination in areas adjacent to the border and thus changed their perception of its significance.

The preconceptions of the observing clinicians may have also played a part in the judgements made in phase three. As mentioned in Chapter Three, Treisnman et al.^{364, 365} found that subjects given verbal descriptors such as "orange carrot or blue lake" made significantly more illusory preconceptions about the colour than subjects given feature descriptions such as "orange triangle or blue ellipse". Given the experience level of the clinicians, it may be that they were making judgements based on preconceptions (i.e. other ulcerated legs) when assessing the photographs in phase two. A bordered area may have encouraged them to put aside these preconceptions and focus on the actual visual display.

Using the images from phase two in phase three may have also enabled clinicians to see additional cues not previously noticed. Familiarity with visual stimuli has been demonstrated to enrich the neural representations of such stimuli. Epstein et al.⁴⁶² used magnetic resonance imagery to scan the cerebral activity of volunteers when viewing digital images that had a high or low degree of familiarity. They believed that scenes familiar to the subject have a variety of cerebral representations enabling the subject to recognise them from a range of different viewpoints. They described this as an "enriched neural representation" (p. 3681).

As the clinicians had seen the photographs used in phase three previously in phase two, they may have already developed a degree of familiarity with the image. If Epstein et al.⁴⁶² are correct, any familiarity with the image would have enabled the clinicians to scan recognised sections of an image and focus their attention on other previously unseen aspects. The intent would be to enrich the neural representation of each image as described by Epstein et al.⁴⁶² The change in focus may have in turn changed the clinician's opinion about the representation of each manifestation resulting in them disagreeing with areas selected by the computer system which was in turn based on their earlier assessments.

6.2.4.5. The influence of clinical decision making autonomy

The complex array of variables that influence clinical decision making is often cited as impediments to designing systems that replicate expert opinion. Following a comprehensive literature review in 2006 Lee et al.⁴⁶³ concluded that diagnostic practice was a compilation of information seeking behaviour that utilised communication interactions and cognitive functions to arrive at a decision. The decision was influenced by a number of variables including personal, psychological and structural variables. Thus the ability of clinicians to accurately replicate previous clinical decisions when confronted with similar cues (in this case an ulcer photograph) is limited by the influence of the above variables. For example, when assessing the ulcer photographs for a second time the participating clinicians may have been drawing from experience gained in the intervening time (personal), had a different level of fatigue (psychological) or undertaken the assessment under different lighting

conditions (structural). Each of the above variables may have resulted in the lower than expected level of agreement.

Other authors would argue that the above findings are a representation of a reluctance of clinicians to give up their autonomy when making clinical decisions. Brehm^{457, 458, 464, 465} first described this response as 'reactance theory' in 1966. The principle assertion of reactance theory is that when a person is recommended to take a specific action they become motivated to react in a way that affirms their freedom to choose. Proponents of the theory point to common examples that illustrate a reluctance of clinicians to follow evidence based recommendations.

Grol and Grimshaw⁴⁶⁶ highlighted the failure of clinicians to wash their hands despite evidence that illustrates an association between increasing nosocomial infection rates and cross contamination perpetuated by clinicians. When examining why interventions aimed at improving the quality and safety of medication administration are often ignored by physicians, de Almeidia Neto and Chen⁴⁵⁷ concluded that physicians elected not to follow 'best practice' recommendations as it threatens their freedom to choose. Fogarty,⁴⁵⁸ when examining patient behaviour, concluded that reactance theory provided the best explanation for patients refusing to cooperate with medical treatments.

A reluctance to follow evidenced based recommendations may be further heightened when such recommendations are presented in the form of

computer assisted systems. Sittig et al.,^{467, 468} when examining emotional responses to a computer based order entry system, found that respondents expressed feelings of guilt, anger, sadness, hostility and disgust towards having to use the system. They concluded that clinicians felt that the computer system was punishing them because when the user stepped outside of established guidelines their decisions were questioned by the computer system via a prompt.

Buller-Close et al.,⁴⁶⁹ when evaluating the effects of an emergency department expert charting system, found low compliance amongst treating clinicians. As an example, they cited that the system was used for only 39 per cent of eligible paediatric patients. They concluded that physicians believed that using a "computerised assistant to manage these common problems [was] an admission of lack of knowledge or skill" (p. 649). Agostini et al.⁴⁷⁰ asked clinicians to identify barriers to using a computer based reminder when prescribing sedation for older patients. Three barriers were identified: time needed to read the reminder; the role of clinical experience; and the content of the reminder. In regard to the second barrier, clinical experience, the respondents felt that reminders eroded the prescribing autonomy of the clinician. One respondent stated "if the patient needs sleep I can decide whether to order a drug or not" (p. 34).

A similar perceived reduction of clinical decision making autonomy may have accounted for the lower than expected propensity for clinicians to agree that the computer system had accurately selected areas of wet necrotic tissue.

When asked to indicate their levels of agreement participants may have seen the potential of such automation as a threat to their rights to determine assessment criteria when examining venous leg ulcers. Having made this decision they would be less likely to agree with the computer system in order to limit the findings and reduce the threat.

The complex nature of clinical decision making makes it difficult to come to any definitive conclusions. Certainly the absence of consensus between participating clinicians and the computer system with regard to areas identified as erythema was to be expected given the significant difference in areas selected by each party. The unexpected modest rate of agreement indicated by clinicians reviewing areas of wet necrotic tissue may be explained by the complex interactions of variables influencing this process or a more deep seated psychological motivation to retain the freedom of choice. Further research is required to explore possible explanations for this anomaly.

6.3. Conclusion

The research reported in this thesis has been motivated by the significant health problems created by CVI. It is based on a number of supported assertions derived from physiology, pathology, psychology, sociology and health science research. The platform has been used to justify the need for more objective visual assessments of venous leg ulceration in an effort to improve the management of this client cohort. The findings contribute to this goal by providing insights into an effective method for recording the colours

manifested by venous leg ulcers; the range of colours seen as significant by experienced clinicians; and the difficulties encountered when tyring to automate the clinical decision making process of clinicians assessing this manifestation.

For the purposes of the project, CVI has been defined as structural and functional abnormalities of the superficial and deep leg veins resulting in venous hypertension which in turn manifests as a discrete set of signs and symptoms. Symptoms cited have included pain, heaviness, leg tiredness, cramps, itching and restless leg syndrome. Signs cited have included telangiectasia, reticular or varicose veins, leg oedema, and skin changes such as pigmentation, lipodermatosclerosis, eczema and ulceration.

Central to the thesis is the assertion that CVI is most frequently caused by abnormalities of vein walls and valves arising from an abnormal *inflammatory* process. The inflammation is either primary in origin with an unknown aetiology, or secondary to a previous injury, principally deep vein thrombosis. Skin changes resulting from CVI, specifically leg ulceration, are influenced by the abnormal inflammatory process resulting in complications such as repeated infections and delayed healing. The visual manifestations resulting from the inflammatory process are recognised by experienced clinicians as indicators of developing complications or delayed healing.

6.3.1. The significance

The long-term nature of CVI and the resulting skin changes creates both a substantial personal and societal impost. For the sufferer the condition is often accompanied by a lowered quality of life exacerbated by the physical manifestations of leaking exudate, odour, pain, interference with sleep, and leg deformity. To compensate sufferers often choose to lead of a life of social isolation and loneliness.^{19, 75, 90, 106, 162, 167, 176, 177, 471, 472} In addition, sufferers often have to pay for their management creating an additional burden on the quality of life they can afford. Personal costs have been estimated to be in excess of 14 per cent of their weekly income¹⁷⁴ imposing a significant financial burden on an estimated 67 per cent of patients¹⁷³ with manifestations resulting from this disease. Accompanying time lost from work, and an inability to retain paid employment further add to both the financial and quality of life burdens experienced by these patients.^{162, 173, 177}

For the providers of health care finding the necessary resources for this client cohort is becoming increasingly difficult. Estimates of the financial impost of this disease on health care costs have been substantial. Figures in excess of US\$1 billion¹⁶⁷, £949 million^{168, 169} or A\$600 million^{2, 172} have been cited by studies quoting direct costs only.

As the population of the world ages this burden will only increases as the prevalence of CVI is highest in the sixth, seventh and eighth decade of life.^{2, 5, 12, 20, 22, 43, 46, 50, 56, 68, 69} The immediate effect will be felt in developed countries where the rates of obesity are increasing as the inhabitants

consume highly refined diets and opt to follow sedentary lifestyles.⁵ As developing countries move to adopt the 'ways of the west' it can be expected that similar health patterns found in developed countries will predominate. This will in turn increase the prevalence of CVI throughout the world.

Although a significant health problem, the attention received by sufferers of CVI is often less than other disease states. As the manifestations of the disease don't threaten life or limb the impact is often overshadowed by more life threatening diseases such as cardiovascular disease or diabetes. This has in turn limited the allocation of resources to conduct the large population based research needed to provide prevalence detail and judge the efficacy of different treatment options.

6.3.2. The challenge

Clinicians wishing to establish clear criteria for the diagnosis of CVI and the resulting clinical manifestations are confronted with an array of options derived from research of varying rigour. This is most keenly felt when assessing the status and healing progress of venous leg ulcers. Assessment schemes relying on the recognition of colour, exudate levels and changes to dimension predominate in the literature.^{1, 4, 5, 9, 20, 22, 34, 38, 40, 47, 54, 75, 89, 100, 101, 109, 110, 141, 159, 164, 183, 208, 288-290, 310, 313, 322, 324-328, 396, 400, 403, 407, 425, 430-434, 437, 471, ⁴⁷³⁻⁴⁷⁶ The techniques have often not undergone rigorous validation and rely heavily on the subjective opinion of the clinician. It has been argued that as the prevalence of venous leg ulceration increases along with the associated}

cost more rigorous assessment criteria are required. Criteria based on objective parameters that can be replicated across different clinicians in different clinical settings are required to assist the implementation of costeffective care.

6.3.3. The project aim

The intent of this study was to develop a system that enables clinicians to easily and objectively measure the different colour manifestations exhibited in the bed of a venous leg ulcer and the surrounding skin. To achieve this aim a three phase study was implemented. The first phase was to develop and test a system for recording the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer. The second phase was to use the images captured to establish a colour range that experienced clinicians believed represented different tissue types. The third phase used the colour range derived from the above clinician cohort to develop a computer system that could identify and highlight different tissue types in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer and test the validity of the areas selected.

To help limit the scope of the project two predominant tissue types were selected as the foci; erythema and wet necrotic tissue. These tissue types were selected because the presence of both had been reported in the literature as a common manifestation of inflammation. Inflammatory processes have been reported as the underlying physiological mechanism frequently found in slow to heal or chronic wounds, in particular venous leg ulceration.^{3, 5, 13, 15, 19, 30, 37, 80, 86, 127, 128, 130, 135, 223, 296, 313, 314, 477, 478} It was

hoped that by meeting the aims of this study a system could be developed in the future that would provide a clinical tool that could be used to differentiate between chronic venous legs ulcers that follow a normal healing cycle and those that become 'trapped' in an inflammatory process and hence slow to heal.

6.3.4. The findings

The findings from the study suggest that the aim has only partially been met. The Ulcer-cam 2 frame and the accompanying photographic capture system developed have produced findings that suggest it provides a consistent and reliable method for capturing the colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers and the surrounding skin. The reliability of the computer system would seem to be consistent within an episode of care and across different care episodes. Equally, the reliability of the computer system to capture colour appears to be consistent when used by different clinicians during the same episode. The findings support the assertion that the computer system developed has both intra-observer and inter-observer reliability.

The Ulcer-cam 2 frame also appears to provide a consistent magnification of the ulcer and orientation of the leg. This is demonstrated by the absence of any difference within an episode, and the lack of any statistically significant differences across episodes of care. The same trend is found when examining photographs captured by different clinicians, again suggesting both intra- and inter-observer reliability.

The image capture system is easy to use and can be implemented in a variety of clinical settings. The cost of training and specialised equipment is low using the relatively 'low tech' approach underpinning the system. The ability to reliability photograph venous leg ulceration over time, providing a library of sequential, standardised photographs could in itself provide support for clinical decisions.

The colour range identified for erythema and wet necrotic tissue by experienced clinicians recruited for this study provide new insights into the observations being made by this cohort. Until this study had been performed wound colour had been confined to gross hue representations of principally red, yellow, black and pink.^{305, 309, 310, 410, 433} Understanding of the judgements being made by clinicians when observing subtle differences within a broad hue range (e.g. red) have to date not been explored. The findings from this study provide early insights into the range of hue, brightness and saturations being used when clinicians judge two wound manifestations, namely erythema and wet necrotic tissue.

The range identified for each manifestation has also provided insights into the variation of perceptions between clinicians. Standard variations of 3.51 degrees for erythema and 6.04 degrees for wet necrotic tissue suggest that opinion between experienced clinicians is varied. This assertion is further supported by a statistically significant difference in the areas highlighted by clinicians in the photographs as representing erythema. Interestingly, the colour range with the largest standard deviation (wet necrotic tissue) did not

demonstrate a significant difference in the surface area identified by the participating clinicians. This suggests that the hue range for wet necrotic tissue (yellow) is broad but easier to recognise, whilst the hue variation for erythema is smaller but harder to recognise.

The findings from this project suggest that the contrast between the hues of wet necrotic tissue and the surrounding wound bed or skin are easier to differentiate than the contrast between the hues of erythema and the surrounding hues of wound bed or skin. Such findings require further exploration as the ability to recognise the more subtle differences in erythema may be a critical cue being used by experienced clinicians when judging the progress of venous leg ulcers. If so, data from such studies could be used to inform approaches to diagnostic criteria and clinician education.

When the hue range identified by participating clinicians was used to develop a computer system that could highlight areas of erythema or wet necrotic tissue in a digital photograph of a venous leg ulcer it would seem that the criteria has limited validity. This assertion is initially supported by the statistically significant difference in surface area identified as erythema by the clinician and that identified by the computer system. It is further confirmed by the lower than expected level of agreement (5.63 out of 10) indicated by clinicians when asked to judge the accuracy of the areas highlighted by the computer system as representing erythema.

Once again however, the trend was different for wet necrotic tissue. The difference between the clinician and the computer system was not statistically different. Although not as high as expected the level of agreement indicated by clinicians when examining areas selected by the computer system as being wet necrotic tissue (6.27 out of 10) was higher than erythema. The findings support the assertion made above that the contrast between wet necrotic tissue and surrounding tissue types facilitates easier recognition and hence provides a more valid criteria for the computer system to use as a criterion.

It could therefore be argued that the hue range identified as wet necrotic tissue by participating clinicians is a closer representation of the criteria being used by clinicians when assessing venous leg ulcers, than that identified for erythema. It could also be suggested that the identification of this manifestation is easier for clinicians to make than that of erythema because of the contrasts between the yellows and browns of wet necrotic tissue and the pinks and reds of the surrounding wound bed and skin hues.

6.3.5. Conclusions drawn

In summary the aims of this project have been partially met. The original intent was to develop an objective measure for assessing the colours manifested by venous leg ulcers. The intent was based on the assumptions that slow to heal or chronic wounds were locked in a cycle of inflammation, and that inflammation was manifested as erythema and wet necrotic tissue. To achieve the aim three objectives needed to be met: the development of a

reliable system for recording the colour manifested; the establishment of a hue range that represented the two manifestations of erythema and wet necrotic tissue; and the construction of a computer system that used the hue range to select and highlight areas within a digital image of a venous leg ulcer.

The method used in the first phase of this project to record the colours exhibited by a venous leg ulcer would appear to be reliable both within an episode of care or across episodes of care, and for images taken by one or more clinicians. The hue range derived in phase two from the opinions of experienced clinicians provides new insights into the criteria being used for the visual observation of venous ulcers. The findings have demonstrated that higher levels of agreement are reached between experienced clinicians when assessing wet necrotic tissue than when assessing erythema. The data has provided a further refinement of hues used for leg ulcer assessment beyond the crude colour criteria of Red-Yellow-Black-Pink that has predominated published literature.

However, the hue range identified would appear to have limited validity when used as a criterion for a computer system to select areas within an image that represents each manifestation. The surface area selected to represent erythema was statistical different from that selected by participating clinicians, as was the level of agreement indicated by clinicians when assessing the areas selected by the computer system to represent this manifestation. Although the difference of the surface area selected as wet

necrotic tissue by the computer system was not statistically different from areas selected by participating clinicians there was a difference and the level of agreement indicated by clinicians when assessing the areas selected by the computer system to represent this manifestation was lower than acceptable.

It has been postulated that the reason for these findings is related to the level of contrast between the yellow hues manifested by wet necrotic tissue and the red hues of the surrounding wound bed or skin. In other words it is easier to distinguish yellow from surrounding red than it is to distinguish varying shades of red from surrounding reds. The degree to which the difference in perception can be attributed to the physical properties of the light reflected from the ulcer or the psychological process of the clinician making the assessment can not be determined from the findings of this project. As discussed in Chapter Three, the exact mechanisms of colour perception is still to be determined.

It has been further postulated that even if the aim of the project had been completely met the propensity of clinicians to accept the colour perception of a computer system may be limited. If the assumptions of reactance theory are correct attempts to quantify the clinical observations being made by clinicians assessing venous leg ulcers may be seen as a threat to their freedom to choose. Thus further development of this computer system will have to be made with this in mind.

6.3.6. Recommendations for further research

Underling any of the above assertions are the limitations of this study. Although the sample has demonstrated similar characteristics of patients suffering from venous leg ulcers it is not a representative sample. Equally, the number of clinicians used to capture the initial images and the number of experienced clinicians used to establish and evaluate the hue range for each manifestation is small. Although controls have been used to standardise for variances in the image capture, printing, scanning and storing of colour data, the methods used may have introduced a degree of bias that has influenced the results and conclusions found. It is therefore recommended that the following research be undertaken:

- Further replication studies using a representative sample of venous leg ulcer patients and the clinicians that care for this client cohort be undertaken to determine if the reliability of the method used in this study to record colour, magnification and orientation continues to be demonstrated.
- Further replication studies using a larger international cohort of experienced clinicians be undertaken to determine the validity of the hue range identified for erythema and wet necrotic tissue in this study.
- A series of studies be undertaken varying the hue tolerance used by a computer system to select areas within a digital image of venous leg ulcer. This study has demonstrated that a tolerance of one standard

deviation was insufficient to be accurate but two standard deviations were not selective enough.

4. Studies be undertaken to explore the propensity of wound care clinicians to accept automated systems of visual wound assessment.

The perception of colour remains subjective. How clinicians use these subjective criteria to assess the progress of a wound is still unknown. As the incidence and cost of chronic wounds, in particular venous leg ulceration escalates, more defined assessment methods will be required. The findings from this project suggest that the method developed to record a digital image of a venous leg ulcer provides a reliable colour measurement, magnification and orientation using technology that could be used in a clinical setting with minimal disruption and cost.

The findings provide insights into the range of colour that experienced clinicians perceive as either erythema or wet necrotic tissue, demonstrating that wet necrotic tissue is easier to identify than erythema. These findings may be of benefit to future developers of diagnostic technologies and providers of wound management education.

The validity of the colour range established for each manifestation as a criterion for a computer system to select areas within a digital photograph has not been established. Further research is needed to refine this hue range until it is perceived as a valid representation by experienced clinicians. Such

studies will need to explore the impact of smaller variations in the tolerance set for the computer system using the above hue range.

As technologies improve the ability to accurately measure colours exhibited by venous leg ulcers and then use that data to recommend treatments may become commonplace. This project provides one piece in the large jigsaw that makes up this area of research. It is hoped that it provides insights that will help reduce the time patients spend with venous ulceration. Whilst the condition may not threaten life or limb it severely impacts the quality of life experienced by these patients and the pain and costs they endure. Therefore any future research aimed at limiting the impost of this condition on the members of our society should be enthusiastically explored.

References

- 1. Wipke-Tevis, D.D., et al., *Prevalence, incidence, management, and predictors of venous ulcers in the long-term-care population using the MDS.* Advances in Skin & Wound Care, 2000. 13(5): p. 218-24.
- 2. Baker, S., et al., *Epidemiology of chronic venous ulcers.* Br. J Surg, 1991. 78: p. 864-867.
- 3. Nicolaides, A.N., et al., *Investigation of chronic venous insufficiency: A consensus statement (France, March 5-9, 1997).* Circulation, 2000. 102(20): p. E126-63.
- 4. De Backer, G., *Epidemiology of chronic venous insufficiency.* Angiology, 1997. 48(7): p. 569-76.
- 5. Beebe-Dimmer, J.L., et al., *The epidemiology of chronic venous insufficiency and varicose veins.* Annals of Epidemiology, 2005. 15(3): p. 175-84.
- 6. Fowkes, F.G., C.J. Evans, and A.J. Lee, *Prevalence and risk factors of chronic venous insufficiency.* Angiology, 2001. 52 Suppl 1: p. S5-15.
- 7. Henry, M., *Incidence of varicose ulcers in Ireland.* Irish Medical Journal, 1986. 79(3): p. 65-7.
- 8. Margolis, D.J., et al., *Venous leg ulcer: incidence and prevalence in the elderly.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 2002. 46(3): p. 381-6.
- 9. Moffatt, C.J., et al., *Prevalence of leg ulceration in a London population.* Qjm, 2004. 97(7): p. 431-7.
- 10. Adams, C., *The Genuine Works of Hippocrates*. 1849, London: Sydenham Press.
- 11. Leach, M.J., *Making sense of the venous leg ulcer debate: a literature review.* Journal of Wound Care, 2004. 13(2): p. 52-6.
- 12. Carpentier, P.H., et al., *Prevalence, risk factors, and clinical patterns of chronic venous disorders of lower limbs: a population-based study in France.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2004. 40(4): p. 650-9.

- 13. White, J.V. and C. Ryjewski, *Chronic venous insufficiency*. Perspectives in Vascular Surgery & Endovascular Therapy, 2005. 17(4): p. 319-27.
- 14. Bawakid, K.O., et al., *Prevalence of chronic venous insufficiency in the Saudi adult population.* Saudi Medical Journal, 2005. 26(2): p. 225-9.
- 15. Pappas, P.J., et al., *Causes of severe chronic venous insufficiency.* Seminars in Vascular Surgery, 2005. 18(1): p. 30-5.
- 16. Soldevilla, J., et al., *Epidemiology of chronic wounds in Spain: results of the first national studies on pressure and leg ulcer prevalence.* Wounds: A Compendium of Clinical Research & Practice, 2006. 18(8): p. 213-226.
- 17. Bjellerup, M., *Determining venous incompetence: a report from a specialised leg ulcer clinic.* Journal of Wound Care, 2006. 15(10): p. 429-30.
- 18. Ruckley, C.V., et al., *Chronic venous insufficiency: clinical and duplex correlations. The Edinburgh Vein Study of venous disorders in the general population.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2002. 36(3): p. 520-5.
- 19. Bergan, J.J., et al., *Chronic venous disease.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2006. 355(5): p. 488-98.
- 20. Callam, M.J., *Epidemiology of varicose veins.* British Journal of Surgery, 1994. 81(2): p. 167-73.
- 21. Callejas, J.M., J. Manasanch, and E. Group, *Epidemiology of chronic venous insufficiency of the lower limbs in the primary care setting.* International Angiology, 2004. 23(2): p. 154-63.
- 22. Cesarone, M.R., et al., 'Real' epidemiology of varicose veins and chronic venous diseases: the San Valentino Vascular Screening Project.[see comment]. Angiology, 2002. 53(2): p. 119-30.
- 23. Chiesa, R., et al., *Demographic factors and their relationship with the presence of CVI signs in Italy: the 24-cities cohort study.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2005. 30(6): p. 674-80.

- 24. Evans, C.J., et al., *Prevalence of varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in men and women in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study.* Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 1999. 53(3): p. 149-53.
- 25. Fowkes, F.G., et al., *Lifestyle risk factors for lower limb venous reflux in the general population: Edinburgh Vein Study.* International Journal of Epidemiology, 2001. 30(4): p. 846-52.
- 26. Jawien, A., *The influence of environmental factors in chronic venous insufficiency.* Angiology, 2003. 54 Suppl 1: p. S19-31.
- 27. Kurz, X., et al., Chronic venous disorders of the leg: epidemiology, outcomes, diagnosis and management. Summary of an evidence-based report of the VEINES task force. Venous Insufficiency Epidemiologic and Economic Studies. International Angiology, 1999. 18(2): p. 83-102.
- 28. Lamping, D.L., et al., *Evaluation of outcomes in chronic* venous disorders of the leg: development of a scientifically rigorous, patient-reported measure of symptoms and quality of life.[see comment]. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2003. 37(2): p. 410-9.
- 29. Lionis, C., et al., *Chronic venous insufficiency. A common health problem in general practice in Greece.* International Angiology, 2002. 21(1): p. 86-92.
- 30. Schmid-Schonbein, G.W., S. Takase, and J.J. Bergan, *New advances in the understanding of the pathophysiology of chronic venous insufficiency.* Angiology, 2001. 52 Suppl 1: p. S27-34.
- 31. Kahn, S.R., et al., *The influence of venous thromboembolism on quality of life and severity of chronic venous disease.* Journal of Thrombosis & Haemostasis, 2004. 2(12): p. 2146-51.
- 32. Carpentier, P.H., et al., *Appraisal of the information content* of the C classes of CEAP clinical classification of chronic venous disorders: a multicenter evaluation of 872 patients. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2003. 37(4): p. 827-33.
- 33. Kalodiki, E. and A.N. Nicolaides, *Out of a recent CVI consensus: some features of a basic statement.* International Angiology, 2002. 21(2 Suppl 1): p. 2-11.

- 34. Cornwall, J.V., C.J. Dore, and J.D. Lewis, *Leg ulcers: epidemiology and aetiology.* British Journal of Surgery, 1986. 73(9): p. 693-6.
- 35. Kontosi, I., et al., Work conditions as risk factors for varicose veins of the lower extremities in certain professions of the working population of Rijeka. Acta Medica Okayama, 2000. 54(1): p. 33-8.
- 36. Lacroix, P., et al., *Epidemiology of venous insufficiency in an occupational population.* International Angiology, 2003. 22(2): p. 172-6.
- 37. Reichenberg, J. and M. Davis, *Venous ulcers.* Seminars in Cutaneous Medicine & Surgery, 2005. 24(4): p. 216-26.
- Vowden, K.R. and P. Vowden, *Preventing venous ulcer recurrence: a review.* International Wound Journal, 2006. 3(1): p. 11-21.
- 39. Eklof, B., et al., Updated terminology of chronic venous disorders: the VEIN-TERM transatlantic interdisciplinary consensus document. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2009. 49(2): p. 498-501.
- 40. Graham, I.D., et al., *Prevalence of lower-limb ulceration: a systematic review of prevalence studies.* Advances in Skin & Wound Care, 2003. 16(6): p. 305-16.
- 41. Abbade, L.P.F. and S. Lastoria, *Venous ulcer: epidemiology, physiopathology, diagnosis and treatment.* International Journal of Dermatology, 2005. 44(6): p. 449-56.
- 42. Walker, N.K., et al., *Does capture-recapture analysis provide* more reliable estimates of the incidence and prevalence of leg ulcers in the community? Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2002. 26(5): p. 451-5.
- 43. Brand, F.N., et al., *The epidemiology of varicose veins: the Framingham Study.* American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 1988. 4(2): p. 96-101.
- 44. Beaglehold, R., C.E. Salmond, and I.A. Prior, *Varicose veins in New Zealand: prevalence and severity.* New Zealand Medical Journal, 1976. 84(576): p. 396-9.

- 45. Burkitt, D.P., Some diseases characteristic of modern Western civilization. British Medical Journal, 1973. 1(5848): p. 274-8.
- 46. Burkitt, D.P., *Varicose veins in developing countries.* Lancet, 1976. 1(7982): p. 472.
- 47. Sam, R.C., et al., *Chronic venous disease in a cohort of healthy UK Asian men.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2007. 34(1): p. 92-6.
- Malhotra, S.L., An epidemiological study of varicose veins in Indian railroad workers from the South and North of India, with special reference to the causation and prevention of varicose veins. International Journal of Epidemiology, 1972. 1(2): p. 177-83.
- 49. Wong, I., D. Lee, and D. Thompson, *Lower limb ulcerations in older people in Hong Kong.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2005. 14(1): p. 118-9.
- 50. Abramson, J.H., C. Hopp, and L.M. Epstein, *The epidemiology of varicose veins. A survey in western Jerusalem.* Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 1981. 35(3): p. 213-7.
- 51. Stanhope, J.M., *Varicose veins in a population of lowland New Guinea.* International Journal of Epidemiology, 1975. 4(3): p. 221-5.
- 52. Pina, E., et al., *Leg ulceration in Portugal: prevalence and clinical history.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2005. 29(5): p. 549-53.
- 53. Callam, M.J., et al., *Chronic ulceration of the leg: extent of the problem and provision of care.* British Medical Journal Clinical Research Ed, 1985. 290(6485): p. 1855-6.
- 54. Nelzen, O., D. Bergqvist, and A. Lindhagen, *Leg ulcer etiology--a cross sectional population study.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1991. 14(4): p. 557-64.
- 55. Heit, J.A., et al., *Trends in the incidence of venous stasis syndrome and venous ulcer: a 25-year population-based study.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2001. 33(5): p. 1022-7.
- 56. Coon, W.W., P.W. Willis, 3rd, and J.B. Keller, *Venous thromboembolism and other venous disease in the*

Tecumseh community health study. Circulation, 1973. 48(4): p. 839-46.

- 57. Cleave, T.L., Varicose veins, nature's error or man's? Some implications of the Darwinian theory. Lancet, 1959. 2: p. 172-5.
- Danielsson, G., et al., *The influence of obesity on chronic venous disease.* Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2002. 36(4): p. 271-6.
- 59. Seidell, J.C., et al., Overweight and chronic illness--a retrospective cohort study, with a follow-up of 6-17 years, in men and women of initially 20-50 years of age. Journal of Chronic Diseases, 1986. 39(8): p. 585-93.
- 60. Kroeger, K., et al., *Risk factors for varicose veins.* International Angiology, 2004. 23(1): p. 29-34.
- 61. Pinto, A., et al., Sulodexide versus calcium heparin in the medium-term treatment of deep vein thrombosis of the lower limbs. Angiology, 1997. 48(9): p. 805-11.
- 62. Sadick, N.S., *Predisposing factors of varicose and telangiectatic leg veins.* Journal of Dermatologic Surgery & Oncology, 1992. 18(10): p. 883-6.
- 63. Scott, T.E., et al., *Risk factors for chronic venous insufficiency: a dual case-control study.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1995. 22(5): p. 622-8.
- 64. Sisto, T., et al., *Prevalence and risk factors of varicose veins in lower extremities: mini-Finland health survey.* European Journal of Surgery, 1995. 161(6): p. 405-14.
- 65. Stvrtinova, V., J. Kolesar, and G. Wimmer, *Prevalence of varicose veins of the lower limbs in the women working at a department store.* International Angiology, 1991. 10(1): p. 2-5.
- 66. Tuchsen, F., et al., *Standing at work and varicose veins.* Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 2000. 26(5): p. 414-20.
- 67. Maffei, F.H., et al., Varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in Brazil: prevalence among 1755 inhabitants of a country town. International Journal of Epidemiology, 1986. 15(2): p. 210-7.

- 68. Briggs, M. and S. Closs, *The prevelence of leg ulceration: a review of the literature.* EWMA Journal, 2003. 3(2): p. 14-20.
- 69. Dale, J.J., et al., *Chronic ulcers of the leg: a study of prevalence in a Scottish community.* Health Bulletin, 1983. 41(6): p. 310-4.
- 70. Stucker, M., et al., *Changes in venous refilling time from childhood to adulthood in subjects with apparently normal veins.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2005. 41(2): p. 296-302.
- 71. Weindorf, N. and U. Schultz-Ehrenburg, [The development of varicose veins in children and adolescents]. Phlebologie, 1990. 43(4): p. 573-7.
- 72. Criqui, M.H., et al., *Risk factors for chronic venous disease: the San Diego Population Study.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2007. 46(2): p. 331-7.
- 73. Eberhardt, R.T. and J.D. Raffetto, *Chronic venous insufficiency.* Circulation, 2005. 111(18): p. 2398-409.
- 74. Morison, M.J., C. Moffatt, and P. Franks, *Leg Ulcers: A problem-based learning approach*. 2007, Edinburgh: Elsevier. 569.
- 75. Valencia, I.C., et al., *Chronic venous insufficiency and venous leg ulceration.[see comment].* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 2001. 44(3): p. 401-21; quiz 422-4.
- 76. Clarke-Moloney, M., et al., *A review of technological approaches to venous ulceration.* Critical Reviews in Biomedical Engineering, 2005. 33(6): p. 511-56.
- 77. Caggiati, A., *The saphenous venous compartments.* Surgical & Radiologic Anatomy, 1999. 21(1): p. 29-34.
- 78. Caggiati, A., et al., *Nomenclature of the veins of the lower limb: extensions, refinements, and clinical application.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2005. 41(4): p. 719-24.
- 79. Lurie, F., R.L. Kistner, and B. Eklof, *The mechanism of venous valve closure in normal physiologic conditions.[see comment].* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2002. 35(4): p. 713-7.

- 80. Takase, S., et al., *Venous hypertension, inflammation and valve remodeling.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2004. 28(5): p. 484-93.
- 81. Rajendran, S., A.J. Rigby, and S.C. Anand, *Venous leg ulcer treatment and practice--part 1: the causes and diagnosis of venous leg ulcers.* Journal of Wound Care, 2007. 16(1): p. 24-6.
- 82. Bradbury, A.W., et al., *Comparison of venous reflux in the affected and non-affected leg in patients with unilateral venous ulceration.[see comment].* British Journal of Surgery, 1996. 83(4): p. 513-5.
- 83. Duque, M.I., et al., *Itch, pain, and burning sensation are common symptoms in mild to moderate chronic venous insufficiency with an impact on quality of life.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 2005. 53(3): p. 504-8.
- 84. London, N.J. and R. Donnelly, *ABC of arterial and venous disease. Ulcerated lower limb.* BMJ, 2000. 320(7249): p. 1589-91.
- 85. London, N.J. and R. Nash, *ABC of arterial and venous disease. Varicose veins.* BMJ, 2000. 320(7246): p. 1391-4.
- 86. Herrick, S.E., et al., Sequential changes in histologic pattern and extracellular matrix deposition during the healing of chronic venous ulcers. American Journal of Pathology, 1992. 141(5): p. 1085-95.
- 87. Lindholm, C., *Leg Ulcer Patients: Clinical studies from prevalence to prevention.* 1 ed. 1993, Goteborg: Graphic Systems AB. 79.
- 88. MacLellan, D. and L. MacLellan. *Chronic leg ulceration*prevelance and management analysis in the veteran population. in First World Wound Healing Congress. 2000. Melbourne: Australian Wound Management Association Inc.
- 89. Nelson, A., N. Cullum, and J. Jones, *Venous leg ulcers*, in *Clinical Evidence: A compendium of the best available evidence for effective health care*. 1999, BMJ Publishing Group: London. p. 203-210.
- 90. Persoon, A., et al., *Leg ulcers: a review of their impact on daily life.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2004. 13(3): p. 341-54.

- 91. Pumore, J., *Leg ulcers: weighing up the evidence.* Nursing Standard, 1994. 8(38): p. 143-144.
- 92. Sarkar, P.K. and S. Ballantyne, *Management of leg ulcers*. Postgraduate Medical Journal, 2000. 76(901): p. 674-82.
- 93. Johnson, M., *The prevalence of leg ulcers in older people: implications for community nursing.* Public Health Nursing, 1995. 12(4): p. 269-75.
- 94. Lindholm, C., et al., *A demographic survey of leg and foot ulcer patients in a defined population.* Acta Dermato-Venereologica, 1992. 72(3): p. 227-30.
- 95. Dealey, C., *Measuring the size of the leg ulcer problem in an acute trust.* British Journal of Nursing, 1999. 8(13): p. 850-2.
- 96. Andersson, E., C. Hansson, and G. Swanbeck, *Leg and foot ulcers. An epidemiological survey.* Acta Dermato-Venereologica, 1984. 64(3): p. 227-32.
- 97. Andersson, E., C. Hansson, and G. Swanbeck, Leg and foot ulcer prevalence and investigation of the peripheral arterial and venous circulation in a randomised elderly population. An epidemiological survey and clinical investigation. Acta Dermato-Venereologica, 1993. 73(1): p. 57-61.
- 98. Barclay, K.M., T. Granby, and P.J. Elton, *The prevalence of leg ulcers in hospitals.* Hospital Medicine (London), 1998. 59(11): p. 850.
- 99. Lees, T.A. and D. Lambert, *Prevalence of lower limb ulceration in an urban health district.* British Journal of Surgery, 1992. 79(10): p. 1032-4.
- 100. Nelzen, O., D. Bergqvist, and A. Lindhagen, *Venous and non-venous leg ulcers: clinical history and appearance in a population study.* British Journal of Surgery, 1994. 81(2): p. 182-7.
- 101. Nelzen, O., D. Bergqvist, and A. Lindhagen, *The prevalence* of chronic lower-limb ulceration has been underestimated: results of a validated population questionnaire. British Journal of Surgery, 1996. 83(2): p. 255-8.
- 102. Franks, P.J., et al., *Leg ulceration and ethnicity: a study in west London.* Public Health, 1997. 111(5): p. 327-9.

- 103. Phillips, T.J., *Chronic cutaneous ulcers: etiology and epidemiology.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1994. 102(6): p. 38S-41S.
- 104. Moffatt, C.J. and M.C. Dorman, *Recurrence of leg ulcers within a community ulcer service.* Journal of Wound Care, 1995. 4(2): p. 57-61.
- 105. Hansson, C., *Studies on leg and foot ulcers.* Acta Dermato-Venereologica Supplementum, 1988. 136: p. 1-45.
- 106. Abbade, L.P.F., et al., *A sociodemographic, clinical study of patients with venous ulcer.* International Journal of Dermatology, 2005. 44(12): p. 989-92.
- 107. Heit, J.A., *Venous thromboembolism: disease burden, outcomes and risk factors.* Journal of Thrombosis & Haemostasis, 2005. 3(8): p. 1611-7.
- 108. Prandoni, P., et al., *The long-term clinical course of acute deep venous thrombosis.[see comment].* Annals of Internal Medicine, 1996. 125(1): p. 1-7.
- 109. Cameron, J., *Venous and arterial leg ulcers.* Nursing Standard, 1995. 9(26): p. 25-32.
- 110. Cemeron, J., *Venous leg ulcers.* Nursing Standard, 1996. 10(25): p. 48-56.
- Pascarella, L., A. Penn, and G.W. Schmid-Schonbein, Venous hypertension and the inflammatory cascade: major manifestations and trigger mechanisms. Angiology, 2005. 56 Suppl 1: p. S3-10.
- 112. Renno, W.M., F. Saleh, and M. Wali, *A journey across the wall of varicose veins: what physicians do not often see with the naked eye.* Medical Principles & Practice, 2006. 15(1): p. 9-23.
- 113. Wali, M.A., M. Dewan, and R.A. Eid, *Histopathological* changes in the wall of varicose veins. International Angiology, 2003. 22(2): p. 188-93.
- 114. Wali, M.A. and R.A. Eid, *Changes of elastic and collagen fibers in varicose veins.* International Angiology, 2002. 21(4): p. 337-43.
- 115. Hoffman, R., S. Starkey, and J. Coad, *Wound fluid from* venous leg ulcers degrades plasminogen and reduces

plasmin generation by keratinocytes. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1998. 111(6): p. 1140-4.

- 116. Loots, M.A., et al., *Differences in cellular infiltrate and extracellular matrix of chronic diabetic and venous ulcers versus acute wounds.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1998. 111(5): p. 850-7.
- 117. Thomas, P.R., G.B. Nash, and J.A. Dormandy, *White cell accumulation in dependent legs of patients with venous hypertension: a possible mechanism for trophic changes in the skin.* British Medical Journal Clinical Research Ed, 1988. 296(6638): p. 1693-5.
- 118. Takase, S., G. Schmid-Schonbein, and J.J. Bergan, Leukocyte activation in patients with venous insufficiency. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1999. 30(1): p. 148-56.
- 119. Ono, T., et al., *Monocyte infiltration into venous valves.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1998. 27(1): p. 158-66.
- 120. Badier-Commander, C., et al., *Increased TIMP/MMP ratio in varicose veins: a possible explanation for extracellular matrix accumulation.* Journal of Pathology, 2000. 192(1): p. 105-12.
- 121. Browse, N. and Bernand K, *The cause of venous ulceration.* Lancet, 1982. ii: p. 243-45.
- 122. Burnand, K.G., et al., *Pericapillary fibrin in the ulcer-bearing skin of the leg: the cause of lipodermatosclerosis and venous ulceration.* British Medical Journal Clinical Research Ed, 1982. 285(6348): p. 1071-2.
- 123. Coleridge Smith, P.D., *Deleterious effects of white cells in the course of skin damage in CVI.* International Angiology, 2002. 21(2 Suppl 1): p. 26-32.
- 124. Coleridge Smith, P.D. (2006) *Update on CVI-induced inflammatory processes*. The British Vein Institute Volume,
- 125. Pascarella, L., G.W.S. Schonbein, and J.J. Bergan, *Microcirculation and venous ulcers: a review.* Annals of Vascular Surgery, 2005. 19(6): p. 921-7.
- 126. Falanga, V. and W.H. Eaglstein, *The "trap" hypothesis of venous ulceration.* Lancet April 17,, 1993. 341(8851): p. 1006-1008.

- 127. Mirshahi, S., et al., *Expression of elastase and fibrin in venous leg ulcer biopsies: a pilot study of pentoxifylline versus placebo.* Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology, 1995. 25 Suppl 2: p. S101-5.
- 128. Claudy, A.L., et al., *Detection of undegraded fibrin and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in venous leg ulcers.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1991. 25(4): p. 623-7.
- 129. Browse, N.L. and K.G. Burnand, *The cause of venous ulceration.* Lancet, 1982. 2(8292): p. 243-5.
- 130. Pascarella, L., G.W. Schmid-Schonbein, and J. Bergan, *An animal model of venous hypertension: the role of inflammation in venous valve failure.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2005. 41(2): p. 303-11.
- 131. Weber, C., Novel mechanistic concepts for the control of leukocyte transmigration: specialization of integrins, chemokines, and junctional molecules. Journal of Molecular Medicine, 2003. 81(1): p. 4-19.
- 132. Sansilvestri-Morel, P., et al., Comparison of extracellular matrix in skin and saphenous veins from patients with varicose veins: does the skin reflect venous matrix changes? Clinical Science, 2007. 112(4): p. 229-39.
- 133. Falanga, V., et al., *Dermal capillary fibrin in venous disease and venous ulceration.* Archives of Dermatology, 1987. 123: p. 620-23.
- 134. Bowler, P.G. and B.J. Davies, *The microbiology of infected and noninfected leg ulcers.* International Journal of Dermatology, 1999. 38(8): p. 573-8.
- 135. Schultz, G., *Biofilms and chronic wound healing*, in *Its wide open Recognising and managing inflammation and infection*. 2007: Melbourne.
- 136. Seidman, C., et al., *Venous ulcer fibroblasts respond to basic fibroblast growth factor at the cell cycle protein level.* Annals of Vascular Surgery, 2006. 20(3): p. 376-80.
- 137. Cuzzell, J., *Wound Healing: Translating Theory into Clinical Practice.* Dermatology Nursing, 1995. 7(2): p. 127-131.

- 138. Lal, B.K., et al., Altered proliferative responses of dermal fibroblasts to TGF-beta1 may contribute to chronic venous stasis ulcer. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2003. 37(6): p. 1285-93.
- 139. Raffetto, J.D., et al., *The effect of passage number on fibroblast cellular senescence in patients with chronic venous insufficiency with and without ulcer.* American Journal of Surgery, 1999. 178(2): p. 107-12.
- 140. Cheatle, T.R., et al., *Vasomotion in venous disease.* Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 1991. 84(5): p. 261-3.
- 141. Padberg, F.T., Jr., et al., Sensory impairment: a feature of chronic venous insufficiency. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1999. 30(5): p. 836-42.
- 142. Ardron, M.E., R.D. Helme, and S. McKernan, *Microvascular skin responses in elderly people with varicose leg ulcers.* Age & Ageing, 1991. 20(2): p. 124-8.
- 143. Shami, S.K., et al., *Peripheral nerve function in chronic venous insufficiency.* European Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1993. 7(2): p. 195-200.
- 144. Padberg, F., Jr., et al., *Does severe venous insufficiency have a different etiology in the morbidly obese? Is it venous?* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2003. 37(1): p. 79-85.
- 145. Saiki, S., et al., Varicose veins associated with CADASIL result from a novel mutation in the Notch3 gene. Neurology, 2006. 67(2): p. 337-9.
- 146. Zamboni, P., et al., *Hemochromatosis C282Y gene mutation increases the risk of venous leg ulceration.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2005. 42(2): p. 309-14.
- 147. Lee, S., et al., *Gene expression profiles in varicose veins using complementary DNA microarray.* Dermatologic Surgery, 2005. 31(4): p. 391-5.
- Ng, M.Y.M., et al., Linkage to the FOXC2 region of chromosome 16 for varicose veins in otherwise healthy, unselected sibling pairs. Journal of Medical Genetics, 2005. 42(3): p. 235-9.

- 149. Kim, D.-I., H.-S. Eo, and J.-H. Joh, *Identification of differentially expressed genes in primary varicose veins.* Journal of Surgical Research, 2005. 123(2): p. 222-6.
- 150. Baker, S.R., et al., *Venous ulceration in males with sex chromosome abnormalities.* Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine, 1993. 86(1): p. 24-5.
- 151. Caggiati, A., et al., *Age-related variations of varicose veins anatomy.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2006. 44(6): p. 1291-5.
- Skott, O. and A.M. Carter, *Relaxin is a vasodilator hormone.[comment].* American Journal of Physiology -Regulatory Integrative & Comparative Physiology, 2002. 283(2): p. R347-8.
- 153. Coon, W.W., *Epidemiology of venous thromboembolism.* Annals of Surgery, 1977. 186(2): p. 149-64.
- 154. Berard, A., et al., *Risk factors for the first-time development of venous ulcers of the lower limbs: the influence of heredity and physical activity.* Angiology, 2002. 53(6): p. 647-57.
- 155. Bradbury, A.W., et al., *Thrombophilia and chronic venous ulceration.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2002. 24(2): p. 97-104.
- 156. Bergqvist, D., et al., Cost of Long-Term Complications of Deep Venous Thrombosis of the Lower Extremities: An Analysis of a Defined Patient Population in Sweden. Ann Intern Med, 1997. 126(6): p. 454-457.
- 157. Maessen-Visch, M.B., et al., *The prevalence of factor V* Leiden mutation in patients with leg ulcers and venous insufficiency. Archives of Dermatology, 1999. 135(1): p. 41-4.
- 158. Prandoni, P., et al., *Vein abnormalities and the postthrombotic syndrome. [Letter]*. 2005: Journal of Thrombosis & Haemostasis February 2005;3(2):401-402.
- 159. Prandoni, P., et al., *Residual venous thrombosis as a predictive factor of recurrent venous thromboembolism.[see comment][summary for patients in Ann Intern Med. 2002 Dec 17;137(12):I32; PMID: 12484741].* Annals of Internal Medicine, 2002. 137(12): p. 955-60.

- 160. Pistorius, M.-A., *Chronic venous insufficiency: the genetic influence.* Angiology, 2003. 54 Suppl 1: p. S5-12.
- 161. Moffatt, C.J., et al., Sociodemographic factors in chronic leg ulceration. British Journal of Dermatology, 2006. 155(2): p. 307-12.
- 162. Ruckley, C.V., Socioeconomic impact of chronic venous insufficiency and leg ulcers. Angiology, 1997. 48(1): p. 67-9.
- 163. Tsai, S., et al., Severe chronic venous insufficiency: magnitude of the problem and consequences. Annals of Vascular Surgery, 2005. 19(5): p. 705-11.
- 164. Guex, J.J., et al., Chronic venous disease: health status of a population and care impact on this health status through quality of life questionnaires. International Angiology, 2005. 24(3): p. 258-64.
- 165. Faresjo, T., et al., *Costs of the treatment of leg ulcers: initiating a quality assurance process.* International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance Incorporating Leadership in Health Services, 1997. 10(2-3): p. 125-30.
- 166. Olin, J.W., et al., *Medical costs of treating venous stasis ulcers: evidence from a retrospective cohort study.* Vascular Medicine, 1999. 4(1): p. 1-7.
- 167. Kahn, S.R., et al., *Relationship between clinical classification of chronic venous disease and patient-reported quality of life: results from an international cohort study.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2004. 39(4): p. 823-8.
- 168. Kumar, R.N., et al., *Direct health care costs of 4 common skin ulcers in New Mexico Medicaid fee-for-service patients.* Advances in Skin & Wound Care, 2004. 17(3): p. 143-9.
- 169. Morrell, C.J., et al., *Cost effectiveness of community leg ulcer clinics: randomised controlled trial.[see comment].* BMJ, 1998. 316(7143): p. 1487-91.
- 170. Ragnarson Tennvall, G. and J. Hjelmgren, *Annual costs of treatment for venous leg ulcers in Sweden and the United Kingdom.* Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2005. 13(1): p. 13-8.
- 171. Grindlay, A. and D. MacLellan, *Inpatient management of leg ulcers: a costly option?* Primary Intention, 1997. 5(1): p. 24-26.
- Santamaria, N., D. Austin, and L. Clayton, A multi-site clinical evaluation trial of the Alfred/Medseed Wound Imaging System protoype. Primary Intention, 2002. 10(3): p. 120-125.
- 173. Phillips, T., et al., A study of the impact of leg ulcers on quality of life: financial, social, and psychologic implications. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1994. 31(1): p. 49-53.
- 174. Smith, E. and B. McGuiness, *Managing venous leg ulcers in the community: Financial cost to sufferers*. 2006, La Trobe Unversity.
- 175. Herber, O.R., W. Schnepp, and M.A. Rieger, A systematic review on the impact of leg ulceration on patients' quality of life. Health & Quality of Life Outcomes, 2007. 5: p. 44.
- 176. Hyland, M.E., A. Ley, and B. Thompson, *Quality of life of leg ulcer patients;questionnaire and preliminary findings.* Journal of Wound Care, 1994. 3: p. 294-298.
- 177. Farias Alves Yamada, B. and V. Conceicao de Gouveia Santos (2005) *Quality of Life of Individuals with Chronic Venous Ulcers*. Wounds: A Compendium of Clinical Research & Practice Volume, 178-189
- 178. Lindholm, C., et al., *Leg Ulcer Patients. Clinical Studies. From Prevalence to Prevention in a Nurs's Perspective.* 1993, University of Lund: Malmo.
- 179. Hofman, D., et al., *Pain in venous leg ulcers.* Journal of Wound Care, 1997. 6(5): p. 222-4.
- 180. Ryan, S., C. Eager, and R.G. Sibbald, *Venous leg ulcer pain.* Ostomy Wound Management, 2003. 49(4 Suppl): p. 16-23.
- 181. Hareendran, A., et al., *Measuring the impact of venous leg ulcers on quality of life.* Journal of Wound Care, 2005. 14(2): p. 53-7.
- 182. Rayner, R., *The role of nurse-led clinics in the management of chronic leg wound.* Primary Intention, 2006. 14(4): p. 162-167.

- 183. Walters, S.J., C.J. Morrell, and S. Dixon, *Measuring health*related quality of life in patients with venous leg ulcers. Quality of Life Research, 1999. 8(4): p. 327-36.
- 184. Taheri, S.A., F. Sheehan, and S. Elias, *Descending venography.* Angiology, 1984. 35(5): p. 326.
- 185. Taheri, S.A., F. Sheehan, and S. Elias, *Descending venography.* Angiology, 1983. 34(5): p. 299-305.
- 186. Ackroyd, J.S., M. Lea Thomas, and N.L. Browse, *Deep vein reflux: an assessment by descending phlebography.* British Journal of Surgery, 1986. 73(1): p. 31-3.
- 187. Thomas, M.L., F.P. Keeling, and J.S. Ackroyd, *Descending* phlebography: a comparison of three methods and an assessment of the normal range of deep vein reflux. Journal of Cardiovascular Surgery, 1986. 27(1): p. 27-30.
- Folse, R. and R.H. Alexander, *Directional flow detection for localizing venous valvular incompetency.* Surgery, 1970.
 67(1): p. 114-21.
- Hoare, M.C. and J.P. Royle, Doppler ultrasound detection of saphenofemoral and saphenopopliteal incompetence and operative venography to ensure precise saphenopopliteal ligation. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Surgery, 1984. 54(1): p. 49-52.
- 190. Labropoulos, N., et al., *Colour flow duplex scanning in suspected acute deep vein thrombosis; experience with routine use.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 1995. 9(1): p. 49-52.
- 191. Leon, M., et al., *Popliteal vein entrapment in the normal population.* European Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1992. 6(6): p. 623-7.
- 192. Robson, M.C., et al., *Guidelines for the treatment of venous ulcers.* Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2006. 14(6): p. 649-62.
- 193. Masuda, E.M., R.L. Kistner, and B. Eklof, *Prospective study* of duplex scanning for venous reflux: comparison of Valsalva and pneumatic cuff techniques in the reverse *Trendelenburg and standing positions.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1994. 20(5): p. 711-20.

- 194. Masuda, E.M. and R.L. Kistner, *Prospective comparison of duplex scanning and descending venography in the assessment of venous insufficiency.* American Journal of Surgery, 1992. 164(3): p. 254-9.
- 195. Sarin, S., et al., *Duplex ultrasonography for assessment of venous valvular function of the lower limb.[see comment].* British Journal of Surgery, 1994. 81(11): p. 1591-5.
- 196. Lagattolla, N.R., et al., *Retrograde flow in the deep veins of subjects with normal venous function.* British Journal of Surgery, 1997. 84(1): p. 36-9.
- 197. Weingarten, M.S., et al., A correlation of air plethysmography and color-flow-assisted duplex scanning in the quantification of chronic venous insufficiency. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1996. 24(5): p. 750-4.
- 198. Weingarten, M.S., et al., *Distribution and quantification of* venous reflux in lower extremity chronic venous stasis disease with duplex scanning. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1993. 18(5): p. 753-9.
- 199. Rodriguez, A.A., et al., *Duplex-derived valve closure times fail to correlate with reflux flow volumes in patients with chronic venous insufficiency.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1996. 23(4): p. 606-10.
- 200. Welch, H.J., et al., *Comparison of descending phlebography* with quantitative photoplethysmography, air plethysmography, and duplex quantitative valve closure time in assessing deep venous reflux. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1992. 16(6): p. 913-9; discussion 919-20.
- 201. Jeanneret, C., et al., *Physiological reflux and venous diameter change in the proximal lower limb veins during a standardised Valsalva manoeuvre.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 1999. 17(5): p. 398-403.
- Elem, B., B.A. Shorey, and K.L. Williams, Comparison between thermography and fluorescein test in the detection of incompetent perforating veins. British Medical Journal, 1971. 4(5788): p. 651-2.
- 203. Wojciechowski, J., J. Holm, and B.F. Zachrisson, *Thermography and phlebography in the detection of incompetent perforating veins.* Acta Radiologica: Diagnosis, 1982. 23(3A): p. 199-201.

- 204. Wojciechowski, J. and B.F. Zachrisson, *Thermography as a screening method in the diagnosis of deep venous thrombosis of the leg.* Acta Radiologica: Diagnosis, 1981. 22(5): p. 581-4.
- 205. Allen, J., et al., *Thermography and colour duplex ultrasound* assessments of arterio-venous fistula function in renal patients. Physiological Measurement, 2006. 27(1): p. 51-60.
- 206. Nicolaides, A.N., et al., *The relation of venous ulceration with ambulatory venous pressure measurements.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1993. 17(2): p. 414-9.
- 207. Marshall, M.M., *Identification and healing of leg ulcers with impaired circulation.* British Journal of Nursing, 1995. 4(2): p. 73-4.
- 208. Margolis, D.J., et al., *The accuracy of venous leg ulcer prognostic models in a wound care system.* Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2004. 12(2): p. 163-8.
- 209. Nicolaides, A.N. and A.J. Zukowski, *The value of dynamic venous pressure measurements.* World Journal of Surgery, 1986. 10(6): p. 919-24.
- 210. Norgren, L., *Elastic compression stockings--an evaluation with foot volumetry, strain-gauge plethysmography and photoplethysmography.* Acta Chirurgica Scandinavica, 1988. 154(9): p. 505-7.
- 211. Norgren, L., *Non-invasive functional investigation of chronic venous insufficiency with special reference to foot volumetry.* Acta Chirurgica Scandinavica Supplementum, 1988. 544: p. 39-43.
- 212. Norgren, L. and L.K. Widmer, Venous function, evaluated by foot volumetry, in patients with a previous deep venous thrombosis, treated with streptokinase. Preliminary results. Vasa, 1978. 7(4): p. 412-4.
- 213. Lawrence, D. and V.V. Kakkar, *Post-phlebitic syndrome-a functional assessment.* British Journal of Surgery, 1980. 67(10): p. 686-9.
- 214. Christopoulos, D., A.N. Nicolaides, and G. Szendro, Venous reflux: quantification and correlation with the clinical severity of chronic venous disease. British Journal of Surgery, 1988. 75(4): p. 352-6.

- 215. Tan, Y.K. and A.F. da Silva, *Digital photoplethysmography in the diagnosis of suspected lower limb DVT: is it useful?* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 1999. 18(1): p. 71-9.
- 216. Collins, J.T., et al., *A noninvasive method for assessing lower extremity venous function.* Medical Instrumentation, 1980. 14(5): p. 268-9.
- 217. Abramowitz, H.B., et al., *The use of photoplethysmography in the assessment of venous insufficiency: a comparison to venous pressure measurements.* Surgery, 1979. 86(3): p. 434-41.
- 218. Nicolaides, A.N. and C. Miles, *Photoplethysmography in the assessment of venous insufficiency.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1987. 5(3): p. 405-12.
- Sam, R.C., et al., Digital venous photoplethysmography in the seated position is a reproducible noninvasive measure of lower limb venous function in patients with isolated superficial venous reflux. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2006. 43(2): p. 335-41.
- 220. King, B. and L. Brereton, *Using photoplethysmography as part of nursing assessment.* Journal of Wound Care, 1998. 7(10): p. 543-6.
- 221. lafrati, M.D., et al., Correlation of venous noninvasive tests with the Society for Vascular Surgery/International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery clinical classification of chronic venous insufficiency. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1994. 19(6): p. 1001-7.
- 222. Balazek, V. Venous Photoplethysmography and invasive ambulatory pressure measurement - a multicentre comparision. in The 13th Annual Congress of The American College of Phlebology. 1999. Scottsdal, Arizona: The American College of Phlebology
- 223. Leu, H.J., Morphology of chronic venous insufficiency--light and electron microscopic examinations. Vasa, 1991. 20(4): p. 330-42.
- 224. Franzeck, U.K., et al., *Transcutaneous oxygen tension and capillary morphologic characteristics and density in patients*

with chronic venous incompetence. Circulation, 1984. 70(5): p. 806-11.

- 225. Huch, A., et al., A transparent transcutaneous oxygen electrode for simultaneous studies of skin capillary morphology, flow dynamics and oxygenation. International Journal of Microcirculation: Clinical & Experimental, 1983. 2(2): p. 103-8.
- 226. Fischer, M., et al., Flow velocity of cutaneous lymphatic capillaries in patients with primary lymphedema. International Journal of Microcirculation: Clinical & Experimental, 1997. 17(3): p. 143-9.
- 227. Fischer, M., et al., *Flow velocity of single lymphatic capillaries in human skin.* American Journal of Physiology, 1996. 270(1 Pt 2): p. H358-63.
- 228. Cambria, R.A., et al., *Noninvasive evaluation of the lymphatic system with lymphoscintigraphy: a prospective, semiquantitative analysis in 386 extremities.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1993. 18(5): p. 773-82.
- 229. Griton, P. and L.K. Widmer, *[Classification of varices and venous insufficiency].* Journal des Maladies Vasculaires, 1992. 17 Suppl B: p. 102-8.
- 230. Porter, J.M. and G.L. Moneta, *Reporting standards in venous disease: an update. International Consensus Committee on Chronic Venous Disease.[see comment].* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1995. 21(4): p. 635-45.
- 231. Porter, J.M., et al., *Reporting standards in venous disease.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1988. 8(2): p. 172-181.
- 232. Cornu-Thenard, A., J.F. Uhl, and P.H. Carpentier, *Do we need a better classification than CEAP?* Acta Chirurgica Belgica, 2004. 104(3): p. 276-82.
- 233. Antignani, P.L., et al., *Results of a questionnaire regarding improvement of 'C' in the CEAP classification.* European Journal of Vascular & Endovascular Surgery, 2004. 28(2): p. 177-81.
- 234. Eklof, B., et al., *Revision of the CEAP classification for chronic venous disorders: consensus statement.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2004. 40(6): p. 1248-52.

- 235. Rutherford, R.B., et al., *Venous severity scoring: An adjunct to venous outcome assessment.* Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2000. 31(6): p. 1307-12.
- 236. Kaulesar Sukul, D.M., et al., *Direct and indirect methods for the quantification of leg volume: comparison between water displacement volumetry, the disk model method and the frustum sign model method, using the correlation coefficient and the limits of agreement.* Journal of Biomedical Engineering, 1993. 15(6): p. 477-80.
- 237. Berard, A., et al., *Validity of the Leg-O-Meter, an instrument to measure leg circumference.* Angiology, 2002. 53(1): p. 21-8.
- 238. Berard, A., et al., *Reliability study of the Leg-O-Meter, an improved tape measure device, in patients with chronic venous insufficiency of the leg. VEINES Group.(Venous Insufficiency Epidemiologic and Economic Study).* Angiology, 1998. 49(3): p. 169-73.
- 239. Berard, A. and F. Zuccarelli, *Test-retest reliability study of a new improved Leg-O-meter, the Leg-O-meter II, in patients suffering from venous insufficiency of the lower limbs.* Angiology, 2000. 51(9): p. 711-7.
- 240. Haaverstad, R., et al., *The use of MRI in the investigation of leg oedema.* European Journal of Vascular Surgery, 1992.
 6(2): p. 124-9.
- 241. Haaverstad, R., et al., *The use of MRI in the diagnosis of chronic lymphedema of the lower extremity.* International Angiology, 1994. 13(2): p. 115-8.
- 242. Callam, M.J., et al., *Chronic ulcer of the leg: clinical history.* British Medical Journal Clinical Research Ed, 1987. 294(6584): p. 1389-91.
- 243. Dowsett, C., Assessment and management of patients with leg ulcers. Nursing Standard, 2005. 19(32): p. 65-72.
- 244. Kerstein, M.D., *The scientific basis of healing.[erratum appears in Adv Wound Care 1997 Jul-Aug;10(4):8].* Advances in Wound Care, 1997. 10(3): p. 30-6.
- 245. Skene, A.I., et al., *Venous leg ulcers: a prognostic index to predict time to healing.[see comment].* BMJ, 1992. 305(6862): p. 1119-21.

- 246. Dealey, C., *Measuring a wound.* Nursing Oxford, 1991. 4(33): p. 29.
- 247. Falanga, V., *Wound healing and chronic wounds.* Journal of Cutaneous Medicine & Surgery, 1998. 3 Suppl 1: p. S1-1-5.
- 248. Goldman, R.J. and R. Salcido, *More than one way to measure a wound: an overview of tools and techniques.* Advances in Skin & Wound Care, 2002. 15(5): p. 236-43.
- 249. Lazarus, G.S., et al., *Definitions and guidelines for* assessment of wounds and evaluation of healing. Archives of Dermatology, 1994. 130(4): p. 489-93.
- 250. Morison, M.J., *Wound assessment.* Professional Nurse, 1987. 2(10): p. 315-7.
- 251. Plassmann, P., *Measuring wounds.* Journal of Wound Care, 1995. 4(6): p. 269-72.
- 252. Rich, D.C. and J. Jalijali, *Effects of observer metamerism in the determination of human color-matching functions.* Color Research & Application, 1995. 20(1): p. 29-35.
- 253. Seaman, S., Considerations for the global assessment and treatment of patients with recalcitrant wounds. Ostomy Wound Management, 2000. 46(1A Suppl): p. 10S-29S; quiz 30S-31S.
- 254. Kantor, J. and D.J. Margolis, *Efficacy and prognostic value of simple wound measurements.[see comment].* Archives of Dermatology, 1998. 134(12): p. 1571-4.
- 255. Rice, R., *Wound assessment and documentation.* Home Healthcare Nurse, 1995. 13(2): p. 75-6.
- 256. McConnell, E.A., *Measuring a wound.* Nursing, 2000. 30(12): p. 17.
- 257. Ferrell, B.A., *Pressure ulcers. Assessment of healing.* Clinics in Geriatric Medicine, 1997. 13(3): p. 575-86.
- 258. Cooper, D.M., *Human wound assessment: status report and implications for clinicians.* AACN Clinical Issues in Critical Care Nursing, 1990. 1(3): p. 553-65.
- 259. Bohannon, R.W. and B.A. Pfaller, *Documentation of wound surface area from tracings of wound perimeters. Clinical*

report on three techniques. Physical Therapy, 1983. 63(10): p. 1622-4.

- 260. Tallman, P.M.D., et al., *Initial Rate of Healing Predicts Complete Healing of Venous Ulcers.* Archives of Dermatology October, 1997. 133(10): p. 1231-1234.
- 261. Griffin, J.W., et al., A comparison of photographic and transparency-based methods for measuring wound surface area. Physical Therapy, 1993. 73(2): p. 117-22.
- 262. Majeske, C., *Reliability of wound surface area measurements.* Physical Therapy, 1992. 72(2): p. 138-41.
- 263. Thomas, A.C. and A.B. Wysocki, *The healing wound: a comparison of three clinically useful methods of measurement.* Decubitus, 1990. 3(1): p. 18-20.
- 264. Thawer, H.A., et al., *A comparison of computer-assisted and manual wound size measurement.* Ostomy Wound Management, 2002. 48(10): p. 46-53.
- 265. Gethin, G. and S. Cowman, *Wound measurement comparing the use of acetate tracings and Visitrak digital planimetry.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2006. 15(4): p. 422-7.
- 266. Sugama, J., et al., A study of the efficiency and convenience of an advanced portable Wound Measurement System (VISITRAK). Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2007. 16(7): p. 1265-9.
- 267. McCardle, J., et al., *Visitrak: wound measurement as an aid to making treatment decisions.* Diabetic Foot 2005 Winter;, 2005. 8(4): p. 207-8.
- 268. Plassmann, P. and T.D. Jones, *MAVIS: a non-invasive instrument to measure area and volume of wounds. Measurement of Area and Volume Instrument System.* Medical Engineering & Physics, 1998. 20(5): p. 332-8.
- 269. Krouskop, T.A., R. Baker, and M.S. Wilson, *A noncontact wound measurement system.* Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development, 2002. 39(3): p. 337-45.
- Bulstrode, C.J., A.W. Goode, and P.J. Scott, Stereophotogrammetry for measuring rates of cutaneous healing: a comparison with conventional techniques. Clinical Science, 1986. 71(4): p. 437-43.

- 271. Kundin, J.I., *Designing and developing a new measuring instrument.* Perioperative Nursing Quarterly, 1985. 1(4): p. 40-5.
- 272. Kundin, J.I., *A new way to size up a wound.* American Journal of Nursing, 1989. 89(2): p. 206-7.
- 273. Johnson, J.D., *Using ulcer surface area and volume to document wound size.* Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association, 1995. 85(2): p. 91-5.
- 274. Pories, W.J., et al., *The measurement of human wound healing.* Surgery, 1966. 59(5): p. 821-4.
- 275. Covington, J.S., et al., *Measurement of pressure ulcer* volume using dental impression materials: suggestion from the field. Physical Therapy, 1989. 69(8): p. 690-4.
- 276. Gledhill, T. and W.E. Waterfall, *Silastic Foam: a new material for dressing wounds.* Canadian Medical Association Journal, 1983. 128(6): p. 685.
- Wood, R.A., R.H. Williams, and L.E. Hughes, Foam elastomer dressing in the management of open granulating wounds: experience with 250 patients. British Journal of Surgery, 1977. 64(8): p. 554-7.
- 278. Gilman, T., *Wound outcomes: the utility of surface measures.* International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds 2004 Sep; 3(3): 125-32 (24 ref), 2004.
- Margolis, D.J., J.A. Berlin, and B.L. Strom, A simple model based on wound size and duration predicted healing of venous ulcers at 24 weeks. Evidenced-Based Nursing, 2001. 4(1): p. 27.
- 280. Feldman, D., et al. *Tissue Assessment for Wound Healing*. 2007 [cited 2007 2/10/2007]; Available from: <u>http://www.eng.uab.edu/me/faculty/amcclain/GBMP/wound%</u> 20assessment.htm.
- 281. Feldman, D. and J.A. Jennings, Letters to the editor... "Healing rate as a prognostic indicator of complete healing: a reappraisal" (Wounds 2003;15(3):71-6). Wounds: A Compendium of Clinical Research and Practice 2003 Nov; 15(11): Supplement: A19-20, 2003.

- 282. Robson, M.C., et al., *Wound healing trajectories as predictors of effectiveness of therapeutic agents.[see comment].* Archives of Surgery, 2000. 135(7): p. 773-7.
- 283. Gilman, T., *Parameter for measurement of wounds.* Wounds: A Compendium of Clinical Research & Practice, 1990. 2: p. 95-101.
- 284. Margolis, D.J., et al., *Planimetric rate of healing in venous ulcers of the leg treated with pressure bandage and hydrocolloid dressing.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1993. 28(3): p. 418-21.
- 285. Ramirez, A.T., et al., *Experimental wound healing in man.* Surgery, Gynecology & Obstetrics, 1969. 128(2): p. 283-93.
- 286. Hokanson, J., et al., *A mathematical model for the analysis of experimental wound healing date.* Wounds: A Compendium of Clinical Research & Practice, 1991. 3: p. 213-220.
- 287. Margolis, D.J., J.A. Berlin, and B.L. Strom, *Which venous leg ulcers will heal with limb compression bandages?* American Journal of Medicine, 2000. 109(1): p. 15-9.
- 288. Bello, Y. and T. Phillips, *Management of Venous Ulcers.* Journal of Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery, 1998.
 3(Supplement 1): p. S1-6 to S1-12.
- 289. McGuckin, M., et al., *Guidelines in practice: the effect on healing of venous ulcers.* Advances in Skin & Wound Care, 2001. 14(1): p. 33-6.
- 290. Douglas, W.S. and N.B. Simpson, *Guidelines for the* management of chronic venous leg ulceration. Report of a multidisciplinary workshop. British Association of Dermatologists and the Research Unit of the Royal College of Physicians. British Journal of Dermatology, 1995. 132(3): p. 446-52.
- 291. Johnson, M., *Healing determinants in older people with leg ulcers.* Research in Nursing & Health, 1995. 18(5): p. 393-403.
- 292. Cutting, K.F. and R.J. White, *Maceration of the skin and wound bed. 1: Its nature and causes.* Journal of Wound Care, 2002. 11(7): p. 275-8.

- 293. Stephens, P. and D.W. Thomas, *The cellular proliferative phase of the wound repair process 1.* Journal of Wound Care, 2002. 11(7): p. 253-61.
- 294. Wilson, K., *Wound healing: the role of macrophages.* Nursing in Critical Care, 1997. 2(6): p. 291-6.
- 295. Berry, D.P., et al., *Human wound contraction: collagen organization, fibroblasts, and myofibroblasts.* Plastic & Reconstructive Surgery, 1998. 102(1): p. 124-31; discussion 132-4.
- 296. Lawrence, W.T., *Physiology of the acute wound.* Clinics in Plastic Surgery, 1998. 25(3): p. 321-40.
- 297. Kratz, G., *Modeling of wound healing processes in human skin using tissue culture.* Microscopy Research & Technique, 1998. 42(5): p. 345-50.
- 298. Cuzzell, J., *Wound healing: translating theory into clinical practice.* Dermatology Nursing, 1995. 7(2): p. 127-31.
- Lorentzen, H.F. and F. Gottrup, *Clinical assessment of infection in nonhealing ulcers analyzed by latent class analysis.* Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2006. 14(3): p. 350-3.
- 300. Banks, V., *Wound assessment methods.* Journal of Wound Care, 1998. 7(4): p. 211-2.
- 301. Cuzzell, J.Z., *The new RYB color code.* American Journal of Nursing, 1988. 88(10): p. 1342-6.
- 302. Ertl, P., *Planning a route to treatment. A framework for leg ulcer assessment.* Professional Nurse, 1993. 8(10): p. 675-9.
- 303. Ertl, P., *The multiple benefits of accurate assessment. Effective management of leg ulcers.* Professional Nurse, 1993. 9(2): p. 139-44.
- 304. Flanagan, M., *A practical framework for wound assessment. 2: Methods.* British Journal of Nursing, 1997. 6(1): p. 6.
- 305. Krasner, D., *Wound care: how to use the red-yellow-black system.* American Journal of Nursing, 1995. 95(5): p. 44-7.
- 306. Loughry, K.M., *The III color concept for wound management.* Home Healthcare Nurse, 1991. 9(2): p. 28-32.

- 307. Satterfield, K. (2007) *Diabetes watch: A Guide to Understanding the Various Wound Classification Systems.* Podiatry Today Volume, 20-27
- 308. van Rijswijk, L., *The fundamentals of wound assessment.* Ostomy Wound Management, 1996. 42(7): p. 40-2.
- Vermeulen, H., et al., Inter- and intra-observer (dis)agreement among nurses and doctors to classify colour and exudation of open surgical wounds according to the Red-Yellow-Black scheme. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2007. 16(7): p. 1270-7.
- 310. Lorentzen, H.F., P. Holstein, and F. Gottrup, [Interobserver variation in the Red-Yellow-Black wound classification system]. Ugeskrift for Laeger, 1999. 161(44): p. 6045-8.
- 311. Buntinx, F., et al., *Inter-observer variation in the assessment of skin ulceration.* Journal of Wound Care, 1996. 5(4): p. 166-70.
- 312. Schultz, G.S., et al., *Wound bed preparation: a systematic approach to wound management.* Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2003. 11(s1): p. S1-S28.
- 313. Schultz, G.S., et al., *Wound bed preparation and a brief history of TIME.* International Wound Journal, 2004. 1(1): p. 19-32.
- 314. Sibbald, R.G., et al., *Preparing the wound bed 2003: focus on infection and inflammation.[see comment].* Ostomy Wound Management, 2003. 49(11): p. 23-51.
- 315. Sibbald, R.G., et al., *Preparing the wound bed--debridement, bacterial balance, and moisture balance.* Ostomy Wound Management, 2000. 46(11): p. 14-22.
- 316. Ligresti, C. and F. Bo, *Wound bed preparation of difficult wounds: an evolution of the principles of TIME.* International Wound Journal, 2007. 4(1): p. 21-9.
- 317. Falanga, V., L.J. Saap, and A. Ozonoff, *Wound bed score* and its correlation with healing of chronic wounds. Dermatologic Therapy, 2006. 19(6): p. 383-90.
- 318. Lyon, R., et al., *Clinical Benchmark for healing Chronic venous Ulcers.* The American Journal of Surgery, 1998. 176(2): p. 172-175.

- 319. Angle, N. and J. Bergan, *Chronic venous ulcers.* British Medical Journal, 1997. 314(7086): p. 1019-1023.
- 320. Nunnelle, J., *Healing venous ulcers.* RN, 1997. 60(11): p. 38-43.
- 321. Warren, P. *Clinical Skills; The Detection of Disesed Organs*. [Web page] 2000 12/8/2002 [cited 2004 5/9/2004]; Available from: <u>http://www.umanitoba.ca/faculties/medicine/units/history/no</u> <u>tes/diagnostic/</u>.
- 322. Keast, D., et al., *MEASURE: A proposed assessment framework for developing best practice recommendations for wound assessment.* Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2004. 12(3): p. S1-17, 200-17.
- 323. Cohen, I.K., *A brief history of wound healing*. 1 ed. 1998, Yardley: Oxford Clinical Communications Inc.
- 324. Myers, B.A., *Wound Management: principle and practice*. 1 ed. 2004, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- 325. Lait, M. and L. Smith, *Wound management: a literature review.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 1998. 7(1): p. 11-17.
- 326. Moody, M., *Problem wounds: a nursing challenge.* Nursing Standard, 1995. 9(25): p. 3-12.
- 327. Bates-Jensen, B., Wound care nurses' judgements on healing time in chronic wounds. Ostomy/Wound Management, 1996. 42(4): p. 36-45.
- 328. Ruckley, C., Caring for patients with chronic leg ulcer: Early specialist assessment offers the best hope of sustained healing. British Medical Journal, 1998. 316(7129): p. 407-408.
- 329. Boynton, P.R. and C. Paustian, *Wound assessment and decision-making options.* Critical Care Nursing Clinics of North America, 1996. 8(2): p. 125-39.
- 330. Sutton, J., *Accurate wound assessment.* Nursing Times, 1989. 85(38): p. 68-71.
- 331. Benbow, M., *Parameters of wound assessment.* British Journal of Nursing, 1995. 4(11): p. 647-8.
- 332. MacAdam, D., *The Physical Basis of Color Specification*, in *Readings on Color. Volume 2: The Sciecne of Color*, A.

Byrne and D. Hilbert, Editors. 1997, MIT Press: Massachusetts. p. 465.

- 333. Byrne, A. and D. Hilbert, eds. *Reading on Color. Volume* 1:The Philosophy of Color. 1 ed. Vol. 1. 1997, MIT Press: Massacheusetts. 317.
- 334. Campbell, J., *A simple View of Colour*, in *Readings on Color*. *Volume 1: The Philosophy of Color*, A. Byrne and D. Hilbert, Editors. 1997, MIT Press: Massachesetts. p. 177-190.
- 335. Land, E.H., et al., *Colour-generating interactions across the corpus callosum.* Nature, 1983. 303(5918): p. 616-8.
- 336. Land, E.H. and J.J. McCann, *Lightness and retinex theory.* Journal of the Optical Society of America, 1971. 61(1): p. 1-11.
- 337. Boghossian, P.A. and J.D. Velleman, *Physicalist Theories of Colour*, in *Readings on Colour. The Philosophy of Colour*, A. Byrne and D. Hilbert, Editors. 1997, Braddorf Book: Massachusetts. p. 105-136.
- 338. Cornsweet, T., *Visual Perception*. 1 ed. 1970, New York: Academic Press.
- 339. Judd, D., D. MacAdam, and G. Wyszecki, Journal of Optical Society of America, 1964. 54: p. 1031.
- 340. DeValois, R. and K. DeValois, *Neural Coding of Color*, in *Readings on Color. Volume 2:The Science of Color*, A. Byrne and D. Hilbert, Editors. 1997, MIT Press: Massachusetts. p. 93-140.
- 341. Marks, W., W. Dobell, and E. MacNichol, *Visual pigments of single primate cones.* Science, 1964. 143: p. 1181-1182.
- 342. Girard, P. and M.C. Morrone, *Spatial structure of chromatically opponent receptive fields in the human visual system.* Visual Neuroscience, 1995. 12(1): p. 103-16.
- 343. Dehay, C., et al., *Maturation and connectivity of the visual cortex in monkey is altered by prenatal removal of retinal input.*[see comment]. Nature, 1989. 337(6204): p. 265-7.
- 344. Anullo-Vento, L., S. Luck, and S. Hillyard, *Spatio-Temporal Dynamics of Attention to Color: Evidence From Human Electrophysiology.* Human Brain Mapping, 1998. 6: p. 216-238.

- 345. Zeki, S., A century of cerebral achromatopsia. Brain, 1990. 113: p. 1772-1777.
- 346. Zeki, S. and L. Marini, *Three cortical stages of colour processing in the human brain.* Brain, 1998. 121(9): p. 1669 1685.
- 347. Mahon, L.E. and A.J. Vingrys, *Normal saturation processing provides a model for understanding the effects of disease on color perception.* Vision Research, 1996. 36(18): p. 2995-3002.
- 348. Damasio, H., *Human Brain Anatomy in Computerized Images*. 1980, New York: Oxford University Press.
- 349. Bauml, K.H., *Simultaneous color constancy: how surface color perception varies with the illuminant.* Vision Research, 1999. 39(8): p. 1531-50.
- 350. Bauml, K.H., *Increments and decrements in color constancy.* Journal of the Optical Society of America, A, Optics, Image Science, & Vision, 2001. 18(10): p. 2419-29.
- Troost, J.M. and C.M. de Weert, Naming versus matching in color constancy. Perception & Psychophysics, 1991. 50(6): p. 591-602.
- 352. Webster, M.A. and J.D. Mollon, *Colour constancy influenced by contrast adaptation*. Vol. 373. 1995: Nature 694-698.
- 353. Gegenfurtner, K.R., *Visual perception: Reflections on colour constancy* Vol. 402. 1999: Nature 855-856.
- 354. Cornelissen, F.W. and E. Brenner, *Simultaneous colour constancy revisited: an analysis of viewing strategies.* Vision Research, 1995. 35(17): p. 2431-48.
- 355. Adams, R.J., M.L. Courage, and M.E. Mercer, Systematic measurement of human neonatal color vision. Vision Research, 1994. 34(13): p. 1691-701.
- 356. Teller, D.Y., *Spatial and temporal aspects of infant color vision.* Vision Research, 1998. 38(21): p. 3275-82.
- 357. Adams, R.J. and M.L. Courage, *Human newborn color* vision: measurement with chromatic stimuli varying in excitation purity. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 1998. 68(1): p. 22-34.

- 358. Adams, R.J. and M.L. Courage, *Development of chromatic discrimination in early infancy*. Behavioural Brain Research, 1995. 67(1): p. 99-101.
- 359. Gur, M. and V. Akri, *Isoluminant stimuli may not expose the full contribution of color to visual functioning: spatial contrast sensitivity measurements indicate interaction between color and luminance processing.* Vision Research, 1992. 32(7): p. 1253-62.
- Jameson, D. and L. Hurvich, Essay Concerning Color Constancy, in Readings in Color. Volume 2: The Science of Color, A. Byrne and D. Hilbert, Editors. 1997, MIT Press: Massachsetts. p. 177-198.
- 361. Watlington, J. Color Constancy. 1998 [cited 2007 23rd November]; Available from: http://web.media.mit.edu/~wad/color/constancy.html.
- 362. Van Es, J.J., T. Vladusich, and F.W. Cornelissen, *Local and relational judgements of surface colour: constancy indices and discrimination performance*. Vol. 20. 2007: Spatial Vision Special Issue on Signal Detection Theory. 139-154.
- 363. Bloj, M.G., D. Kersten, and A.C. Hurlbert, *Perception of three-dimensional shape influences colour perception through mutual illumination*. Vol. 402. 1999: Nature 877-879.
- 364. Evans, K.K. and A. Treisman, *Perception of objects in natural scenes: is it really attention free?* Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception & Performance, 2005. 31(6): p. 1476-92.
- 365. Treisman, A., *Features and objects: the fourteenth Bartlett memorial lecture.* Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology A, 1988. 40(2): p. 201-37.
- 366. Brown, A.L. and J.C. Campione, *Color dominance in preschool children as a function of specific cue preferences.* Child Development, 1971. 42(5): p. 1495-500.
- 367. Johnson, E.G., *The development of color knowledge in preschool children.* Child Development, 1977. 48: p. 308-311.
- 368. Petzold, A. and L. Sharpe, *Hue memory and discrimination in young children.* Vision Research, 1998. 38: p. 3759-3772.

- 369. Barnard, K., V. Cardei, and B. Funt, A Comparison of Computational Color Constancy Algorithms - Part I: Methodology and Experiments with Synthesized Data. IEEE Transactions in Image Processing, 2002. 11(9): p. 972-983.
- 370. Barnard, K., V. Cardei, and B. Funt, A Comparison of Computational Color Constancy Algorithms - Part II: Experiements with Image Data. IEEE Transactions in Image Processing, 2002. 11(9): p. 985-996.
- 371. Forsuth, D., *A novel algorithm for color constancy.* International Journal of Computer Vision, 1990. 5: p. 5-36.
- Adler, A. and M.E. Schuckers, Comparing human and automatic face recognition performance. IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, & Cybernetics, Part B: Cybernetics, 2007. 37(5): p. 1248-55.
- Zhou, X. and B. Bhanu, *Integrating face and gait for human recognition at a distance in video*. IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, & Cybernetics, Part B: Cybernetics, 2007. 37(5): p. 1119-37.
- 374. Montagne, B., et al., *The Emotion Recognition Task: a paradigm to measure the perception of facial emotional expressions at different intensities.* Perceptual & Motor Skills, 2007. 104(2): p. 589-98.
- 375. Wang, J. and E. Sung, *Frontal-view face detection and facial feature extraction using color and morphological operations.* Pattern Recognition Letters, 1999. 20: p. 1053-1068.
- 376. Sammouda, R. and M. Sammouda, *Modification of the mean*square error principle to double the convergence speed of a special case of Hopfield neural network used to segment pathological liver color images. BMC Medical Informatics & Decision Making, 2004. 4(1): p. 22.
- 377. Usher, D., et al., Automated detection of diabetic retinopathy in digital retinal images: a tool for diabetic retinopathy screening. Diabetic Medicine, 2004. 21(1): p. 84-90.
- 378. Celebi, M.E., et al., *A methodological approach to the classification of dermoscopy images.* Computerized Medical Imaging & Graphics, 2007. 31(6): p. 362-73.

- 379. Saari, J.M., et al., *Digital imaging in differential diagnosis of small choroidal melanoma.* Graefes Archive for Clinical & Experimental Ophthalmology, 2006. 244(12): p. 1581-90.
- Rallan, D., et al., High-resolution ultrasound reflex transmission imaging and digital photography: potential tools for the quantitative assessment of pigmented lesions. Skin Research & Technology, 2006. 12(1): p. 50-9.
- Brown, N., Exploration of diagnostic techniques for malignant melanoma: an integrative review. Clinical Excellence for Nurse Practitioners, 2000. 4(5): p. 263-71.
- 382. Zhang, J., et al., *A feasibility study of multispectral image analysis of skin tumors.* Biomedical Instrumentation & Technology, 2000. 34(4): p. 275-82.
- 383. Seidenari, S., G. Pellacani, and A. Giannetti, *Digital* videomicroscopy and image analysis with automatic classification for detection of thin melanomas. Melanoma Research, 1999. 9(2): p. 163-71.
- 384. Landau, M., et al., *Computerized system to enhance the clinical diagnosis of pigmented cutaneous malignancies.* International Journal of Dermatology, 1999. 38(6): p. 443-6.
- Sober, A.J. and J.M. Burstein, Computerized digital image analysis: an aid for melanoma diagnosis--preliminary investigations and brief review. Journal of Dermatology, 1994. 21(11): p. 885-90.
- 386. Green, A., et al., *Computer image analysis in the diagnosis of melanoma.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1994. 31(6): p. 958-64.
- 387. Schindewolf, T., et al., Classification of melanocytic lesions with color and texture analysis using digital image processing. Analytical & Quantitative Cytology & Histology, 1993. 15(1): p. 1-11.
- 388. Stoecker, W.V. and R.H. Moss, *Digital imaging in dermatology.* Computerized Medical Imaging & Graphics, 1992. 16(3): p. 145-50.
- Claridge, E., et al., Shape analysis for classification of malignant melanoma. Journal of Biomedical Engineering, 1992. 14(3): p. 229-34.

- 390. Green, A., et al., *Computer image analysis of pigmented skin lesions.* Melanoma Research, 1991. 1(4): p. 231-6.
- 391. Cascinelli, N., et al., *A possible new tool for clinical diagnosis of melanoma: the computer.* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1987. 16(2 Pt 1): p. 361-7.
- 392. Takiwaki, H., Y. Miyaoka, and S. Arase, *Analysis of the absorbance spectra of skin lesions as a helpful tool for detection of major pathophysiological changes.* Skin Research & Technology, 2004. 10(2): p. 130-5.
- 393. Takiwaki, H., *Measurement of skin color: practical application and theoretical considerations.* Journal of Medical Investigation, 1998. 44(3-4): p. 121-6.
- 394. Takiwaki, H., et al., A rudimentary system for automatic discrimination among basic skin lesions on the basis of color analysis of video images. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1995. 32(4): p. 600-4.
- 395. Gammal, S. and R. Popp, *A color image analysis system (cdcwa) to quantify wound healing of ulcers.* Skin Research & Technology, 1995. 1: p. 159.
- 396. Herbin, M., et al., Assessment of healing kinetics through true colour image processing. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, 1993. 12(1): p. 39-43.
- 397. Mekkes, J. and W. Westerhof, *Image processing in the study of wound healing.* Clinics in Dermatology, 1995. 13(4): p. 401-407.
- 398. Shai, A., et al., Scaled Healing Assessment Index: a novel method for measuring the degree of wound bed preparation. Skin Research & Technology, 2007. 13(3): p. 227-35.
- 399. Boardman, M., et al., *Hue, saturation and intensity in the healing wound image.* Journal of Wound Care, 1994. 3(7): p. 314-319.
- 400. Berriss, W. and S. Sangwine, Automatic Quantitative Analysis of Healing SKin Wounds using Colour Digital Image Processing. Wound Colour Image Processing Review, 1997. 1(1).

- 401. Jones, B. and P. Plassman, *An instrument to measure the dimensions of skin wounds.* IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, 1995. 42(5): p. 464-70.
- 402. Arqvist, J., L. Hellgren, and J. Vincent. Semiautomatic classification of secondary healing ulcers in multspectral images. in Proceedings of 9th International Conference on Pattern Recognition. 1988. Rome.
- 403. Defloor, T. and L. Schoonhoven, *Inter-rater reliability of the EPUAP pressure ulcer classification system using photographs.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2004. 13(8): p. 952-9.
- 404. Hanson, G., et al., *Wound Status Evaluation Using Color Image Processing.* IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, 1997. 16(1): p. 78-86.
- 405. van der Valk, P.G., G. Zarafonitis, and E. Snater, *Quantification of biophysical properties of the skin.* Current Problems in Dermatology, 1995. 22: p. 54-8.
- 406. Santamaria, N., et al., *The effectiveness of digital imaging* and remote expert wound consultation on healing rates in chronic lower leg ulcers in the Kimberley region of Western Australia. Primary Intention 2004 May;, 2002. 12(2): p. 62-4.
- 407. Grabs, A.J., et al., *Colour duplex ultrasonography in the rational management of chronic venous leg ulcers.* British Journal of Surgery, 1996. 83(10): p. 1380-2.
- 408. Lunt, M.J., *Review of duplex and colour Doppler imaging of lower-limb arteries and veins.* Journal of Tissue Viability, 1999. 9(2): p. 45-55.
- 409. Eifell, R.K.G., H.Y. Ashour, and T.A. Lees, Comparison of new continuous measurements of ambulatory venous pressure (AVP) with conventional tiptoe exercise ambulatory AVP in relation to the CEAP clinical classification of chronic venous disease. Journal of Vascular Surgery, 2006. 44(4): p. 794-802.
- 410. Krasner, D., *Wound care: how to use the red-yellow-black system.* AJN, American Journal of Nursing. 95(5):44-7, 1995 May., 1995.
- 411. Weinmann, E. and P. Lourekas, *Photoshop 5.5 for Windows and Macintosh*. 1999, Berkeley: Peachpit Press.

- 412. Considine, J., M. Botti, and S. Thomas, *Do knowledge and experience have specific roles in triage decision-making?* Academic Emergency Medicine, 2007. 14(8): p. 722-6.
- 413. Bucknall, T., A gaze through the lens of decision theory toward knowledge translation science.[comment]. Nursing Research, 2007. 56(4 Suppl): p. S60-6.
- 414. Weber, S., *Clinical decision support systems and how critical care clinicians use them.* Journal of Healthcare Information Management, 2007. 21(2): p. 41-52.
- 415. Hancock, H.C. and L. Durham, *Critical care outreach: the need for effective decision-making in clinical practice (Part 1).* Intensive & Critical Care Nursing, 2007. 23(1): p. 15-22.
- 416. Harbison, J., *Clinical judgement in the interpretation of evidence: A Bayesian approach.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2006. 15(12): p. 1489-97.
- 417. Tanner, C.A., *Thinking like a nurse: a research-based model of clinical judgment in nursing.* Journal of Nursing Education, 2006. 45(6): p. 204-11.
- 418. Pritchard, M.J., *Making effective clinical decisions: a framework for nurse practitioners.* British Journal of Nursing, 2006. 15(3): p. 128-30.
- 419. Polit, D. and C. Beck, *Essentials of nursing research: methods, appraisal and utilization.* 6th ed. 2006, Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 420. Baryza, M.J. and G.A. Baryza, *The Vancouver Scar Scale: an administration tool and its interrater reliability.* Journal of Burn Care & Rehabilitation, 1995. 16(5): p. 535-8.
- 421. Sullivan, T., et al., *Rating the burn scar.* Journal of Burn Care & Rehabilitation, 1990. 11(3): p. 256-60.
- 422. Davey, B., *Paediatric lacerations and burns.* Australian Family Physician, 1999. 28(2): p. 117-23.
- 423. Minichiello, V., et al., *Research Methods for Nursing and Health Science*. 2nd ed. 2004, Frenchs Forest: Pearson Eduaction Australia.
- 424. Wewers, M.E. and N.K. Lowe, A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical

phenomena.[see comment]. Research in Nursing & Health, 1990. 13(4): p. 227-36.

- 425. Nwomeh, B., D. Yager, and K. Cohen, *Physiology of the Chronic Wound.* Clinics in Plastic Surgery, 1998. 25(3): p. 341-356.
- 426. Langer, R.D., et al., *Relationships between symptoms and venous disease: the San Diego population study.* Archives of Internal Medicine, 2005. 165(12): p. 1420-4.
- 427. Capeheart, J.K., *Chronic venous insufficiency: a focus on prevention of venous ulceration.* Journal of Wound, Ostomy, & Continence Nursing, 1996. 23(4): p. 227-34.
- 428. Coerper, S., et al., *Documentation of 7051 chronic wounds* using a new computerized system within a network of wound care centers. Archives of Surgery, 2004. 139(3): p. 251-8.
- 429. Pascual, G., et al., *TGF-beta1 upregulation in the aging varicose vein.* Journal of Vascular Research, 2007. 44(3): p. 192-201.
- 430. Romanelli, M., *Objective measurement of venous ulcer debridement and granulation with a skin color reflectance analyser.* Wounds: A Compendium of Clinical Research & Practice, 1997. 4: p. 6-15.
- 431. Flanagan, M., *Improving accuracy of wound measurement in clinical practice.* Ostomy Wound Management, 2003. 49(10): p. 28-40.
- 432. Plassmann, P. and M.J. Jones, *Measuring leg ulcers by colour-coded structure light.* Journal of Wound Care, 1992. 1(3): p. 35-38.
- 433. Hansen, G., et al., *Wound Status Evaluation Using Color Image Processing.* IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, 1997. 16(1): p. 78-86.
- 434. Callam, M.J., et al., Arterial disease in chronic leg ulceration: an underestimated hazard? Lothian and Forth Valley leg ulcer study. British Medical Journal Clinical Research Ed, 1987. 294(6577): p. 929-31.

- 435. Phillips, T.J. and J.S. Dover, *Leg ulcers.[see comment].* Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1991. 25(6 Pt 1): p. 965-87.
- 436. Pecoraro, R.E., et al., *Chronology and determinants of tissue repair in diabetic lower-extremity ulcers.* Diabetes, 1991. 40(10): p. 1305-13.
- 437. Patete, P., et al., A non-invasive, three-dimensional, diagnostic laser imaging system for accuract wound analysis. Physiological Measurment, 1996. 17: p. 71-79.
- 438. Li, D., *Design and implementation for wound measurement application.* Primary Intention 2006 May;, 2006. 14(2): p. 56-8.
- 439. Agren, M.S., *Percutaneous absorption of zinc from zinc oxide applied topically to intact skin in man.* Dermatologica, 1990. 180(1): p. 36-9.
- 440. Cullum, N., et al., Compression for venous leg ulcers.[update of Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2000;(3):CD000265; PMID: 10908469]. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2001(2): p. CD000265.
- 441. Weintraub, D. and E. Walker, *Perception*. Basic Concepts in Psychology series. 1968, Belmont: Brooks/Cole Publishing. 103.
- 442. Xia, Z., et al., *Stimulation of Fibrioblast growth in vitro by intermittent radiant warming.* Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2000. 8(2): p. 138-44.
- 443. Byrne, A. and D. Hilbert, eds. *Readings on Color. Volume* 2:The Science of Color. Vol. 2. 1997, Bradford Book: Massachusetts. 465.
- 444. Chang, C.-P., et al., *Evaluation of erythemal UV effective irradiance from UV lamp exposure and the application in shield metal arc welding processing.* Health Physics, 2008. 94(4): p. 318-27.
- 445. Jung, B., et al., Characterization of port wine stain skin erythema and melanin content using cross-polarized diffuse reflectance imaging. Lasers in Surgery & Medicine, 2004. 34(2): p. 174-81.
- 446. Likar, R., et al., *Transdermal buprenorphine patches applied in a 4-day regimen versus a 3-day regimen: a single-site,*

Phase III, randomized, open-label, crossover comparison. Clinical Therapeutics, 2007. 29(8): p. 1591-606.

- 447. Oppenrieder, A., P. Hoeppe, and P. Koepke, *Routine measurement of erythemally effective UV irradiance on inclined surfaces.* Journal of Photochemistry & Photobiology B Biology, 2004. 74(2-3): p. 85-94.
- 448. Park, S.B., D.H. Suh, and J.I. Youn, *A long-term time course of colorimetric evaluation of ultraviolet light-induced skin reactions.* Clinical & Experimental Dermatology, 1999. 24(4): p. 315-20.
- 449. Phan, T.A., et al., *Melanin differentially protects from the initiation and progression of threshold UV-induced erythema depending on UV waveband.* Photodermatology, Photoimmunology & Photomedicine, 2006. 22(4): p. 174-80.
- 450. Poon, T.S., et al., *Objective measurement of minimal* erythema and melanogenic doses using natural and solarsimulated light. Photochemistry & Photobiology, 2003. 78(4): p. 331-6.
- 451. Reuder, J., et al., *Investigations on the effect of high surface albedo on erythemally effective UV irradiance: results of a campaign at the Salar de Uyuni, Bolivia.* Journal of Photochemistry & Photobiology B - Biology, 2007. 87(1): p. 1-8.
- 452. Schempp, C.M., et al., Salt water bathing prior to UVB irradiation leads to a decrease of the minimal erythema dose and an increased erythema index without affecting skin pigmentation. Photochemistry & Photobiology, 1999. 69(3): p. 341-4.
- 453. Selvaag, E., et al., *Optimized UVB treatment of atopic dermatitis using skin reflectance measurements. A controlled, left-right comparison trial.* Acta Dermato-Venereologica, 2005. 85(2): p. 144-6.
- 454. Toivgoogiin, A., et al., Validity of using tuberculin skin test erythema measurement for contact investigation during a tuberculosis outbreak in schoolchildren previously vaccinated with BCG. Journal of Epidemiology, 2005. 15(2): p. 56-64.
- 455. Setaro, M. and A. Sparavigna, *Quantification of erythema* using digital camera and computer-based colour image

analysis: a multicentre study. Skin Research & Technology, 2002. 8(2): p. 84-8.

- 456. Werner, M., B. Lasseen, and H. Kehlet, *Local cooling does not prevent hyperalgesia following burn injury in humans.* Pain, 2002. 98(3): p. 297-303.
- 457. de Almeida Neto, A.C. and T.F. Chen, *When* pharmacotherapeutic recommendations may lead to the reverse effect on physician decision-making. Pharmacy World & Science, 2008. 30(1): p. 3-8.
- 458. Fogarty, J.S., *Reactance theory and patient noncompliance.* Social Science & Medicine, 1997. 45(8): p. 1277-88.
- 459. Kingdom, F. and B. Moulden, *Border effects on brightness: a review of findings, models and issues.* Spatial Vision, 1988. 3(4): p. 225-62.
- 460. Albert, M.K., *Cue interactions, border ownership and illusory contours.* Vision Research, 2001. 41(22): p. 2827-34.
- 461. Zhaoping, L., Border ownership from intracortical interactions in visual area v2.[see comment]. Neuron, 2005. 47(1): p. 143-53.
- 462. Epstein, R.A., et al., *Visual scene processing in familiar and unfamiliar environments.* Journal of Neurophysiology, 2007. 97(5): p. 3670-83.
- 463. Lee, J., A.C.M. Chan, and D.R. Phillips, *Diagnostic practise in nursing: a critical review of the literature.* Nursing & Health Sciences, 2006. 8(1): p. 57-65.
- 464. Brehm, J.W., *A theory of pyschological reactance*. 1966, New York: Academic Press.
- 465. Brehm, S. and J.W. Brehm, *Psychological Reactance: A tTheory of Freedom and Control*. 1981, New York: Academic Press.
- 466. Grol, R. and J. Grimshaw, *From best evidence to best practice: effective implementation of change in patient's care.* Lancet, 2003. 362(9391): p. 1225-30.
- 467. Sittig, D.F., et al., Assessing the anticipated consequences of Computer-based Provider Order Entry at three community hospitals using an open-ended, semi-structured survey

instrument. International Journal of Medical Informatics, 2008. 77(7): p. 440-7.

- 468. Sittig, D.F., et al., *Emotional aspects of computer-based provider order entry: a qualitative study.* Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 2005. 12(5): p. 561-7.
- 469. Buller-Close, K., D.L. Schriger, and L.J. Baraff, Heterogeneous effect of an Emergency Department Expert Charting System. Annals of Emergency Medicine, 2003. 41(5): p. 644-52.
- 470. Agostini, J.V., J. Concato, and S.K. Inouye, *Improving* sedative-hypnotic prescribing in older hospitalized patients: provider-perceived benefits and barriers of a computerbased reminder.[see comment]. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 2008. 23 Suppl 1: p. 32-6.
- 471. Iglesias, C.P., et al., *Quality of life of people with venous leg ulcers: a comparison of the discriminative and responsive characteristics of two generic and a disease specific instruments.* Quality of Life Research, 2005. 14(7): p. 1705-18.
- 472. Franks, P.J., et al., *Longer-term changes in quality of life in chronic leg ulceration.* Wound Repair & Regeneration, 2006. 14(5): p. 536-41.
- 473. Casey, G., *Three steps to effective wound management.* Nursing Standard, 1998. 12(49): p. 43-44.
- 474. Harris, A., M. Brown-Etris, and J. Troyer-Caudle, *Managing Vascular Leg Ulcers Part 1: Assessment.* American Journal of Nursing, 1996. 96(1): p. 38-43.
- 475. Cole, R., et al., *Thermographic assessment of burns using a nonpermeable membrane as wound covering.* Burns, 1991. 17(2): p. 117-22.
- 476. Birdwell, B.G., et al., *The clinical validity of normal compression ultrasonography in outpatients suspected of having deep venous thrombosis.* Annals of Internal Medicine, 1998. 128(1): p. 1-7.
- 477. Kelechi, T.J. and Y. Michel, A descriptive study of skin temperature, tissue perfusion, and tissue oxygen in patients

with chronic venous disease. Biological Research for Nursing, 2007. 9(1): p. 70-80.

478. Agren, M.S., *Studies on zinc in wound healing.* Acta Dermato-Venereologica Supplementum, 1990. 154: p. 1-36.



Developing an accurate system of measuring colour in a venous leg ulcer in order to assess healing

 Objective: To develop a standardised method of assessing venous ulceration, based on the colour of an ulcer bed and the surrounding skin.

 Method: This pilot study involved taking three sequential digital photographs during an episode of care and measuring the colour using image analysis software. Ten episodes of care were used for data collection.

 Results: Based on previous research, a threshold of ≤3° of colour and 3% of saturation was selected to indicate the reliability of the system. The mean of the colour measurements was inside the reliability threshold when measuring an ulcer bed, but outside the threshold for measuring the surrounding skin.
 Conclusion: The results indicate that the system provides consistent visual representation of a venous leg ulcer.

Declaration of interest: None

venous leg ulcers; colour measurement; assessment; wound healing

enous leg ulceration is not only debilitating for patients, but also difficult and expensive to manage. The reported prevalence varies from 1.1 per 1000 population to 6.4 per 1000 of population.¹⁴ In North America, estimates put the costs of managing leg ulcers at between \$25 million

(£13 million) in 1985 to \$1 billion in 1996.⁵⁴ Management is aimed at reducing venous hypertension and providing a local wound environment conducive to healing;^{5,7,13} To monitor the local environment, regular assessment is recommended. Assessment of an ulcer environment relies heavily on the observations of a clinician, in particular, the clinician's ability to recognise various tissue types in the base of an ulcer.^{5,8,13,20} Expert opinion is that the predominance of a given tissue type is indicative of the ulcer healing process. A high percentage of wet necrotic tissue or slough in the ulcer bed indicates that an ulcer is undergoing destructive changes, while a predominance of granular tissue may be indicative of tissue proliferation or healing.^{19,21,23}

Colour

A key element to assessing the local environment of a venous ulcer is the ability to recognise the various tissue patterns in the ulcer base and surrounding skin. Colour is often used to describe the predominant tissue in an ulcer bed.

 A yellow wound predominantly consists of wet necrotic tissue or slough

A red wound is indicative of granulating tissue
 A green wound is representative of an infected ulcer.^{19,21,23}

JOURNAL OF WOUND CARE VOL 14, NO 6, JUNE 2005

While this classification system offers a broad rule of thumb, in reality most wounds exhibit subtle colour differences. In our experience, it is these difference that clinicians use to assess wounds. But interpretation of colour within a wound is a subjective measure and can result in differences of opinion.

Human colour perception is influenced by a number of physical and psychological variables including room lighting, visual acuity, previous experience with colour and the person's current mood. Although studies have shown that a consensus of colour perception can be achieved when judging major colour groups, these findings are not supported when subjects are asked to discriminate between subtle hues of one colour. Colour discrimination thresholds for the same colour can change by a factor of 10 between subjects.²⁴

Clinicians' differing perceptions can result in varying plans of treatment. As a result, patients with chronic wounds who are managed by a number of clinicians may be subjected to a range of local treatments and associated costs. As the cost of wound products escalate, so too does the need to develop systems that accurately measure a wound's progress. The literature suggests that the ability to recognise wound colours is an integral component of assessing wound healing.^{19,21,23} so having a system that records measurements accurately and consistently is key. Such a system would assist the collection of data on a wound, based on colour patterns, over time, which could provide a non-invasive method for determining wound-bed tissue type.

When the pattern for each wound is collated for several wounds of the same type — for example, W. McGuliness, MSN, RN, Senior Lecturer, La Trobe Alfred Clinical School of Nursing, Melbourne, Australia; S.V. Dumn, 'RN, PhD, PhD, Department of Human Physiology, Finders University School of Medicine, Addiaide, Autralia; M.J. Jones, 'RN, BS: (Hons), PhD, BS: (Hons), PhD, BS: (Hons), PhD, BS: (Hons), PhD, School of Nursersity School of Medicine, Addiaide, Autralia; Medical Centre, Medical Cent



References I Baker, S.R., Stacey, M.C.

I behavi, S.K., Sakoy, F.K., Epidemiology of chronic Leg ulcars in Australia Aust N Z Surg 1994; 64: 4, 258-261. 2 Balar, S.R., Sincey, M.C., Jopp-HcKsy, A.G. et al. Epidemiology of chronic venous ulcars. Br J Surg 1991; 78: 7, 84-387. Bech, BJ. The prevalence of leg ulcars in hospitals. Hospitals. Hosp, T.A., Lambert, D. Prevalence of lower limb ulcaration in an urban health district. Br J Surg 1992; 79: 10, 1032-1034. 5 Hartis, A.H., Brown-Ertis, M., Troyer-Caudie, J. Managing vascular leg ulcars. Part. 1: Assessment. Am J Nurs 1996; 96: 1, 38-44.

6 Fareajo, T., Frodin, T., Vahlquist, C. et al. Cost of the treament of leg ulcar: initiating a quality assurance process. Int Health Care Qual Assur Inc Leadersh Health Sarv 1997: 10:2-3, 125-130. J. Co-factors in Impaired Wound Healing, Ostomy Wound Harange 1996; 42: 2, 44-6, 48, 50-4.

44-6, 48, 50-4. § Staddmann, WK., Digenis, A.G., Tobin, G.R. Impediments to wound healing. Ann J Surg 1998; 176: 2A (Suppl), 395:475. 9 Late, M., Smith, L. Wound management a literature review. J Clin Nurs 1998; 7: 1, 11-17.

 Lyon, R.T., Vaith, F.J., Bolton, L., Machado, F. Clinical benchmark for healing chronic venous ulcars, Vanous Ulcar Scudy Collaborators. Am J Surg 1998; 176: 2, 172-175.

250

venous leg ulcers — normative patterns of colour may be discernable. A library of patterns against which to compare a similar type of wound may provide early recognition of wounds that vary from the 'normal' pattern. For example, a wound that continues to produce wet necrotic tissue may be indicative of chronic inflammation or bacterial colonisation. Until such research is conducted, the potential of this data type is yet to be fully explored.

Previous systems to measure wound colour Technological developments in the 1980s and a desire to move beyond the crude red-yellow-greenblack colour measurement of wounds prompted research into systematic wound colour measurements. Technology designed to measure an erythema index following radiation treatment of the skin provided researchers with the first in a series of tools with which to measure wound colour, the spectrometer. However, this only measured colour over a very small area. In the 1990s advances in digital technology and computer image analysis resulting principally from the measurement of skin lesion colour, specifically melanomas^{25:34} — offred the possibility to measure colour over a large surface

area and to store the data digitally. However, attempts to apply computer analysis to wound images threw up confounding variables differing light sources, unwanted reflections and variations in colours displayed by different types of wounds — that required controls when taking or capturing the image.³⁵ Once an image was captured, another group of variables came into play, including the algorithm used to measure the colour and differences in human colour perception. Various controls have been used to eliminate each variable.³⁵⁻³⁷

To help control for different lights sources, researchers have adopted the use of an in-shot reference. MAVIS (Measurement of Area and Volume Instrument), developed by Jones and Plassmann,⁸ is a tool that principally measures wound volume. However, the researchers attempted to use it to segment an image into three tissue types: healthy skin, wound tissue and epithelial tissue. A magnesium oxide chip was placed in shot to act as a white reference. Prior to colours being measured, they were adjusted to accommodate for the amount of light reaching the white reference.

A similar system, involving the placement of a white disc in the shot to act as a colour reference, was used by Herbin et al.,³⁹ who were attempting to develop a colour index by assessing healing in blisters.

Unwanted glare or reflection created by wound exudate or shiny oedematous skin diluted the colour recorded in an image in a number of studies. Attempts to eliminate unwanted reflected light centred on either fixing the camera angle or filtering light reaching the camera. Argvist et al.³⁷ captured a wound image via a camera mounted at 30° to the wound plane, the rationale being that light reflected from the wound would be reflected to the side of the camera lens. Mekkes and Westerhoff⁴⁰ used two polarised filters to reduce unwanted reflections to enable a more accurate recording of wound colour.

Different wound types exhibit different colours. The colours recorded in the study by Herbin et al.³⁰ of blisters differed markedly from those exhibited by other wound types, such as pressure ulcers or traumatic wounds. To control for type, researchers turned to artificially created wounds³⁰ — blisters were created on the forearms of eight volunteers using heat. Hansen et al.⁴¹ examined pressure injuries artificially created on the backs of pigs in an attempt to use colour analysis to predict the severity of pressure-related injury. By artificially creating wounds, researchers were able to control for size, shape, depth and location, all of which are variables that influence the amount of light entering the wound and hence the colour reflected.

Once the image was captured, researchers needed to select the most appropriate method to measure wound colour. Three mathematical equations or 'colour spaces' were available — red-green-blue (RGB), as used in computer monitors to replicate colour; cyan-magenta-yellow-key (CMYK) (key represents black), as used by printers to reproduce colour in clothing or printed material; and hue-saturation-brightness (HSB), said to be representative of human colour perception. While CMYK colour space has not been used in wound-colour research, both RGB and HSB have been tested.

Researchers using the RGB colour space reached the conclusion that the algorithm was not sensitive enough to detect differences in the subtle colour changes seen in wounds. Jones and Plassmann³⁸ concluded that this level of measurement was unable to distinguish between wound and skin, and wound and connective tissue. Mekkes and Westerhof⁴⁰ came to a similar conclusion. Unlike Jones and Plassmann, Mekkes and Westerhof used a threedimensional RGB histogram to analyse the colour. They found that simple RGB thresholds were unable to distinguish between tissue types — in particular, the colour differences between granulation tissue, surrounding skin and newly formed epithelium.

To date, research using the HSB has been limited, but the evidence is more encouraging. Hansen et al.⁴⁴ claimed the model they developed provided colour analysis closely representative of the 'intuitive notions of human perception'. Their findings showed that if the ulcer duration was known, colour could be used to distinguish the severity of the pressure injury in a controlled laboratory setting.

The need to retain human colour perception in the data analysis was recognised by a number of researchers, including those who used the RGB

JOURNAL OF WOUND CARE VOL 14, NO 6, JUNE 2005



colour space. Mekkes and Westerhof⁴⁰ used a clinician's knowledge of colours in ulcers healing by secondary intention to establish a frame of reference for their system. Arquist et al.37 used an 'operator' to map the base of an ulcer displayed in a digital colour photograph. Once the area of interest had been highlighted, the operator had to classify the ulcer by selecting one of 16 wound classifications.

An examination of the above studies indicates that a 'gold standard' for measuring colour represented in digital wound images is yet to be determined. The reliability of any one system has not been fully established. Studies have principally been based on artificial wounds, using a variety of controls and colour-measurement algorithms. Equally, systems that have a degree of inbuilt controls are either hard to replicate or unsuitable for the clinical setting.

Aim of the study

The aim of this pilot study was to test the reliability of a system in providing measurements of colour in digital images of venous leg ulcers. A reliable system was defined as one that provides a consistent colour measurement of a venous leg ulcer from three sequential digital images taken within three to five seconds of each other. Based on previous studies of human colour perception,24 a consistent measurement of colour was defined as a range of less than or equal to 3° of hue and less than or equal to 3% of saturation between a defined area in three sequential images of the ulcer.

Study design

A prospective exploratory design was used to examine a set of three photographs of a participant's ulcer during a routine outpatient visit.

Ethics approval was obtained from relevant uni-versity and health networks.

Method

Sample

Data were collected from a convenience sample of a total of 10 episodes of care provided to three patients - two men and one woman with an age range of 48 to 76 years (mean: 64) — attending a vascular outpatient department. The ulcers had been present from one to three years and were located principally on the left medial aspects of the lower leg.

A total of seven ulcers were photographed, with one ulcer photographed on two separate episodes. Ulcer size ranged from 1.5cm to 8.7cm in length and 1.5cm to 4.6cm in width. All ulcers consisted primarily of granular tissue, with surrounding skin displaying various degrees of erythema.

Data-collection tool

Three sequential digital photographs were taken of each patient's venous leg ulcer. Images were captured using a purpose-built frame that enabled the angle of

JOURNAL OF WOUND CARE VOL 14, NO 6, JUNE 2005



Fig 1. Capture frame

the patient's foot, the angle of the camera and the height of the camera to remain constant between photographs (Fig 1). The frame was constructed from clear acrylic to prevent visual obstruction and provide a surface that could be easily cleaned between patients to eliminate the risk of cross-infection.

To reduce unwanted glare from wound exudate or oedematous skin, the frame housed two light sources set at 30° to the ulcer plane. In accordance with the original HSB research, the light source used day-lights globes matched to the International Commission on Illumination Standard for Illumination, CIE illuminate C.42

One Cannon PowerShot A50 digital camera was used to photograph all wounds. Its 1.3 megapixel capacity provides a maximum resolution of 1280 x 960 pixels. All photographs were stored as JPEG files.

The colour of the ulcer was measured using com-mercial software — the Adelaide Skin Colour Program. This automatically adjusts colours to reflect the light conditions under which an image is taken, and quantifies the hue, saturation and brightness of pixels within a user-defined area of the image. The program uses an in-shot colour reference swatch containing cyan, yellow and magenta from the nonreflective Pantone colour specifier 1.3U (Fig 2). This colour swatch enables colours within a photograph to be adjusted for light conditions. This removes the need for the strict 'laboratory' conditions required by previous systems, 39,41 thus increasing its potential for clinical application.

Once imported into the program, the user highlights a section of the yellow, cyan and magenta colour strips from the in-shot reference swatch. Colour in the defined area is used by the software to calibrate the hues for the image. Once calibrated, the user selects an area within the base of the ulcer and an area of surrounding skin. The software then uses this to calculate the average hue and saturation of pixels within the defined areas.

II MacLellan, D., MacLellan

11 MacLellan, D., MacLellan L. Chronic Ieg ulceration: prevalence and management analysis in the veteran population. Paper presented at the First World Wound Healing Congress, 2000. Analable from the Australian Wound From the Australian Woun Management Association. 12 Podmore, J. Leg ulcers: weighing up the eridence. Nurs Standard 1994; & 38, 25-27.

13 Ruckley, C.V. Caring for Ta Ruckley C. V. Caring for patients with chronic leg ulcer: early specialist assessment offers the best hope of sustained healing. BMJ 1998; 316:7129, 407-408.

407-409. 14 Bates-Jenson, B. Wound care nurses' Judgements on healing time in chronic wounds. Castomy/Wound Marage 1996; 42: 4, 36: 42. 15 Bello, Y.M., Phillips, TJ. Maragement of venous uicors. J Cuttin Med Surg 1998; 3 (Suppl 1): 5: 6 to SI-12.

16 Cameron, J.Venous and arterial leg ulcers. Nurs Stand 1995; 9: 26, 25-32.

Stand 1995, 9: 26, 25-32. 17 Cameron, J.Venous leg uicors. Nurs Stand 1996; 10: 25, 48-56. 18 Cooper, D.M. Human Wound Assessment: Status report and implications for clinicians.AACN Clin Issues in Critical Care Nursing 1990; 1: 3, 553-565. 19 Correll UWared 19 Cuzzell, J.Wound

healing translating theory into clinical practice. Dermatol Nurs 1995; 7: 2, 127-131.

20 Lindholm, C. Leg Ulce Patients: Clinical studies from prevalence to prevention. (1st edn.). Goteborg: Graphic Sy AB. 79, 1993.

21 Cuzzell, J.Z. The new 251





Fig 2.A series of three sequential photographs

Data-collection methods

Patients were asked to stand in the capture frame. The colour swatch and identification label containing a ruler were placed in shot. The patient was asked to remain as still as possible while three sequential images were taken of the ulcer. The time between each image was determined by the camera storage time, about three seconds between shots. Images were downloaded to a computer with a 17 inch monitor set to a resolution of 1024 x 768 pixels.

Data analysis

To assess the reliability of the system, the difference between colour hues exhibited in predefined areas of the three images was calculated by subtracting the smallest from the largest hue measurement. The mean difference was then calculated and the variance examined. Colour saturation was examined in the same manner.

Results

Visual examination of each set of images demonstrated that the frame maintained a consistent angle of leg rotation and magnification for each photograph (Fig 2) and over subsequent episodes (Fig 3). Overlaying of the images revealed small changes in location for each limb indicative of a small movement by the patient. Unwanted reflection was present in three sets of photographs, resulting from oedematous skin surrounding the ulcer. Crucially, the ulcer bed was not affected by unwanted reflections in any of the images (Fig 4).

As expected, the colours exhibited by the ulcer bed were at the red end of the spectrum, with colour ranging from a hue of 341° to 359° and a mean hue of 350.3°. Small differences in the ulcer bed colour were evident between the three photographs in a set. The differences in hue measurements within each photographic set ranged from 2° to 4° of hue, with a mean difference of 2.5° (Table 1). As expected, the colour of the surrounding skin showed greater variation, ranging from 292° to 365° of hue. The difference between each photograph in a set of three

photographs for the surrounding skin hue ranged from 1° to 15°, with a mean of 4.1° (Table 1).

Colour saturation of the ulcer bed demonstrated greater variation than hue. Saturation ranged from 44.9% to 74.3%, with a mean of 59.1%. The difference in saturation measurements within each set of three photographs ranged from 1% to 6.8%, with a mean of 3.57% (Table 2). Colour saturation for the skin surrounding the ulcer ranged from 19.2% to 41.4%, with a mean of 29%. The difference in saturation measurements for each set of images ranged from 1.3% to 8.1%, with a mean of 3.24% (Table 2).

Discussion

It was expected that the colours displayed would be at the red end of the spectrum as all ulcer beds in the study contained primarily granular tissue. This was confirmed by the mean hue of 350.3° of colour. Equally, it was expected that the colour of the sur-

Table I. Difference in hue measurements (°)

Episode number	Ulcer bed	Surrounding skin
L	3	2
2	I.	2
3	I	2
4	2	2
5	2	I
6	3	4
7	4	3
8	3	3
9	3	15
10	3	7
Mean	2.5	4.1

JOURNAL OF WOUND CARE VOL 14, NO 6, JUNE 2005

RYB color code.Am J Nurs 1988;88: 10, 1342-1346. 22 Hazs, A.Wound healing. Dermatol Nurs 1995;7: 1, 28-34, 74. 23 Monianty, M.B. How color can clarify wound care. RN 1988;51:9,49-54. Care, RN 1988; 51: 9, 19-34. 24 Krauskopf, J., Gegenfurther, K. Color discrimination and adaptation. Vision Res 1992; 32: 11, 2165-2175. 32: 11, 2165-2175. 25 Zhang, J., Chang, C.I., Millar, S.J., Kang, K.A.A feasibility study of multispectral image analysis of skin tumors. Biomed Instrum Technol 2000; 34: 4, 275-282. 26 Seidenari, S., Pellacani, G., Giannetti, A. Digital videomicroscopy and image analysis with automatic dassification for detection of thin melanomas. Melanoma Res 1999; 9:2, 163-171. 27 Landau, M., Matz, H., Tur, 27 Landau, M., Matz, H. E et al. Computerized system to enhance the dinical diagnosis of pigmented cutaneous malignandes. Int J Denn 1999; 38: 6, 443-446.

1999; 38: 6, 443-446. 28 Sober, A.J., Burstein, J.M. Computentized digital image analysis: an aid for melanoma diagnosis — preliminary investigations and brief review. J Dermatol 1994; 21: 11, 885-990. 29. Genera & Martie N 885-990. 29 Green, A., Martin, N., Pfizzner, J. et al. Computer image analysis in the diagnosis of melanoma. J Am Acad Dermatol 1994; 31:6, 958-964. 20 Sobil-com/67. Such 36 31:6, 958-964. 30 Schindewolf, T., Stotz, W., Albert, R. et al. Classification of melanocytic lesions with color and texture analysis using digital image processing. Anal Quant Cytol Histor (1993; 15: 1, 1-1.1.

31 Stoecker WV. Moss. R.

research



Fig 3. Images of the same ulcer taken at different episodes: (a) episode 1; (b) episode 2

rounding skin would be closer to the blue end of the spectrum. This was again confirmed by a mean hue of 313.7° for the skin surrounding the ulcer.

The hue measurements obtained when using this system are consistent with those from previous studies.^{36,38} But the results differ from previous studies in that there is a clear difference between the colours of the ulcer bed and the surrounding skin. Where Jones and Plassmann³⁸ were unable to differentiate the colour of skin from wound-bed colour, our results provide hues that are consistently different by a mean of 37°. Use of HSB in preference to the RGB colour space used by Jones and Plassmann³⁸ may account for the differences. Equally important, patients recruited for the pilot were Caucasian. Further research examining the difference between ulcer bed and colours or other skin types would be needed to support this finding.

While the colour measurements matched the spectral expectations for varying tissue types, the inconsistent hue measurements within each photographic set suggest that the method of capture is not totally reliable. While, on average, the hue difference for the ulcer bed was equal to or less than the criteria established for reliability (3° of hue), one set of photographs demonstrated a difference of 4° of hue. The reliability of the system is further called into question when colour measurements of the surrounding skin are taken into account. A mean of 4.1° of difference is outside the criteria established for reliability, and in one instance the differences within a photographic set were as high as 15° of hue. The larger variation in saturation measurements across the three photographs in each set (mean range of 3.57%) similarly raises further concerns about the system's reliability.

Larger than expected differences between hue may have resulted from the method used to select the image area for measurement. Small colour variations may have resulted because the pixel areas selected varied between images, so were subject to small differences of one or two pixels. Equally,

JOURNAL OF WOUND CARE VOL 14, NO 6, JUNE 2005



a small movement of the patient between shots may have changed the amount of light falling on either the patient's leg and/or the in-shot colour key. Small changes in the reflected light could result in the 1– 3° of difference within the photographic sets.

It would appear that to improve the reliability of the system, a technique enabling the user to select the same pixel area for each image is necessary. Most studies have relied on an user-selected area for image analysis.^{35,37,39,40} This may account for the limited success demonstrated by such systems, including this pilot. In an effort to eliminate this inconsistency, magnification down to the pixel level may enable users to select the same area for each photograph.

To eliminate minor movement of the patient's leg, techniques used for radiographic procedures such as computerised tomography could be

Table 2. Difference in measurements of	
saturation (%)	

Episode number	Ulcer bed	Surrounding skin
I	4.4	1.3
2	6.9	1.9
3	1.9	1.7
4	1.0	2.3
5	2.2	3.0
6	2.3	2.0
7	5.6	2.6
8	1.5	2.6
9	6.8	8.1
10	3.1	6.9
Mean	3.5	3.2

H. Digital imaging in dermatology: Comput Med Imaging Graph 1992; 16: 3, 145-150. 145-150. 32 Claridge, E., Hall, P.N., Keefe, M., Allen, J.P. Shape analysis for classification of malignant melanoma. J Biomed Eng 1992; 14:3, 229-224 229-234 33 Green, A., Martin, N., McKenzie, G. et al. Computer image analysis of pigmented skin lesions. Melanoma Res 1991; 1:4, 231-236 231-226. 34 Cascinelli, N., Ferrario, M., Tonelli, T., Leo, E., A possible new tool for clinical diagnosis of melanoma: the computer. J Am Acad Dermatol 1987; 16: (2 Pr. 1), 361-367. 35: Hachin, M. Vanor A. 35 Herbin, M., Venot, A., Devaux, J.Y., Piette, C. Color quantitation through image processing in dermatology IEEE Trans Med Imaging 1990; 9:3, 262-269. 36 Plassmann, P., Jones, T. MAVIS: a non-invasive instrument to measure and volume of area and volume of wounds. Measurement of area and volume instrument system. Med Eng Phys 1998; 20:5, 332-338. 332-338. 37 Arqvist, J. Halgren, L., Vincent, J. Semiautomatic classification of secondary healing ulcars in multispectral images. In: Paper presented at the 9th International Conference on Patters Pacemitter on Pattern Recognition, Rome, 1988. An instrument to measure the dimensions of skin wounds. IEEE Trans Biom Eng 1995; 42: 5, 464-470. Eng. 1995; 42: 5, 464-470. 39 Harbin, M., Bon, EX., Venot, A. et al. Assessment of healing kinetics through true color image processing. IEEE Trans. Med imaging 1993; 12: 1, 39-43. 40 Mekkes. IB. Weisterlahl 40 Mekkes, J.R., Westerhof, W.Image processing in the study of wound healing Clin Dermatol 1995; 13:4, 401-407 41 Hansen, G., G.L. arrow, E.M., Kokate, J.Y

research

et al. Wound status evaluation using color image processing. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 1997; 1/2 J. 70 0/ 16: 1, 78-86. 42 MacAdam, D. The physical basis of colo specification. In: Byrne, A., Hilbert, D.R. (eds) Readings on Color: Volume 2: The Science of Color: Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1997

employed. A review of these examinations reveals that, in most instances, the patient is either supine or, if vertical, entirely supported. Changing the orientation of the frame used to capture the images from a vertical to a horizontal orientation will allow patients to lie down. This may, in turn, reduce the amount of leg movement between photographs.

Visual examination of the image sets indicated that the position of the in-shot colour key, which was hand-held, varied between photographs in the same set. In some instances, it was close enough to the light source to appear washed out. This would have led to a different colour balance being applied to the image before the colour was measured, resulting in hue and saturation differences.

Placing the in-shot colour reference at a set distance to the light source may help reduce variations in hue. If, as suggested above, the capture frame was used horizontally, this would be easier to achieve as the reference swatch could be placed on the back of the frame adjacent to the patient's leg.

A more encouraging outcome of the study was the apparent consistency between the visual appearance of the three sequential photographs. Although the reliability required for consistent measurement of colour has yet to be achieved, the frame used in the study has the potential to ensure a photograph that is consistent for rotation and magnification. Although similar consistency can be achieved with systems such as MAVIS,³⁶ this system may provide similar opportunities at a fraction of the cost and be

easier to use in the clinical setting and therefore be more widely available. The frame can be collapsed and carried in a case similar in size to a briefcase and can be set up in less than three minutes.

Conclusion and recommendations

Hues recorded in this study demonstrated differ-ences in colour between the ulcer bed and surrounding skin. The hue and saturation measurements obtained are consistent with those expected for the tissue type examined.³⁷ Equally, the photographs taken illustrate a consistent angle of rotation and degree of magnification, both during an episode and across episodes.

However, the study did not demonstrate the ability of the system to record accurately the colour of an ulcer bed and the surrounding skin. While the average hue for an ulcer bed fell within the definition used to determine reliability, the range of difference (0-15°) reduces confidence in the findings. The study is further limited by its small sample size

and the exclusion of patients with darker skin colours.

We propose making refinements to eliminate the inconsistencies found in our results: these include using a consistent method for defining the area of an image to be measured, changing the orientation of the capture frame to horizontal and placing the in-shot reference at a set distance from the light source. Further research incorporating the above refinements and a larger sample size is currently being planned. 🔳

interface

Disclaimer

In the February 2005 issue of Journal of Wound Care, we published the results of a pilot study by Eccles and Hollinworth entitled: A pilot study to determine whether a static magnetic device can

promote chronic leg ulcer healing.¹ One of the authors of this article, Dr N. Eccles, has been distributing to practitioners across the UK a copy of a reprint of this

article with an accompanying letter. Journal of Wound Care would like to make the following disclaimer: In a letter accompanying a copy

of a Journal of Wound Care reprint, Dr N. Eccles states that this work

was part of a larger study that ran to 'some 50 pages' and infers that the editing process condensed all the information into four pages. This is not so. Journal of Wound Care received only an article slightly longer than four pages which was edited. The pilot study presented to Journal of Wound Care was discrete, although it may well have been part of a larger study, and was based on an earlier telephone survey of 160 users of the device.

Journal of Wound Care refutes the inference that it edited a much larger piece of work and in no way supports or endorses the use of the study product.

Correction

Due to an editorial error, the title of the letter published in the April issue of Journal of Wound Care was left out. The title is: Regeneration of postoperative wounds in surgical patients. The name of the leading author, Dr Anna Kircheva, was also excluded. Apologies for any confusion caused.

Dr A.B. Kircheva can be contacted at: Department of Hospital Epidemiology, 'St. Anna' University Hospital of Varna, 100 Tzar Ösvoboditel Street, Varna, Bulgaria. Tel: +359/52/2136-572; fax: +359/52/237-115. Email: anna_kir4eva@yahoo.com

IOURNAL OF WOUND CARE VOL 14, NO 6, JUNE 2005

Reference

Reference I Eccles, N.K., Hollinword II.A pilot study to determine whether a static magentic device can promote chronic leg ulcan healing. J Wound Care 2005; 14: 2, 64-67.

Appendix B: Data c Demographics	ollected at the time	of recruit	ment				
Participant number	Participant number						
Age:							
Country of origin							
Baseline data							
1. Does the patient the following cor	currently suffer from aditions?	i, or has su	ffered from, any of				
□ Diabetes	□ Rheumatoid artl	nritis 🗆	Deep vein thrombosis				
2. When was the v	enous ulcer first diag	gnosed?	//				
3. Ankle Brachial F	3. Ankle Brachial Pressure Index						
4. Ulcer dimension	IS:						
Length of th Width of the Area of the	e ulcer cm e ulcer cm ulcer cm ²						
5. Current dressing	g products used						
	d 🛛 🗆 Zinc band	dage	□ Hydrogel				
□ Other							
6. Type of compres	ssion						
a. □ Mild	□ Medium	🗆 Strong)				
b.	Bandage	□ Other					
Camera	/						
Foot	/						
Camera Ht	.CM (R) side of camera suppo	ort					

Comments

Appendix C: Data collected on subsequent episodes

Participant number						
Visit number						
1. Ulcer dimensions:						
Length Width o Area of	of the ulcer of the ulcer f the ulcer	cm cm cm ²				
2. Current dressing products used:						
Hydrocolloi	d	□ Zinc band	age	□ Hydrogel		
□ Other						
3. Type of compression						
a. 🗆 Mild	□ Me	dium	□ Strong			
b. 🗆 Stocking	🗆 🗆 Bar	ndage	□ Other			
Camera						
Foot	/					
Camera HtCm (R) side of camera support						
Comments:						
Appendix D: Instructions to Clinicians for recording a photograph

Instructions for taking a wound photograph using the Ulcer-cam 2 system



- 1. Base
- 2. Foot protractor and frame
- 3. Camera housing
- 1. Place the Ulcer-cam 2 frame on the trolley with foot protractor and frame (no. 2) in the open position.
- 2. Cover the base (no. 1) with a clean, disposable, non-reflective blue sheet.
- 3. Ask the patient to place his / her leg on the base and close the foot protractor and frame over the leg.
- 4. If using the system to record a first image:
 - a. Place the foot against the foot protractor (no. 2) and rotate the leg until the ulcer is visible.
 - b. Record the number of degrees against which that the patient's great toe aligns.
 - c. Rotate the camera housing (no. 3) until the camera is at approximately 30 degrees to the ulcer and lock in place.
 - d. Record the number of degrees that the camera housing indicator aligns with.
 - e. Move the camera housing along the horizontal slider until the ulcer is visible in the camera viewing screen and lock the camera mount.
 - f. Record the number of centimetres that the camera housing indicators align with on the horizontal slider.
 - g. Record the patient's participant number, episode number and date on the patient label supplied, and place on the base, ensuring that it can be seen in the camera viewing screen.
 - h. Place the 'in-shot' reference on the base of the frame ensuring that it can be seen in the camera viewing screen.
 - i. Take three sequential image of the ulcer approximately one second apart.
 - j. Open the frame and ask patient to remove his / her leg.

- 5. If using the system to record images at subsequent episode:
 - a. Repeat steps a-j but...
 - b. Align the patient's great toe with the mark that coincides with the degrees recorded at the initial visit.
 - c. Rotate the camera housing to the degree recorded at the initial visit
 - d. Move the camera along the horizontal guides until the camera housing indicator is aligned with the number of centimetres recorded at the initial visit.

Appendix E: Invitation to expert clinicians

Adresss

Dear XXXX,

You have been identified as a clinician that frequently observes venous leg ulceration. For this reason I would like to invite you to participate in a research study entitled:

"Developing a reliable method for measuring wet necrotic tissue and erythema manifested by venous leg ulcers"

As you will be aware, there is evidence to suggest that chronic venous leg ulcers are "locked" in the inflammatory phase of the wound healing cycle. There is an abundance of literature that describes the visual manifestations of the inflammatory phase as an intense or bright area of erythema surrounding the ulcer, with yellow slough or wet necrotic tissue evident in the ulcer bed. The aim of this project is to develop a reliable method for measuring these visual manifestations with a view to providing clinicians with an additional tool for assessing the progression, or non-progression of a venous leg ulcer.

To achieve this aim I need to establish a consensus about the range of colour that experienced clinicians, such as yourself, believe represents the following:

- erythema surrounding an ulcer that is indicative of inflammation
- slough or wet necrotic tissue evident in an ulcer bed.

This data will be used as the criteria for image analysis software that will determine the percentage of each tissue type displayed within a given photograph.

If you agree to be involved, I will send you a set of twenty coloured photographs of venous leg ulcers. You will be asked to draw around areas on the photographs that you believe represent the above tissue types and mail the photographs back in the return envelope. Our trials indicate that this should take approximately 30–45 minutes.

Once I receive the photographs, I will measure the colour range inside the areas you have defined using computer image analysis software. This will provide a range of colour that represents each of the above tissue types. The colour range will be used to develop software that scans a photograph of an ulcer and identifies areas of colour that fall within the parameters established from the above colour range.

To test that the software is mapping accurately I will send a second set of twenty photographs to you and ask you to repeat the exercise conducted on the first set of images. The areas you identify will be compared to those mapped by the software and the amount of difference analysed.

If you would like to participate please complete the expression of interest below and forward it to me in the envelope provided.

Thank you for taking the time to consider this proposal.

Yours truly,

Bill McGuiness Deputy Head of School School of Nursing and Midwifery La Trobe University

℅

I would like to participate in the study described above. I understand that at no time will my name be used in any data sets or manuscripts and that I am free to withdraw at any time.

Signature Date .../.../...

Please detach and return in the pre-paid envelope provided.

Appendix F: Instructions to expert clinicians

Name Address

Dear Name,

Thank you for agreeing to participate in the study entitled:

"Developing a reliable method for measuring wet necrotic tissue and erythema manifested by venous leg ulcers"

Enclosed is a set of twenty coloured photographs of venous leg ulcers. Using the pens supplied, please outline areas in each photograph that represents the following:

- Erythema surrounding the ulcer
 a. Please use the red pen
- Yellow slough or wet necrotic tissue evident in the ulcer bed
 a. Please use the blue pen

You may outline more than one area for each tissue type.

When complete, please return the photographs in the reply paid envelope included with this package by **XXXX.**

When I receive the photographs, I will measure the colour range inside the areas you have defined using computer image analysis software.

To test that the software is mapping accurately I will send a second set of twenty photographs in the near future and ask you to repeat the exercise conducted on the first set of images. The areas you identify will be compared to those mapped by the software and the amount of difference analysed.

If you would like any further information please contact me on

XXXXXXX

Yours truly,

Bill McGuiness

Appendix G: Visual analogue scale data sheet

Please indicate the level to which you agree or disagree with the area highlighted in each **image** for each **tissue type**. Please note both tissue types are not displayed in every image.

Example



Image	Tissue	Opinion	Comments
1 No slough displayed	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
2	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	

Image	Tissue		Opinion		Comments
3	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	

Image	Tissue	Opinion	Comments
4	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
5	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
6	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	

Image	Tissue		Opinion		Comments
7	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
8	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
9	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	

Image	Tissue		Opinion		Comments
10	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
11	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
12 No erythema displayed	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	

Image	Tissue	Opinion	Comments
13	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
14 No slough displayed	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	
15 No slough displayed	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Strongly Disagree Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement Agree	

Image	Tissue		Opinion		Comments
16 No slough displayed	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the li	ne to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	 Strongly Agree	
17 No slough displayed	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the li	ne to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	 Strongly Agree	
18	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the li	ne to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	 Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree Place an X on the li	ne to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	 Strongly Agree	

Image	Tissue		Opinion		Comments
19	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
20	Erythema Outlined in blue	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	
	Wet necrotic (Slough) Outlined in yellow	Strongly Disagree	Place an X on the line to indicate your level of agreement or disagreement	Strongly Agree	

Do you have additional comments?

.....

Thank you for completing this project.

Appendix H: Plain Language Statement and Consent Form

PLAIN LANGUAGE STATEMENT

Plain Language Statement Version 1 Dated 13/9/02 Site Alfred

Full Project Title: Piloting a method for measuring the percentage of wet necrotic tissue and erythema manifested by venous leg ulcers over time

Principal Researcher: Bill McGuiness

Associate Researcher(s): Professor Sandra Dunn

This Plain Language Statement and Consent Form is # pages long. Please make sure you have all the pages.

1. Your Consent

You are invited to participate in a study being conducted by myself, Bill McGuiness. I am a PhD candidate, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Flinders University, and a lecturer in the Clinical School of Advanced Nursing Practice, La Trobe University. The study will be used to complete my PhD. This sheet will provide you with relevant information about the project. It is important that you take the time to read it carefully before deciding if you want to participate.

This Plain Language Statement contains detailed information about the research project. Its purpose is to explain to you as openly and clearly as possible all the procedures involved in this project before you decide whether or not to take part in it.

Please read this Plain Language Statement carefully. Feel free to ask questions about any information in the Statement.

Once you understand what the project is about and if you agree to take part in it, you will be asked to sign the Consent Form. By signing the Consent Form you indicate that you understand the information and that you give your consent to participate in the research project.

You will be given a copy of both the Consent Form and this Plain Language Statement to keep as a record.

2. Description of the Project

The purpose of this project is to test the reliability of a system developed for taking pictures of your leg ulcer.

A total of 30 people will participate in this project.

Previous experience has shown that when wounds heal they take on different visual appearances. In the early stages they may be red or inflamed. Later the inflammation decreases and the wound takes on a normal skin colour. If the wound is not healing properly it will show a number of alternate visual characteristics, for example yellow pus or black areas. Every time a nurse or doctor changes your dressing he/she looks at the wound to see if it is healing properly. Currently the nurse or doctor compares what he/she is seeing with what they remember about your wound or other similar wounds.

Recently a range of cameras that store an image on a computer disc rather than on film has become available. The format is called digital photography, and enables the image to be analysed by a computer. In particular this study will measure the colour of your leg ulcer by using a computer to analyse a digital image of it. I believe that by measuring colour we can determine the amount of yellow tissue (slough) in your ulcer, and the amount of inflamed area in the surrounding skin. These measurements may help nurses and doctors to assess how well your leg ulcer is healing You are invited to participate in this research project because (*state why the participant's involvement is sought/desirable*).

Participation in this project will involve three digital photographs of your wound being recorded each time you come to the vascular outpatient clinic.

To take each photograph, I have to place a frame over your leg. This frame will enable me to record the angle of your foot and the location of the camera when the photograph is taken. This will ensure that the photographs are similar each time. The procedure will take an additional 1-2 minutes for each dressing change.

3. **Possible Benefits**

If the system for taking the photographs is proven to be reliable it may provide a system for detecting when leg ulcers are failing to heal properly.

4. Possible Risks

Possible risks, side effects and discomforts include a delay of approximately 2 minutes while the frame is placed over your leg and the photograph taken.

5. Alternatives to Participation

Your involvement in this study is entirely voluntary, and your non-participation will not affect your treatment at The Alfred in any way. Should you decide to withdraw from the study you may do this freely and without prejudice to any future treatment at The Alfred.

6. Confidentiality and Disclosure of Information

To ensure that information about you is kept confidential, the names of people participating in the project are replaced with a number. Access to the numbered information is restricted to myself. As prescribed by The National Health and Medical Research Council, all research information will be stored in a locked cupboard and kept for 7 years and then destroyed. When the findings of the project are published your name or any specific reference to you will *not* be mentioned.

7. New Information Arising During the Project

During the research project, new information about the risks and benefits of the project may become known to the researchers. If this occurs, you will be told about this new information. This new information may mean that you can no longer participate in this research. If this occurs, the person(s) supervising the research will stop your participation. In all cases, you will be offered all available care to suit your needs and medical condition.

8. Results of Project

On completion of the project you wil be sent a report detailing the findings of the project.

9. Further Information or Any Problems

If you require further information or if you have any problems concerning this project (for example, any side effects), you can contact the principal researcher Professor Sandra Dunn. The researchers responsible for this project are: Mr Bill McGuiness 9276 3790

Professor Sandra Dunn (08) 8204 5543

10. Other Issues

If you have any complaints about any aspect of the project, the way it is being conducted or any questions about your rights as a research participant, then you may contact

Name:	Rowan Frew
Position:	Secretary of the Human Ethics and Research Committee, The Alfred
Telephone:	9276 3848

You will need to tell Rowan the name of one of the researchers given in section 9 above.

11. Participation is Voluntary

Participation in any research project is voluntary. If you do not wish to take part you are not obliged to. If you decide to take part and later change your mind, you are free to withdraw from the project at any stage.

Your decision whether to take part or not to take part, or to take part and then withdraw, will not affect your routine treatment, your relationship with those treating you or your relationship with The Alfred.

Before you make your decision, a member of the research team will be available so that you can ask any questions you have about the research project. You can ask for any information you want. Only sign the Consent Form once you have had a chance to ask your questions and have received satisfactory answers.

Before deciding whether or not to take part, you may wish to discuss the project with a relative or friend or your local health worker. Feel free to do this.

If you decide to withdraw from this project, please notify a member of the research team before you withdraw. This notice will allow that person or the research supervisor to inform you if there are any health risks or special requirements linked to withdrawing.

12. Ethical Guidelines

This project will be carried out according to the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Research Involving Humans (June 1999) produced by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia. This statement has been developed to protect the interests of people who agree to participate in human research studies.

The ethical aspects of this research project have been approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of this Institution.

CONSENT FORM

Consent Form Version 1 Dated 13/9/02 Site The Alfred

Full Project Title : Piloting a method for measuring the percentage of wet necrotic tissue and erythema manifested by venous leg ulcers over time

I have read, or have had read to me in my first language, and I understand the Plain Language Statement version 1 dated 13/9/02.

I freely agree to participate in this project according to the conditions in the Plain Language Statement.

I have a copy of the Plain Language Statement and the Consent Form to keep.

The researcher has agreed not to reveal my identity and personal details if information about this project is published or presented in any public form.

Participant's Name (printed)	
Signature	Date
Witness's Name (printed)	•••••
Signature	Date
Researcher's Name (printed)	•••••
Signature	Date

Note: All parties signing the Consent Form must date their own signature.